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This prospectus (the “Prospectus”) has been prepared in connection with the 
offering to the public in Sweden of Class B shares in Fortinova Fastigheter 
AB (publ) (a Swedish public limited company) (the “Offering”) and the listing 
of the Class B shares for trading on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Mar-
ket. In the Prospectus, “Fortinova”, the “Company” or the “Group” refers to 
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), the group of which Fortinova Fastigheter 
AB (publ) is the parent company, or a subsidiary of the Group, depending 
on the context. ”Principal Owner” refers to A2F Fastigheter AB. See section 
“Definitions” for the definitions of these and other terms in the Prospectus.

The figures reported in this Prospectus have, in certain cases, been 
rounded off and, consequently, the tables in the Prospectus do not neces-
sarily add up. In addition, certain percentages stated in the Prospectus are 
calculated based on underlying figures that are not rounded, so they may de-
viate slightly from percentages resulting from calculations based on rounded 
figures. All financial figures are in Swedish kronor, unless indicated otherwi-
se, and “MSEK” indicates millions of Swedish kronor.

Except as expressly stated herein, no financial information in the Pro-
spectus has been audited or reviewed by the Company’s auditor. Financial 
information relating to the Company in this Prospectus that is not part of the 
information that has been audited or reviewed by the Company’s auditor in 
accordance with what is stated herein, originates from the Group’s internal 
accounting and reporting system.

The Offering is not directed to the general public in any country other 
than Sweden. Nor, is the Offering directed to such persons whose partici-
pation requires additional prospectuses, registration or measures other 
than those prescribed by Swedish law. No measures have been or will be 
taken in any other jurisdiction than Sweden, that would allow any offer of 
the shares to the public or allow possession or distribution of the Prospectus 
or any other documents pertaining to the Company or the shares in such 
a jurisdiction. Application to acquire shares that violate such rules may be 
deemed invalid. Persons receiving a copy of the Prospectus are required by 
the Company and SEB to inform themselves about and comply with all such 
restrictions. Neither the Company nor SEB assume any legal responsibility 
for any violations of any such restriction, regardless of whether the viola-
tion is committed by a potential investor or someone else. The shares in the 
Offering have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities 
Act of 1933 (the ”Securities Act”) applicable at the time or with any securities 
regulatory authority and may not be offered or sold within the United States 
unless the shares are registered under the Securities Act or an exemption 
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act is available. All of-
fers and sales of shares will be made in compliance with Regulation S under 
the Securities Act. Class B shares may not be offered, sold, pledged or other-
wise transferred within the United States except pursuant to an exception 
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable state securities laws. 
Reproduction and distribution of all or part of this Prospectus in the United 
States and disclosure of its contents is prohibited. The Class B shares in the 
Offering have not been approved by either a U.S. federal or state securities 
authority or any other U.S. Authority. Moreover, no such authority has con-
firmed the accuracy or reliability of this Prospectus. To assert the opposite is 
a criminal offence in the United States.

The Prospectus is only being distributed to and is only directed at (i) 
persons who are outside the United Kingdom, or (ii) to investment profes-
sionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the “Order”) or (iii) high net-worth 
entities falling within Articles 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order, and other persons 
to whom it may be lawfully distributed (all such persons are collectively re-
ferred to as ”relevant persons”). The Prospectus is only intended for relevant 
persons and may not be used or invoked by persons who are not relevant 
persons. All investments or investment activities to which the Prospectus 
relates are available exclusively to relevant persons and will only be directed 
to relevant persons.

The Offering and the Prospectus are governed by Swedish law. Disputes 
in connection with the Offering or the Prospectus shall be settled exclusively 
by a Swedish court.

A separate prospectus in Swedish has been approved and registered 
by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority (Sw. Finansinspektionen) in 
accordance with Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus Regulation”). 
The Financial Supervisory Authority approves the Prospectus only to the 
extent that it meets the requirements for completeness, comprehensibility 
and consistency stipulated by the Prospectus Regulation and an approval 
should not be regarded as any type of support for the issuer referred to in 
the Prospectus. The approval should also not be considered as any type of 
support for the quality of the securities referred to in the Prospectus and 
investors should make their own assessment of whether it is appropriate to 
invest in these securities.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT NASDAQ  
FIRST NORTH PREMIER GROWTH MARKET
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market is a registered SME growth mar-
ket, in accordance with the Directive on Markets in Financial Instruments 
(EU 2014/65) as implemented in the national legislation of Denmark, Finland 
and Sweden, operated by an exchange within the Nasdaq group. Issuers on 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market are not subject to all the same 
rules as issuers on a regulated main market, as defined in EU legislation (as 
implemented in national law). Instead they are subject to a less extensive 
set of rules and regulations adjusted to small growth companies. The risk 
in investing in an issuer on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market may 
therefore be higher than investing in an issuer on the main market. All issu-
ers with shares admitted to trading on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth 
Market have a Certified Adviser who monitors that the rules are followed. 
FNCA Sweden AB is the Certified Adviser of the Company. Nasdaq Stockholm 
AB approves the application for admission to trading at Nasdaq First North 
Premier Growth Market.

STABILIZATION
In connection with the Offering, SEB may carry out transactions aimed at 
supporting the market price of the shares at levels above those which might 
otherwise prevail in the open market. Such stabilization transactions may 
be effected on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market, in the over-the-
counter market or otherwise, at any time during the period starting on the 
date of commencement of trading in the shares on Nasdaq First North Pre-
mier Growth Market and ending no later than 30 calendar days thereafter. 
However, SEB has no obligation to conduct any stabilization and there is no 
guarantee that stabilization will be implemented. 

Furthermore, stabilization, if initiated, may be discontinued at any time 
without notice. Under no circumstances will transactions be carried out at 
a price higher than the price specified in the Offering. By the end of the se-
venth day of trading following the execution of stabilization transactions, 
SEB shall disclose that stabilization measures have been conducted, in 
accordance with Article 5(4) in the EU Market Abuse Regulation 596/2014. 
Within one week after the end of the stabilization period, SEB will declare 
whether or not stabilization was carried out, the date on which stabilization 
was initiated, the date on which stabilization was last carried out and the 
price range within which stabilization was carried out for each of the stabi-
lization transactions.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The Prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements and opinions. 
Forward-looking statements are all statements that are not attributable 
to historical facts and events as well as statements and opinions that are 
attributable to the future and that contain, for example, expressions such 
as ”consider”, ”appreciate”, ”expect”, ”assume”, ”anticipate”, ”intend”, ”can”, 
”should”, ”in our estimate”, ”is of the view”, ”may”, ”plans”, ”potential”, ”calcu-
late”, ”forecast”, ”as far as is known” or similar expressions that are suitable 
for identifying a statement as forward-looking. This applies in particular to 
statements and opinions in the Prospectus which relate to future financial 
results, plans and expectations of the Company’s operations and manage-
ment, future growth and profitability and the general financial and regulato-
ry environment and other circumstances that affect the Company.

Forward-looking statements are based on current estimates and ass-
umptions made to the best of the Company’s knowledge. Such forward-look-
ing statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that may 
cause the actual results, including the Company’s cash flow, financial position 
and results, to differ materially from the results that are expressly or indi-
rectly based on, or described, in the statements, or result in the expectations 
that are explicitly or indirectly based on, or described in, the statements not 
being met or proving to be less favorable compared to the results that are 
explicitly or indirectly based on, or described in, the statements. Potential 
investors should, therefore, refrain from attaching undue importance to the 
forward-looking statements herein, and potential investors are strongly 
encouraged to read the Prospectus, including the following sections: “Sum-
mary”, “Risk Factors”, “Business Overview” and “Operational and Financial 
Overview”, which include more detailed descriptions of factors that may 
have an influence on the Company’s operations and the market in which the 
Company operates. Neither the Company, the Principal Owner nor SEB ma-
kes any guarantees as to the future accuracy of the statements made herein 
or the actual occurrence of anticipated developments.

In consideration of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions associated 
with forward-looking statements, it is possible that future events mentioned 
in the Prospectus will not occur. In addition, forward-looking estimates and 
forecasts referred to in the Prospectus and derived from third-party studies 
may prove to be inaccurate. Actual results, achievements or events may dif-
fer materially from such statements.

After the date of the Prospectus, neither the Company nor SEB assumes 
any responsibility for updating any forward-looking statement or for adap-
ting these statements to actual events or developments with the exception 
of what is stipulated by applicable legislation.

INDUSTRY AND MARKET INFORMATION
The Prospectus contains industry and market information relating to 
Fortinova’s operations and the market in which Fortinova operates. Such 
information is based on the Company’s analysis of several different sources, 
including Statistics Sweden (SCB), Sveriges Riksbank, the National Board of 
Housing, Building and Planning, SEB, Nordea, Newsec, JLL and CBRE.

Information from third parties has been reproduced correctly and, as far 
as the Company is aware and can ascertain from information published by 
third parties, no facts have been omitted that would make the reproduced 
information incorrect or misleading. 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE SALE OF SHARES
Please note that notification of allocation to the public in Sweden takes 
place by sending a settlement note, which is expected to take place on 19 
November 2020. Institutional investors are expected to receive notification 
of allocation in a special procedure around 19 November 2020, after which 
settlement notes will be sent out. Once payment for allotted shares has been 
processed by SEB, paid shares will be transferred to a securities depository 
designated by the acquiring party or a designated VP account. The time re-
quired for the transfer of payment and the transfer of paid shares to the par-
ties acquiring shares in Fortinova means that these acquiring parties will not 
have acquired shares available at the designated securities depository or VP 
account until 23 November 2020 at the earliest. Trading in Fortinova’s shares 
on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market is expected to begin around 
19 November 2020. The fact that shares are not available in the acquiring 
party’s VP account or securities depository until 23 November at the earliest 
may entail that the acquiring party is not able to sell these shares on the 
market from the date on which trading in the shares has commenced, but 
only when the shares are available in the VP account or securities depository.
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING

Price range
40–44 SEK per Class B share. 

Application Period for the General Public
9–17 November.

Application Period for Institutional Investors
9–18 November.

Announcement of Offering Price
19 November.

First Day of Trading in Fortinova’s Class B Shares
19 November.

Settlement Date
23 November.

Other Information
Ticker: FNOVA B.
ISIN-code: SE0014608915.
LEI-code: 549300H8ZDTNCZ8PPJ25.

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Anchor Investors  
Fastighets AB Balder, SEB Fonder, ICA-handlarnas 
Förbund Finans AB, Kastellporten AB (Bygg-Göta) 
and Andra AP-fonden.

Euroclear Sweden  
Euroclear Sweden AB.

Fortinova, the Company or the Group  
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), the group in  
which Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) is the  
parent company or a subsidiary of the group,  
depending on the context.

Global Coordinator and Bookrunner  
SEB.

Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market  
An alternative marketplace run by the various  
exchanges included in Nasdaq.

Offering  
The Offering of Class B shares in Fortinova in  
accordance with this Prospectus.

Principal Owner  
A2F Fastigheter AB.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 

Annual Report for Financial Year 2019/20 
13 January 2020.

Annual General Meeting 2020  
27 January 2020.
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SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION AND WARNINGS

Introduction and Warnings This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus. Any deci-
sion to invest in the securities should be based on an assessment of the Pro-
spectus in its entirety by the investor.

Any decision to invest in the securities involves risk and an investor may lose all 
or part of the capital invested. 

In the event of a lawsuit in court regarding the information in the Prospectus,  
investors who are plaintiffs under national law may be forced to bear the costs 
of translating the Prospectus before legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liabi-
lity can only be imposed on the persons who submitted the summary, inclu-
ding translations thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, incorrect or 
incompatible with the other parts of the Prospectus or if it does not, together 
with the other parts of the Prospectus, provide key information to aid investors 
when considering investing in such securities.

The Issuer Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), reg. no. 556826-6943, 
Norrgatan 10, 432 41 Varberg, Sweden.

Phone: +46 (0) 340-59 25 50

LEI-code: 549300H8ZDTNCZ8PPJ25

Ticker: FNOVA B

ISIN-code: SE0014608915

Competent Authority Finansinspektionen is the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority (the “SFSA”) 
and the competent authority responsible for approving the Swedish language 
version of the Prospectus (the “Swedish Prospectus”).

The SFSA’s registered address is Finansinspektionen, Brunnsgatan 3 SE-111 38, 
Stockholm, Sweden. The SFSA may be contacted by phone, at +46 (0) 8 408 
980 00 or by email at finansinspektionen@fi.se. The SFSA’s webpage is fi.se.

The Swedish Prospectus was approved by the SFSA on 6 November 2020. 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER

Who is the Issuer of the Securities?

The Issuer’s Registered Office 
and Corporate Form

Issuer of the securities is Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), reg. no. 556826-6943. 
The Company’s registered office is in Varberg municipality. The Company is a 
Swedish public limited liability company, founded in Sweden under Swedish 
law, incorporated in Sweden and operating under Swedish law. The Company’s 
form of association is governed by the Swedish Companies Act (2005: 551). The 
Company’s LEI code is 549300H8ZDTNCZ8PPJ25. 

The Issuer’s Main Objects Fortinova’s main objects consists of acquiring, developing and managing pro-
perties, primarily residential properties which, according to Fortinova’s assess-
ment, have documented strong cash flows and with an objective of generating 
a positive return over time, independent of market development. Fortinova has 
a geographical focus on growth municipalities in Western Sweden.

The Issuer’s Major Shareholders As of August 31 2020 the Company’s largest shareholders are those listed below.

SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER
OF CLASS 
A SHARES

NUMBER 
OF CLASS 
B SHARES

TOTAL  
NUMBER OF 

SHARES CAPITAL, % VOTES, %

Ica-Handlarnas Förbund 0 5,500,000 5,500,000 16.6 9.5

A2F Fastigheter AB 2,750,000 1,786,650 4,536,650 13.7 50.6

Efort Invest AB 0 1,732,395 1,732,395 5.2 3.0

Kastellporten AB (Bygg-Göta) 0 1,589,008 1,589,008 4.8 2.7

Per-Ola Berggren 0 1,250,000 1,250,000 3.8 2.2

Ole Salsten  
through companies1 0 1,159,272 1,159,272 3.5 2.0

Family Bergmann  
through company2 0 818,000 818,000 2.5 1.4

EPA Business AB 0 775,341 775,341 2.3 1.3

Forsler Holding AB 0 649,999 649,999 2.0 1.1

Göran Nergården  
through company3 0 583,298 583,298 1.8 1.0

Others 0 14,541,177 14,541,177 43.8 25.2

TOTAL 2,750,000 30,385,140 33,135,140 100 100

The issuer is directly controlled by A2F Fastigheter (the “Principal Owner”), 
a company owned by the Company’s Deputy CEO and Board Member Anders 
Valdemarsson and the Company’s CEO Anders Johansson.

Key Managing Directors The Company’s Board of Directors consists of Ole Salsten (Chairman of the 
Board), Fredrik Bergmann, Carl-Johan Carlsson, Anders Valdemarsson and 
Helena Örnstedt.

The Company’s executive management consist of Anders Johansson, 
Anders Valdemarsson, John Wennevid and Ann Marie Derengowski.

Auditor KPMG AB (Norra Hamngatan 22, 404 39 Gothenburg) is the Company’s auditor, 
with the chartered accountant Henrik Blom as the principal auditor.

Key Financial Information for the Issuer

Key Financial Information  
in Summary INCOME STATEMENT

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST

MSEK 2020 i 2019 i 2018 ii

Rental income 135.4 125.3 103.2

Net operating profit 76.8 71.0 68.0

Profit from property management 44.0 39.8 35.2

Net profit 86.4 76.5 49.1

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the financial years ended 31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical financial infor-
mation”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the financial years ended 31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

BALANCE SHEET

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST

MSEK 2020 i 2019 i 2018 ii

Total assets 2,442.7 1,778.4 1,590.0

Total equity 1,193.3 706.0 551.8

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the financial years ended 31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical Financial Infor-
mation”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the financial years ended 31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

1 Concerns Nordstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 50 per cent and Salstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 90 per cent.
2 Concerns G.F. Bergmann Förvaltning Aktiebolag in which Fredrik Bergmann’s holding amounts to 100 per cent.
3 Concerns VästkustStugan AB.

SUMMARY

mailto:finansinspektionen@fi.se
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SUMMARY

Key Financial Information  
in Summary CASH FLOW

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST

MSEK 2020 i 2019 i 2018 ii

Cash flow from operating activities 30.0 33.5 24.9

Cash flow from investment activities (357.5) (78.9) (213.7)

Cash flow from financing activities 439.4 47.7 176.5

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the financial years ended 31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical Financial Infor-
mation”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the financial years ended 31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

Audit Remarks There are no remarks in the auditor’s report regarding the historical financial in-
formation incorporated in the Prospectus by reference.

Specific Key Risks for the Issuer

Significant Risk Factors  
Specific to the Issuer

 — Fortinova’s profitability depends on its ability to maintain and increase its 
rental income. The property sector is largely affected by macroeconomic 
factors such as economic development, growth, developments in employ-
ment and income, as well as changes in infrastructure. These circumstan-
ces may affect the demand for the Company’s rental housing, the tenants’ 
ability to pay and the possibility of being able to charge expected rents. If 
the indicated risks materialize, the entire profitability of Fortinova may be 
adversely affected. 

 — The Group is active in the property sector. The property sector in Wes-
tern Sweden is incused by substantial competition. The Group’s compe-
titiveness depends on, among other things, its ability to acquire interes-
ting properties, attract and retain tenants and to anticipate changes. 
Competitors may have greater financial resources than the Group and 
better capacity to withstand market downturns. If the Group is unable to 
compete successfully, it may significantly affect rental levels and vacancy 
rates and the Group’s revenues could decrease as a result.

 — Fortinova’s income consists almost exclusively of rental income. Fortino-
va’s profitability depends on its ability to maintain and increase its rental 
income. The economic occupancy rate of Fortinova’s property portfolio 
has a significant impact on Fortinova’s rental income and consequently on 
Fortinova’s profitability. If Fortinova’s economic occupancy rate decrea-
ses, the Company’s total revenue will decrease.

 — A major part of Fortinova’s business consists of property acquisitions. All 
acquisitions made by the Company are associated with risks related to 
the acquired operations. There is a risk that the protection specified in the 
acquisition agreements does not fully cover potential deficiencies attri-
butable to the acquired companies. If such risks regarding completed or 
future acquisitions materialize, Fortinova’s profitability may be adversely 
affected.

 — All properties owned by Fortinova require future repairs and mainte-
nance to varying degrees. If Fortinova’s need for maintenance increases, 
for example due to hidden defects or technical damage, it may affect the 
Company’s rental income and growth opportunities.

 — Many of the Company’s employees are key persons on whom the 
business is directly dependent. There is a risk that one or more of the 
Company’s employees will terminate their employment with the Compa-
ny or that recruitment of new employees with relevant knowledge and 
expertise will be unsuccessful, which could adversely affect the Compa-
ny’s continued operations and have a significantly negative effect on the 
Company’s future prospects. 

Significant Risk Factors  
Specific to the Issuer

 — Fortinova’s operations in property management and property develop-
ment entail environmental risks and Fortinova is subject to environmental 
regulations which mean that claims can be made against the Company in 
the event of non-compliance. The Company may be required to remedy 
environmental pollution, which may entail substantial costs and have a 
significantly negative impact on Fortinova’s result from property mana-
gement.

 — The Group has interest-bearing liabilities amounting to MSEK 1,091. There 
is a risk that the Group will be unable to obtain financing on favorable 
terms in the future, or at all. In the event of unfavorable market condi-
tions, the Group’s financial results may be adversely affected, and this 
may negatively influence financing opportunities for the Group. 

 — Tax is a significant cost item for Fortinova. The rules for reporting taxes 
and how they are to be applied in the property sector are complex, 
which is why it cannot be ruled out that Fortinova’s interpretation of tax 
legislation and practice is incorrect or that the applicable law is amended. 
Changes in tax legislation and new/updated practices concerning, for 
example, corporation tax, VAT and property tax can consequently have 
a negative effect on Fortinova’s operations, financial position and result 
from property management. 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES

The Most Important Characteristics of the Security

Securities Offered Class B shares in Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ). ISIN-code: SE0014608915.
The securities are denominated in SEK.
The quota value of the shares is SEK 1.

The Number of  
Securities Issued

Per the date of this Prospectus, there are 33,135,140 shares in the Company, 
divided into 2,750,000 Class A shares and 30,385,140 Class B shares.
The Offering pertains to maximum 18,200,001 Class B shares. 

Rights Associated with  
the Securities

Class A shares entitle the shareholder to ten (10) votes each, while Class B sha-
res entitle the shareholder to one (1) vote per share. At the Annual General Me-
eting, each shareholder is entitled to vote for the full number of shares held and 
represented by the shareholder. 

If the Company issues new shares, warrants or convertibles in a cash issue or 
a set-off issue, the shareholders generally have a preferential right to subscri-
be for such securities proportionally to the number of shares held prior to the 
issue. 

The shares entitle to a dividend for the first time on the record date for the divi-
dend that falls immediately after the shares have been admitted to trading.

All shares in the Company give equal rights to dividends and the Company’s as-
sets and possible surpluses in the event of liquidation or insolvency without pre-
ferential rights. 

The rights associated with the shares issued by the Company, including those 
set out in the Articles of Association, can only be changed in accordance with 
the stipulations of the Swedish Companies Act (2005:551).

Restrictions on Free  
Transferability

The shares in the Company are not subject to any restrictions on transferability.

Dividend Policy Fortinova is a cash flow-oriented real estate company and the Company’s divi-
dend policy aims to continuously transfer profits from property management to 
the Company’s shareholders. When assessing the size of the dividend, the Com-
pany’s investment alternatives, financial position and capital structure shall be 
taken into account. The dividend shall in the long-term amount to at least 40 per 
cent of the profit from property management after tax paid.

SUMMARY
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Where will the Securities be Traded?

Admission to Trading The Company’s Class B shares are planned to be admitted to trading on Nasdaq 
First North Premier Growth Market around 19 November 2020, provided that 
customary requirements, including the distribution requirement, are met.

What Key Risks are Specific to the Securities?

Significant Risk Factors  
Specific to the Securities

 — The Company’s share price may be volatile or drop, and the liquidity of 
the Company’s shares may be limited. Limited liquidity in the Company’s 
shares may cause problems for individual shareholders to sell their shares 
at a price acceptable to the shareholder, or at all. 

 — The Company’s existing shareholders’ sales of shares may cause the price 
of the shares to drop.

 — The Company’s Principal Owners have a significant influence over the 
Company and may delay or prevent changes in the control of the Com-
pany and exercise influence over Fortinova in a manner that is not in the 
interest of other shareholders.

 — The Company’s ability to pay dividends to its shareholders depends on 
the Company’s future earnings, financial status, cash flows, need for 
working capital, expenses for investments and other factors, which may 
entail that the Company will not have sufficient distributable funds to 
implement dividends at all or in the extent that shareholders expect.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFERING OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC

On What Terms and According to What Schedule Can I Invest in This Security?

General Terms General: The Offering comprises between a minimum of 16,545,455 and a  
maximum of 18,200,001 newly issued Class B shares, corresponding to approx-
imately 33.3 – 35.5 per cent of the total number of shares and approximately  
22.2 – 23.9 of the total number of votes in the Company after the Offering. The 
Offering is divided into two parts:

 — The Offering to the public in Sweden4

 — The Offering to institutional investors in Sweden and abroad5

The Offering Price: The Offering price will be determined through a form of ten-
der procedure. The final price per share in the Offering (the “Offering Price”) will 
be determined within the price range 40 to 44 SEK (the “Price Range”) by the 
Company’s Board of Directors in consultation with SEB. The Offering Price is ex-
pected to be announced in a press release around 19 November 2020.

Allotment: Decision on allotment of shares within the framework of the Of-
fering is made by the Company’s Board of Directors in consultation with SEB, 
where the goal is to achieve a good institutional ownership base and a broad 
distribution of the shares among the public to enable regular and liquid trading 
in the shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market.

Expected Schedule Application period for the general public: 9–17 November 2020
Application period for institutional investors: 9–18 November 2020
Announcement of Offering Price: 19 November 2020
First day of trading in the Company’s B shares: 19 November 2020
Settlement Date: 23 November 2020

4 The Offering to the general public in Sweden consists of an offer to acquire a maximum of 20,000 shares.
5 “Institutional investors” includes private individuals and legal entities that apply to acquire more than 20,000 shares.

SUMMARY

Information on Admission to 
Trading

Nasdaq Stockholm will approve an application for admission to trading of the 
Company’s shares on the Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market provided 
that certain conditions are met, including that the Company submits such an 
application and that the distribution requirement for its shares is met. Estima-
ted first day of trading is 19 November 2020.

Dilution as a Result  
of the Offering

The new issue of shares in connection with the Offering entails, upon full sub-
scription, that the number of shares in the Company increases by a maximum 
of 18,200,001 shares, which corresponds to a dilution of 35 per cent of the sha-
res and 24 per cent of the votes. Provided that the Offering is fully subscribed 
and that the Over-Allotment Option is fully exercised, the number of shares in 
the Company will increase by a maximum of 20,020,001 newly issued shares, 
which corresponds to a dilution of 38 per cent of the shares and 26 per cent of 
the votes. As per the day of this Prospectus, the share capital in the Company 
amounts to SEK 33,135,140. In the event that the Offer is fully subscribed and 
that the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the share capital in the Company 
will amount to SEK 53,155,141.

Issuing Costs The Company’s costs attributable to the admission of the Class B shares to trading 
on the Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market and the Offering, including 
payment to advisers and other estimated transaction costs, are estimated to total 
a maximum of approximately MSEK 38 and are booked directly against equity.

Why is this Prospectus being produced? 

Background and Reasons,
Issue Proceeds and Purpose

The main purpose of listing Fortinova’s Class B shares on Nasdaq First North 
Premier Growth Market is to create prerequisites for continued growth. A listing 
will broaden Fortinova’s ownership base and provide increased access to the ca-
pital market, enabling a broader and more efficient raising of capital.

The Offering includes a new issue of Class B shares which, upon full subscription, 
provides Fortinova with gross issue proceeds of maximum approximately MSEK 
728 and up to a maximum of approximately MSEK 800 if the Over-Allotment Op-
tion is fully exercised. Costs related to the Offering are expected to amount to 
approximately maximum MSEK 38, which implies a net issue payment of maxi-
mum approximately MSEK 690 and MSEK 763 if the Over-Allotment Option is fully 
exercised. Fortinova’s primarily intention is to use up to MSEK 330 of the proceeds 
to finance existing commitments relating to property acquisitions, and to use the 
rest of the proceeds to finance future property acquisitions in Western Sweden. 
Considering existing commitments relating to property acquisitions and in respect 
of current liabilities of the Company which are due within the next twelve months, 
the Company has, per the day of the Prospectus, a working capital deficiency. The 
assessment of the Board of Directors is that the current liabilities will be refinan-
ced, and hence that the proceeds will be used to finance acquisitions.  

Conflicts of Interest SEB is the Global Coordinator and Bookrunner in connection with the Offering. 
SEB provides financial advice and other services to the Company in connection 
with the Offering.

 

SUMMARY
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RISK FACTORS

RISKS RELATED TO INDUSTRY AND MARKET

FORTINOVA’S OPERATIONS AND RESULTS  
ARE ASSOCIATED WITH RISKS RELATED  
TO THE ECONOMIC CYCLE

Fortinova acquires, develops and manages properties, 
primarily residential properties which, according to 
Fortinova’s assessment, have documented strong cash 
flows and with an objective of generating a positive re-
turn over time, independent of market development. 
Fortinova has a geographical focus on growth munici-
palities in Western Sweden. The property sector is lar-
gely affected by macroeconomic factors, such as gene-
ral, global or national economic development, growth, 
employment and income development, production rate 
for new residential and commercial premises, changes 
in infrastructure, regional economic development, po-
pulation growth, inflation and changing interest rates. 
These factors greatly affect supply and demand in the 
property market and consequently affect the occupan-
cy rate, rental levels and the market value of Fortino-
va’s properties. If the economy deteriorates, the value 
of Fortinova’s property portfolio and the rental income 
from the property portfolio may decrease. 

In 2019 the Swedish GDP growth was relative-
ly subdued and increased by 1.2 per cent (average 
growth for the last ten-year period amounts to 2.5 
per cent). The GDP growth in 2019 can be compared 
with GDP growth of 2.2 per cent for 2018 and 2.4 per 
cent for 2017. Although Sweden historically has had 

a strong labour market and a high degree of employ-
ment and activity, there are no guarantees that these 
positive trends will continue. Sweden’s economy can 
also be affected by the outside world, which could re-
sult in a deteriorating economic situation for Sweden. 
To Fortinova, as mainly conduct its operations in Wes-
tern Sweden, regional variations and trends could also 
have a significant effect on the Company’s operations. 
Furthermore, a declined or diversified growth in a 
local area could have effect on the level of occupan-
cy as well as the level of rental. These fluctuations and 
trends, as well as the financial development both  
nationally and globally, affect the level of supply and 
demand for Fortinova’s properties and could have  
a significant negative effect on the Company’s and  
the Group’s results from property management  
and profitability. 

COMPETITIVE SECTOR
The Group is active in the property sector, primarily 
in Western Sweden. The property sector in Western 
Sweden is incused by substantial competition, for in-
stance from public housing, larger property compa-
nies, private parties and regional property owners. 
The Group’s competitiveness depends on, among other 
things, its ability to acquire interesting properties in 
attractive locations, to attract and retain tenants, to 
anticipate changes and trends in the industry and to 
quickly adapt to, for example, current and future mar-
ket needs. In addition, the Group competes for tenants, 

T H I S S E C T I O N  D E S C R I B E S  T H E R I S K FAC T O R S and significant circumstances that are consi-
dered to be material to Fortinova’s business and future development. The risk factors relate 
to Fortinova’s operations, industry and markets, and further include operational risks, legal 
risks, regulatory risks, tax risks, financial risks and risk factors attributable to the securi-
ties. The assessment of the materiality of each risk factor is based on the probability of its 
occurrence and the expected extent of its adverse effects. In accordance with the Prospectus 
Regulation, the risk factors listed below are limited to such risks which are specific to the 
Company and/or the securities and which are material for a well-founded investment deci-
sion to be made. 

The description below is based on information available per the date of this Prospectus. 
The risk factors that are presently considered to be most significant are first presented in 
each category. The risk factors are then presented without special ranking.

The following risks and uncertainties may have a material adverse effect on Fortinova’s 
operations, financial position and/or results. They may also cause the value of the Company’s 
shares to decrease, which could entail that shareholders in the Company lose all or part of 
their invested capital.

based on property location, rents, size, availability, qu-
ality, tenant satisfaction, convenience and the Group’s 
reputation, among other things. Fortinova’s competito-
rs may have greater financial resources than the Group 
and better capacity to withstand market downturns, 
better access to potential acquisitions, compete more 
efficiently, be more skilled at retaining competent staff 
and respond more quickly to changes in local markets. 
In addition, competitors may have a higher tolerance 
for lower yield requirements and more efficient tech-
nology platforms. Furthermore, the Group may need 
to incur additional investment costs to keep its proper-
ties competitive in relation to competitors’ properties. 
If the Group is unable to compete successfully, it could 
significantly affect rental levels and vacancy rates and 
the Group’s revenues could decrease.

GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION OF  
FORTINOVA’S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Fortinova’s property portfolio consists of properties in 
growth municipalities in Western Sweden, see section 
“Fortinova’s Property Portfolio”. Communities of par-
ticular importance is, to the opinion of Company, Var-
berg, Lilla Edet, Uddevalla and Gothenburg and as per 
August 31, 2020 these communities represented 88 
per cent of Fortinova’s property portfolio.6 As per Au-
gust 31, 2020 the revenue from the above-mentioned 
communities amounted to 86 per cent of the Group’s 
total revenue. 

Although the municipalities where the property 
portfolio is located are assessed to have good demand 
for residential and commercial premises, Fortinova’s 
operations are affected by demographic trends, such 
as the rise in ageing populations and increased migra-
tion from rural areas to cities in Sweden. These demo-
graphic trends, in particularly the migration from rural 
areas to cities in Sweden, affect the level of supply and 
demand for Fortinova’s properties, so fluctuations in 
demographics could lead, for example, to Fortinova 
being forced to write down the value of its properties, 
which entails the risk of a substantial negative impact 
on Fortinova’s overall profitability. Fluctuations in de-
mographics may also mean that Fortinova’s income, 
which in principle consists exclusively of rental income, 
will be significantly lower than expected. 

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH COVID-19
In late December 2019, the outbreak of a new corona 
virus (later named Covid-19) was discovered in the  
city of Wuhan in Hubei province in China. At the end  
of February 2020, Covid-19 spread rapidly outside  
China, and on 11 March 2020, the World Health  
Organization announced that the outbreak was  
classified as a pandemic. 

The Company acquires, develops and manages 
primarily residential properties and, as of 31 August 
2020, 86 per cent of the value of the Company’s pro-
perty portfolio consists of residential homes. The-
refore, the Company’s property portfolio consists, 
to a limited extent, of commercial properties, which 

6 Based on municipality and value, see section “Market Overview – Fortinova’s market”.

according to the Company’s assessment is the part of 
the property portfolio that is currently affected by 
Covid-19. 

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Compa-
ny has received several requests for rent reductions, 
which have been granted to a limited degree. As of the 
day for this Prospectus, the rent reductions amount to 
KSEK 242 and the rent reductions of the Company has 
on an average been granted for a period of approxima-
tely two months. The Company has, in accordance with 
the state aid for rent rebates issued by the governme-
nt in connection with Covid-19, applied for and recei-
ved compensation for the rent reductions granted to 
the Company’s tenants. Compensation has been obtai-
ned for up to a maximum 50 per cent of the reduced 
fixed rent, however, at a maximum of 25 per cent of 
the original fixed rent. 

As of the day for this Prospectus, the Company, 
cannot assess whether further rent reductions will 
be granted, since the matter regarding rent reduc-
tions has a direct connection to the development of 
Covid-19. There is a risk that the Company, in the fu-
ture, not will receive any further compensation, thus 
forthcoming rent reductions can have a negative effect 
on the Company’s revenues. The Company monitors 
and follows the development of Covid-19 on an ong-
oing basis.

RISKS RELATED TO FORTINOVA’S OPERATIONS

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH  
FORTINOVA’S RENTAL INCOME

Fortinova’s income consists almost exclusively of ren-
tal income. Fortinova’s profitability depends on its 
ability to maintain and increase its rental income. 
As previously mentioned, the property sector, and 
Fortinova’s operations, is largely affected by macroe-
conomic factors, such as general, global or natio-
nal economic developments, changes in inflation and 
changes in interest rates. These circumstances may af-
fect the demand for the Company’s rental housing, the 
tenants’ ability to pay and the possibility of being able 
to charge expected rents. Furthermore, there is a risk 
that rent levels may be examined by the rent tribunal, 
which may imply that the rent levels could be less than 
of the Company calculated levels. There is also a risk 
that the conditions, location and other characteristics 
of Fortinova’s property portfolio do not correspond 
to demand, which may have a negative effect on the 
Company’s ability to maintain and/or increase rental 
levels and total rental income. If those risks materiali-
se, the entire profitability of Fortinova may be adver-
sely affected.

The economic occupancy rate for Fortinova’s pro-
perty portfolio has a significant impact on Fortinova’s 
rental income and consequently also on Fortinova’s 
profitability. The economic occupancy rate for Fortino-
va’s properties was 99.1 per cent as of 31 August 2020, 
99.0 per cent as of 31 August 2019 and 98.7 per cent 
as of 31 August 2018. There are no guarantees that 

RISK FACTORS
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Fortinova will be able to maintain its economic occupan-
cy rate at a corresponding level in the future. If Fortino-
va’s economic occupancy rate decreases, the Company’s 
total revenue will decrease. 

High tenant turnover can also lead to additional 
costs for Fortinova due to the costs of administering 
and signing new leases as well as the cost of minor re-
pairs and maintenance normally required when a tenant 
moves from a premises or home, among other things. 

ACQUISITION-RELATED RISKS
A major part of Fortinova’s operations consists of pro-
perty acquisitions. The property transfers partly take 
place directly through property transfer and partly in-
directly through company transfer. During the financial 
year 2019/20, the Company acquired ten properties. All 
acquisitions made by the Company are associated with 
risks linked to the acquired operations. The risks inclu-
de tenancies coming to an end, deficient accounting for 
the acquired business, and/or the acquired business 
being subject to environmental or tax claims that could 
not have been foreseen. There is also a risk that the 
protection Fortinova has agreed upon with the seller in 
the acquisition agreement does not fully cover defects 
relating to the property discovered after the date of 
Fortinova’s entry into possession. If such risks regarding 
completed or future acquisitions materialize, Fortinova’s 
profitability may be adversely affected.

Acquisitions of property companies may also 
expose Fortinova to additional risks. These risks are 
mainly associated with the integration of the acquisi-
tions, such as inability to retain key personnel, merger 
costs, organizational costs, unforeseen costs and dif-
ficulties in achieving the expected synergy effects of 
the acquisitions and a successful implementation of 
Fortinova’s strategy after the acquisition. As the Com-
pany continuously acquires properties, these risks may 
be recurring and, consequently, acquisitions may entail 
significantly higher costs than originally expected. The 
Company continuously evaluates opportunities to ac-
quire properties and property companies and is thus 
exposed to risks such as unforeseen increases in trans-
action costs and cancelled acquisitions. 

In addition to the risks associated with the acqui-
red properties themselves, some acquisitions can be 
extraordinarily complex or difficult to integrate and 
thus require a lot of management time and resources. 
Should these risks relating to future acquisitions ma-
terialize, it could have a substantial adverse effect on 
Fortinova’s property management results.

RISK OF INCREASED MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 
COSTS AND DAMAGE AND DEFECTS TO PROPERTIES

All properties owned by Fortinova require future re-
pairs and maintenance to varying degrees, either af-
ter existing tenancies have expired or for some other 
reason. Regular property maintenance is necessary 
to maintain the market value and rental levels in the 
Company’s property portfolio. Maintenance and re-
pair costs in Fortinova amounted to MSEK 13,0 for the 

financial year 2017/18, MSEK 17,7 for the financial year 
2018/19 and MSEK 20,6 for the financial year 2019/20. 
The scope of necessary maintenance and repair work 
may increase, for example, due to changed energy effi-
ciency rules or other requirements placed on residential 
properties, or as a result of damage caused by tenants 
or other parties. Furthermore, maintenance costs may 
increase due to inflation, which is beyond Fortinova’s 
control, and Fortinova’s repair costs and investments in 
modernization may increase more than the Company 
currently expects due to its growth strategy, acquisi-
tions and property development projects. If certain ma-
intenance needs are not detected in time or the level of 
maintenance is insufficient, it can reduce the values of 
such properties and Fortinova may also need to lower 
the rental levels in such residential properties. 

Being active in the property sector also entails 
technical risks. Technical risk refers to the risks asso-
ciated with the technical operation of properties, such 
as the risk of defects relating to the construction of 
the properties, other latent defects or deficiencies, da-
mage (for instance due to fire or other forces of natu-
re, or by tenants) and pollution. If technical problems 
arise, they can lead to a significant cost increase for 
Fortinova. 

The reputation of a property company is also par-
ticularly important in relation to new and existing te-
nants. If Fortinova does not address technical or ma-
intenance-related issues, Fortinova’s reputation may 
be harmed, which in turn may lead to difficulties in re-
taining existing tenants and attracting new tenants. If 
Fortinova’s reputation is damaged or Fortinova’s costs 
increase due to technical damage, this may lead to re-
duced rental income and/or lost growth opportunities.

THE ABILITY TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN KEY PEOPLE
As of August 31 2020 Fortinova had 22 employees. A 
number of these are key people on whom Fortinova’s 
operations are directly dependent, including Anders 
Johansson who is the founder, CEO and Principal Ow-
ner of the Company and Anders Valdemarsson who is 
the founder, Deputy CEO, Board Member and Principal 
Owner of the Company. In order to attract, motivate 
and retain certain key people, Fortinova may need to 
increase the remuneration of these people, with in-
creased costs as a result. There is a risk that one or 
more of the Company’s employees will terminate their 
employment with the Company and/or recruitment of 
new employees with relevant knowledge and experti-
se will fail, for instance because the Company’s opera-
tions are mainly conducted from Varberg and thus not 
from one of Sweden’s major cities. If any of the risks 
materialize, they could adversely affect the Company’s 
continued operations and have a significant negative 
effect on the Company’s prospects. 

LEGAL RISKS

LEGAL AND POLITICAL RISKS
Property businesses as such are greatly affected by 

RISK FACTORS RISK FACTORS

laws, government regulations and decisions regarding, 
for example, the environment, taxes, subsidies and 
support, security, permitted building materials and 
building standards, letting and the regulated rental 
structure for rental apartments. All the indicated laws 
and regulations have a major impact on Fortinova’s 
operations and can be changed in a negative way for 
Fortinova on relatively short notice, without Fortinova 
having the ability to influence the decisions. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, particularly at-
tention has been given to the new interest deduction 
rules that came in to force in 2019 and were applied 
by Fortinova the first time during the financial year 
2019/20, see chapter “Risk related to Taxes” below. Fai-
lure to comply with laws and regulations may result 
in Fortinova being forced to pay fees or fines or being 
subject to enforcement action. 

The Company is continually monitoring the de-
velopment in respect of the rules regarding the new 
state aid for rent rebates issued by the government in 
connection with Covid-19 as well as possible additio-
nal rules which may affect the operations of Fortinova. 
There is also a risk that the Company’s interpretation 
of applicable laws and regulations is incorrect, or that 
the accepted interpretation of these laws may change 
in the future, which may lead to the Company incurring 
increased costs or risking significant fines or penalties.

EXPOSURE TO ENVIRONMENTAL  
RISKS  AND HEALTH, SAFETY AND  
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

Property management and property developme-
nt is operations where by virtue to entail environ-
mental risks (for instance by liability under Miljöbalk 
(1998:808). Hence, Fortinova is subject to environme-
ntal regulations, which means that claims can be made 
against the Company in the event of non-compliance. 

Even if the Company carries out inspections in 
connection with the acquisition of individual proper-
ties, there is a risk that the environmental regulations 
were not complied with earlier. According to current 
environmental legislation, anyone who conducts activi-
ties that have contributed to the pollution of a proper-
ty has a responsibility for the clean-up. If the operator 
cannot carry out or pay for the cleaning of a property, 
the party who acquired the property, and who knew 
about or should have discovered the pollution at the 
time of the acquisition, can be held liable. This means 
that the Company, in certain circumstances, may be re-
quired to restore properties to a condition that meets 
the requirements of the relevant environmental legis-
lation. Such a restoration may include, for example, de-
contamination of suspected or actual pollution in soil, 
water bodies or groundwater. The Company’s costs for 
investigating and taking measures, such as removing 
soil or restoring land in accordance with applicable 
environmental legislation, can be substantial. Such 
obligations may have a significantly adverse effect on 
Fortinova’s earnings, cash flow and financial position. 

Any future amendments to laws, regulations and 

regulatory requirements in the environmental area may 
also lead to increased costs for the Company regarding 
decontamination of properties that the Company cur-
rently owns or may acquire in the future. Such changes 
may also result in increased costs for Fortinova.

Pollution requiring remedial measures can also 
be detected on properties and in buildings, especial-
ly during renovation processes or when buildings are 
upgraded for environmental certification. The disco-
very of environmental pollution or residual pollution 
in connection with the rental or sale of a property can 
trigger claims for rent reductions, damages or rent 
terminations. Measures to remove such contaminants 
may be required as part of the Company’s ongoing 
operations and may, depending on the extent of the 
contamination, entail substantial costs and a signifi-
cant negative impact on Fortinova’s property manage-
ment results.

DISPUTES
The Group is at risk being involved in legal or adminis-
trative proceedings, which may entail extensive claims 
for damages or other claims for payments, including 
claims for damages from customers or competitors for 
breaches of competition law. 

Since the operation of Fortinova mainly consist of 
acquisitions of properties or of companies that owns 
properties it cannot be omitted that the acquisition 
processes result in a dispute. It is difficult to predict 
disputes and the outcome of disputes or other claims. 
If the outcome of any future legal and administrati-
ve proceedings is unfavorable for the Company, it may 
have a significantly adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial position and operating results.  

FINANCIAL RISKS

THE VALUE OF FORTINOVA’S PROPERTY  
PORTFOLIO MAY DECREASE

As of 31 August 2020, the market value of Fortinova’s 
properties amounted to approximately MSEK 2,261. 
Fortinova’s properties are reported at fair value in ac-
cordance with IFRS.  

The property valuations are based on valuations 
carried out by Newsec Advice AB. Newsec Advice AB 
compiles the valuation certificate and the underly-
ing assumptions are tested, in the usual way, by ran-
dom selection. Property valuations are also based on 
several assumptions that may prove to be incorrect. 
Such assumptions include property-specific assump-
tions about rental levels, occupancy rates and ope-
rating costs as well as market-specific assumptions 
about macroeconomic development, general economic 
trends, regional economic development, employment 
rate, production rate for new properties, changes in in-
frastructure, inflation and interest rates.  

It is possible that Fortinova’s valuations do not 
correspond to the current value of Fortinova’s proper-
ties or reflect the amounts for which the properties 
can be sold. The valuation methods that are currently 
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RISK FACTORS

accepted and have been used to compile valuation cer-
tificates for Fortinova’s property portfolio may subse-
quently prove unsuitable.  

It cannot be ruled out that the underlying ass-
umptions in previous or future valuations of the pro-
perties may prove to be incorrect. The property mar-
ket and property prices are subject to fluctuations. If 
the market value of the properties falls, the decrea-
se in value can have a significantly adverse effect on 
Fortinova’s profitability and profit for the year.

FORTINOVA IS EXPOSED TO INTEREST RATE  
RISKS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EXISTING AND  
FUTURE FINANCING

In addition to equity, the Company’s operation is pri-
marily funded through loan from credit institutions 
admitted to the Swedish market. Interest rate risk is 
the potential impact of the Group’s financing cost that 
result from a change in interest rates. In addition to 
the size of interest-bearing debts the interest expen-
se is mainly affected by the current market rates, the 
margins of the credit institutions and the fixed inte-
rest strategy of the Company. In Sweden the interest 
rate market is mainly affected by the expected rate 
of inflation and the repro rate decided by the Swedish 
Riksbank.  

As of 31 August 2020, the Company’s interest-be-
aring debts amounted to MSEK 1,091 with an avera-
ge rate of 2 per cent. As of 31 August 2020, 51 per cent 
of the long-term liabilities consisted of hedge interest 
rates through derivative in form of nominal interest 
rate swaps. As of the same date the total participating 
interest of the Company’s debt portfolio amounted to 
53 per cent. Hence, as of 31 August 2020, the interest 
sensitivity as of +/- 1 per cent change of the lending ra-
tes amounted to MSEK 5,7/-4,3. An increase in interest 
rate levels could have a negative effect on Fortinova’s 
possibility of financing future property acquisitions. 
Should any of these risks materialize, it could have a 
negative effect on the market value of the Company 
and cash flow as well as entail fluctuations in the result 
of the Company. 

LIQUIDITY AND THE NEED FOR  
FINANCING THROUGH MORTGAGING

As of 31 August 2020, the Group’s interest-bearing lia-
bilities amounted to MSEK 1,091, of which MSEK 681 
(corresponding to 62 per cent) must be renewed or re-
paid within the next year, MSEK 333 (corresponding to 
31 per cent) must be renewed or repaid within two to 
three years, MSEK 44 (corresponding to four per cent) 
must be renewed or repaid within four to five years 
and MSEK 33 (corresponding to three per cent) must 
be renewed or repaid within six to ten years. There is 
a risk that the Group may not receive financing on fa-
vorable terms, or at all, as borrowing in the future may 
have to take place at significantly higher costs than to-
day, lenders may choose not to extend the Group’s lo-
ans at maturity or alternative credit facilities may not 
be available to the Group. It cannot be ruled out that 

the Group will turn to the capital market for borrowing 
in the future. The capital market is affected by general 
market conditions and the Group is therefore exposed 
to the potential effects resulting from negative market 
conditions, such as fluctuations in interest rates and in-
flation, which may affect the Group’s ability to access 
the capital market. 

The Group’s operations have historically been  
financed with bank loans secured by a mortgage on 
property, and it is probable that the capital required  
to finance future acquisitions and investment costs in  
existing properties will be obtained from this source  
of financing. 

The Group’s ability to obtain financing in the futu-
re depends on its operations, prospects and market si-
tuation. In the event of unfavorable market conditions, 
the Group’s financial results may be adversely affec-
ted, and this may reduce the financing opportunities 
for the Group. 

TAX RISKS

Taxes are a significant cost item for property companies 
and consequently for Fortinova. Fortinova’s operations 
are conducted in accordance with Fortinova’s inter-
pretation of applicable law and current tax practice. 
However, the rules for reporting taxes and how they are 
to be applied in the property sector are complex, which 
is why it cannot be ruled out that Fortinova’s interpre-
tation of tax legislation and practice is incorrect or that 
the applicable law is amended. Changes in tax legislation 
and new/changed practices regarding, for example, 
corporation tax, VAT and property tax can consequently 
have a negative effect on Fortinova’s operations, finan-
cial position and operating results. 

Fortinova may be subject to tax audits, which could 
result in imposed taxes, interest and/or fees. At the 
time of drafting this Prospectus, Fortinova has no ong-
oing or announced tax audits. Cases with the Swedish 
Tax Agency have historically been few and have not re-
sulted in any significant additional amounts to be paid.  

As Fortinova’s operations are capital intensive, 
they will be affected by the new interest deduction ru-
les that came into force in 2019. For Fortinova, the ru-
les will not be applied until the 2019/20 financial year. 
The rules entail a general limitation of the right to de-
duct interest costs in the corporate sector, why a part 
of the Group’s interests may be non-deductible, which 
may increase the tax costs for the Group. Fortino-
va’s total interest-bearing debt as of 31 August 2020 
amounts to MSEK 1,091. The Company is unable to as-
sess or specify the impact of the new interest deduc-
tion rules for Fortinova’s result over time. Depending 
on future capital structure and management results, 
these rules may adversely affect Fortinova’s results.

RISKS RELATED TO THE SHARES IN FORTINOVA

THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SHARE
Prior to the Offering, Fortinova’s shares have not been 

RISK FACTORS

traded on a marketplace. Therefore, it is difficult to 
predict the level of trading or the interest as for the 
Company’s Class B shares when they are admitted to 
trading on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Mar-
ket. The price at which the shares are traded and the 
price at which investors can make their investment 
will be affected by several factors, some of which are 
company-specific and others of which are linked to the 
stock market as such.

The share price may be negatively affected as 
a result of market volatility, the possible sale of sha-
res on the market or as a result of an expectation that 
such a sale will take place or otherwise as a consequ-
ence of, or in relation to, the Offering. The sale of sha-
res may also make it difficult for the Company to raise 
capital in the future through a new issue of shares or 
other securities.

It is not certain that an admission to trading on 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market entails a 
liquid market for the Class B shares. Also, there is a 
risk that the price of the shares will be volatile in con-
nection with the listing and if an active and liquid tra-
de does not develop or does not remain sustainable, it 
may lead to difficulties for shareholders in selling the 
shares. Furthermore, there is a risk that the market 
price may differ significantly from the share price in 
the Offering. Limited liquidity in the Company’s shares 
may also cause problems for individual shareholders in 
selling major trading items. There is a risk that shares 
in Fortinova cannot, at any time, be sold at a price ac-
ceptable to the shareholder.

SALES OF SHARES BY EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS 
COULD CAUSE THE SHARE PRICE TO DECLINE

As of the date of this Prospectus the Principal Owner 
in the Company controls 50.6 per cent of the votes. On 
the prerequisite that the Offering is fully subscribed, 
the Principal Owner will control 38.49 per cent of the 
votes. The Principal Owner, ICA-handlarnas Förbund 
Finans AB, members of the Board of Directors with 
shareholdings and certain employees of the Group 
who own shares, including the Company’s senior exe-
cutives, have undertaken to refrain from selling their 
shares for a certain period, or otherwise entering into 
transactions with a similar effect without the prior 
written consent of SEB (“Lock-Up Period”). After the 
expiry of the Lock-Up Period, the shareholders subject 
to lock-up will be free to sell their shares in the Compa-
ny. Any sale of substantial amounts of the Company’s 
shares after the expiry of the Lock-up Period, or the 
perception that such sales might occur, could cause the 
market price of the Company’s share to decline.

SHAREHOLDERS WITH SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE
The Principal Owner has significant control over 
the outcome of the matters referred to the Compa-
ny’s shareholders for decision, including the election 
of members of the Board of Directors, any mergers, 
consolidations or sales of all, or significant parts, of 
the Company’s assets. The Principal Owner of the 

Company is in turn owned by one of the Company’s 
Board Members who is also the Company’s Deputy 
CEO,  
Anders Valdemarsson, and by Anders Johansson, who 
through his role as CEO forms part of the Company’s 
management. 

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Principal 
Owner controls 50.6 per cent of the votes in the Com-
pany and has a significant influence over the Compa-
ny’s senior executives and the Company’s operations. 
The interests of the Principal Owner may deviate signi-
ficantly from, or conflict with, the Company’s interests 
or the interests of other shareholders, and the Princi-
pal Owner may exercise its influence over Fortinova in 
a manner that is not in the interests of other share-
holders. For example, there may be a conflict between 
the Principal Owners interests and the Company’s or 
its other shareholders’ interests when it comes to divi-
dend decisions. Such conflicts may have a significantly 
adverse effect on the Group’s operations, results and 
financial standing.

As far as the Company is aware, there is one ag-
reement between the Principal Owner and one of 
the Company’s major shareholders. Under the agre-
ement the Principal Owner has undertaken to, until 
whichever date comes first (i) the listing of the Com-
pany’s share for trading on a market place or (ii) 12 
months from the date of the agreement, not to sell, 
offer to sell, agree upon selling, issue an option or any 
arrangement similar hereto with the purpose of selling 
the shares of the Principal Owner. In accordance with 
its terms, this agreement will cease to apply immedia-
tely when the Company’s Class B shares are listed on 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market. Regard-
less of this, the Principal’s interests may deviate signi-
ficantly from or compete with the Company’s interests 
or the interests of other shareholders and major sha-
reholders or the Principal may exercise its influence 
over the Company in a manner that is not in the inte-
rests of other shareholders.

FUTURE ISSUES OF SHARES OR OTHER SECURITIES 
IN THE COMPANY MAY DILUTE THE SHAREHOLDING 
AND AFFECT THE PRICE OF THE SHARES 

Fortinova has historically financed its operations parti-
ally through new issues of shares and may need addi-
tional capital to finance its operations. In the last three 
financial years the Company has issued capital amoun-
ting to (net amount) MSEK 414 for the financial year 
2019/20, MSEK 89 for the financial year 2018/19 and 
MSEK 46 for the financial year 2017/18. At the Annual 
General Meeting for the financial year 2018/19, the An-
nual General Meeting authorized the Company’s Board 
of Directors to, without limitation regarding dilution 
and with or without deviation from existing sharehol-
ders’ preferential rights, resolve to issue new shares.  

If the Company chooses to raise additional capital 
through a directed new issue of shares, the shares of 
non-subscribed shareholders will be diluted, and finan-
cial interest will be negatively affected. If the Company 



17

IN
V

ITATIO
N

 TO
 ACQ

U
IRE SH

A
RES IN

 FO
RTIN

O
VA FA

STIGH
ETER A

B (PU
BL)

16

IN
V

IT
AT

IO
N

 T
O

 A
CQ

U
IR

E 
SH

A
RE

S 
IN

 F
O

RT
IN

O
VA

 F
A

ST
IG

H
ET

ER
 A

B 
(P

U
BL

)

RISK FACTORS

chooses to raise additional capital through a new issue 
of shares with preferential rights for existing  share-
holders, those who choose to not exercise their sub-
scription rights in such a rights issue will have reduced 
proportionate ownership and reduced voting rights in 
Fortinova.

FORTINOVA’S ABILITY TO PAY  
DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS

The company’s goal is to be able to distribute at least 
40 per cent of Fortinova’s net operating profit charged 
with standard tax in the long-term. 

Historically, the dividend in Fortinova amoun-
ted to KSEK 13,372 for the financial year 2018/19 and 
KSEK 11,180 for the financial year 2017/18. However, 
the amount of any future dividends from Fortinova de-
pends on several factors, such as the Company’s futu-
re profit, financial position, cash flow, need for working 
capital, investments and other factors. There is a risk 
that the Company may not have sufficient distributa-
ble funds to issue dividends at all or to the extent that 
shareholders expect in the future. There is also a risk 
that the Company and/or its major shareholders will 
prevent or limit future dividends for various reasons. If 
no dividends are paid, an investor’s possible return will 
depend on the future development of the share price.

RISKS RELATED TO THE OFFERING

THE COMMITMENTS FROM ANCHOR  
INVESTORS ARE NOT SECURED

The Anchor Investors have undertaken to acquire sha-
res in the Offering equivalent to a total of approxima-
tely MSEK 435 to 479. The Anchor Investors will hold a 
total of approximately 23.6 to 24.1 per cent of the votes 
in the Company after the implementation of the Offe-
ring. However, the Anchor Investors’ commitments are 
not secured by bank guarantee, blocking or pledge or 
similar arrangements, so there is a risk that the Anchor 
Investors’ will be partly or wholly unable to meet their 
commitments. The Anchor Investors’ commitments 
are further associated with certain conditions regar-
ding, among other things, that a certain distribution of 
the Company’s shares is achieved in connection with 
the Offering and that the Offering is carried out within 
a certain time. If any of these conditions are not met, 
there is a risk that the Anchor Investors will not fulfil 
their commitments, which could have a negative im-
pact on the implementation of the Offering.

INVITATION TO ACQUIRE 
SHARES IN FORTINOVA

Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) has decided to diver-
sify its shareholder base to promote the Group’s pro-
fitable growth and continued development. The Board 
of Directors of the Company consequently intends to 
apply for listing of the Company’s Class B shares on 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market. In ac-
cordance with the terms and conditions set out in the 
Prospectus, investors are hereby offered to acquire a 
maximum of 18,200,001 shares in the form of newly 
issued Class B shares. 

The Offering Price will be determined through a 
form of tender procedure. The final price per share in 
the Offering (the “Offering Price”) will be set within 
the Price Range 40 to 44 SEK (the “Price Range”) by 
the Company’s Board of Directors in consultation with 
SEB. The Offering Price is expected to be announced in 
a press release around 19 November 2020.

With authorization from the Annual General Me-
eting of the Company held on 3 December 2019, the 
Company’s Board of Directors intends to specify the 
final terms for the new issue of shares, which are ex-
pected to give the Company a payment of maximum 
approximately MSEK 728 before issue costs7, with 
a minimum of 16,545,455 and a maximum of newly 
18,200,001 issued Class B shares, depending on the 
subscription price determined within the Price Range 
SEK 40–44. Based on full subscription to the Offering 
and a final Offering Price corresponding to the highest 
point of the Price Range, SEK 44, the Company’s sha-
re capital (after the Offering) will thus amount to SEK 
49,680,595 divided into 49,680,595 shares. 

In order to cover any over-allotment in the Of-
fering, the Company has undertaken to issue an op-
tion to SEB, which implies that SEB, within 30 days 

7 The issue costs are expected to amount to a maximum of approximately MSEK 38.

from the first day of trading of the Company’s shares 
on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market, has 
the right to request that an additional maximum of 
1,820,000 Class B shares is issued, corresponding to 
10 per cent of the total number of shares in the Offe-
ring, at a price corresponding to the Offering Price (the 
“Over-Allotment Option”).

Fastighets AB Balder, SEB Fonder, ICA-handlar-
nas Förbund Finans AB, Kastellporten AB (subsidia-
ry within the Bygg-Göta Group) and Andra AP-fonden 
(together “Anchor Investors”) have, subject to certain 
conditions, undertaken to subscribe for a total of 
10,880,000 B shares in the Offer, which corresponds 
to a total of approximately MSEK 435–479 and approx-
imately 54.3–59.8 per cent of the Offer, provided that 
the Offer is fully subscribed and that the Over-Allot-
ment Option is exercised in its entirety.

Provided that the Offering is fully subscribed, the 
Over-Allotment Option fully exercised and the final Of-
fering Price set corresponds to the highest point of the 
Price Range, SEK 44, the number of shares in the Com-
pany will increase by 20,020,001 newly issued shares 
from 33 135 140 shares to 53,155,141 shares, which cor-
responds to approximately 38.0 per cent of the shares 
and approximately 26.0 per cent of the votes in the 
Company after the Offering.

The total value of the Offering amounts to maxi-
mum approximately MSEK 728 if it is fully subscribed 
and to approximately MSEK 800 if the Over-Allotment 
Option is fully exercised. 

Varberg, 6 November 2020
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)
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BACKGROUND  
AND REASONS

Fortinova is a growing real estate company founded in 
2010, with a business model based on acquiring, deve-
loping and managing primarily residential properties 
which, according to Fortinova’s assessment, have do-
cumented strong cash flows and an objective to gene-
rate a positive return over time, independent of mar-
ket development. Fortinova has a geographical focus 
on growth municipalities in Western Sweden, which 
the Company deems to have a good growth profile and 
are attractive areas to work and live in. The Compa-
ny is based in Varberg and was founded by Fortinova’s 
current CEO Anders Johansson and Deputy CEO  
Anders Valdemarsson.

As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova owned invest-
ment properties valued at MSEK 2,261, of which resi-
dential properties make up approximately 86 per cent. 
The remainder are attributable to community servi-
ce and commercial properties. Fortinova operates in 
Western Sweden, which includes Västra Götaland and 
Halland counties. As of 31 August 2020, Varberg was 
the municipality with the largest proportion of the 
Company’s property portfolio, in terms of investment 
property value (39 per cent). 

Fortinova’s ambition is to continue the Company’s 
growth while maintaining current profitability and the 
Company considers itself to be in a good position to 

8 Before deduction for costs related to capital raising.

continue its expansion in the same geographical area 
as before, with a continued focus on residential pro-
perties. The Company has historically focused on  
efficient property management in combination with 
acquisition-driven growth. In addition, Fortinova crea-
tes additional value by upgrading selected apartments 
in the existing portfolio through the “Pluslägenhet” 
concept, as well as conducting project development. 

The Company’s founders put great importan-
ce to local involvement and relationships and believe 
that this focus has contributed to Fortinova’s ability 
to identify and act quickly on acquisition opportuni-
ties and conduct property management in an efficient 
manner. The objective is to continue to grow with a 
profitability, resulting in a return on equity in excess 
of 10 per cent over time and a net loan-to-value ratio 
of 55-65 per cent in relation to investment property 
value. See section “Selected historical financial infor-
mation – Definitions of key performance measures not  
defined in accordance with IFRS” for definition of net  
loan-to-value ratio and return on equity.

Prior to the listing, Fortinova raised approximate-
ly MSEK 4198 in the spring of 2020 from ICA-handlar-
nas Förbund, SEB’s Private Banking network, existing 
investors and certain additional investors. The pro-
ceeds have been used, among other things, to finance 
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the acquisition of three residential properties in the 
municipality of Gothenburg, which were acquired on 31 
August 2020. 

The main purpose of listing Fortinova’s Class B 
shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market 
is to create the conditions for continued growth. A lis-
ting will broaden Fortinova’s ownership base and pro-
vide increased access to the capital market, enabling a 
broader and more efficient raising of capital. Fortino-
va’s Board of Directors and Management consider the 
listing as a natural and important step in Fortinova’s 
development and assess that the listing will lead to in-
creased awareness of the Company and its operations, 
and thereby strengthen Fortinova’s profile.  

The Offering comprises of newly issued Class B 
shares which, upon full subscription, provides Fortino-
va with gross issue proceeds of maximum approxima-
tely MSEK 728 and up to approximately MSEK 800 if 
the Over-Allotment Option is fully exercised. Costs re-
lated to the Offering are expected to amount to max-
imum approximately MSEK 38, which results in net 
proceeds of maximum approximately MSEK 690 and 
MSEK 763 if the Over-Allotment Option is fully exer-
cised. Fortinova’s primarily intention is to use up to 
MSEK 330 of the proceeds to finance existing commit-
ments relating to property acquisitions, and to use the 

rest of the proceeds to finance future property acquisi-
tions in Western Sweden. Considering existing commit-
ments relating to property acquisitions and in respect 
of current liabilities of the Company which are due 
within the next twelve months, the Company has, per 
the day of the Prospectus, a working capital deficiency. 
The assessment of the Board of Directors is that the 
current liabilities will be refinanced, and hence that the 
proceeds will be used to finance acquisitions.  

In other respects, please refer to the full particu-
lars in this Prospectus, which has been prepared by 
the Board of Directors of Fortinova in connection with 
the application for listing of the Company’s Class B 
shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market 
and the Offering submitted in connection therewith.

The Board of Directors of Fortinova is responsible 
for the content of the Prospectus and, to the know- 
ledge of the Board of Directors, the information provi-
ded in this Prospectus is consistent with the facts and 
no information that is likely to affect its meaning has 
been omitted.

Varberg, 6 November 2020
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)
The Board of Directors
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LETTER FROM THE CEO
A N I N V E S T M E N T I N F O R T I N OVA  is an in-
vestment in residential properties in growth 
municipalities in Western Sweden. Fortino-
va not only manages houses in some of the 
country’s most attractive places to live and 
work in – we also manage our tenants’ homes 
and dreams. We create space for our tenants 
to grow, so that we can grow with them.   

Since the end of the 1990s, the housing shortage has 
increased in large parts of Sweden. The lack of hou-
sing in Western Sweden gives rise to numerous tenan-
cy requests and means rental apartments in Western 
Sweden constitute an asset where demand far ex-
ceeds the supply. For investors in rental properties in 
Western Sweden, this means security, predictability 
and good development opportunities. 

Since Fortinova’s founding ten years ago, the 
Company has built up a well-established network in 
Western Sweden, which allows us to be responsive 
and identify micro-locations in different areas that are 
often overlooked by others. By gradually building our 
internal property management organization, we in-
crease our understanding of our tenants, their living 
environments and the local market. 

Fortinova’s operations are based on good proper-
ty management with satisfied tenants and stable cash 
flows. An important part of this is to refine our portfo-
lio by upgrading older flats to new construction stan-
dards according to a concept we call ”Pluslägenheter”. 
The “Pluslägenheter”-concept leads to a reduction in 
technical debt, increased rental income and greater sa-
tisfaction among our tenants. Ultimately, the concept 
provides added value at all levels. 

Another important aspect of the business is our 
community involvement, through which we know 
what is in demand in addition to housing – for example 
in the form of preschools, senior housing or other com-
munity service properties. 

Being a stakeholder in society entails a great re-
sponsibility in how we as a company work with sustai-
nability. Sustainable business means that profitability, 
environmental considerations and social commitment 
are united and affect all parts of the organization, 
both now and in the future. At Fortinova, this means, 
among other things, that we streamline heating sys-
tems, minimize water consumption and recycle and 
reuse materials to reduce the negative impact on the 
climate and the environment. We also assume soci-
al responsibility by supporting sports clubs, cultural 
events and other local activities. The ambition is for 
Fortinova’ presence to be positive for all residents in 
the municipality. 

With our large network, our local knowledge and 
close to 1,800 apartments in growth municipalities in 
Western Sweden, there is significant opportunity for 
continued expansion. Opportunities for growth exist 
both in existing locations and in new growth municipa-
lities in regions where there is a housing shortage. We 
constantly develop our project portfolio. By listing the 
Company’s Class B share on Nasdaq First North Pre-
mier Growth Market and raising capital in connection 
therewith, we look forward to enabling more people 
to join us on the expansive journey towards our vision 
– to be Western Sweden’s most prominent property 
company in the residential property market.

ANDERS JOHANSSON, CEO

20

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
The Offering comprises a minimum of 16,545,455 and a 
maximum of 18,200,001 newly issued Class B shares, 
corresponding to approximately 33.3 – 35.5 per cent of 
the total number of shares and approximately 22.2 – 23.9 
of the total number of votes in the Company after the 
Offering. The Offering is divided into two parts:

 ■ The Offering to the general public in Sweden9; and 
 ■ The Offering to institutional investors in Sweden 
and abroad.10

The outcome of the Offering is expected to be announ-
ced through a press release, which will be available on 
the Company’s website (fortinova.se 11) on or about 
19 November 2020.

OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION

To cover any over-allotments in the Offering, the Com-
pany has undertaken to grant an Over-Allotment Op-
tion to SEB, which means that SEB, within 30 days 
from the first day of trading of the Company’s shares 
on the Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market, 
has the right to request that a further maximum of 
1,820,000 Class B shares are issued, corresponding to 
ten per cent of the total number of shares in the Offe-
ring, at a price corresponding to the Offering Price. The 
Over-Allotment option may be exercised to covering 
any over-allotments in the Offering. Provided that the 
Over-Allotment Option is fully exercised, the Offering 
comprises a maximum of 20,020,001 Class B shares, 
which corresponds to a maximum of approximately 38 
per cent of the total number of shares and a maximum 
of approximately 26 per cent of the total number of 
votes in the Company after the Offering. For further 
information about the Over-Allotment Option, see se-
ction “Legal considerations and supplementary infor-
mation – Placing agreement”.

ALLOTMENT OF SHARES

The allotment of shares between each part of the Of-
fering will be based on demand. The allotment will be 
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors in 
consultation with SEB.

9 The Offering to the general public in Sweden consist of an offer to acquire a maximum of 20,000 shares.
10 “Institutional investors” include private individuals and legal entities that apply to acquire more than 20,000 shares.
11 The information on the website does not form part of the Prospectus and has not been scrutinized or approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.
12 The book-building process for institutional investors may be terminated prior to or be extended after the date indicated in this Prospectus. Announcement of such potential 

early termination or extension will be made through a press release. Should the application period be shortened or extended, the announcement of the outcome of the Offe-
ring, the first day of trading as well as the date for allotment and payment may be adjusted accordingly.

13 The application period may be terminated prior to or be extended after the date indicated in the Prospectus. Announcement of such potential early termination or extension 
will be made through a press release. Should the application period be shortened or extended, the announcement of the outcome of the Offering, the first day of trading as 
well as the date for allotment and payment may be adjusted accordingly.

14 Anyone who wishes to acquire more than 20,000 shares should contact SEB in accordance with what is described in section “Terms and conditions – Application – The Offering 
to institutional investors”.

BOOK-BUILDING PROCESS

To achieve a market-based pricing of the shares in the 
Offering, institutional investors will be provided the 
opportunity to participate in a form of book-building 
process by submitting expressions of interest. The 
book-building process will commence on 9 November 
2020.12 and continue until 18 November 2020. The  
Offering Price per share in the Offering will be deter-
mined through this process

THE OFFERING PRICE

The Offering Price is expected to be set within the in-
terval of 40 – 44 SEK per share. The Price Range has 
been determined by the Company’s Board of Directors 
in consultation with SEB, based on the discussions that 
preceded the commitments made by Cornerstone in-
vestors, contact with certain other institutional inve-
stors, the prevailing market climate and a comparison 
with the market price of other comparable listed com-
panies’ shares. The Offering price to the public will not 
exceed SEK 44 per share. Brokerage commission will 
not be charged. The final Offering Price will be deter-
mined by the Company’s Board of Directors in consul-
tation with SEB and is expected to be announced in a 
press release on or about 19 November 2020.

APPLICATION

THE OFFERING TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC IN SWEDEN
Application for the purchase of shares via the Offering 
to the public shall take place during the period from 
9–17 November 202013 and relates to a minimum of 
200 shares and a maximum of 20,000 shares14 in even 
lots of 20 shares.

APPLICATION VIA SEB
Persons applying to acquire shares through SEB must 
hold a securities depository account or an Investment 
Savings Account (“ISK”) at SEB. Persons who do not 
hold a securities depository account or an ISK at SEB 
must open such account prior to applying to acquire 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

shares. Please note that it may take some time to open 
a securities depository account or an ISK. In connec-
tion with acquisitions of shares that are to be registe-
red in an ISK, payment must always be made using the 
funds available on the ISK.

The balance on the securities depository account 
or the ISK at SEB must, for the period commencing 
23:59 on 17 November 2020 to 23:59 on 23 November 
2020, correspond to at least the amount to which the 
application relates, calculated based on the highest 
price in the Price Range. This means that the account 
holder undertakes to keep the amount available on the 
designated securities depository account or ISK during 
the aforementioned period and that the holder is awa-
re that shares may not be allotted if the amount during 
this period is insufficient. Note that the amount may 
not be withdrawn during the specified period. As soon 
as possible after allotment has taken place, the funds 
will be freely available for those who do not receive 
any allotment. Funds which are not available will carry 
an entitlement to interest during the specified period 
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the  
securities depository account or ISK specified in the 
application.

In order to participate in the Offering via SEB, 
an application to acquire shares must take place via 
SEB’s Internet bank using a Digipass, BankID or Mobi-
le BankID (detailed instructions are available on SEB’s 
web-site, seb.se15). Applications through SEB’s Internet 
bank must be received by SEB not later than 23:59 on 
17 November 2020.

APPLICATION VIA AVANZA
Persons applying to acquire shares through Avanza 
must hold a securities depository account or an ISK 
at Avanza. Persons who do not hold a securities de-
pository account or an ISK at Avanza must open such 
an account or such depository before applying for the 

15 The information on the website does not form part of the Prospectus and has not been scrutinized or approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.
16 The information on the website does not form part of the Prospectus and has not been scrutinized or approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.

acquisition of shares. Opening a securities depository 
account or ISK at Avanza is free and takes about three 
minutes.

Customers who have a securities depository ac-
count or ISK with Avanza can apply to acquire shares 
via Avanza internet service from 9 November 2020 
until 23:59 on 17 November 2020. In order not to lose 
their right to any allotment, customers of Avanza must 
have a sufficient cash balance on the securities deposi-
tory account or ISK during the period from 23:59 on  
17 November 2020 to 23:59 on 23 November 2020. This 
means that the account holder undertakes to keep the 
amount available on the designated securities deposi-
tory account or ISK during the aforementioned period 
and that the holder is aware that shares may not be 
allotted if the amount during this period is insufficient. 
If more than one application is made, Avanza reserves 
the right to consider the first application. More infor-
mation about the application process through Avanza is 
available at avanza.se.16  

THE OFFERING TO INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS
Institutional investors in Sweden and from abroad 
are invited to participate in the book-building process 
during the period 9–18 November 2020. Applications 
from institutional investors in Sweden and from abro-
ad shall be submitted to SEB (in accordance with speci-
al instructions).

IMPORTANT INFORMATION  
REGARDING LEI AND NPID

According to the Directive 2014/65/EU of the Euro-
pean Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on 
markets in financial instruments (“MiFID II”), all inve-
stors need a global identification code to be able to 
carry out securities transactions from 3 January 2018. 
These requirements call for all legal entities to apply 
for registration of a LEI- code (Legal Entity Identifier), 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

and all physical persons to learn their NPID-number 
(National Personal ID or National Client Identifier), 
in order to be able to acquire shares in the Offering. 
Observe that it is the investor’s legal status that de-
termines whether a LEI-code or NPID-number is re-
quired, and that SEB may not be able to execute the 
transaction for the person in question if a LEI-code or 
NPID-number (as applicable) is not presented. Legal 
entities needing to acquire a LEI-code can turn to any 
of the suppliers available on the market. Instructions 
regarding the global LEI-system can be found at
gleif.org/en/about-lei/get-an-lei-find-lei-issuingorga-
nizations17. For physical persons with only a Swedish 
citizenship, the NPID-number is “SE” followed by the 
personal identity number. If the person in question 
has multiple citizenships or a citizenship other than 
Swedish, the NPID-number can be another type of 
number. 

Those intending to apply to acquire shares in the 
Offering are encouraged to apply for registration of 
a LEI-code (legal entities) or learn their NPID-number 
(physical persons) as early as possible as this informa-
tion needs to be stated in the application.

ALLOTMENT

Decision on allotment of shares in the Offering will 
be made by the Company’s Board of Directors and 
in consultation with SEB, whereby the goal will be to 
achieve a strong institutional ownership base and a 
broad distribution of the shares among the general 
public, in order to facilitate regular and liquid trading 
in the shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth 
Market. The allotment does not depend on when the 
application is submitted during the application period. 
Only one application per person will be considered.

17 The information on the website does not form part of the Prospectus and has not been scrutinized or approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.

ALLOTMENT TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC IN SWEDEN
In the event of oversubscription, allotment may not oc-
cur or take place with a lower number of shares than 
the application concerns, whereupon allotment may 
take place wholly or partly by random selection. Allot-
ment to those persons receiving shares in the Offering 
will occur in the first place, so that a certain number 
of shares are allotted per application. In addition, al-
lotment takes place with a certain, equal share of the 
excess number of shares that the application concerns 
and will only take place in even lots of 20 shares.

In addition, employees in the Company may be 
given special consideration when allotting shares. Al-
lotment may also be made to employees of SEB, but 
without prioritizing them. In such cases, the allotment 
takes place in accordance with the rules of the Swedish 
Securities Dealers Association and the Swedish Finan-
cial Supervisory Authority’s regulations. 

ALLOTMENT TO INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS
Decision on the allotment of shares within the fra-
mework of the Offering to institutional investors in 
Sweden and abroad will, as mentioned above, be made 
with the aim of achieving a good and strong institutio-
nal owner base. Allotment to the institutions submit-
ting expressions of interest will take place on a fully 
discretionary basis. However, Cornerstone investors 
are guaranteed allotment in accordance with their res-
pective commitments.

EMPLOYEES
Priority for allotment to employees in the Group will 
relate to shares with a maximum value of SEK 30,000 
(which corresponds to a maximum of 680 shares, ba-
sed on the highest point of the Price Range, SEK 44) 
per employee. Employees within the Group who wish 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

to acquire shares in the Offering must follow special 
instructions from the Company and have a current ac-
count at Avanza.

INFORMATION REGARDING  
ALLOTMENT AND PAYMENT

THE OFFERING TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC IN SWEDEN
Allotment is expected to take place on or about 19 No-
vember 2020. As soon as possible thereafter, contract 
notes will be sent to those having received allotment in 
the Offering. Those who have not been allotted shares 
in the Offering will not be notified.

Information about allotment is expected to be av-
ailable around 09:00 on 19 November 2020 through 
the internet services of each bank.

Payment for allotted shares will be deducted 
from the specified bank account, securities deposito-
ry account or ISK on 23 November 2020 at latest. If 
sufficient funds are not available on the bank account, 
securities depository account or ISK according to the 
respective bank’s routines as described in section 
“Application” above, or if full payment is not made in 
due time, allocation may be compromised or allotted 
shares may be transferred and sold to another party. 
The party who initially received allotment of shares in 
the Offering may bear the difference, should the sel-
ling price in the event of such a transfer be less than 
the Offering Price.

The following shall apply in respect of ISK at  
SEB and Avanza: Where an application has resulted in 
allotment, SEB and Avanza will acquire a correspon-
ding number of shares in the Offering for sale to the 
ISK account holder at the Offering Price. The ISK  
account holder will acquire the shares from SEB and 
Avanza by using funds that are kept available on the 
account holder’s ISK.

THE OFFERING TO INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS
Institutional investors are expected to receive infor-
mation regarding allotment on or about 19 November 
2020 in a particular order, whereupon contract notes 
will be distributed. Full payment for allotted shares 
shall be made in cash not later than 23 November 2020 
in accordance with instructions set out in the contract 
note. Note that if full payment is not made in due time, 
allotted shares may be transferred to another party. 
The party who initially received allotment of shares in 
the Offering may bear the difference, should the sel-
ling price in the event of such a transfer be less than 
the Offering Price.

REGISTRATION AND RECOGNITION  
OF ALLOTTED SHARE

The Board of Directors of Fortinova has applied for a 
listing of the Company’s shares on the Nasdaq First 
North Premier Growth Market. On 23 October 2020 
Nasdaq approved trading of Fortinova’s shares sub-
ject to certain conditions, including fulfilment of the 
distribution requirement for the Company’s shares on 

the first day of trading in the Company’s shares at the 
latest. Trading in the Company’s shares is expected to 
commence on or about 19 November 2020.

LISTING ON THE NASDAQ FIRST  
NORTH PREMIER GROWTH MARKET

The Board of Directors of Fortinova has applied for a 
listing of the Company’s shares on the Nasdaq First 
North Premier Growth Market. On 23 October 2020 
Nasdaq approved trading of Fortinova’s shares sub-
ject to certain conditions, including fulfilment of the 
distribution requirement for the Company’s shares on 
the first day of trading in the Company’s shares at the 
latest. Trading in the Company’s shares is expected to 
commence on or about 19 November 2020.

STABILIZATION

In connection with the Offering, SEB may, to the ex-
tent permitted in accordance with Swedish law, car-
ry out transactions aimed to stabilize, maintain, or in 
other ways support the market price of the Company’s 
shares, for a period of up to 30 days from the com-
mencement of trading in the Company’s shares on the 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market. For fur-
ther information on stabilization, see section “Legal 
considerations and supplementary information  
– Stabilization”.

ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE  
OUTCOME OF THE OFFERING

The final outcome of the Offering will be announced 
through a press release which will be available  
on Fortinova’s website (fortinova.se) on or about  
19 November 2020.

RIGHT TO DIVIDEND

The Offering shares entail a right to dividend for the 
first time on the first record date for dividend occur-
ring following listing of the shares. Decisions regarding 
the distribution of dividend are proposed by the Board 
of Directors and resolved by the Annual General Me-
eting. Dividend payments are administered by Euroc-
lear Sweden or, for nominee-registered shareholdings, 
in accordance with the procedures of the respective 
nominee. Regarding deduction of Swedish withholding 
tax, see section “Tax considerations in Sweden”. See 
also the sections “Business overview – Financial  
targets” and “Business overview – Dividend policy”.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR  
COMPLETION OF THE OFFERING

The Offering is conditional upon the Placing Agre-
ement being entered into between the Company, the 
Principal Owner and SEB, and that certain terms and 
conditions in the Placing Agreement are fulfilled and 
that the Placing agreement is not terminated. Pursuant 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

to the Placing Agreement, SEB’s commitment to pro-
cure purchasers for or, if the managers fail to do so, 
purchase, such shares itself is conditional upon, inter 
alia, that certain force majeure events and materi-
al adverse changes to the Company’s business do not 
occur and certain other customary conditions are ful-
filled. SEB may terminate the Placing Agreement up 
until the settlement date, 23 November 2020, if for 
example any material adverse event was to occur or 
if any other conditions stipulated by the Placing Ag-
reement are not satisfied, in which case the Offering 
will be suspended and neither delivery of, nor payment 
for, shares will be effected under the Offering. For fur-
ther information see section “Legal considerations and 
supplementary information – Placing agreement”.

MISCELLANEOUS

INFORMATION TO INVESTORS
SEB does not automatically consider those who app-
ly for the Offering (“The Offering Investor”) as a client 
of the bank. The Offering Investor is considered as a 
client for the Offering with SEB if the bank has advised 
the Offering Investor regarding the Offering or other-
wise has contacted the Offering Investor individually 
regarding the Offering or if the Offering Investor has 
applied through SEB’s branch offices or internet bank. 
The consequence of SEB not viewing the Offering In-
vestor as a client is that the rules regarding protection 
of investors under the Swedish Securities Markets Act 
(Sw. lagen (2007:528) om värdepappersmarknaden) 
will not be applied to the investment. This means that 
neither the so-called client classification nor the suita-
bility assessment will be applicable regarding the in-
vestment. The Offering Investor is thus solely respon-
sible for having sufficient experience and knowledge to 
understand the risks involved with the investment. 

INFORMATION TO DISTRIBUTORS
With reference to the product governance require-
ments in: (a) MiFID II, (b) Articles 9 and 10 in the Com-
mission Delegated Directive 2017/593/EU of 7 April 
2016 supplementing MiFID II, and (c) Chapter 8 Sec-
tions 13 and 14 of the Swedish Securities Markets Act 
(Sw. lagen (2007:528) om värdepappersmarknaden) 
as well as Chapter 5 Section 5 of the Swedish Financial 
Supervisory Authority’s regulations regarding invest-
ment services and activities, FFFS 2017:2, (together 
the “Product governance requirements of MiFID II”), 
and without liability for damages that may otherwi-
se rest with a “producer” in accordance with the Pro-
duct governance requirements of MiFID II, shares in 
the Company have been subject to a product approval 

process, where the target market for the shares in the 
Company are (i) non-professional investors and inve-
stors who fulfil the requirements of a professional in-
vestor and eligible counterparty, each a “Target market” 
pursuant to MiFID II. Notwithstanding the Target mar-
ket assessment, the distributors shall note that: shares 
in the Company do not offer a guaranteed income or a 
capital protection and an investment in shares in the 
Company is only suitable for an investor who does not 
need a guaranteed income or a capital protection who 
(alone or together with a suitable financial or other 
advisor) is capable of evaluating the benefits and the 
risks with such an investment and who has sufficient 
financial means to bear such losses that may arise the-
reof. The Target market assessment does not affect 
the requirements of any contractual, legal or regula-
tory selling restrictions in relation to the Offering. The 
Target market shall not be considered as (a) a suitabili-
ty assessment pursuant to MiFID II; or (b) a recommen-
dation to any investor or group of investors to invest 
in, acquire, or take any other action regarding shares 
in the Company. Each distributor is responsible for its 
own Target market assessments regarding shares in 
the Company and to determine the appropriate distri-
bution channels.

INFORMATION ABOUT HANDLING  
OF PERSONAL INFORMATION

Anyone acquiring shares in the Offering will disclose 
personal information to SEB. The personal information 
disclosed to SEB will be processed in data systems to 
the extent required to provide services and administer 
customer commitments. Personal information obtai-
ned from sources other than the customer may also be 
processed. It is also possible that personal informa-
tion is processed in data systems of companies or or-
ganizations with which SEB collaborate. Information 
pertaining to the treatment of personal information 
can be obtained from SEB’s offices, which also accept 
requests for the correction of personal information. 
Address details may be obtained from SEB through an 
automatic procedure executed by Euroclear.

Avanza processes its customers’ personal data 
in accordance with current personal data legislation. 
Personal data provided to Avanza will be processed in 
computer systems to the extent necessary to provide 
services and administer customer arrangements. Per-
sonal data obtained from other than the customer to 
whom the processing relates may also be processed. 
It may also happen that personal data is processed in 
computer systems at companies or organizations with 
which Avanza cooperates. For more information, see 
Avanza’s website.
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MARKET OVERVIEW
B E L OW I S A D E S C R I P T I O N  of the markets in which Fortinova operates. The market overview 
covers Sweden’s economy and the Swedish real estate market, as well as the regional real 
estate market where Fortinova operates in brief. Unless otherwise stated, such information 
is based on the Company’s analysis of various sources. The section is mainly based on factual 
information from Statistics Sweden (SCB), the Riksbank, the Swedish National Board of Hou-
sing, Building and Planning, SEB, Nordea, Newsec, JLL18 and CBRE19. The market information 
from Newsec, an advisor in the real estate industry for investors, property owners and local 
users, has been ordered by Fortinova. In the Prospectus, Fortinova has sought to accurately 
reproduce the information from these sources and considers these external sources to be 
reliable but has not itself verified the information. Information retrieved from third parties 
has been accurately reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware of and can ascertain 
from information published by third parties, no details have been omitted in a way that could 
make the reproduced information incorrect or misleading.

INTRODUCTION

Fortinova is active in the Swedish real estate mar-
ket and is influenced by macro and micro factors that 
affect the development of the economy and the real 
estate market at local and national level.1819

The Swedish real estate market is characterized 
by a housing shortage that has increased over time. In 
addition to this, the Swedish market for rental apart-
ments is characterized by historically stable increasing 
rents and a rent regulation. Fortinova believes that the 
combination of these above factors creates conditions 
for a continued stable market for rental apartments.

Properties as an asset class have historically given 
a good return with a lower volatility, relative to other 
asset classes in Sweden, which has increased interest 
in properties as an investment over time. The low in-
terest rate situation has created a favorable climate 
for investments and the Swedish real estate market 
has in recent years been characterized by high activity 
and transaction volumes, as well as a growing average 
transaction value.

The regions in Western Sweden in which Fortino-
va operates are generally characterized by a higher 
population growth than for Sweden as a whole, as well 
as a higher average income level in some municipali-
ties, driven by, among other things, a favorable busi-
ness climate and a high proportion of self-employed.

18 JLL Nordic Outlook Spring 2020.
19 CBRE Sweden Real Estate Market Outlook 2020.
20 Statistics Sweden, 2020.

Fortinova assesses that the factors above, which 
are described in detail in this section, create good con-
ditions for a high and stable demand for residential 
properties in the municipalities where the Company 
operates.

THE SWEDISH ECONOMY

DEVELOPMENT PRIOR TO 2020
Since the beginning of the 2000s, Sweden’s popula-
tion has increased by just over 1.4 million inhabitants 
to approximately 10.3 million. The country has an open 
and stable economy which is characterized by, inter 
alia, a transparent business climate, high level of ge-
neral education, sustainable government finances and 
high productivity. Sweden’s economy is relatively small 
from a global perspective and is highly export-depen-
dent. This means that the development of the Swedish 
economy and the housing market is dependent on the 
global economy. GDP amounted to SEK 5,021 billion in 
2019 and Sweden was the EU’s eighth largest economy 
in 2019.20

Swedish GDP growth was relatively subdued in 
2019 and increased by 1.2 per cent (compared with the 
average growth of 2.5 per cent for the last ten-year 
period), and was mainly driven by increased consump-
tion among households and positive net exports, whi-
le fixed gross investments and inventory investments 
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had a negative effect on GDP development. GDP 
growth in 2019 can be compared with GDP growth of 
2.2 per cent for 2018 and 2.4 per cent in 2017.21 The 
lower growth in 2019 was not unique to Sweden but 
reflects the general development in Europe – in the 
Euro area, GDP increased by 1.2 per cent in 2019, which 
can be compared with a growth of 1.9 per cent for 
2018. The Euro area’s weak GDP growth was weig-
hed down by low growth in Germany, France and Italy, 
among others.22

The average unemployment rate in Sweden 
during 2010–2019 amounted to 7.4 per cent and has 
gradually decreased from 8.6 per cent to 6.3 per cent 
during 2010–2018. In 2019, however, unemployment 
increased to 6.8 per cent, and was partly attributable 
to strong population growth due to continued high im-
migration.23 By comparison, unemployment in 2019 in 
the EU countries amounted to 6.5 per cent and in the 
USA to 3.5 per cent.

CPIF inflation (Consumer Price Index with fix-
ed interest rates) decreased in 2019 and amounted 
to 1.7 per cent in December 2019, after being close to 
and occasionally above the 2 per cent target for infla-
tion since the beginning of 2017. This can be compared 
with the Riksbank’s inflation target of 2 per cent. Re-
cent years have been characterized by low inflationary 
pressures, which has resulted in the Riksbank actively 
pursuing an expansionary monetary policy to stimula-
te the inflation rate closer to the target of 2 per cent, 
which in turn has led to an evident weakening of the 
Swedish krona in recent years.24

DEVELOPMENTS DURING 2020 AND BEYOND  
Prior to the outbreak of Covid-19, according to SEB 
Nordic Outlook in February 2020, continued GDP 
growth in Sweden was expected for 2020–2021, along 
with marginally higher unemployment compared with 
2019 and an unchanged inflation rate. As a result of 
Covid-19, the above forecasts have been negatively af-
fected and economic assessments as of the date of this 
Prospectus are generally characterized by great un-
certainty regarding the duration of the pandemic and 
its overall impact. The forecasts published after the 
pandemic outbreak are also characterized by a negati-
ve sentiment and forecasts about a sheer drop in GDP 
growth during 2020. 

Sweden’s GDP decreased by 8.2 per cent in the 
second quarter of 2020 compared with the second 
quarter of the previous year25, which for instance 

21 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
22 SEB Nordic Outlook, May 2020 and February 2020.
23 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
24 The Riksbank: Monetary Policy Report, February 2020 and Statistics Sweden, 2020.
25 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
26 SEB Nordic Outlook, September 2020, Nordea Economic Outlook, September 2020 and the Riksbank: Monetary Policy Report, July 2020.
27 Nordea Economic Outlook, September 2020.
28 SEB Nordic Outlook, September 2020, Nordea Economic Outlook, September 2020 and the Riksbank: Monetary Policy Report, July 2020.
29 SEB Nordic Outlook, September 2020, May 2020 and February 2020.

has been caused by a large decline in demand and 
significant supply disruptions. The decrease in GDP 
in Sweden during the second quarter of 2020 was, 
however, moderate compared to the Euro area, whe-
re GDP decreased by 15.3 per cent during the cor-
responding period. According to the Riksbank, one 
factor for the somewhat more moderate decrease in 
Sweden may be due to less strict restrictions related 
to Covid-19. An additional contributing factor is that 
Sweden’s economy is less dependent on industries that 
have proven to be more vulnerable, such as the hospi-
tality industry, than in, for example, the countries of 
Southern Europe. After the decrease in GDP during the 
spring of 2020, Sweden’s economy has recovered, and 
several sources are forecasting a more moderate de-
crease in GDP than previously. The estimated decline 
in GDP amounts to about 3.5–4.526 per cent for 2020. 
The estimated decrease in GDP is less than half of the 
expected decline for the Euro area of 8.0 per cent and 
is in line with the global decline of 3.5 per cent during 
2020.27 For 2021 and 2022, GDP growth is expected 
to amount to 3.6–4.2 and 2.0–4.1 per cent, respective-
ly.28 Future GDP growth is characterized by great un-
certainty, with a number of uncertainties in addition 
to Covid-19, such as the trade conflict between the US 
and China, the security situation in the Middle East and 
US-Iranian relations, as well as negotiations regarding 
future EU–UK relations.29 The figure below illustrates 
historical GDP growth between 2010–2019 and expec-
ted GDP growth between 2020–2022.

Figure 1: GDP growth, % Sweden.
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As a result of Covid-19, unemployment in Sweden 
has increased and the number of unemployed amoun-
ted to 502,000 in July 2020, corresponding to 8.9 per 
cent, which is an increase of 2.0 percentage points 
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MARKET OVERVIEW

compared with the same period last year. Among young 
people, unemployment increased by 7.0 percentage 
points to 23.0 per cent. In addition to this, the num-
ber of job losses has increased, and several fixed-term 
employments have ceased during the spring. Since the 
first of March 2020, almost 200,000 people have regis-
tered as unemployed with the Swedish Public Employ-
ment Service and companies have applied for short-
term layoffs for more than 600,000 employees. The 
Riksbank estimates that unemployment will amount 
to 8.7 per cent in 2020, 9.2 per cent in 2021 and 8.3 per 
cent in 2022.30 The Riksbank’s forecast is in line with 
SEB Nordic Outlook for September 2020, which estima-
tes that unemployment will rise to 9.0 per cent in 2020 
and 9.6 per cent in 2021, and then decrease to 8.4 per 
cent in 2022. Historical unemployment between 2010–
2019 and expected unemployment between 2020–
2022 are illustrated in Figure 2. 

Figure 2: Unemployment, % Sweden.
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The rate of inflation in Sweden has also decreased 
as a consequence of price changes linked to the pande-
mic. In July 2020, the inflation rate according to CPIF 
was 0.5 per cent, which is a decrease from June when 
the inflation rate was 0.7 per cent. The decline is mainly 
explained by lower consumption as a result of Covid-19, 
as well as lower electricity prices.31 In the Riksbank’s 
Monetary Policy Report for July 2020, CPIF is estimated 

30 Statistics Sweden, 2020 and the Riksbank: Monetary Policy Report, July 2020.
31 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
32 Nordea Economic Outlook, September 2020.
33 The Riksbank: Monetary Policy Report, July 2020 and SEB Nordic Outlook, September 2020.
34 The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning indicators, September 2020.

at 0.4 per cent in 2020 and then to rise to 1.4 per cent 
for both 2021 and 2022. Nordea has similar expecta-
tions, with CPIF expected to decrease to 0.5 per cent 
in 2020, to then recover to 1.0 per cent in 2022.32 To 
counteract the downturn in the economy and inflation, 
the Riksbank decided to leave the repo rate unchang-
ed at zero per cent in July and signaled a continued un-
changed interest rate until the end of 2020. However, 
the Riksbank does not rule out the possibility that the 
interest rate can be lowered further in the future, if it is 
judged to be an effective measure to stimulate demand 
and support the inflation trend in the recovery phase. 
Although economic developments are uncertain, there 
are many indications that monetary policy stimulus in 
the form of low interest rates and a significant market 
liquidity will be needed for the foreseeable future. Go-
vernment debt is expected to rise to 41 per cent of GDP 
in 2020, 43 per cent in 2021 and 44 per cent in 2022.33 
The figure below illustrates the historical inflation rate 
according to CPIF between 2010–2019 and the expec-
ted inflation rate between 2020–2022.

Figure 3: CPIF, % Sweden.
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THE SWEDISH REAL ESTATE MARKET

SUPPLY AND DEMAND FOR SWEDISH HOUSING
In 2019, construction of 52,500 residential properties 
was started, including net contributions through rede-
velopment. This is a decrease of about 7 per cent com-
pared to 2018. In 2020, the number of new housing 
starts is expected to decrease marginally, as construc-
tion of 48,000 residential properties are expected to 
start, of which about 23,200 are expected to be rental 
apartments, which according to the Swedish National 
Board of Housing, is below the estimated annual need 
of 64,000 residential properties.34

In 2019, 83 per cent of the municipalities in 
Sweden reported a housing deficit, which has increa-
sed over the past 20 years. Only 11 per cent of all mu-
nicipalities stated that there was a housing deficit in 
1999. The development between 1999–2019 is illustra-
ted in Figure 4. Common reasons for the high housing 
shortage are high production costs, difficulties for pri-
vate individuals to obtain loans, lack of development 
plans for attractive land and difficulties for developers 
to obtain financing for construction projects. About 94 
per cent of the country’s inhabitants live in municipa-
lities with a shortage of housing. Central locations re-
port the largest housing deficits and are almost always 

Figure 4: Sweden’s municipalities’ assessment of the housing market situation 1999–2019.

■ Deficit ■ Balance  ■ Surplus. Source: The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning.
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the part of municipalities where demand is greatest in 
relation to supply. In the metropolitan regions, metro-
politan-Stockholm, metropolitan-Gothenburg and met-
ropolitan-Malmö, there is a housing shortage both in the 
central cities, as well as in other parts of the regions.35

A challenge that several municipalities highlight is 
the low supply of housing for groups with low incomes, 
or for those individuals that have a weak position in the 
housing market for other reasons. Most of the munici-
palities surveyed state that there is a great need for lar-
ger apartments, and above all three-room apartments. 
However, the target groups who need large apartments 
do not always have sufficient ability to pay.36  

A continued imbalance between supply and de-
mand for housing is also expected going forward. 205 
of the 289 municipalities surveyed stated that there 
will be a housing deficit when asked what the munici-
pality’s housing market situation is expected to look 
like in three years. Of these municipalities, almost all 
have stated that there was an imbalance in 2019 and 
estimate that the deficit will remain for the next three 
years. The three municipalities that have stated that 
there was a balance in 2019 estimate that they will 
have a deficit in the housing market in three years.37 

According to the Swedish National Board of Hou-
sing, Building and Planning’s indicators in December 

35 The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey, metropolitan-Stockholm consists of all of Stockholm County’s 26 municipalities, 
metropolitan-Gothenburg consists of 13 municipalities close to the city of Gothenburg and metropolitan-Malmö consists of 12 municipalities.

36 The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey.
37 The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey.
38 The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning indicators, December 2019.
39 SEB’s Housing Price Indicator: Continued strong recovery in housing price expectations published on 10 August 2020.
40 Nordea Economic Outlook, September 2020.

2019, the prices of tenant-owned apartments were on 
average at the same level as at the end of 2017. Prior 
to the outbreak of Covid-19, the Swedish National Bo-
ard of Housing, Building and Planning forecasted conti-
nued stable prices.38 A large proportion of households 
believes prices will rise in the future; 52 per cent of the 
households surveyed stated that they expected prices 
to rise in the coming year, while 12 per cent believed 
prices would decrease and 27 per cent believed prices 
would remain unchanged, according to SEB’s Housing 
Price Indicator published in August 2020. SEB’s Hou-
sing Price Indicator has almost recovered to the le-
vel before the major decline in the spring, with price 
changes driven by, among other things, the declining 
spread of infection together with hopes of an economic 
recovery and a long-term low interest rate environme-
nt.39 Nordea estimates that house prices will increa-
se by 6 per cent in 2020, where sentiment will be st-
rengthened by an improvement in the labor market, a 
recovery in domestic demand and low interest rates.40  

THE MARKET FOR RENTAL APARTMENTS
Rents for rental apartments in Sweden are not mar-
ket-priced but are regulated by the utility value sys-
tem. Rent control implies that the rent level can be 
below the households’ willingness to pay for a corres-
ponding apartment. In the same way, rent cannot de-
crease even if the ability to pay decreases. If measu-
res are implemented by the landlord to improve the 
standard of an apartment, the current rent level may 
be adjusted to a level that is closer to the market’s wil-
lingness to pay. 

There were approximately 5 million residenti-
al apartments in the country as of 31 December 2019, 
with 51 per cent of these located in apartment buil-
dings, 42 per cent in detached houses, 5 per cent in 
special housing and 2 per cent in other houses. Ren-
tal is the most common form of tenancy in apartment 
buildings and constitutes 58 per cent of the stock 
(compared with tenant-owned apartments which 
make up 42 per cent of the stock) and is the dominant 
form of tenancy in 257 of the country’s 290 municipali-
ties. In twelve municipalities, rental is the only form of 
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tenancy in apartment buildings and only 33 municipali-
ties have more tenant-owned apartments than rented 
ones, of which 20 municipalities are located in Stock-
holm County. Among Sweden’s largest municipalities 
based on population, rental is the most common form 
of tenancy in seven out of ten municipalities.41 Accor-
ding to the Swedish National Board of Housing, Buil-
ding and Planning’s 2019 Housing Market Survey, ren-
tal is also the form of tenancy that most municipalities 
state that they need. 

In smaller towns, a common problem is adapting 
the housing stock to existing needs, for example when 
it comes to obtaining cheap rental apartments so that 
young people can move out from their family homes.  

The Swedish market for rental apartments is cha-
racterized by steadily rising rents. Between 2010–
2019, the average annual rent per square meter has 
increased from SEK 915 to SEK 1,134 for the whole 
country. Since 2010, rent increases have been relative-
ly evenly distributed between smaller and larger muni-
cipalities, as illustrated in Figure 5.

In 2019, the average monthly rent in Sweden for 
a three-room apartment amounted to SEK 7,147, while 
the average monthly rent for a two-room apartment 
and one-room apartment amounted to SEK 5,761 and 
SEK 4,140 respectively. The rent level is primarily de-
termined by the property’s location and the general 
market situation and varies between different regions, 
it is lowest in smaller municipalities – a household in a 
municipality with less than 75,000 inhabitants pays on 
average about SEK 1,600 less in rent per month for a 
three-room apartment compared with a household in 
Stockholm.42 See Figure 7 for how the average monthly 
rent for a three-room apartment varies between diffe-
rent regions in Sweden. 

41 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
42 Statistics Sweden, 2020.

Figure 5: Rental development of housing in Sweden 2010–2019.
Average annual rent per square metre.
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Figure 6: Average monthly rent in SEK, 2019, Sweden.
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Figure 7: Average monthly rent, in SEK, 2019, for a three-room 
apartment, Sweden.
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Since the end of the 1990s, the number of vacant 
apartments with immediate availability has decrea-
sed. As of 1 September 2019, approximately 26,000 
rental apartments were vacant in Sweden, of which 
8,900 were vacant for immediate rental, with repairs 
or conversions as the most common reason for vacan-
cy. The number of vacant apartments for immediate 
rental and the number of vacant apartments increased 

According to the Swedish  
National Board of Housing, 
Building and Planning’s 2019 
Housing Market Survey, rental 
is also the form of tenancy that 
most municipalities state that 
they need.
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between 2017–2019 by approximately 2,500 and 7,300 
apartments respectively. However, the number of va-
cant apartments in 2019 is still one of the lowest over 
time. The distribution of vacant apartments varies 
between different regions with 72 per cent of vacant 
apartments located in municipalities with less than 
75,000 inhabitants. The corresponding figure for met-
ropolitan-Stockholm, metropolitan-Gothenburg and 
metropolitan-Malmö is 14 per cent.43 Smaller municipa-
lities generally have higher vacancies, which is illustra-
ted in Figure 8.

Figure 8: Number of apartments (left) available for rent in 2019 and 
share of all rental apartments, % (right) Sweden.
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Figure 9: Number of apartments (left) available for rent over time 
and share of all rental apartments, % (right) Sweden. 
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REAL ESTATE AS AN INVESTMENT

The Swedish real estate market is the largest in the 
Nordics. Interest in real estate as an investment ob-
ject has been high in recent years, which have been 
characterized by large transaction volumes, where 
the low interest rate situation has also contributed to 
a favorable environment in respect of real estate in-
vestment in Sweden. Investments have primarily been 

43 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
44 JLL Nordic Outlook Spring 2020.
45 Property yield is calculated as the net operating profit divided by the property value. Newsec defines property yield as a normalised figure, which considers if the rental levels 

for a specific property deviate from market levels, meaning that corrections are made to the initial net operating profit and that the market operating net is not necessarily the 
same as the net operating profit for the property at the time of acquisition.

46 CBRE Sweden Real Estate Market Outlook 2020.

focused on centrally located properties in large cities, 
which in turn has put a downward pressure on return 
requirements. This has resulted in a gradual increase 
in demand for real estate investments, from primarily 
covering Sweden’s three largest cities to increasingly 
include growth municipalities around the country.44 

Real estate has historically yielded attractive 
returns compared to other asset classes in Sweden. 
Between 2000–2019, for example, the return for re-
sidential properties and all property segments in 
Sweden was higher than for the OMX Stockholm 
All-share index. The average annual return for residen-
tial properties and all property segments amounted to 
10.4 per cent and 10.2 per cent per year respectively, 
which can be compared with 4.6 per cent for the OMX 
Stockholm All-share index. Volatility for both residen-
tial properties and all property segments was also 
lower than for the OMX Stockholm All-share index. By 
comparison, the average annual return on the 10-year 
Swedish government bond amounted to 2.7 per cent 
in 2000–2019. In recent years, the rate of return has 
been low and amounted to 0.04 per cent in 2019. The 
return and volatility of the various assets are illustra-
ted in Figure 10.

Figure 10: Return and standard deviation per asset class 2000–2019.

ASSET TYPE

AVERAGE 
ANNUAL 
RETURN 

2000 – 
2019

CUMULA-
TIVE  

RETURN
2000 – 

2019

STANDARD 
DEVIATION, 

ANNUAL 
RETURN

Residential property 10.4% 558% 6.2%

All property  
segments 10.2% 533% 6.2%

OMXS All-share 4.6% 137% 23.5%

Swedish government 
bond (10 years) 2.7% 66% 1.7%

Source: Nasdaq, Newsec.

The total return for residential property consists 
of property yield45 and value changes. The property 
yield has decreased in recent years due to a low inte-
rest rate environment and higher valuations. The cur-
rent low interest rate situation could lead to a continu-
ed low property yield for residential property46, which 
is also affected by rent control. The reduced yield indi-
cates a large degree of interest from investors. Value 
changes of residential properties have been more vo-
latile than the property yield, especially prior to and 
during the financial crisis, with annual value changes 
between -9.8 and 19.6 per cent. The average annual 
value change during the period 2010–2019 amounted 
to 5.1 per cent. The total return between 2000–2019 is 
illustrated in Figure 11.

The low interest rate environment has created a 
favorable climate for investments and the Swedish real 
estate market has in recent years been characterized 
by high activity and transaction volumes, as well as a 
growing average transaction value. In 2019, the trans-
action volume for all property segments amounted to 
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SEK 208.6 billion47, which exceeded the previous peak 
from 2016, while the number of transactions decrea-
sed to 281, which is the lowest level since 2013. 

The transaction volume in the residential pro-
perty segment in 2019 amounted to SEK 66.8 billion, 
distributed across 89 transactions. 2019 was charac-
terized by a higher average transaction value compa-
red to the years 2010–2018. The average transaction 
value for all property segments and residential pro-
perty amounted to MSEK 742.4 and MSEK 751.0, res-
pectively. The transaction volume and average trans-
action value for the period 2010–2019 are illustrated 
in Figure 12, while the number of transactions for the 
same period is illustrated in Figure 13. According to JLL 
Nordic Outlook Spring 2020, transaction volumes were 
expected to remain high in 2020, with Covid-19 as the 
largest uncertainty factor in the forecast.48  

Swedish investors continue to account for the 
majority of real estate investment in Sweden, even 
though the appetite of international investors has 
increased in recent years, as a result of the weak 
Swedish krona – in 2019, international investors ac-
counted for about 40 per cent of the total transaction 
volume.49 In the CBRE report, published on 29 January 
2020, continued high transaction volumes were ex-
pected in 2020, driven by low interest rates, market 
consolidation, continued population growth in Sweden 
and retained interest from foreign investors.50 

FORTINOVA’S MARKET

Fortinova is active in Western Sweden, which inclu-
des Västra Götaland County and Halland County. The 
Company owns residential, community service and 
commercial properties in the municipalities of Varberg, 
Lilla Edet, Uddevalla, Gothenburg, Kungsbacka, Falken-
berg and Trollhättan. 

The distribution of the Company’s property port-
folio as of 31 August 2020, based on municipality and 
value, is as follows: 39 per cent in Varberg, 18 per cent 
in Lilla Edet, 16 per cent in Uddevalla, 15 per cent in 
Gothenburg, 5 per cent in Kungsbacka, 4 per cent in 
Falkenberg and 3 per cent in Trollhättan. The popula-
tion in the municipalities where the Company has its 
property portfolio amounts to approximately 903,000 
inhabitants in total, and the annual average population 
growth is expected to amount to 1.0 per cent during 
the period 2019–2025, compared with 0.7 per cent 
which is expected for Sweden as a whole.51 

OVERVIEW OF THE REAL ESTATE  
MARKET IN WESTERN SWEDEN

The population in Western Sweden amounts to app-
roximately 2.1 million inhabitants, with Gothenburg, 
Borås, Halmstad, Kungsbacka and Mölndal as the lar-
gest municipalities. The largest age group in Western 

47 Newsec, based on transactions exceeding MSEK 100 in value.
48 JLL Nordic Outlook Spring 2020.
49 JLL Nordic Outlook Spring 2020.
50 CBRE Sweden Real Estate Market Outlook 2020.
51 Expected annual population growth from Statistics Sweden for Varberg, Lilla Edet, Uddevalla, Gothenburg, Kungsbacka, Falkenberg and Trollhättan weighted by Fortinova’s 

property value per municipality as of 31 August 2020.
52 Region Halland: Facts on Halland. regionhalland.se/om-region-halland/statistik-och-analys/.
53 Region Västra Götaland: Demography in Region Västra Götaland. vgregion.se/ov/data-och-analys/analysportalen/#s=date|f=|.
54 The County Administrative Board of Halland County’s report: Housing Market Analysis for Halland 2019.
55 The County Administrative Board of Västra Götaland County’s report: Housing Market Analysis for Västra Götaland County 2019.

Sweden are those between 25–44 years, which corre-
sponds to 26.7 per cent of the total population. 

Since 1970, Halland County’s population has incre-
ased by 65 per cent, which is more than double com-
pared to the growth of 27 per cent in all of Sweden 
during the same period. In 2019, the population increa-
se in Halland County was the third largest percenta-
ge increase in population in Sweden after Stockholm 
County and Uppsala County. Furthermore, Halland 
County has the highest employment rate in Sweden.52  

Västra Götaland County’s population has increa-
sed by 26 per cent since 1970 and in 2019, about one 
sixth of Sweden’s population lived in the county. The 
strong population increase is explained, among other 
factors, by an increased birth surplus and positive net 
migration – the migration surplus has increased from 
6,000 to 10,500 between 2000–2019.53 

During the last fifteen years, housing construc-
tion in Halland County has not reached sufficient levels 
to meet the large population increase. According to 
the County Administrative Board, insufficient housing 
construction has been an important factor in the exis-
ting housing shortage, which has a negative impact on 
young people’s and new arrivals’ opportunities to en-
ter the housing market.54 As a result of several years of 
increasing population growth Västra Götaland is also 
affected by a housing shortage. To meet demand over 
the next ten years the County Administrative Board of 
Västra Götaland has, based on population forecasts, 
estimated that an additional 8,000 residential proper-
ties per year are necessary. The number of municipali-
ties with a reported balance in the housing market has 
continued to decrease.55 

Since 1970, the population of 
Halland and Västra Götaland 
counties has increased by 65 and 
26 per cent, respectively. In 2019, 
about one sixth of Sweden’s 
population lived in Västra Göta-
land. The municipalities in which 
Fortinova operates are characte-
rized by a housing shortage.

Figure 12: Transaction volume and average transaction value 2010–2019, Sweden. 

■ Transaction value, other real estate segments (SEKbn) ■ Transaction value, residential real estate (SEKbn) ■ Avg. transaction 
value, all real estate segments (MSEK) ■ Avg. transaction value, residential real estate (MSEK). Source: Newsec.

Figure 11: Total return for residential property 2000–2019.

■ Property yield  ■ Value change  ■ Total return. Source: Newsec.

Figure 13: Number of transactions 2010–2019, Sweden.

■ Residential real estate  ■ Other real estate segments. Source: Newsec.

MARKET OVERVIEW

7.2.3 Fastigheter som investering
Original�len klistras direkt in från excel och formateras (ej data TVÅ FÖRSTA DIAGRAMMEN)

Figur 11

Figur 12

Figur  13

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 5.4% 6.8% 12.1% 17.0% 19.6% 10.3% 1.9% 

-9.8%

4.5% 4.0% 2.9% 4.0% 3.9% 7.4% 10.4% 5.8% 3.2% 5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 
24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

-5.3%

8.4% 9.1% 8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 
13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 
5.4% 

6.8% 

12.1% 

17.0% 

19.6% 

10.3% 

1.9% 

(9.8%)

3.6% 
4.5% 

4.0% 
2.9% 

4.0% 3.9% 

7.4% 

10.4% 

5.8% 

3.2% 

5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 

24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

(5.3%)

8.4% 
9.1% 

8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 

13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Direktavkastning Värdeförändring

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 
49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 456.3 
501.6 448.7 

567.8 
412.3 

487.6 
742.4 

364.9 
392.5 409.7 429.9 

428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Transaktionsvolym. övriga fastighetssegment. Riket (Mdkr )
Transaktionsvolym. bostäder. Riket (Mdkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. samtliga fastighetssegment (Mkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. bostäder (Mkr)

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

204 203 192 202

297 300

332 337

305
281

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 
456.3 501.6 448.7 567.8 412.3 

487.6 

742.4 

364.9 392.5 409.7 429.9 428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 

751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

87 46 49 69 83 76 87 90 91 89

117

157 143
133

214 224 245 247 214 192

20

10

30

-10

0

3.6% 

7.2.3 Fastigheter som investering
Original�len klistras direkt in från excel och formateras (ej data TVÅ FÖRSTA DIAGRAMMEN)

Figur 11

Figur 12

Figur  13

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 5.4% 6.8% 12.1% 17.0% 19.6% 10.3% 1.9% 

-9.8%

4.5% 4.0% 2.9% 4.0% 3.9% 7.4% 10.4% 5.8% 3.2% 5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 
24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

-5.3%

8.4% 9.1% 8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 
13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 
5.4% 

6.8% 

12.1% 

17.0% 

19.6% 

10.3% 

1.9% 

(9.8%)

3.6% 
4.5% 

4.0% 
2.9% 

4.0% 3.9% 

7.4% 

10.4% 

5.8% 

3.2% 

5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 

24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

(5.3%)

8.4% 
9.1% 

8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 

13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Direktavkastning Värdeförändring

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 
49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 456.3 
501.6 448.7 

567.8 
412.3 

487.6 
742.4 

364.9 
392.5 409.7 429.9 

428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Transaktionsvolym. övriga fastighetssegment. Riket (Mdkr )
Transaktionsvolym. bostäder. Riket (Mdkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. samtliga fastighetssegment (Mkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. bostäder (Mkr)

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

204 203 192 202

297 300

332 337

305
281

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 
456.3 501.6 448.7 567.8 412.3 

487.6 

742.4 

364.9 392.5 409.7 429.9 428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 

751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

87 46 49 69 83 76 87 90 91 89

117

157 143
133

214 224 245 247 214 192

20

10

30

-10

0

3.6% 

7.2.3 Fastigheter som investering
Original�len klistras direkt in från excel och formateras (ej data TVÅ FÖRSTA DIAGRAMMEN)

Figur 11

Figur 12

Figur  13

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 5.4% 6.8% 12.1% 17.0% 19.6% 10.3% 1.9% 

-9.8%

4.5% 4.0% 2.9% 4.0% 3.9% 7.4% 10.4% 5.8% 3.2% 5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 
24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

-5.3%

8.4% 9.1% 8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 
13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.4% 5.0% 4.5% 4.1% 4.0% 4.5% 4.8% 4.6% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 

4.1% 
5.4% 

6.8% 

12.1% 

17.0% 

19.6% 

10.3% 

1.9% 

(9.8%)

3.6% 
4.5% 

4.0% 
2.9% 

4.0% 3.9% 

7.4% 

10.4% 

5.8% 

3.2% 

5.0% 

10.3% 
11.5% 

12.7% 

17.5% 

22.0% 

24.1% 

14.4% 

5.9% 

(5.3%)

8.4% 
9.1% 

8.5% 
7.3% 

8.2% 8.0% 

11.3% 

13.9% 

9.2% 

6.5% 

8.2% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Direktavkastning Värdeförändring

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 
49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 456.3 
501.6 448.7 

567.8 
412.3 

487.6 
742.4 

364.9 
392.5 409.7 429.9 

428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Transaktionsvolym. övriga fastighetssegment. Riket (Mdkr )
Transaktionsvolym. bostäder. Riket (Mdkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. samtliga fastighetssegment (Mkr)
Genomsnittligt transaktionsvärde. bostäder (Mkr)

31.7 18.1 20.1 29.7 35.6 29.6 49.6 36.0 50.8 66.8 

65.8 
66.7 

86.9 
62.5 

113.4 
105.0 

139.0 

102.9 
97.9 

141.8 

97.5 
84.8 

107.0 
92.2 

149.0 
134.6 

188.5 

139.0 
148.7 

208.6 

204 203 192 202

297 300

332 337

305
281

478.1 
417.5 

557.2 
456.3 501.6 448.7 567.8 412.3 

487.6 

742.4 

364.9 392.5 409.7 429.9 428.8 390.0 

569.6 

400.5 

558.7 

751.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

87 46 49 69 83 76 87 90 91 89

117

157 143
133

214 224 245 247 214 192

20

10

30

-10

0

3.6% 

https://www.regionhalland.se/om-region-halland/statistik-och-analys/.
https://www.vgregion.se/ov/data-och-analys/analysportalen/#s=date|f=|.


34 35

IN
V

IT
AT

IO
N

 T
O

 A
CQ

U
IR

E 
SH

A
RE

S 
IN

 F
O

RT
IN

O
VA

 F
A

ST
IG

H
ET

ER
 A

B 
(P

U
BL

) IN
V

ITATIO
N

 TO
 ACQ

U
IRE SH

A
RES IN

 FO
RTIN

O
VA FA

STIGH
ETER A

B (PU
BL)

MARKET OVERVIEW

Figures from Statistics Sweden for 2019 show 
that a total of 11,487 residential apartments were com-
pleted in Western Sweden during the year, of which 
9,858 where in Västra Götaland County and 1,629 in 
Halland County. This is an increase from 2018, when 
a total of 7,951 residential apartments were comple-
ted, compared to the 55,659 residential apartments 
completed in Sweden in 2019. The number of residen-
tial apartments started in Western Sweden amoun-
ted to 10,447 apartments in 2019, of which 9,054 were 
started in Västra Götaland County and 1,393 in Halland 
County. In total, the number of residential apartments 
started amounted to 48,709 in Sweden in 2019.56 
Despite increased housing construction, the housing 
deficit remains substantial.

The municipalities in which Fortinova opera-
tes are characterized by a housing shortage. Accor-
ding to the 2019 Housing Market Survey, produced 
by the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building 
and Planning, the municipalities of Varberg, Lilla Edet, 
Uddevalla, Gothenburg, Kungsbacka and Trollhättan 
demonstrates a deficit in housing. Only Falkenberg de-
monstrates a balance between supply and demand 
and since 2002 none of the municipalities in which 
Fortinova owns properties has shown a surplus of de-
mand. The waiting lists for municipal housing for these 
municipalities are between two and eleven years.

Varberg

Population: 64,601
Population density: 73.3 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,001
Municipal housing queue: 11–12 years
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~45 minutes
Source: Statistics Sweden

Varberg municipality is located in Halland County and 
has a population of approximately 65,000 inhabi-
tants. In 2018, Varberg reported a 3.6 per cent hig-
her median income compared with the average in 
Sweden, while the average annual population growth 
is expected to amount to 0.8 per cent during the pe-
riod 2019–2025. According to the Company Varberg 
has good public transport connections; with proximi-
ty to the motorway E6/E20 as well as good commu-
nications with commuter trains and buses or trains 

56 Statistics Sweden, 2020.
57 Assessed municipal housing queue by the Company after discussions with Varbergsbostadsaktiebolaget.
58 Statistics Sweden, 2020, Varberg Municipality: Varberg Tunnel. varberg.se/byggabomiljo/varbergvaxer/varbergstunneln.4.68ad06f4161342fe7df6c490.html,  

Varberg Municipality: About Västerport. varberg.se/byggabomiljo/varbergvaxer/vasterport/omvasterport.4.d15b63d16105e971a164952.html, 
 Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey, Newsec.
59 Assessed municipal housing queue by the Company after discussions with AB Edethus. 
60 Statistics Sweden, 2020, the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey, Newsec.

to other municipalities in Western Sweden, which are 
expected to be further developed in connection with 
the commencement of construction of double tracks 
on the Västkustbanan and a tunnel through Varberg 
(construction started on 19 December 2019). The ex-
pansion is also expected to lead to higher capacity on 
the track and an increased departure frequency. In 
addition to the expansion of the Västkustbanan, the 
municipality of Varberg plans to build approximately 
2,500 apartments in Västerport, a new district in Var-
berg. As of January 2019, there was a housing shor-
tage in Varberg and the assessed municipal housing 
queue is approximately 11–12 years.57 The vacancy 
rate for housing in Varberg has amounted to zero per 
cent during all years between 2010–2019. Varberg’s 
largest private sector employer is Södra Skogsägarna 
Ekonomisk Förening and the municipality is the largest 
public-sector employer.58 

Lilla Edet

 

Population: 14,109
Population density: 44.5 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,021
Municipal housing queue: 3 years
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~25 minutes
Source: Statistics Sweden 

Lilla Edet municipality is located in Västra Götaland 
County and has a population of just over 14,000 in-
habitants. The expected average annual population 
growth amounts to 1.4 per cent during the period 
2019–2025, compared with the national growth of 0.7 
per cent. The Company assesses that Lilla Edet has 
good public transport connections; with proximity to 
the E45 motorway and a new commuter station that 
opened in 2018, which contributed to improved con-
nections to Gothenburg and Trollhättan. As of January 
2019, there was a housing shortage in Lilla Edet and 
the assessed municipal housing queue is approxima- 
tely 3 years.59 In 2019, the vacancy rate for housing in 
Lilla Edet amounted to 1.0 per cent and has averaged  
1.2 per cent between 2010 and 2019. Lilla Edet’s  
largest private sector employer is Nytida Solhaga  
by AB and the municipality is the largest public- 
sector employer.60 Essity is also a large private sector 
employer in the municipality. 
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Uddevalla

 

Population: 56,703
Population density: 88.2 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,004
Municipal housing queue: 3 years
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~70 minutes
Source: Statistics Sweden

Uddevalla municipality is located in Västra Götaland 
County and has a population of about 57,000 inhabi-
tants. The expected average annual population growth 
amounts to 0.8 per cent during the period 2019–2025, 
compared with the national growth of 0.7 per cent. Ac-
cording to an analysis of improved public communica-
tions, carried out by Swedish Construction Industry in 
Uddevalla, Businesses in Uddevalla and Uddevalla mu-
nicipality, travel time to Gothenburg will be reduced by 
40 per cent as a result of the expansion of the Bohus-
banan with a double track. As of January 2019, there 
was a housing shortage in Uddevalla and the assessed 
municipal housing queue is approximately 3 years.61 
Uddevalla has had a vacancy rate for housing of zero 
per cent during all years 2010–2019. Uddevalla’s lar-
gest private and public-sector employers are Ikea and 
Uddevalla municipality, respectively.62 

Gothenburg

Population: 579,281
Population density: 1,293.5 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,197
Municipal housing queue: 7 years
Source: Statistics Sweden, Boplats Gothenburg

Gothenburg, Sweden’s second largest city in terms of 
population (579,281 as of December 31, 2019), is cha-
racterized by a strong trade and industry with global 
and knowledge-intensive companies such as Volvo AB, 

61 Assessed municipal housing queue by the Company after discussions with Uddevallahem, Bostadsstiftelsen.
62 Statistics Sweden, 2020, Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey, Newsec, Boplats Gothenburg, Uddevalla-municipality  

uddevalla.se/kommun-och-politik/nyheter/nyhetsarkiv/2018-02-09-ny-analys-visar-nytta-med-dubbelspar-pa-bohusbanan.html.
63 Statistics Sweden, 2020, Facts & Figures on the Gothenburg region business environment 2020/21, Business Region Gothenburg.  

businessregiongoteborg.se/sv/kontext/nu-slapps-fakta-statistik-2019.
64 Metropolitan-Gothenburg is a region defined by Statistics Sweden that includes and surrounds Gothenburg.

Volvo Cars, SKF and AstraZeneca. Volvo AB and Volvo 
Cars are Sweden’s two largest private sector employ-
ers and have their Swedish headquarters in Gothen-
burg. The largest public-sector employer is the City of 
Gothenburg. The average annual population growth 
is expected to amount to 1 per cent during the period 
2019–2025, compared with the national population 
growth of 0.7 per cent. Furthermore, the real income 
level in Gothenburg increased by 4 per cent in 2019, 
compared with Sweden as a whole, where the inco-
me level increased by 3.1 per cent. The growth in the 
income level has been greatest in the construction in-
dustry and the service sector. In 2019, just over 7,500 
new companies were established in the Gothenburg 
region, which corresponded to just over 11 per cent of 
all start-ups in Sweden.63  

Kungsbacka

Population: 84,395
Population density: 137.4 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,222
Municipal housing queue: 2–4 years
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~20 minutes
Source: Statistics Sweden

Kungsbacka municipality, the northernmost muni- 
cipality in Halland County and part of metropolitan- 
Gothenburg64, has a population of just over 84,000 in-
habitants. The average annual population growth is 
expected to amount to 1.2 per cent during the period 
2019–2025, compared with the national population 
growth of 0.7 per cent during the same period. Kungs-
backa is characterized by its large proportion of com-
panies and has over 10,000 active companies across 
592 industries. About 9 per cent of the workforce is 
comprised of small entrepreneurs. The municipality re-
ported the third highest employment rate in Sweden 
measured as a proportion of the population between 
20–64 years who were employed at some point during 
the year. Furthermore, Kungsbacka has the eighth 
lowest unemployment rate in Sweden measured as a 
percentage of the register-based workforce between 
16–64 years, who are unemployed or applicants for 
activity support program. According to the Company 
Kungsbacka has good public transport connections; 
with proximity to the E6/E20 motorway as well as 

https://www.varberg.se/byggabomiljo/varbergvaxer/varbergstunneln.4.68ad06f4161342fe7df6c490.html
https://www.varberg.se/byggabomiljo/varbergvaxer/vasterport/omvasterport.4.d15b63d16105e971a164952.h
https://www.uddevalla.se/kommun-och-politik/nyheter/nyhetsarkiv/2018-02-09-ny-analys-visar-nytta-med
https://www.businessregiongoteborg.se/sv/kontext/nu-slapps-fakta-statistik-2019
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MARKET OVERVIEW

commuter trains and bus connections. As of January 
2019, there was a housing shortage in Kungsbacka and 
the assessed municipal housing waiting list is approx-
imately 2–4 years.65 Kungsbacka has had a housing va-
cancy rate of zero per cent every year between 2010–
2019. Veteranpoolen AB is the largest private sector 
employer in Kungsbacka, furthermore Mediq is a large 
private sector employer, while Kungsbacka municipali-
ty is the largest public-sector employer.66

Falkenberg

 

Population: 45,367
Population density: 40.3 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,105
Municipal housing queue: 4–5 year
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~55 minutes 
Source: Statistics Sweden, Falkenbergs Bostads AB

Falkenberg municipality is located in Halland County 
and has a population of just over 45,000 inhabitants 
and is the county’s largest municipality in terms of 
area and the fourth largest of the county’s municipa-
lities in terms of population. The average annual po-
pulation growth is expected to amount to 1.1 per cent 
during the period 2019–2025, compared with the na-
tional growth of 0.7 per cent. Falkenberg has in recent 
years risen in the ranking for business climate and was 
the eighth highest ranked municipality in Sweden out 
of 290 municipalities in 2019. According to the Compa-
ny, Falkenberg has good public transport connections; 
with proximity to the motorway E6/E20 and a commu-
ting time to Gothenburg of approximately 55 minutes. 
As of January 2019, there was a balance of housing in 
Falkenberg according to the Swedish National Board of 
Housing, Building and Planning. The municipal housing 
queue in Falkenberg is about 4–5 years.67 Since 2012, 
Falkenberg has had a housing vacancy rate of zero per 
cent. Falkenberg’s largest private sector employer is 
Gekås Ullared AB and the municipality is the largest 
public-sector employer.68 In addition to these, Carls-
berg is also a major employer in the municipality.      

65 Assessed municipal housing queue by the Company after discussions with Eksta Bostads AB.
66 Statistics Sweden, 2020, Kungsbacka municipality: Facts on business. kungsbacka.se/Naringsliv-och-arbete/Om-Kungsbackas-naringsliv/Fakta-om-naringslivet/,  

Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey and Newsec.
67 Falkenbergs Bostads AB.
68 Statistics Sweden, 2020, the Confederation of Swedish Enterprises’ home page, the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing  

Market Survey and Newsec.
69 Assessed municipal housing queue by the Company after discussions with AB, Eidar, Trollhättans bostadsbolag.
70 Statistics Sweden, 2020, the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning 2019 Housing Market Survey and Newsec.

Trollhättan

Population: 59,058
Population density: 143.4 inhabitants per km2

Average annual rent per sqm: SEK 1,037
Municipal housing queue: 3 years
Commuting time to Gothenburg: ~30 minutes
Source: Statistics Sweden 

The municipality of Trollhättan, located in Västra Gö-
taland County, has a population of just over 59,000 
inhabitants. The expected average annual popula-
tion growth amounts to 0.5 per cent during the peri-
od 2019–2025. According to the Company, Trollhättan 
has good public transport connections, with proximity 
to the E45 motorway. As of January 2019, there was a 
housing shortage in Trollhättan and the assessed mu-
nicipal housing queue is approximately 3 years.69 Since 
2012, Trollhättan has shown a housing vacancy rate of 
zero per cent. The main employers in Trollhättan are 
GKN Aerospace, Vattenfall and Trollhättan Municipa-
lity, of which GKN Aerospace is the largest private se-
ctor employer and Trollhättan Municipality the largest 
public-sector employer.70

Figure 14: Average annual population growth.i
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i) Expected annual population growth from Statistics Sweden for Varberg, Lilla 

Edet, Uddevalla, Gothenburg, Kungsbacka, Falkenberg and Trollhättan weighted 
by Fortinova’s investment property value per municipality as of 31 August 2020. 
Population growth between 2019–2025 is based on data from Statistics Sweden 
based on demographic factors while Varberg Municipality’s forecast of 1.8 per cent 
is based on building plans.

Figure 14 illustrates the expected average annual popu-
lation growth between 2019–2025 for all the municipa-
lities in which Fortinova operates. Lilla Edet shows the 
highest expected growth while Trollhättan shows the 
lowest. Fortinova’s average growth amounts to 1.0 per 
cent, compared with 0.7 per cent that is expected for 
total growth in Sweden.

Figure 15 illustrates the average annual rent per 
square meter in 2019 for all the municipalities in which 
Fortinova operates. Kungsbacka has the highest annual 
rent while Varberg has the lowest. Fortinova’s average 
annual rent amounts to SEK 1,051 per square meter.

Figure 15: Average annual rent for 2019, SEK per square meter.i 
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Lilla Edet, Uddevalla, Gothenburg, Kungsbacka, Falkenberg, and Trollhättan weigh-
ted by Fortinova’s investment property value per municipality as of 31 August 
2020. 

COMPETITORS

Fortinova is currently active in Western Sweden and 
is one of several players in the region’s residential ren-
tal market, whose portfolio is characterized by a low 
vacancy rate. The Company is active in a competitive 
market, characterized by competitive acquisition pro-
cesses in all size classes, where both municipal housing 
companies and private players are present. Private 
players consist of, inter alia, private individuals, local 
and regional property owners, as well as larger listed 
companies.

MARKET OVERVIEW

https://www.kungsbacka.se/Naringsliv-och-arbete/Om-Kungsbackas-naringsliv/Fakta-om-naringslivet/
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
INTRODUCTION

Since its inception in 2010, Fortinova has focused on ac-
quiring, developing and managing primarily residential 
properties which, according to Fortinova’s assessment, 
have documented strong cash flows and an objective 
to generate a positive return over time, independent 
of market development. Fortinova has a geographical 
focus on growth municipalities in Western Sweden, in 
which the Company intends to continue its expansion. 
As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova’s property portfolio 
consisted of 108 residential properties, 12 commercial 
properties, 3 community service properties and 1,759 
apartments. The value of Fortinova’s investment pro-
perties amounted to approximately SEK 2.3 billion.

Fortinova’s business concept is based on pre-
dictability, profitability and growth regardless of the 
general economic situation. Fortinova aims to achieve 
long-term value growth by investing in municipalities 
that the Company considers to be attractive places to 
live and work in. Fortinova continuously evaluates po-
tential acquisitions in both current and new municipali-
ties. Through a clearly defined investment philosophy, 
a market-oriented organization with a local presen-
ce, a broad network in Western Sweden and a strong 
acquisition history, the Company considers that it has 
the prerequisites to carry out acquisitions with limited 
competition and at attractive valuation levels.  

The property portfolio consists mainly of residen-
tial properties located in growth municipalities in Wes-
tern Sweden. As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova had pro-
perties in Varberg, Lilla Edet, Uddevalla, Gothenburg, 
Kungsbacka, Falkenberg and Trollhättan. As of 31 Au-
gust 2020, the property value consisted of 86 per cent 
residential properties, 11 per cent commercial proper-
ties (e.g. retail, offices, warehouses and logistics) and 
the remaining 2 per cent was community service pro-
perties with tax-financed tenants such as schools and 
preschools. The Group’s total lettable area amounts 
to 146,887 square meters, and the total rental value 
amounts to MSEK 164.5 with an economic occupancy 
rate of 99 per cent. Fortinova deems vacancy and ren-
tal risks to be limited, as all properties are located in 
municipalities that have relatively high forecasted po-
pulation growth, of which all municipalities except  
Falkenberg show a housing deficit. 

Fortinova has a geographical 
focus on growth municipalities 
in Western Sweden and the 
Company’s investment property 
value consists of 86 per cent 
residential properties.

38
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HISTORY

YEAR EVENT

2010 Fortinova was founded on 19 November 2010 by Anders Johansson and Anders Valdemarsson. In the 
same year, three residential properties in central Varberg were acquired.

2012 Acquisition of three properties in central Kungsbacka with about forty apartments and a school building.

2013 During the year, Fortinova acquired six residential properties in Kungsbacka municipality and three 
properties in Varberg. The Company also acquired one of the largest private real estate companies in 
Varberg municipality, with just over 100 apartments valued at MSEK 43.

2014 During the year, a number of transactions were completed:
 — Acquisition of shares in a property management company with 43 apartments in central Kungsbacka. 
 — Acquisition of 50 per cent of a building right in central Kungsbacka (Västra Villastaden) with the right 
to build 19 apartments.

 — Acquisition of 32 apartments in Varberg municipality.

2015 Acquisition of a property management company with 2,100 square meters of residential properties and 
premises in central Varberg and a property management company with three commercial properties, 
with a lettable area of 7,000 square meters. The property portfolio exceeded a value of MSEK 500.

2016 Fortinova surpassed 100 shareholders and divested two property management companies in  
Kungsbacka municipality resulting in a capital gain of MSEK 34.

2017 Fortinova acquired properties in Falkenberg and continued its southward expansion. The property 
value exceeded SEK 1 billion.

2018 Fortinova continued its expansion to Lilla Edet and Trollhättan. The value of the property portfolio  
exceeded SEK 1.5 billion.

2019 The value of the property portfolio exceeded SEK 1.7 billion and further acquisitions were made in  
Falkenberg, Trollhättan and Uddevalla. Three of the Company's properties in Varberg were granted 
plan specifications.

2020 Prior to the listing on the Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market, Fortinova raised approximately 
MSEK 419 in the spring of 2020 from ICA-handlarnas Förbund, SEB’s Private Banking network, existing 
investors and certain additional investors.

During the year, a number of transactions were completed:
 — Acquisition of property in Varberg for MSEK 21.
 — Acquisition of properties in Uddevalla with a value of MSEK 172.
 — Acquisition of a property in Gothenburg, valued at MSEK 316.

On 31 August 2020, Fortinova’s property portfolio consisted of 108 residential properties,  
12 commercial properties, 3 community service properties and 1,759 apartments, with a  
property value of approximately SEK 2.3 billion.

VISION, BUSINESS CONCEPT AND TARGETS

VISION
The Company’s vision is to be the most prominent real 
estate company in the residential real estate market in 
Western Sweden. 

BUSINESS CONCEPT
Fortinova shall be a real estate company that acquires, 
develops and manages residential properties in Wes-
tern Sweden with positive cash flows and good poten-
tial for further value creation.

The Company invests in residential properties in 
growth municipalities in Western Sweden, characteri-
zed by sound population growth. Fortinova achieves 
long-term value growth by investing in areas where 
people want to live and work. The Company’s stra-
tegy also targets a predominantly residential property 
portfolio, where 80 per cent of the portfolio’s total in-
vestment property value over time shall be comprised 

of residential properties, in order to obtain a high 
risk-adjusted return. 

FINANCIAL TARGETS
The Group’s target is continued growth with require-
ments for profitability and positive cash flows. The  
financial targets to be met over time are:

 ■ The interest coverage ratio shall amount to at  
least 250 per cent;

 ■ The net loan-to-value ratio shall amount to  
55–65 per cent; and 

 ■ The return on equity shall amount to at least  
10 per cent. 

See section “Selected historical financial information – 
Definitions of key performance measures not defined 
in accordance with IFRS” for the definitions of interest 
coverage, net loan-to-value ratio and return on equity.

As of August 31 2020, the Group’s interest cover-
age ratio amounted to 321 per cent, net loan-to-value 
ratio amounted to 41 per cent and return on equity 
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amounted to 9 per cent. The capital raising amounting 
to a net value of approximately MSEK 414 during the 
2019/20 financial year had an impact on the net loan-
to-value ratio and the return on equity, which results 
in the company not reaching the financial targets for 
these measures during the 2019/20 financial year.    

Fortinova’s business plan aims to achieve the cur-
rent financial target for return on equity through in-
ternal property management of the current property 
portfolio and use of proceeds from the listing on the 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market. The Com-
pany has identified the following initiatives with po-
tential to further improve the return on equity: 

 ■ “Pluslägenheter”: The Company estimates that app-
roximately 40 per cent71 of the current apartments 
has the potential to be converted to “Pluslägenhe-
ter”. Conversion to “Pluslägenheter” increases ren-
tal levels and property value – management esti-
mates that rents increase by an average of about 
55 per cent after the apartment is upgraded to a 
“Pluslägenhet”, and that the upgrade results in hig-
her demand and lower vacancy risk, as renovated 
apartments are more sought-after by tenants. See 
section “Business overview – Pluslägenheter”. 

 ■ Conversion to tenant-owner associations: Fortino-
va has historically achieved capital gains of approx-
imately MSEK 5–35 per property. 

 ■ Project development: In addition to long-term ma-
nagement, Fortinova owns potential building72 
rights which, according to an established deve-
lopment plan, may provide a total area of approx-
imately 40,500 square meters GFA. The Company 
assesses that project development can have a posi-
tive effect on return on equity, but this has not  
currently been quantified in detail. See section  
“Business overview – Project development”.

71 Based on an analysis of the portfolio conducted on 31 May 2020.
72 Potential building rights are properties with, assessed by the Company, densification potential. On all but three properties, a planning process has been initiated and/or a new 

detailed plan has been adopted.
73 The estimate for conversion to Pluslägenheter is based on a calculation example that assumes an annual conversion of 30 apartments with an average size of 60 square me-

ters, investment of approximately MSEK 0.5 per apartment, rent increases of approximately SEK 500/square meter/year, which lead to an increase in rental profit of approx-
imately MSEK 0.9 in the first year. The assumed return of 4.5 per cent means an unrealized increase in value of MSEK 20.

74 Fortinova’s financial year refers to the period 1 September–31 August. The average issue price per share is taken from the Group’s internal accounting system. 

Illustrative potential return on equity:73

Target ROE Plus-
lägenheter

Conversion
to housing

co-operatives

Project
development

Total ROE
potential

≥10%

~1%

~1%

DIVIDEND POLICY   
Fortinova is a cash flow-oriented real estate compa-
ny and the company’s dividend policy aims to conti-
nuously transfer profits from property management 
to the Company’s shareholders. When assessing the 
size of the dividend, the Company’s investment alter-
natives, financial position and capital structure shall be 
taken into account. The dividend shall in the long-term 
amount to at least 40 per cent of the profit from pro-
perty management after tax paid.

HISTORICAL CAPITAL RAISINGS AND DIVIDENDS
The Company has historically been successful in rai-
sing capital from both current and new shareholders. 
Between the financial years 2010/11 and 2019/20, the 
Company raised approximately MSEK 900 in equity. In 
recent years, Fortinova has also distributed approx-
imately MSEK 52 through dividends to its shareholders 
since the 2015/16 financial year.
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Dividends and capital raisings 2010/11–2019/20:74

■ Capital raised (MSEK) ■ Avg. rights issue price per share (SEK) ■ Dividends (MSEK)

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

STRATEGY
Fortinova’s strategy is long-term management of resi-
dential properties through acquisitions, development 
and property management. The focus is on properties 
which, according to Fortinova’s assessment, have do-
cumented strong cash flows with the target of genera-
ting a positive return over time, regardless of the mar-
ket development. Fortinova’s strategy consists of the 
following:

 ■ Long-term management of residential properties 
through acquisitions, development and internal 
property management.

 ■ Continued development of residential properties 
in growing municipalities in Western Sweden by 
maintaining strong relationships with tenants and 
local organizations. 

 ■ Development of the existing property portfolio 
through value-creating improvements such as pro-
ject development and “Pluslägenheter”. 

 ■ Continued focus on sustainability as an integral part 
of the business through Fortinova’s three sustaina-
bility cornerstones: ecological, social and economical 
sustainability.

MANAGEMENT
Fortinova’s management organization is comprised of 
16 full-time employees and 4 seasonal workers in the 
summer who manage the group’s properties. Fortino-
va has a long-term approach to its property manage-
ment and has an ambition to over time conduct all the 
property management in-house. To undertake effi-
cient management and maintain satisfied customers, 
the Company has close contact with existing tenants, 
which helps Fortinova to identify the tenants’ needs.  

After an acquisition, Fortinova transfers pro-
perty management to its in-house organization from 
external managers, which has historically often resul-
ted in efficiency improvements in the form of increa-
sed revenues and/or reduced costs. The Group works 

75 Utility costs are everyday consumption costs that are determined on the basis of a certain tariff, for example electricity, water, district heating and waste management.

continuously to improve management through strict 
cost control and increased rental income. Increased 
rental income is achieved, for example, through im-
proved rent management and identification of rental 
income being charged at below contract levels befo-
re Fortinova’s access to an acquired property. Rental 
income charged at below contract levels can, for ex-
ample, be rents that have not been adjusted for annu-
al rent increases or where rents have not been paid in 
full, for example for parking spaces. To reduce costs, 
operational analyses are carried out continuously on 
all properties. Fortinova works to reduce costs by, in-
ter alia, optimizing energy consumption and reviewing 
costs for maintenance and utility costs75. Furthermo-
re, the Company has continuous contact with supp-
liers to review purchases and framework agreements 
related to operations and maintenance costs. For lar-
ger projects, the Company produces calculations and 
data for tenant adaptations or overall renovations and 
coordinates contractors for, inter alia, purchasing and 
prepares invitations to tender. Furthermore, proper-
ty management is streamlined through the merging 
and integration of property management systems and 
other digitalization initiatives.

ACQUISITIONS 
Fortinova works continuously to evaluate potenti-
al acquisitions of properties and building rights. The 
Company has a clearly defined investment philosop-
hy and carries out property acquisitions in municipali-
ties within Western Sweden with population growth. 
Furthermore, the properties must show positive cash 
flows with the aim of generating a positive return over 
time, regardless of market development as well as 
good potential for further value creation, low vacancy 
risk and a stable rental market.

Local presence and a broad local network are key 
factors in constantly being able to evaluate a suffi-
cient number of acquisition candidates, have access to 

8.4 Strategi

Acquisitions
Focus on growth 
municipalities in 
Western Sweden

Property management
Long-term internal 

property management

Development
Value-adding

improvements in the 
existing property 

portfolio

Project development
Potential building rights 

with a total area of
approximately 40,500 sqm
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Identification:
Management and network

(shareholders and other
relationships)

Acquisition candidates

Valuation and analysis:
Internally within the company and

under the leadership of the 
Deputy CEO and those responsible 

for property acqusitions

Evaluation:
Full management team

Decision:
Board

8.4.2 Förvärv Original från PPT

Identifiering:
Bolagets ledning och nätverk

(aktieägare och övriga relationer)

Värdering och analys:
Sker internt inom bolaget under 
ledning av Anders Valdemarsson

Utvärdering:
Hela Bolagets ledningsgrupp

Beslut:
Styrelsen

Historical
acquisition

cost

Current
property
valuation

Historical
acquisition

cost

Current
property
valuation

5,1%
4,4%

Historisk anskaffningskostnad Aktuell fastighetsvärdering

Förväntad avkastning

1,7
1,9

Historisk anskaffningskostnad Aktuell fastighetsvärdering

Fastighetsvärde (Mdkr)

12 deals / ~SEK 2.8bn
Gross list – reviewed

10 deals / ~SEK 2.5bn
Active discussions

2 deals / ~SEK 0.3bn
Signed

–
Letter of intent
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off-market transactions and achieve a long-term, stable 
and attractive return. Several of Fortinova’s acquisi-
tions take place in a bilateral process without compe-
ting bidders. This is achieved by operating in municipa-
lities where Fortinova has a broad network comprised 
of shareholders, consultants and real estate agents, 
among others.

The Company has a clear acquisition process that 
consists of identification, valuation and analysis, evalua-
tion and decision. 

 ■ Identification of acquisitions is a continuous process 
that is primarily handled by the management team 
with the help of the Company’s network. Through 
the Company’s broad shareholder structure and 
local networks, Fortinova’s management assesses 
that the Company has access to a large number of 
potential acquisition candidates. The Company’s 
employees working with acquisitions, the manage-
ment group and property management employees 
work closely with each other to identify potential 
acquisition candidates. Usually, several objects are 
evaluated in parallel which increases the probabili-
ty of attractive acquisitions. 

 ■ The valuation and analysis is conducted internally 
by the employees that are responsible for property 
acquisitions under the leadership of the Group’s De-
puty CEO. A potential acquisition candidate is evalu-
ated on the basis of how well it fits into Fortinova’s 
strategy and whether the criteria for, inter alia, the 
surplus ratio, property yield, economic occupancy 
rate, development potential and property value per 
square meter are fulfilled. Furthermore, a valuation 
of the property is conducted.  

 ■ When the valuation and analysis has been comple-
ted, an evaluation is made together with the entire 
management team. If the acquisition candidate is 
considered to fit into the Company’s strategy and 
meet the Company’s criteria, it is presented to the 
Board of Directors. 

 ■ The Board of Directors evaluates the potential tran-
saction and decides whether the Company should 
proceed with the acquisition candidate.

Fortinova’s management considers that Fortinova’s or-
ganization is closely connected to the market, which en-
ables quick acquisition-related decision-making, which is 

76 Net operating profit as of 31 August 2020 retrieved from the Group’s earnings capacity. Historical acquisition cost taken from the Group’s internal accounting system.

a prerequisite for completing acquisitions in a cost-ef-
fective and efficient manner. Furthermore, manage-
ment is of the opinion that the Company over time has 
achieved a strong acquisition history, which has resulted 
in the Company succeeding in carrying out acquisitions 
at attractive valuations. The Company has historically 
achieved a property yield of 5.1 per cent, which can be 
compared with a property yield of 4.5 per cent on the 
current valuation (historical property yield calculated 
as current net operating profit in relation to historical 
acquisition cost and current property yield as current 

net operating profit in relation to current investment 
property valuation76). The Company has historical-
ly achieved a property yield of 5.1 per cent, which can 
be compared to a property yield of 4.5 per cent on the 
current valuation (historical property yield calculated 
as current net operating profit in relation to historical 
acquisition cost and current property yield as current 
net operating profit in relation to current investment 
property valuation ). The Company assesses that ac-
quisitions are made with reasonable financial risk. The 
net loan-to-value ratio was 58 per cent for the finan-
cial year 2017/18, 52 per cent for the financial year 
2018/19 and 41 per cent for the financial year 2019/20. 
See section “Selected historical financial information - 
Definitions of key performance measures not defined 
in accordance with IFRS” for a definition of net loan-to-
value ratio. Since the financial year 2016/17, the com-
pany has made acquisitions to an acquisition value of 
approximately SEK 1.4 billion.

The Company has  
historically achieved  
a property yield of  
5.1 per cent

Acquisition process:

Potential acquisition candidates per the date of this Prospectus:Yield and current property valuation77:

■ Expected yield  ■ Property value (SEKbn)

As of the date of this Prospectus, Fortinova has a gross 
list of 12 acquisition candidates. Of these, the Company 
has initiated contact with 10 potential acquisition can-
didates which are considered to fit into the Company’s 
strategy and meet the Company’s criteria’s. The avera-
ge property yield of the potential acquisition candida-
tes in the figure below amounts to approximately 3.75 
per cent.

77 Net operating profit as of 31 August 2020 retrieved from the Group’s earnings ca-
pacity. Historical acquisition cost taken from the Group’s internal accounting system.
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COUNTY DEAL PROPERTY VALUE (MSEK) PROPERTY TYPE

Västra Götaland 1 >300 Residential

Västra Götaland 2 100–200 Residential

Västra Götaland 3 >300 Residential

Halland 4 – Residential

Västra Götaland 5 200–300 Residential

Västra Götaland 6 <100 Residential

Västra Götaland 7 >300 Residential

Västra Götaland 8 <100 Residential

Halland 9 200–300 Residential

Halland 10 100–200 Commercial

Halland 11 <100 Residential

Halland 12 <100 Residential

TOTAL SEK ~2.8bn

Identification:
Management and network

(shareholders and other
relationships)

Acquisition candidates

Valuation and analysis:
Internally within the company and

under the leadership of the 
Deputy CEO and those responsible 

for property acqusitions

Evaluation:
Full management team

Decision:
Board

8.4.2 Förvärv Original från PPT

Identifiering:
Bolagets ledning och nätverk

(aktieägare och övriga relationer)

Värdering och analys:
Sker internt inom bolaget under 
ledning av Anders Valdemarsson

Utvärdering:
Hela Bolagets ledningsgrupp

Beslut:
Styrelsen

Historical
acquisition

cost

Current
property
valuation

Historical
acquisition

cost

Current
property
valuation

5,1%
4,4%

Historisk anskaffningskostnad Aktuell fastighetsvärdering

Förväntad avkastning

1,7
1,9

Historisk anskaffningskostnad Aktuell fastighetsvärdering

Fastighetsvärde (Mdkr)

12 deals / ~SEK 2.8bn
Gross list – reviewed

10 deals / ~SEK 2.5bn
Active discussions

2 deals / ~SEK 0.3bn
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–
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Hägern property portfolio in Lilla Edet
In March 2018, Fortinova acquired the Hägern proper-
ty portfolio in Lilla Edet in connection with a genera-
tional change that the Company had been monitoring 
for some time. The property portfolio amounted to 
33,004 square meters distributed over 453 apart-
ments, with several commercial tenants such as the 
municipality of Lilla Edet. With the acquisition, the 
Company strengthened its position in Lilla Edet and 
in Western Sweden. At the time of acquisition, the 
property value amounted to MSEK 385 and the ren-
tal value to MSEK 34.7. As of May 2019, the property 
value amounted to MSEK 414 and the rental value to 
MSEK 36.0, an increase of SEK 29 and MSEK 1.3 res-
pectively, corresponding to 7.5 and 3.7 per cent. The in-
creased rental value can be explained by the fact that 
the Company succeeded in identifying rents that had 
not previously been fully charged. The acquisition was 
motivated by a high property yield on the portfolio, as 
well as a favorable location with good commuting op-
portunities that includes a 25-minute train commute 
to Gothenburg and a 15-minute train commute to Troll-
hättan. In the referred case study, no specific invest-
ments in addition to property management measures 
were made. 

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Ljungpiparen property portfolio in Varberg
In February 2014, Fortinova acquired the Ljungpiparen 
property portfolio in Varberg. The acquisition had a 
property value of MSEK 58 and a rental value of MSEK 
4.1 at the time of acquisition. The total property port-
folio amounted to 5,404 square meters divided into 72 
apartments. In May 2019, the property value amoun-
ted to MSEK 64.7 and the rental value to MSEK 4.8, 
an increase of MSEK 6.7 and MSEK 0.7 respectively, 
corresponding to 11.6 and 17.1 per cent. The Company 

78 Historical acquisition cost taken from the Group’s internal accounting system.

assesses that the portfolio has an attractive location 
in the center of Varberg and that tenant-owner associ-
ations could be potential future buyers of the proper-
ty portfolio. Furthermore, the Company believes the 
portfolio’s low rental value creates potential for rent 
increases when upgrading through the “Pluslägenhet” 
concept. In the referred case study, no specific invest-
ments in addition to property management measures 
were made.  

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Kalkstenen property portfolio in Varberg

In November 2010, the Company acquired the Kalk-
stenen property portfolio in Varberg. The property 
portfolio amounted to 3,346 square meters distribu-
ted over 52 apartments. At the time of acquisition, the 
property value amounted to MSEK 48 and the rental 
value to MSEK 3.7. The property value and rental value 
amounted to MSEK 81 and MSEK 4.7 respectively, as 
of May 2019, an increase of MSEK 33 and MSEK 1, re-
spectively, corresponding to 68.8 and 27.0 per cent. 
The Company succeeded in increasing its net opera-
ting profit by more than 35 per cent from MSEK 2.5 to 
MSEK 3.4. The portfolio has an attractive location in 
the center of Varberg and includes a potential building 
right in central Varberg. Varberg municipality rents 12 
apartments in the portfolio. The portfolio was built 
with investment grants, which meant that the rent 
was fixed for a certain period, but when the period 
expired, there was an opportunity for rent increases. 
Furthermore, the Company sees that tenant-owner as-
sociations could be potential future buyers of the pro-
perty portfolio. In the referred case study, no specific 
investments in addition to property management me-
asures were made.   78

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Tjädern property portfolio in Kungsbacka

In June 2014, Fortinova acquired the Tjädern property 

Fortinova’s acquisitions over time78:

■ Acquisition cost (MSEK)  ■ Net loan-to-value

Identification:
Management and network

(shareholders and other
relationships)

Acquisition candidates

Valuation and analysis:
Internally within the company and

under the leadership of the 
Deputy CEO and those responsible 

for property acqusitions

Evaluation:
Full management team

Decision:
Board
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Current
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acquisition
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Kalkstenen 1, Varberg

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

portfolio, which is located in Kungsbacka. At the time 
of acquisition, the property value amounted to MSEK 
41. The acquisition consisted of 3,079 square meters 
distributed over 43 apartments and a number of pre-
mises rented to associations and leisure activities. In 
June 2016, the property portfolio was sold to a te-
nant-owner association for a value of MSEK 73. The 
realized gain on the invested equity of approximate-
ly MSEK 10 amounted to approximately MSEK 32. The 
sale to Fortinova was conditional on the construction 
of 19 tenant-owned apartments together with the sel-
ler. An additional profit for the Company’s share of the 
apartment building rights of a total of MSEK 6.5 was 
realized at the end of 2017. The profit of MSEK 6.5 can 
be compared with the initial investment of MSEK 3.8. In 
the referred case study, no specific investments in ad-
dition to property management measures were made.

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Tolken property portfolio in Varberg 

Fortinova acquired the Tolken property in central Var-
berg in September 2012 from a store owner who had 
retained the property after the sale of the store. The 
property consisted of 3,240 square meters of retail 
premises and offices. Fortinova’s management consi-
dered the acquisition of the property to be of interest, 
as management believes that the property is located 
in one of three attractive retail locations in Varberg. At 
the time of acquisition, the property and rental value 
amounted to MSEK 35 and MSEK 2.8, respectively. In 
May 2019, the property value amounted to MSEK 45.6 
and the rental value amounted to MSEK 3.2, an increa-
se of MSEK 10.6 and 0.4 respectively, corresponding 
to 30.3 and 14.3 per cent. The Company succeeded 
in increasing its net operating profit by more than 10 
per cent, from MSEK 2.4 to MSEK 2.7. The property 
also contained potential building rights for residential 

properties and the Company now has a plan specifica-
tion for approximately 150 apartments/tenant-owned 
apartments associated with Tolken. In the referred 
case study, no specific investments in addition to pro-
perty management measures were made.

Case study of the acquisition of the  
Countryside property portfolio in Varberg

In September 2012, the Company acquired a property 
portfolio in the countryside near Varberg. The acqui-
sition included 8,500 square meters distributed over 
104 apartments. The property portfolio also included 
commercial tenants, such as ICA Nära. At the time of 
acquisition, the property value amounted to MSEK 41 
and the rental value to MSEK 5.4. The acquisition was 
motivated by the fact that the portfolio was assessed 
to have a high return and contained attractive potenti-
al building rights for residential properties in the coun-
tryside near Varberg (for example in Trönninge and 
Värö-Backa). In May 2019, after the Company sold two 
smaller properties, the property value amounted to 
MSEK 77.7 and the rental value to MSEK 7.3, an increa-
se of MSEK 36.7 and MSEK 1.9, respectively, correspon-
ding to 89.5 and 35.2 per cent. The divested properties 
consisted of a total of seven apartments and an area 
of approximately 500 square meters. Fortinova suc-
ceeded in increasing its net operating profit by more 
than 45 per cent from MSEK 2.8 to MSEK 4.1. In the re-
ferred case study, no specific investments in addition 
to property management measures were made.  

DEVELOPMENT OF THE EXISTING  
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Fortinova’s strategy includes the development of 
the existing property portfolio. The Company conti-
nuously evaluates existing apartments and proper-
ties to identify potential development needs. Through 
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

development, the Company succeeds in increasing the 
value of the apartments and properties, as well as 
achieving higher rent levels, thus increasing the profit 
from property management. In addition to the financi-
al benefits, the Company keeps existing tenants satis-
fied and attracts new tenants. The development takes 
place in close dialogue with tenants and property ma-
nagers, who have good insight into the tenants’ needs 
and wishes. Actively following up needs contributes to 
a high occupancy rate and low risk for the Company. 
Common measures include the replacement of roofs, 
windows, repairs and repainting.  

Pluslägenheter
The development of Fortinova’s portfolio includes a 
concept that the Company calls “Pluslägenheter”, which 
in brief consists of tenants being offered the oppor-
tunity to upgrade their existing tenancy to a so-called 
“Pluslägenhet”. The upgrade is an adaptation to meet 
new construction standards, which includes moderni-
zation and renovation to create an apartment that the 
Company considers to be of a premium standard. The 
renovations are usually done in connection with a te-
nant moving out, but it is also possible for tenants to 
separately apply for an upgrade to a “Pluslägenhet”. In 
the case of such an application, the tenant must move 
out for about two months in order for renovation work 
to be carried out. The apartments are being renovated 
to what the Company considers to be a high standard, 
which is characterized by Nordic design and amenities 
such as new household appliances, tiled floors in the 
hall and fiber networks. Renovations are carried out 
selectively by identifying and upgrading only functions 
that are below a certain standard – which can lead to 
some apartments being completely renovated, while 

79 Based on an analysis of the portfolio conducted on 31 May 2020.
80 Based on completed conversions of 6 apartments.

others are only renovated in certain areas or rooms. 
Fortinova estimates that about 550 apartments 

(about 40 per cent of the total residential property 
stock) have the potential to be converted to “Pluslä-
genheter”, of which about 60 per cent are located in 
Varberg and Lilla Edet79. The renovations increase rent 
levels and the investment property value – the Com-
pany estimates that rent increases by an average of 
about 55 per cent80 after an upgrade, and that the up-
grade results in higher demand and lower vacancy risk, 
as renovated apartments are more sought after by te-
nants. The return, based on completed conversions of 
6 apartments, amounts to approximately 6.5 per cent 
(increased annual rental income per square meter, re-
lative to the renovation cost per square meter). Per the 
date of this Prospectus, the “Pluslägenheter” concept 
remains at an early stage and the Company has cur-
rently carried out 6 upgrades.

Impact on rental levels after conversion to “Pluslägenheter”  
(SEK/square meter/year):

Lease 
termination 
by tentant

Evaluation 
of renovation

eligliability

Procurement 
of subcontractors

Renovation
(~2 months)

8.4.3.1 Pluslägenheter och 8.4.3.2 Processöversikt av Pluslägenhets-konceptet

Rent increase Tenant
move in

Pre-renovation Post-renovation

900

~500

~1,400
Yield on investment ~6.5%

~900

~+ 55% increase

■ Initial rent  ■ Rent increase

Lease 
termination 
by tentant

Evaluation 
of renovation

eligliability

Procurement 
of subcontractors

Renovation
(~2 months)

8.4.3.1 Pluslägenheter och 8.4.3.2 Processöversikt av Pluslägenhets-konceptet

Rent increase Tenant
move in

Pre-renovation Post-renovation

900

~500

~1,400
Yield on investment ~6.5%

~900

~+ 55% increase

Process overview of the “Pluslägenheter” concept

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

47

IN
V

ITATIO
N

 TO
 ACQ

U
IRE SH

A
RES IN

 FO
RTIN

O
VA FA

STIGH
ETER A

B (PU
BL)



48 49

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

In addition to long-term management, Fortinova owns 
potential building rights with a total area of approx-
imately 40,500 square meters GFA. Historically, pro-
ject development has not been a major focus area for 
Fortinova, but over time a portfolio that the Company 
believes has good potential to be completed has  
 

been acquired. The projects are at an early stage and 
per the date of this Prospectus, no decisions have 
been made on how the projects are to be completed. 
Fortinova has several options on ways to finalize the 
projects, where the most likely are either a sale of the 
projects or development together with a partner.

MUNICIPALITY PROPERTY
ESTIMATED AREA  
(SQUARE METERS) GFA STATUS

Existing development plan

Lilla Edet Vävaren 10 3,000 Development plan 
completed

3,000

Plan specification approved

Varberg Tolken 11 14,000 Plan specification 
approved

Bollebygd Flässjum 1:88 4,500 Plan specification 
approved

18,500

Additional potential  
building rights

Varberg Munkagård 1:59, 1:83 7,500 Development plan in 
progress

Varberg Trönninge 11:6 6,000 Development plan in 
progress

Varberg Ljungpiparen 2 2,500 Potential densification

Varberg Katten 7 1,500 Potential densification

Varberg Ekorren 11 1,500 Development plan in 
progress

19,000

TOTAL 40,500

Tolken 11, Varberg
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Selected development projects:  
Tolken 11 – Varberg

Tolken 11 is a development project located in the eas-
tern part of Varberg. The area is located close to two 
well-trafficked roads, pre-schools and upper seconda-
ry schools, as well as hospitals and a sports field and is 
currently occupied by retail space and offices. The de-
velopment plan includes a semi-open block structure 
characterized by patios and plantations, as well as hou-
ses that are connected to the villa gardens in the area.  

Selected development projects:  
Trönninge 11:6 – Varberg

Trönninge 11:6 is a development project located in 
southern Trönninge, about 5 kilometers north of Var-
berg, with good connections via public transport, se-
veral roads and a well-developed bicycle network. In 
the area, there are pre-schools and primary schools, 
retirement homes and sports centers, among others. 
At present, the property has four smaller residential 
buildings. The plan specification intends to densify the 
residential properties within the property, and to de-
sign part of the adjacent green area to ensure access 
to green areas ahead.

In addition to long-term  
management, Fortinova owns 
potential building rights with a 
total area of approximately  
40,500 square meters GFA.

Trönninge 11:6, Varberg
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SUSTAINABILITY
Fortinova aims to be a long-term and secure property 
owner, which contributes to the development of socie-
ty by offering sound and affordable housing in growth 
municipalities in Western Sweden. Sustainability is an 
important and integral part of Fortinova’s daily work.
Fortinova is operated on the basis that rental apart-
ments as a form of housing is important for achieving 
long-term economic and social sustainability. Fortinova 
strives to be a responsible property owner, employer, 
landlord and community actor, which in various ways 
contribute to strengthening the local community in the 
areas where Fortinova operates.

Fortinova shall operate a profitable business with 
financial stability and sound development. Fortinova’s 
quality work is characterized by a clear customer fo-
cus, as satisfied tenants are the basis for Fortinova’s 
success. Applicable laws and regulations as well as in-
ternational standards for human rights, work and the 
environment shall be considered as minimum levels.

Fortinova shall be a responsible and committed 
actor, which drives development forward in the are-
as concerning Fortinova’s operations. Fortinova shall 
maintain long-term relationships with the company’s 
stakeholders and have a high level of business mora-
le. Fortinova distances itself from all forms of corrup-
tion and expects the Company’s suppliers to share the 
Company’s values.

Fortinova considers itself to have a flat organiza-
tion where each employee contributes to the compa-
ny’s success. Fortinova strives to offer a healthy and 
safe work environment where everyone can thrive 
and develop. Furthermore, Fortinova strives to be an 
attractive, inclusive and equal workplace where each 
employee’s special characteristics are utilized. Through 
high demands on management, Fortinova also contri-
butes to an ecologically sustainable future. In the event 
that a negative impact on society and / or the environ-
ment occurs due to Fortinova’s operations, the Compa-
ny shall take full responsibility.

Global Sustainable Development Goals
At the UN summit in September 2015, the world heads 
of state and government adopted 17 global sustaina-
bility goals within the three perspectives ecological, 
economic and social sustainability, which the countri-
es must work towards. The real estate industry has 
the opportunity to be involved and influence many of 
the goals. Fortinova has chosen to focus on five goals, 
where the Company believes it can make the biggest 
difference for the future.

5 Gender equality 
Fortinova shall be a safe workplace where men and 
women have the same rights and obligations. Zero to-
lerance prevails against all forms of discrimination, ha-
rassment and other discrimination based on gender, 
sexual orientation, origin, religion or the like.

81 As the Group did not have any employees prior to the restructuring, Fortinova AB’s overview of employees is reported in the table for the financial years 2017/18 and 2018/19. 
Since the restructuring, Fortinova AB has been a wholly owned subsidiary of Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ). Prior to the restructuring, Fortinova AB provided services for 
central administration, property management and company administration, see section “Operational and financial overview – Restructuring”.

82 Ibid.
83 Refers to 31 August 2020 at Group level. 

6 Clean Water and sanitation 
Fortinova strives for efficient water use in its proper-
ties and works continuously to inform tenants about 
the importance of not pouring things into the sewers 
that can cause damage to animals and nature.

8 Decent work and economic growth 
Fortinova shall operate a profitable business with fi-
nancial stability and good development. Fortinova 
considers applicable laws and regulations as well as in-
ternational standards for human rights, work and the 
environment to be minimum levels. Fortinova distan-
ces itself from all forms of corruption and expects the 
Company’s suppliers to share the Company’s values.

11 Sustainable cities and communities 
Fortinova contributes to the development of the local 
communities where the Company operates by offering 
sound, healthy and appropriate apartments and pre-
mises. In collaboration with municipalities and other 
actors, Fortinova works to offer sorting of waste, in-
form about sustainable consumption and to create se-
curity, community and cohesion in the Company’s areas.

15 Life on land
Fortinova shall always consider environmental aspects 
in connection with purchases and procurements. The 
work in the day-to-day management shall take place 
with the future in mind, with eco-labeled products, effi-
cient use of resources and as little carbon dioxide emis-
sions as possible, among other things by only buying 
electricity from renewable energy sources. Fortinova 
works actively to ensure that the Company’s important 
pollinators also thrive in the Company’s residential are-
as, by planting with care and planting meadows.

ORGANIZATION

Management believes that Fortinova’s organization 
is scalable and well-adapted to conduct efficient pro-
perty management. The Company conducts regular 
monthly management meetings where the Company 
reviews the properties’ finances, major renovations 
and other management issues. 

Fortinova’s head office is located in Varberg and 
as of 31 August 2020, the organization consists of 22 
employees, of which 7 are women. The management 
team is comprised of four people: the CEO, the Deputy 
CEO who is responsible for property acquisitions, the 
CFO who is Head of investor relations, and the Head of 
Property Management.

2017/1881 2018/1982 2019/2083 

Women 6 7 7

Men 8 9 15

TOTAL 14 16 22

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company’s organization is comprised of a proper-
ty management organization and company-wide func-
tions such as Finance and HR. As of 31 August 2020, 
the property management organization consists of 
16 full-time employees and 4 seasonal workers in the 
summer who manage Fortinova’s acquired properties. 
The property management organization’s functions 
include rental services, customer service, technical 

management and property management. Finance and 
HR consists of 4 full-time employees. In addition, the 
Company uses external services for IT and business 
support as well as an external communications consul-
tancy. Per the date of this Prospectus, the Company in-
tends to recruit another employee to support the pro-
perty acquisition processes.            

Organizational chart:

CEO

Communication Advisor
External

CFO and Head of Investor
Relations

 

Deputy CEO and Head of
Property Acquisitions

Head of Property management

16 FTEs and 4 seasonal summer workers

8.5 Organisation

Property management

Technical management

Customer support

Residential property
management

Finance and HR
4 FTEs

IT and Business Support
External 
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FORTINOVA’S PROPERTY 
PORTFOLIO

INTRODUCTION

Fortinova’s property portfolio consists mainly of resi-
dential properties which, according to Fortinova’s as-
sessment, have documented strong cash flows with the 
goal of generating a positive return over time regard-
less of market development. Fortinova has a geographi-
cal focus on growth municipalities in Western Sweden, 
which the Company deems to have a good growth pro-
file and are attractive areas to work and live in. A small 
proportion of the Company’s properties consist of areas 
attributable to community service properties and com-

mercial properties. As of 31 August 2020, the portfo-
lio value consisted of 86 per cent of residential proper-
ties divided into 1,759 apartments. The remaining 13 per 
cent is distributed on community service and commerci-
al properties. As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova’s invest-
ment property value amounted to SEK 2.3 billion with a 
lettable area of 146,887 square meters. The Company’s 
total rental value amounted to MSEK 164.5 with an eco-
nomic occupancy rate of 99 per cent. Fortinova’s ambi-
tion is to continue to grow in Western Sweden.

Development of the property portfolio (property value, MSEK84): 

16 
140 

220 

400 
470 

670 

1,063 

1,535 

1,725 

2,261

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Fortinova 
founded and
first properties
in Varberg
acquired  

Fortinova expands
and completes its
first acquisition in
Kungsbacka 

Properties acquired in Uddevalla and
Fortinova exceeds 100 shareholders

Fortinova continues expansion by acquiring
properties in Falkenberg and Lilla Edet 

Fortinova expands into Trollhättan and
surpasses SEK 1.5bn in property value 

Fortinova expands with acquisitions of about SEK 
500m and surpasses SEK 2.0bn in property value 

84 Retrieved from the Company’s internal accounting system.
Property locations
Targeted area

Varberg

Kungsbacka

Falkenberg

Gothenburg

Lilla Edet

Uddevalla

Trollhättan

Borås

Fastighetsvärde per fastighetstyp

Kommersiella
fastigheter

252

Samhälls-
fastigheter

55

Bostadsfastigheter
1 954

2261 Mkr

Västra Götaland 1177                                                                                                                                                   
         

       
      

      
     

     
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   H

all
an

d 10
85    

Lilla Edet 18%Kungsbacka 5%

Falkenberg 4%

Uddevalla 16%Varberg 39%

Göteborg 15%

Trollhättan 
5%

2261 Mkr

Tjörn

Property value per region. Property value per property type.

Commersial
properties

252
(11%)

Community service
properies

55
(2%)

Residential
properties

1,954
(86%)

2,261 MSEK

Västra Götaland 1,177                                                                                                                                                   
         

       
      

     
     

     
     

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   H

all
an

d 1,0
85    

Lilla Edet 18%Kungsbacka 5%

Falkenberg 4%

Uddevalla 16%Varberg 39%

Gothenburg 15%

Trollhättan 
5%

2,261 MSEK

PROPERTY DATA AS OF 31 AUGUST 2020 NUMBER OF PROPERTIES, UNITS PROPERTY VALUE, MSEK

Residential properties 108 1,953.5

Commercial properties 12 252.4

Community service properties 3 55.3

TOTAL 123 2,261.2

FORTINOVA´S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
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SELECTED PROPERTIES85 

85 Information retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system as of 31 August 2020.

Kalkstenen 1–2, Varberg
MSEK 72.0 property value
(SEK 27,408 / sqm)
MSEK 3.8 rental value
2,627 sqm
45 apartments

Hägern 5, Lilla Edet
MSEK 51.4 property value
(SEK 16,108 / sqm)
MSEK 4.0 rental value
3,191 sqm
49 apartments

Hägern 6, Lilla Edet
MSEK 39.3 property value
(SEK 20,010 / sqm)
MSEK 3.0 rental value
1,964 sqm
24 apartments

Svärdet 3, Falkenberg
MSEK 34.0 property value
(SEK 18,280 / sqm)
MSEK 2.1 rental value
1,860 sqm
20 apartments

Skärhagen 1–6, Uddevalla
MSEK 70.3 property value
(SEK 14,594 / sqm)
MSEK 5.3 rental value
4,817 sqm
84 apartments

Tolken 11, Varberg
MSEK 47.6 property value
(SEK 14,691 / sqm)
MSEK 3.1 rental value
3,240 sqm

Rödhaken 4–6, Trollhättan
MSEK 23.2 property value
(SEK 15,633 / sqm)
MSEK 1.8 rental value
1,484 sqm
30 apartments

Svalan 12, Kungsbacka
MSEK 51.0 property value
(SEK 26,618 / sqm)
MSEK 3.2 rental value
1,916 sqm
32 apartments

Värö-Backa 8:54/8:45, 
Varberg
MSEK 54.8 property value
(SEK 22,852 / sqm)
MSEK 3.6 rental value
2,398 sqm
32 apartments

Hackspetten 3,  
Trollhättan
MSEK 44.7 property value
(SEK 14,304 / sqm)
MSEK 3.3 rental value
3,125 sqm
48 apartments

Fullriggaren 1, 4,  
Uddevalla
MSEK 76.4 property value
(SEK 17,809 / sqm)
MSEK 4.9 rental value
4,290 sqm
66 apartments

Bergsjön 15:4–15:7,  
Gothenburg
MSEK 316.0 property value
(SEK 17,991 / sqm)
MSEK 20.4 rental value
17,564 sqm
262 apartments

FORTINOVA´S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO FORTINOVA´S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY STRUCTURE  
AND OCCUPANCY RATE86

Fortinova’s residential properties consist primarily  
of two- and three-room apartments located in Västra 
Götaland (Lilla Edet, 446 apartments; Uddevalla,  
300 apartments; Gothenburg, 264 apartments;  
and Trollhättan, 78 apartments, as well as Halland  
(Varberg, 544 apartments; Kungsbacka, 52 apart-
ments; and Falkenberg 75 apartments).

Apartment type per size.

■ Apartment type

Number of apartments per city and region.

■ Halland  ■ Västra Götaland 

55

Antal lägenheter per ort och region

Studio 2 bedroom 3 bedroom 4 bedroom 5+ bedroom
0

200

400

600

800

1000

218 824 591 116 10

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Göteborg

Trollhättan

Uddevalla

LIlla Edet

Kungsbacka

Falkenberg

Varberg

27

Trollhättan

Totalt

Gothenburg

Uddevalla

LIlla Edet

Kungsbacka

Falkenberg

Varberg 544

75

52

446

300

78

264

1,088671 1 759

Antal lägenheter per ort och region

Studio 2 bedroom 3 bedroom 4 bedroom 5+ bedroom
0

200

400

600

800

1000

218 824 591 116 10

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Göteborg

Trollhättan

Uddevalla

LIlla Edet

Kungsbacka

Falkenberg

Varberg

27

Trollhättan

Totalt

Gothenburg

Uddevalla

LIlla Edet

Kungsbacka

Falkenberg

Varberg 544

75

52

446

300

78

264

1,088671 1 759

As86of 31 August 2020, the Company’s investment pro-
perty value for residential properties amounted to 
MSEK 1,953.5, distributed across 1,759 apartments. 
For the financial year ended 31 August 2020, rental in-
come amounted to MSEK 135.4 and property costs to 
MSEK 58.6, which resulted in a net operating profit of 
MSEK 76.8. The economic occupancy rate amounted to 
99.1 per cent as of 31 August 2020. A total of 2 apart-
ments were vacant as of 31 August 2020. During the 

86 Retrieved from the Company’s internal accounting system.
87 The relocation speed of 19 per cent excludes the property portfolio in Gothenburg accessed at the end of the financial year.

financial year ended 31 August 2020, the relocation 
rate amounted to 19 per cent87 among the residenti-
al properties included in the Company’s balance sheet. 
See section “Selected historical financial information – 
Definitions of key performance measures not defined 
in accordance with IFRS” for a definition of number of 
properties, number of apartments, rental value and 
economic occupancy rate.  

PROPERTIES AS OF  
31 AUGUST 2020 NUMBER, UNITS

PROPERTY  
VALUE RENTAL VALUE

Propertiesi
Apart-
mentsi MSEKi

SEK/ 
sq.m. MSEKi

SEK/ 
sq.m.i

Lilla Edet 17 446 417.6 12,916.8 37.3 1,153.6

Uddevalla 17 300 351.7 19,075.8 23.0 1,247.7

Gothenburg 5 264 339.5 18,121.0 22.2 1,185.7

Trollhättan 4 78 67.9 14,730.8 5.1 1,116.2

VÄSTRA GÖTALAND 43 1,088 1,176.7 15,877.5 87.7 1,182.8

Varberg 49 544 887.6 14,284.1 64.3 1,035.3

Kungsbacka 9 52 114.4 25,748.4 6.7 1,504.0

Falkenberg 22 75 82.5 13,324.9 5.9 946.3

HALLAND 80 671 1,084.5 14,902.4 76.9 1,056.3

TOTAL 123 1,759 2,261.2 15,394.4 164.5 1,120.1

i) Retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system.
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TENANT STRUCTURE

Fortinova’s tenants are mainly private individuals who 
rent residential properties. Fortinova’s commerci-
al tenants mainly consist of companies that Fortinova 
considers to be characterized by relatively stable de-
mand: community services and grocery stores, which 
account for approximately 7 and 2 per cent respecti-
vely of Fortinova’s total rental value. Only about 1 per 
cent of the Company’s total rental value is attributa-
ble to restaurants. As of 31 August 2020, 11 per cent 
of the property value was comprised of commercial 
premises. Fortinova’s five largest tenants in the com-
mercial properties and community service properties 
segments are Municipality of Lilla Edet, Dagab Inköp & 
Logistik AB, Rusta AB, Bolist Detaljist AB, and Kungs-
backa Kommun Serviceförvaltning. These tenants ac-
count for approximately 8 per cent of the Company’s 
total rental value. Fortinova has a weighted average 
contract duration of 2.5 years (weighted against rental 
value)88. The Company’s tenants in residential proper-
ties are primarily under the age of 40, which account 
for approximately 48 per cent of all tenants. The age 
distribution among the tenants in the residential pro-
perties is illustrated in the figure below.

Age distribution among tenants in residential properties89:

<30 
years

31-40
years

41-50
years

51-60
years

61-70 
years

71-80
years

>80 
years

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

26% 22% 11% 12% 11% 11% 8%

■ Share of tenants

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS  
AND IDENTIFIED BUILDING RIGHTS

Fortinova works with identifying building rights and 
potential densification, primarily on its own land and 
within the existing property portfolio, where the Com-
pany assesses that the measures will create the most 
shareholder value. Where possible and economically 
favorable, premises that were previously intended for 
purposes other than housing are also converted into 
apartments. As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova owns 
potential building rights with a total area of approx-
imately 40,500 square meters GFA. For a table of de-
velopment projects, see section “Business overview – 
Project development”.

88 Retrieved from the Company’s internal accounting system.
89 Retrieved from the Company’s internal accounting system.

UPGRADES

Fortinova also works with apartment upgrades within 
the existing property portfolio through the “Pluslägen-
heter” concept. Upgrades take place in cases where the 
Company deems that the measures will create value. 
As of 31 May 2020, the Company estimated that app-
roximately 40 per cent of the apartments in the port-
folio were relevant for an upgrade. The “Pluslägenheter” 
concept is further described in section “Business over-
view – Pluslägenheter”.

EFFECTS OF COVID-19

Per the date of this Prospectus, the Company asses-
ses that Covid-19 has not had a material impact on 
the Company’s earnings, daily operations and acqui-
sition plans. Fortinova has been able to limit the im-
pact of Covid-19 and believes that it is in a good posi-
tion to continue to limit such effects. To ease liquidity 
constraints for certain tenants, Fortinova has offe-
red these tenants rent reductions. The total effect on 
profits during the 2019/20 financial year is less than 
KSEK 500. The Company’s Board of Directors and 
management continuously monitor the development 
of Covid-19 and follow the authorities’ recommenda-
tions, and work to safeguard the health and safety of 
employees and tenants (for further information, see 
section ”Capitalization, indebtedness and other finan-
cial information – Trends”). Fortinova believes it has a 
stable financial position, sufficient liquidity and expo-
sure to low-vacancy residential properties in munici-
palities, which Fortinova assesses to have attractive 
population growth. Overall, the Company believes that 
the factors mentioned lead to low operational risk. 

FORTINOVA´S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
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VALUATION CERTIFICATE
THE FOLLOWING VALUATION CERTIFICATE regarding the Company’s investment properties has been 
issued by Newsec Advice AB on behalf of the Company. Newsec Advice AB is an independent 
expert valuation institute and has agreed that to include the valuation certificate in the Prospec-
tus. The information in the valuation certificate below has been reproduced accurately and no 
information has been omitted in a way that could make the reproduced information incorrect or 
misleading. There have been no significant changes since the valuation certificate was issued.

Newsec Advice AB 

Stureplan 3 
P.O Box 7795 
SE-103 96 Stockholm 
Tel +46 8 454 40 00 
Fax +46 8 454 40 01 
VAT SE 556305-7008 

 

 

 

 

   

 

VALUATION REPORT AS OF 2020-04-17 - 2020-05-28 

Newsec Advice AB (”Newsec”) has been instructed by Fortinova AB, through John Wennevid, 
to carry out valuations of 94 valuation objects. The valuations have been carried out with 
valuation dates 2020-04-01, 2020-04-17, and 2020-05-28. The aim of the valuations is to 
estimate the market value of the properties. 

All properties are located in Sweden. Of the properties, 90 are freehold and 4 are leasehold. 
The properties are located in the following municipalities; Varberg, Falkenberg, Lilla Edet, 
Uddevalla, Trollhättan, Kungsbacka, Bollebygd, Göteborg, and Tjörn. The properties consist of 
residential and commercial properties such as office, retail and industrial. In addition to that, 
the portfolio consists of building rights and land for future development. 

Valuation 

All properties valued are owned by and managed by Fortinova AB. 

The total value of the properties is estimated to 2,261,240 TSEK. 

Inspection of the properties has been carried out by Newsec during the years 2017-2020. The 
inspected properties have a total value of 1,877,510 TSEK, corresponding to 83 % of the total 
value for the properties. The total lettable area is summarized to 146,887 sqm, of which 
111 949 sqm (76 %) is residential premises and 34,938 sqm (24 %) is commercial premises.  

The leasehold properties have a total value of 333,500 TSEK. The freehold properties have a 
total value of 1,927,740 TSEK. 

The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the definitions of market value 
according to RICS Red Book and comply with the definitions and value concepts stated in 
International Valuation Standards 2017 (IVS 2017) established by the International Valuation 
Standard Council (IVCS) as follows: 

“Market Value is the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the 
valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction, after 
proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion.” 

The valuations have been carried out by valuers qualified for the assignment and acting as 
external valuers. We consider us having good knowledge of the property market and the 
current market segments, and thus the skills required to carry out the valuations. 

The value estimations have mainly been performed with a discounted cash flow cash model, 
in which a present value is calculated from future cash flows and the residual value.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

As of the valuation dates, the total market value of the properties has been estimated to: 
 

SEK 2,261,240,000  

(SEK Two Billion Two Hundred and Sixty One Million  

Two Hundred and Forty Thousand) 

 

 

 

 

 

Göteborg / Stockholm 2020-11-02 

Newsec Advice AB 

 

    
Henrik Roderhult, MRICS  Ulrika Lindmark, MRICS         
Regional Director / Partner   Head of Valuation & Strategic Advisory,  

Authorised by Samhällsbyggarna     

                                                                  

 
 
Appendix 1  Property list 
Appendix 2 General terms and conditions for valuation reports  
  

VALUATION CERTIFICATE
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Property list 
 

 

Property Municipality Address Date of Site Visit
Flässjum 1:88 Bollebygd Göteborgsvägen 17
Morup 20:21 m.fl Falkenberg Kvarnvägen 19 A-B, Noréus Väg 2A-B
Svärdet 3 Falkenberg Holgersgatan 23, Sandgatan 13 2017-05-08
Bergsjön 15:4 Göteborg Keplers gata 16-32 2020-09-29
Bergsjön 15:5 Göteborg Keplers gata 4-14 2020-09-29
Bergsjön 15:7 Göteborg Astronomgatan 25-61 2020-09-29
Sävenäs 40:38 Göteborg Lindhultsgatan 23
Gubbekulla 1:150 Kungsbacka Ebbalundsvägen 2A-C
Kolla 3:38 Kungsbacka Gamla Onsalavägen 30 2018-03-01
Kolla 3:4 Kungsbacka Gamla Onsalavägen 24 2018-03-01
Onsala Lunden 1:132 Kungsbacka Boklundsvägen 12A-B
Onsala Lunden 1:133 Kungsbacka Boklundsvägen 10A-B
Onsala Lunden 1:134 Kungsbacka Boklundsgatan 8A-C
Onsala Lunden 1:135 Kungsbacka Boklundsgatan 6A-C
Onsala Lunden 1:136 Kungsbacka Boklundsvägen 4A-B
Svalan 12 Kungsbacka Tingbergsvägen 1A - 1C 2018-03-01
Hägern 2 Lilla Edet Emanuel Bagares Gata 2, Storgatan 4 2017-12-04
Hägern 4 Lilla Edet Käppslängaregatan 2 2017-12-04
Hägern 5 Lilla Edet Emanuel Bagares Gata 6 - 10 2017-12-04
Hägern 6 Lilla Edet Käppslängaregatan 2B - 4B 2017-12-04
Klostret 6:113 Lilla Edet Klostergatan 1A - 1F 2017-12-04
Klostret 6:2 Lilla Edet Klosteräng 1 - 10 2017-12-04
Klostret 6:3 Lilla Edet Klosteräng 11 - 20 2017-12-04
Kroken 14:5 Lilla Edet Fornäng 4A - C 2017-12-04
Kroken 15:1 Lilla Edet S:T Peders Väg 25A - 25E 2017-12-04
Kroken 16:1 Lilla Edet Fornäng 2A - 2D, Långgatan 2 2017-12-04
Ström 1:62 Lilla Edet Strömsvägen 21-39 2017-12-04
Ström 1:63 Lilla Edet Strömsvägen 3 - 19 2017-12-04
Ström 2:5 Lilla Edet Ljungskilevägen 6A - C, 8A - C 2017-12-04
Vävaren 10 Lilla Edet 2017-12-04
Vävaren 3 Lilla Edet Göteborgsvägen 27, mfl. 2017-12-04
Skår 1:11, 1:82 Tjörn Syster Ebbas väg 7A-D
Hackspetten 3 Trollhättan Kaflegatan 2A,2B, 4A, 4B, 6A, 6B
Rödhaken 4, 5, 6 Trollhättan Tunhemsvägen 63A, Tunhemsvägen 63B
Fullriggaren 1 Uddevalla Göteborgsvägen 21A-E, Tjärhovsgatan 11 2017-05-09
Fullriggaren 4 Uddevalla Göteborgsvägen 23A-D, Parkgatan 14 2017-05-09
Galeasen 2 Uddevalla Timmermansgatan 10A, B 2017-05-09
Galeasen 3 Uddevalla Matrosgatan 4, Timmermansgatan 8A, B
Galeasen 7 Uddevalla Göteborgsvägen 25B - D, Matrosgatan 2 2017-05-09
Banmästaren 12 Uddevalla Edingsvägen 4A, B
Söndagen 1 Uddevalla Söndagsvägen 2
Venus 1, 6 Uddevalla Stjärngatan 4A-E, 6A-C
Skärhagen 1 Uddevalla Mellangatan 2, Packhusgatan 23, Tjärhovsgatan 3 2017-05-09
Skärhagen 2 Uddevalla Mellangatan 4, Packhusgatan 25A, B
Skärhagen 3 Uddevalla Mellangatan 6, Packhusgatan 27A, B
Skärhagen 4 Uddevalla Mellangatan 8, Packhusgatan 29A, B
Skärhagen 5 Uddevalla Mellangatan 10, Packhusgatan 31A, B
Skärhagen 6 Uddevalla Mellangatan 12, Packhusgatan 33, Parkgatan 4 2017-05-09

VALUATION CERTIFICATE

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Property Municipality Address Date of Site Visit
Almeberg 13 Varberg Träslövsvägen 9 A- C, 11A - C, 2017-05-08
Cylindern 12 Varberg Cylindervägen 1, Kardanvägen 9 2017-05-08
Ekorren 11 Varberg Boråsgatan 5 2017-05-08
Fastarp 2:12 Varberg Fastarpsvägen 30, Skräddaregatan 1A, B 2017-05-08
Fastarp 2:215 Varberg Gästgivaregatan 2A-H, Fastarpsvägen 34 2017-05-08
Fastarp 2:95 Varberg Sannavägen 17A-C 2017-05-08
Fastarp 3:82 Varberg Långåsvägen 3B, Långåsvägen 3C 2017-05-08
Flaket 1 Varberg Kastanjevägen 2, 4, Lindbergsvägen 2C 2017-05-08
Galten 5 Varberg Eskilsgatan 42 2017-05-08
Gösen 11 Varberg Almers Väg 7 2017-05-08
Gösen 12 Varberg Almers Väg 5 2017-05-08
Gösen 4 Varberg Gerlachs Väg 6 2017-05-08
Haren 3 Varberg Boråsgatan 12B 2017-05-08
Illern 14 Varberg Bergsgatan 10A - 10F, Bergsgatan 8A - 8E 2017-05-08
Kalkstenen 1 Varberg Kalkstensgatan 4 2017-05-08
Kalkstenen 2 Varberg Brearedsvägen 79, Kalkstensgatan 6, 8 2017-05-08
Katten 7 Varberg Engelbrektsgatan 23, Sveagatan 11A, B 2017-05-08
Lagmannen 21 Varberg Kungsgatan 11 etc. 2018-03-01
Ljungpiparen 2 Varberg Morkullegatan 11 - 21 2018-03-01
Ljungpiparen 3 Varberg Morkullegatan 5 - 9, Ringvägen 63 2018-03-01
Ljungpiparen 4 Varberg Morkullegatan 1, Morkullegatan 3, Ringvägen 65 2018-03-01
Mimer 1 Varberg Egils Gränd 1 -  39+ 2017-05-08
Munkagård 1:197 Varberg Björkängsvägen 11A, etc 2017-05-08
Munkagård 1:59, 1:83 Varberg Långåsvägen 11 2017-05-08
Rolfstorp 20:40 Varberg Gästisvägen 1 - 19 2018-03-01
Siken 16 Varberg Gerlachs Väg 3 2017-05-08
Siken 17 Varberg Falkenbergsgatan 18-20 m.fl. 2017-05-08
Tolken 11 Varberg Träslövsvägen 60 2017-05-08
Trädlyckan 41 Varberg Magasinsgatan 57 2017-05-08
Trönninge 11:6 Varberg Jonsbergsvägen 3A - 3K 2018-03-01
Tvååkers-Ås 15:1 Varberg Lerjans Väg 24-42 m.fl. 2017-05-08
Uttern 2 Varberg Boråsgatan 4A-H 2017-05-08
Vabränna 1:47 Varberg Johannes Väg 2A-F m.fl. 2018-03-01
Vabränna 10:12 Varberg Vipvägen 75 - 97 2018-03-01
Vabränna 10:13 Varberg Vipvägen 43 - 73 2018-03-01
Vabränna 10:14 Varberg Vipvägen 11 -41 2018-03-01
Valen 2 Varberg Birger Svenssons Väg 16B 2017-05-08
Valen 4 Varberg Birger Svenssons Väg 16A 2017-05-08
Valen 5 Varberg Birger Svenssons Väg 16C 2017-05-08
Valinge 3:31 Varberg Anders Perstorpsvägen 3 - 13 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 1:30 Varberg Skogstorpsvägen 2 - 26 etc. 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 1:31 Varberg Varbergsvägen 2 - 6 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 31:3, 3:26 Varberg Backavägen 2A - C 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 8:45 Varberg Tingsvägen 10 - 32 etc. 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 8:54 Varberg Östra Brattåsvägen 1A-E, 3A-C, 5A-C 2018-03-01
Värö-Backa 9:21 Varberg Kullers Väg 1 - 23 2018-03-01

VALUATION CERTIFICATE
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CURRENT EARNINGS  
CAPACITY

BACKGROUND

This section contains forward-looking statements that 
reflect Fortinova’s plans, estimates and assessments. 
The company’s profit from property management may 
differ significantly from what is expressed in these 
forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause 
or contribute to such differences include, but are not 
limited to, the assumptions underlying these state-
ments and in other parts of the Prospectus including 
the “Risk Factors” section. The earning capacity shall 
be considered a hypothetical situation, with the pur-
pose to present income and expenses on an annual 
basis given the property portfolio, borrowing costs, 
capital structure and organization at a future date. In 
its published interim report for the period 1 June – 31 
August 2020, the Company has presented current ear-
nings capacity, as of 1 September 2020, for the Com-
pany’s property management operations in order to 
provide an overview of Fortinova’s future assessed 
earning capacity. The current earnings capacity pre-
sented in this section corresponds to the current ear-
nings capacity published in the interim report for the 
period 1 June – 31 August 2020 and is comparable to 
the Company’s historical financial information. The 
current earnings information has not been reviewed 
by the Company’s auditor.

OVERVIEW OF THE MOST IMPORTANT  
ASSUMPTIONS THAT FORM THE BASIS  
FOR THE CURRENT EARNINGS CAPACITY

The table presents Fortinova’s current earnings capa-
city regarding the profit from property management 
on a twelve-month basis on the existing portfolio. It 

is important to note that the current earnings capa-
city should not be equated with a profit forecast for 
the next 12 months. The earning capacity is therefo-
re only to consider as a scenario as Fortinova assesses 
that cash flows excluding amortization should be able 
to be developed for the portfolio as it stands at the re-
porting date and not for future value-adding invest-
ments or other property development. The earning 
capacity does not, for example, include an assess-
ment of changes in rents, vacancies or interest rates. 
Fortinova’s earnings are also affected by changes in 
the value of investment properties. Profit is also affec-
ted by tax. None of the above has been considered in 
the current earnings capacity. Rental income is based 
on contracted income at the end of the period. Proper-
ty costs reflect the outcome of the last twelve months 
for properties owned throughout the period. Proper-
ties that have been acquired have been calculated up 
to the annual rate. Central administration costs refer 
to costs attributable to property management and are 
based on assessed costs of a non-recurring nature. Net 
financial costs have been calculated based on current 
interest-bearing net debt. Interest on cash and cash 
equivalents is not received and interest on the inte-
rest-bearing debt has been calculated based on the  
average interest rate at the end of the period.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The current earnings capacity has been prepared in ac-
cordance with accounting policies that are substantial-
ly in accordance with the accounting policies that the 
Group applies (IFRS) and that are stated in the Group’s 
audited annual report for the financial year 2019/20.

CURRENT EARNINGS CAPACITY

ASSESSED EARNINGS CAPACITY OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ON A 12-MONTH BASIS

MSEK 1 SEPTEMBER 2020 i

Rental value 164.5

Vacancies and discounts (1.6)

RENTAL INCOME 162.9

Property costs (61.8)

NET OPERATING PROFIT 101.1

Central administrative costs (11.8)

Other external costs (1.6)

Net financial costs (21.2)

PROFIT FROM PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 66.4

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ):s interim report for the period 1 June – 31 August 2020.

Rödhaken 4,5 and 6, Trollhättan63
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) SELECTED HISTORICAL  
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

T H E S E L E C T E D CO N S O L I DAT E D H I S T O R I C A L 
financial information set forth below is 
retrieved from and should be read in con-
junction with the Group’s audited financial 
reports for the financial years ended 31 
August 2018, 2019 and 2020.

The Group’s audited financial statements as of and for 
the financial years ended 31 August 2018 (which are 
incorporated into the Prospectus by reference), 2019 
and 2020 (which are included in the section “Histori-
cal financial information”) have been prepared in ac-
cordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the IASB as adopted by the 
EU, and have been audited by the Group’s independent 
auditor KPMG AB.

The Prospectus also contains certain key perfor-
mance measures, some of which are alternative key 
performance measures or financial measures and not 
defined in accordance with IFRS. These financial key 
performance measures have not been reviewed or 
audited by the Company’s auditor. The Company’s be-
lieves that these key performance measures act as 

useful complementary measures of profitability deve-
lopment and financial position. The Group’s key per-
formance measures that are not defined in accordance 
with IFRS are not necessarily comparable with similar 
measures presented by other companies and have cer-
tain limitations in terms of comparability. They should 
therefore not be considered separately from, or as a 
substitute for, the Company’s financial information 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. See section “Selec-
ted historical financial information – Definitions of key 
performance measures not defined in accordance with 
IFRS” for definitions and the use of key performance 
measures not defined in accordance with IFRS and sec-
tion “Selected historical financial information – Recon-
ciliation tables for alternative key performance measu-
res” for reconciliation of alternative key performance 
measures.

The financial information in this section should 
also be read in conjunction with the section “Operatio-
nal and financial overview” and the section “Capitali-
zation, indebtedness and other financial information”. 
Rounding differences can occur in all tables. Apart 
from that stated above, no information in the Prospec-
tus has been reviewed or audited by the Company’s 
auditor.
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64

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended 31 August

MSEK 2020i 2019i 2018ii

Rental income 135.4 125.3 103.2

Property costs (58.6) (54.3) (35.2)

Net operating profit 76.8 71.0 68.0

Central administrative expenses (13.0) (12.2) (14.9)

Net financial costs

Financial income 0.1 0.1 0.1

Financial expenses (19.9) (19.1) (18.0)

Net financial items (19.8) (19.1) (17.9)

Profit from property management 44.0 39.8 35.2

Value changes

Unrealised changes in value, investment properties 41.8 77.4 24.8

Realised changes in value, investment properties 5.9

Unrealised changes in value, derivatives 11.5 (18.0) 2.0

Value changes 59.3 59.4 26.7

Profit before tax 103.2 99.2 61.9

Tax expense (16.8) (22.8) (12.7)

Net profit 86.4 76.5 49.1

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0

Comprehensive income for the period 86.4 76.5 49.1

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 86.4 76.5 49.1

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020. See the section ”Historical financial information”. 

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

CONDENSED INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S INCOME STATEMENTS 
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended on 31 August

MSEK 2020i 2019i 2018ii

Assets

Investment Properties 2,261.2 1,724.6 1,535.2

Leasing agreements, right of use 4.6

Other non-current receivables 0.7 0.3 3.1

Total non-current assets 2,266.5 1,724.9 1,538.3

Accounts receivables 2.2 1.5 1.3

Other receivables 12.4 0.9 2.1

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0.2 1.6 1.0

Cash and cash equivalents 161.4 49.5 47.3

Total current assets 176.2 53.5 51.7

Total assets 2,442.7 1,778.4 1,590.0

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 31.0 20.4 17.0

Other contributed capital 856.9 453.3 367.8

Retained earnings including profit for the year 305.3 232.3 167.0

Total equity attributable to owners
of the parent company 1,193.3

 
706.0

 
551.8

Total shareholders’ equity 1,193.3 706.0 551.8

Liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 409.5 733.2 925.7

Other provisions - - 0.4

Interest rate derivatives 20.3 31.8 13.8

Deferred tax liability 94.4 75.8 57.9

Leasing agreements 4.6

Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities 0.5 0.5 0.5

Total non-current liabilities 529.3 841.3 998.3

Current interest-bearing liabilities 681.3 205.3 18.7

Accounts payable 18.8 8.9 4.9

Tax liabilities 1.4 2.3 3.3

Other liabilities 2.2 1.2 1.6

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 16.3 13.5 11.3

Total current liabilities 720.0 231.1 39.9

Total liabilities 1,249.3 1,072.4 1,038.2

Total equity and liabilities 2,442.7 1,778.4 1,590.0

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical financial information”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

CONDENSED INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S BALANCE SHEETS

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended on 31 August

MSEK 2020i 2019i 2018ii

Operating activities

Net operating profit 76.8 71,0 68,0

Central administrative expenses (13.0) (12,2) (14,9)

Other provisions - - 0,4

Net financial items (19.2) (18,3) (18,0)

Income taxes paid (2.8) 3,8 5,2

Cash flow from operating activities before  
changes in working capital 41.8 36,7 30,2

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Change in operating receivables 1.0 2,1 7,7

Change in operating liabilities (12.9) (5,3) (13,0)

Cash flow from operating activities 30.0 33,5 24,9

Investing activities

Acquisition of investment properties - (36,9) (60,2)

Divestment of investment properties 1.6

Investments in investment properties (6.5) (6,0) (5,1)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (369.3) (38,4) (160,9)

Divestment of subsidiaries 16.7 (0,4) -

Settlement of receivables from subsidiaries sold - 2,8 12,5

Cash flow from investing activities (357.5) (78,9) (213,7)

Financing activities

Equity issues 427.9 88,9 46,1

Dividends paid (13.4) (11,2) (8,5)

Proceeds from borrowings 52.4 27,8 152,5

Repayment of borrowings (27.5) (57,8) (13,5)

Cash flow from financing activities 439.4 47,7 176,5

Cash flow for the year 111.9 2,3 (12,3)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period 49.5

 
47,3

 
59,6

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 161.4 49,5 47,3

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 
August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical financial information”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 
August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

CONDENSED INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended 31 August

Halland Västra Götaland Central Total

MSEK 2020i 2019i 2018 2020i 2019i 2018 2020i 2019i 2018 2020i 2019i 2018

Rental income 78.1 71.6 - 57.3 53.0 - - 0.7 - 135.4 125.3 -

Property costs (29.5) (26.1) - (29.1) (28.2) - - - - (58.6) (54.3) -

Net operating profit 48.6 45.5 - 28.2 24.8 - - 0.7 - 76.8 71.0 -

Central administrative 
expenses - - - - - - (13.0) (12.2) - (13.0) (12.2) -

Net financial costs - - - - - - (19.8) (19.0) - (19.8) (19.0) -

Profit from property  
management 48.6 45.5 - 28.2 24.8 - (32.8) (30.5) - 44.0 39.8 -

Changes in value

Investment properties 34.3 48.6 - 13.4 28.8 - - - - 47.7 77.4 -

Derivatives - - - - - - 11.5 (18.0) - 11.5 (18.0) -

Changes in value 34.3 48.6 - 13.4 28.8 - 11.5 (18.0) - 59.2 59.4 -

Tax - - - - - - (16.8) (22.7) - (16.8) (22.7) -

Profit for the year 82.9 94.1 - 41.6 53.6 - (38.1) (71.2) - 86.4 76.5 -

Investment
property value

1,084.5 1,052.9 - 1,176.7 671.7 - - - - 2,261.2 1,724.6 -

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical financial information”. Corresponding information for 2018 is missing.

SELECTED BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

Bergsjön 15:4, 15:5 and 15:7, Gothenburg 68

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended on 31 August
Key performance measures 2020 2019 2018

Property-related key performance measures

Number of investment properties at 
the end of the period i 123 115 84 

Number of apartments at the end of the period i 1,759 1,385 1,260 

Lettable area at the end of the period, square meters i 146,887 122,165 114,416 

Occupancy rate, area i 99.3% 98.9% 98.8%

Economic occupancy rate v 99.1% 99.0% 98.7% 

Rental value, MSEK i 164.5 130.8 119.1

Fair value of investment properties, SEK per  
square meter of lettable area v 15,394 14,117 13,418 

Financial key performance measures

Return on equity ii 9.1% 12.2% 9.6% 

Average interest rate ii 2.0% 2.0% 2.3%

Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV), MSEK iv 1,308.0 813.6 623.5 

Net loan-to-value ratio ii 41.1% 51.5% 58.4% 

Loan-to-value ratio ii 48.2% 54.4% 61.5% 

Fixed interest rate period, years iii 2.5 3.5 2.3 

Interest coverage ratio ii 321.5% 308.9% 296.2% 

Net operating margin ii 56.7% 56.7% 65.9% 

Profit margin from property management ii 32.5% 31.8% 34.1%

Share-related key performance measures,  
SEK per share vi

Equity per share 36.01 34.53vii  32.41vii 

Profit from property management per share 1.84 2.08vii  2.19vii 

Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) per share 39.48 39.80vii  36.62vii 

Earnings per share for the period 3.60 3.99vii  3.07vii 

i) Key performance measures retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system. 
ii) Key performance measures calculated from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the fi-

nancial years ended 31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for 
that year and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 and 2020 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

iii) Key performance measures retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system.
iv) Key performance measures retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the finan-

cial years ended 31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is retrieved from the annual report for 
that year and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 and 2020 is retrieved from the section “Historical financial information”.

v) Subcomponents retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system and Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial 
statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is re-
trieved from the annual report for that year and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 and 2020 is retrieved from the section 
”Historical financial information”.

vi) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ):s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020 in addition to the key performance measures for the financial year ending 31 August 2018. Information relating to the 
financial years ended 2019 and 2020 can be found in ”Historical financial information”.

vii) Retroactive adjustment of the number of shares has been made to capture the change in number of shares that took place on 22 June 2020 
(a share split of 50:1). 

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Some of the selected key performance measures presented below are alternative key performance measures 
that are not defined in accordance with IFRS, which are not necessarily comparable with similarly-named 
key performance measures from other companies’ financial reports. Management uses the key performance 
measures (together with the most comparable key performance measures defined in accordance with IFRS 
that are) to evaluate the Group’s comprehensive income, financial performance and value creation. See section 
“Selected historical financial information - Definitions of key performance measures not defined in accordance 
with IFRS” for definitions and motivation for the use of key performance measures not defined in accordance 
with IFRS and the section “Selected historical financial information - Reconciliation tables for alternative key 
performance measures” for the derivation of alternative key performance measures.
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Measure Definition Reason for use

Number of investment
properties

Properties held by ownership. The key performance measure 
shows the development of the 
property portfolio.

Number of apartments Apartments held by ownership. The key performance measure 
shows the development of the  
property portfolio.

Occupancy rate, area Contracted area at the end of the 
period in relation to total lettable 
area at the end of the period.

The key performance measure 
shows how large a proportion of 
the stock is rented.

Economic occupancy rate Contracted rent in relation to the 
rental value, at the end of the pe-
riod. Used to highlight Fortinova's 
efficiency in the use of properties.

The key performance measure 
illustrates the economic utilization 
rate for the Group’s properties 
and an efficiency measure 
for occupancy.

Rental value Rental income for the period plus 
estimated market rent for vacant 
area on an annual basis.

Rental value is used to show the 
Group's revenue potential.

Lettable area Total area that can be rented to 
tenants.

The key performance measure 
shows the total area in Fortino-
va's property portfolio that can be 
rented to tenants.

Fair value of investment proper-
ties, SEK per square meter of 
lettable area

Reported investment proper-
ty value according to the balan-
ce sheet at the end of the period, 
distributed by lettable area.

The key performance measure 
shows the value development of 
the property portfolio.

DEFINITIONS OF KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES NOT DEFINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS

This document contains several alternative key performance measures or financial measures not defined in 
accordance with IFRS. Fortinova applies the guidelines for alternative key performance measures issued by the 
European Securities and Market Authority (ESMA). Alternative key performance measures refer to financial 
measures of historical or future profit development, financial position, financial performance or cash flows 
that are not defined or specified in the applicable rules for financial reporting, in Fortinova’s case IFRS. The 
foundation for the alternative key performance measures provided is that they are used by company mana-
gement to assess financial development and thus are deemed to provide shareholders and other stakeholders 
with valuable information. The table below describes the definition of Fortinova’s key performance measures.

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

PROPERTY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Measure Definition Reason for use

Return on equity Profit for rolling twelve-month 
period in relation to the average 
equity balance for the period.

The key performance measure 
highlights the Group’s ability to 
generate a return on sharehol-
ders’ capital.

Average interest rate Average contracted interest rate 
for all loans in the debt portfolio, 
including interest rate derivatives.

The key performance measure 
shows the Group’s interest rate risk 
related to interest-bearing liabilities.

Long-term net asset value  
(EPRA NAV)

Reported equity balance accor-
ding to the balance sheet with re-
versal of interest rate derivatives 
and deferred tax in full.

The key performance measure 
shows the fair value of net assets 
from a long-term perspective. As-
sets and liabilities in the balance she-
et that are not expected to fall due, 
such as the fair value of derivatives 
and deferred taxes, are excluded. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Measure Definition Reason for use

Equity per share Equity attributable to sharehol-
ders in relation to the number of 
outstanding shares at the end of 
the period.

The key performance measu-
re shows Fortinova's equity per 
share.

Profit from property management 
per share

Profit from property management 
in relation to the weighted avera-
ge number of outstanding ordina-
ry shares during the period.i

The key performance measure shows 
the development of profit from pro-
perty management with regard to 
the number of outstanding shares.

Long-term net asset value  
(EPRA NAV) per share

Net asset value (EPRA NAV) in re-
lation to the number of shares at 
the end of the period.

The key performance measure 
shows the fair value of net assets in 
a long-term perspective. Assets and 
liabilities in the balance sheet that 
are not expected to fall due, such as 
the fair value of derivatives and de-
ferred taxes, are excluded. The key 
performance measure is an esta-
blished measure of the Group's net 
asset value that enables analyses 
and comparisons with EPRA NAV.

Earnings per share for the period Profit for the period in relation 
to the weighted average number 
of outstanding ordinary shares 
during the period.i

The key performance measure 
shows the development of profit 
for the period with regard to out-
standing shares.

i) Average outstanding ordinary shares during the period defined as the average of opening and closing quarterly balances during the period.

SHARE-RELATED PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Net loan-to-value ratio Interest-bearing liabilities after 
deductions for cash and cash equi-
valents, as a percentage of the in-
vestment properties’ fair value at 
the end of the period.

The key performance measure 
highlights the Group’s financial risk.

Loan-to-value ratio Interest-bearing as a percentage 
of the investment properties' fair 
value at the end of the period.

The key performance measure 
highlights the Group's financial risk.

Fixed interest rate period As of the balance sheet date, the 
weighted remaining fixed interest 
rate period for interest-bearing 
liabilities and derivatives. 

The key performance measure 
shows the interest rate risk for 
Fortinova’s interest-bearing  
liabilities.

Interest coverage ratio Profit from property management 
after reversal of financial expenses 
in relation to financial expenses. 

The key performance measure  
illustrates financial risk.

Net operating margin Net operating profit as a percen-
tage of rental income.

The key performance measure 
shows the proportion of income 
that Fortinova can retain and is an 
efficiency measure that is compa-
rable over time and between real 
estate companies.

Profit margin from property 
management

Profit from property management 
as a percentage of rental income.

The key performance measure 
shows the proportion of income 
that Fortinova can retain after 
central administrative expenses 
and net financial costs and is an 
efficiency measure that is compa-
rable over time and between real 
estate companies.
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended 31 August

Property performance measures 2020 2019 2018

Property portfolio i

Number of investment properties at 
the end of the period 123 115 84 

Number of apartments at the end of the period 1,759 1,385 1,260 

Lettable area at the end of the period,  
square meters 146,887 122,165 114,416 

Occupancy rate, area i    

A Rented area at the end of the period,
    square meters 145,800 120,859 113,051

B Vacant area at the end of the period,  
   square meters

1,087 1,306 1,365

A/(A+B) Occupancy rate, area 99.3% 98.9% 98.8%

Rental value, MSEK i   

A Contract value on an annual basis at the
    end of the period, MSEK 163.1 129.5 117.5

B Vacancy value on an annual basis at the
    end of the period, MSEK 1.4 1.3 1.6

A+B Rental value, MSEK 164.5 130.8 119.1

Economic occupancy rate   

A Contract value on an annual basis at 
    the end of the period, MSEK 163.1 129.5 117.5 

B Rental value for the period, MSEK i 164.5 130.8 119.1

A/(A+B) Economic occupancy rate 99.1% 99.0% 98.7%

Fair value of investment properties,  
SEK per square meter of lettable area

2020 i 2019 i 2018 ii

A Investment property value at the end of 
    the period, MSEKii 2,261.2 1,724.6 1,535.2 

B Lettable area at the end of the period,  
    square meters

 
146,887

 
122,165 

 
114,416 

A / B Fair value of property, SEK per square
meter of lettable area

 
15,394

 
14,117 

 
13,418 

i) Retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system. 
ii) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years 

ended 31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 and 2020 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

RECONCILIATION TABLES FOR ALTERNATIVE KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

In June 2020, a share split was carried out where each share was divided into 50 shares (split 50:1). The total 
number of shares after the share split amounted to 23,618,000 shares. The number of shares at the end of the 
financial year on 31 August 2020 amounted to 33,135,140 shares. 

PROPERTY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended 31 August

Financial performance measures 2020 2019 2018

Return on equity i

A Profit for the period, MSEK 86.4 76.5 49.1 

B Equity at the beginning of the period, MSEK 706.0 551.8 468.9 

C Equity at the end of the period, MSEK 1,193.3 706.0 551.8 

A/((B+C)/2) Return on equity 9.1% 12.2% 9.6% 

Interest-bearing liabilities at the end of  
the period, MSEK i

A Non-current interest-bearing liabilities, MSEK 409.5 733.2 925.7

B Current interest-bearing liabilities, MSEK 681.3 205.3 18.7

A+B interest-bearing liabilities, MSEK 1,090.8 938.5 944.5

Average interest rate  i 

A Financial expenses, MSEK 19.1 19.1 18.0

B Interest-bearing liabilities at the beginning 
   of the period, MSEK 938.5 

 
944.5 

 
603.4 

C Interest-bearing liabilities at the end of  
   the period, MSEK 1,090.8 938.5 

 
944.5 

A/((B+C)/2) Average interest rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.3%

Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV), MSEK i 

A Equity at the end of the period, MSEK 1,193.3 706.0 551.8 

B Derivative instruments at the end of the  
   period, MSEK 20.3

 
31.8 

 
13.8 

C Deferred tax liability at the end of the period,     
   MSEK 94.4

 
75.8 

 
57.9 

A+B+C Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV), MSEK 1,308.8 813.6 623.5 

Net loan-to-value ratio i

A Interest-bearing liabilities at the end of the  
   period, MSEK 1,090.8 938.5 944.5 

B Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
    period, MSEK 161.4 49.5 47.3 

C Investment value at the end of the period, MSEK 2,261.2 1.724,6 1.535,2 

(A-B)/C Net loan-to-value ratio 41.1% 51.5% 58.4% 

Loan-to-value ratio i

A Interest-bearing liabilities at the end 
   of the period, MSEK

1,090.8 938.5 944.5 

B Investment property value at the end 
   of the period, MSEK

2,261.2 1.724,6 1.535,2 

A / B Loan-to-value ratio 48.2% 54.4% 61.5%

Fixed interest rate period, years ii 2.5 3.5 2.3 

Interest coverage ratio i

A Profit from property management for
   the period, MSEK 44.0 39.8 35.2 

B Net financial cost for the period, MSEK (19.9) (19.1) (17.8)

(A - B) / (-B) Interest coverage ratio 321.5% 308.2% 295.6% 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial year ended 31 August

Share-related performance measures 2020 i 2019 i 2018 ii

Equity per share, SEK per share

A Equity at the end of the period, MSEK 1,193.3 706.0 551.8 

B Number of outstanding shares at the end of  
    the period iii 33,135,140

 
20,445,600

 
17,026,100

A/B Equity per share, SEK per share 36.01 34.53 32.41

Profit from property management per share,  
SEK per share

A Profit from property management for  
    the period, MSEK 44.0 39.8 35.2 

B Average number of shares during the period iii 23,985,858 19,171,900 16,024,770

A/B Profit from property management 
per share, SEK per share 1.84 2.08 2.19

Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) 
per share, SEK per share

A Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV)  
   at the end of the period, MSEK 1,308.0 813.6 623.5 

B Number of outstanding shares at the end  
   of the periodiii 33,135,140 20,445,600 17,026,100 

A/B Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) 
per share, SEK per share 39.48 39.80 36.62 

Earnings per share, SEK per share

A Profit for the period, MSEK 86.4 76.5 49.1 

B Average number of shares during the periodiii 23,985,858 19,171,900 16,024,770

A/B Earnings per share for the period,  
SEK per share 3.60 3.99 3.07

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020. See section “Historical financial information”.

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.

iii) Historical number of shares adjusted for a 50:1 share split that was approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 22 June 2020.

SHARE-RELATED PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Net operating margin i

A Net operating margin for the period, MSEK 76.8 71.0 68.0 

B Rental income for the period, MSEK 135.4 125.3 103.2 

A/B Net operating margin, per cent 56.7% 56.7% 65.9% 

Profit margin from property management i

A Profit from property management for 
   the period, MSEK 44.0 39.8 35.2

B Rental income for the period, MSEK 135.4 125.3 103.2 

A / B Profit margin from property management, 
per cent 32.5% 31.8% 34.1% 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for 
that year and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 and 2020 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

ii) Information retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system.

OPERATIONAL AND  
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

U N L E S S O T H E R W I S E S TAT E D , the following selected consolidated historical financial infor-
mation is derived from the Group’s audited financial reports for the financial years ended 
31 August 2018, 2019 and 2020. The Group’s audited financial statements as of and for the 
financial years ended 31 August 2018 (which are incorporated into the Prospectus by referen-
ce), 2019 and 2020 (which are included in the section “Historical financial information”) have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the IASB as adopted by the EU, and have been audited by the Group’s independent auditor 
KPMG AB. This information presented below should be read in conjunction with the sections 
“Selected historical financial information”, “Capitalization, indebtedness and other financial 
information” and the Group’s consolidated financial statements including notes. The infor-
mation below contains forward-looking statements that are subject to various risks and 
uncertainties. The Company’s actual results may deviate significantly from what is predicted 
in the forward-looking statements due to many different factors, including but not limited 
to, what is described in the section “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Prospectus.

OVERVIEW
 
Fortinova is a growing real estate company founded in 
2010, with the business model based on acquiring, de-
veloping and managing primarily residential properties 
which, according to Fortinova’s assessment, have do-
cumented strong cash flows and an objective to gene-
rate a positive return over time, independent of mar-
ket development. Fortinova has a geographical focus 
on growth municipalities in Western Sweden, which 
the Company deems to have a good growth profile and 
are attractive areas to work and live in.

Residential properties accounted for 86 per cent 
of Fortinova’s property value as of 31 August 2020. 
The portfolio also consists of community service pro-
perties that include tax-financed tenants such as 
schools and preschools, as well as commercial proper-
ties that include properties with commercial activities 
– such as grocery stores, retail, restaurants, offices 
and similar businesses.

Fortinova works continuously to create returns 
for its shareholders through the acquisition of proper-
ties that are considered to have an attractive financial 
profile, conducting efficient management of said pro-
perties, upgrading apartments through the “Pluslägen-
heter” concept, as well as through project development 
(see section ”Business overview – Strategy” for further 
information). Streamlining of management takes place 
through measures that depend on both revenues and 
costs, such as: 

 ■ Identification of lost rental income as a result of, for 
example, incorrect indexation and/or invoicing be-
fore Fortinova’s acquisition of the properties.

 ■ Increased cost efficiency of property management 
in connection with the management being transfer-
red to be operated in-house after access to acqui-
red properties.

 ■ Continuous work on digitalization, such as integra-
tion of various management and reporting systems.

IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT AFFECT FORTINOVA’S 
EARNINGS AND FINANCIAL POSITION
 
Factors affecting Fortinova’s earnings capacity, financial 
position and cash flow include:

 ■ Macroeconomic factors, regional economic deve-
lopments and changes in interest rates

 ■ Rental levels and occupancy rates 
 ■ Property costs
 ■ Central administration 
 ■ Value-creating transactions and other value changes 
of properties

 ■ Value-creating investments
 ■ Ability to attract, retain and develop employees
 ■ Financing, the development of net financial items 
and changes in the value of interest rate derivatives

 ■ Government decisions and taxes 
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

MACROECONOMIC FACTORS, REGIONAL ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENTS AND CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES

The real estate industry is significantly affected by ma-
croeconomic factors such as economic growth, popula-
tion growth, inflation and employment at both national 
and regional levels, which together give an indication 
of the current economic situation. The economic situa-
tion and economic growth affect the employment rate 
and household income development, which is an es-
sential basis for supply and demand in rental markets 
and can therefore affect vacancy rates and rent levels. 
Inflation expectations also affect the development of 
both Fortinova’s property costs and interest rates, 
and thus have an impact on net financial cost, which 
is a significant cost item for the Group. Macroecono-
mic developments and changes in interest rates can 
affect the availability and conditions of loan financing. 
The interest expense for interest-bearing liabilities is 
a significant cost item for Fortinova. In the long-term, 
changes in interest rates will have a significant impact 
on Fortinova’s earnings and cash flow.    

The value of Fortinova’s investment properties 
is affected by the required rate of return on proper-
ty in general, which in turn is affected by, among other 
factors, national and regional economic development, 
changes in interest rates and inflation, market partici-
pants’ interest in real estate investments, capital supp-
ly and alternative returns. Historically, changes in the 
value of residential properties have been less volatile 
than for other types of properties (see section “Market 
overview – Real estate as an investment”).

RENTAL LEVELS AND OCCUPANCY RATES
Occupancy rates and rental levels are generally affec-
ted by general economic developments, changes in in-
frastructure and local transport, population growth, 
employment and population structure. If the occupan-
cy rate or rental levels fall or increase, Fortinova’s results 
are negatively and positively affected, respectively. 

In addition to general factors, Fortinova’s rental 
development is affected by acquisitions and divest-
ment of properties, upgrades implemented through 
the “Pluslägenheter” concept, completed projects and 
annual lease negotiations.

PROPERTY COSTS
Operating expenses mainly consist of utility costs, 
such as expenses on electricity, waste management, 
water and heating. Variations in the prices of these 
services, for example as a result of abnormal weather 
and consumption, affect Fortinova’s results. Expendi-
ture on maintenance includes measures that are pri-
marily implemented in order to maintain the building’s 
original standard in the long-term and are expensed as 
maintenance to the extent to which they constitute re-
pairs and replacements of minor parts. Other additio-
nal expenses of a maintenance nature are capitalized 
in connection with the expense arising. 

From a historical perspective, Fortinova has suc-
ceeded in reducing property costs for the properties 
the Group manages in many cases post-acquisition, as 
the property management that Fortinova performs is 
generally more cost-effective according to the Compa-
ny. Fortinova’s management expects to be able to con-
tinue to reduce property costs for the properties the 
Company acquires over time.

CENTRAL ADMINISTRATION  
Central administration includes Group-level expenses 
that are not directly attributable to property manage-
ment, such as expenses for Group management, cen-
tral support functions, business development and fi-
nance. Fortinova’s management team believes that the 
Group will be able to continue to expand its operations 
without increasing expenses for central administration 
at a corresponding rate.

VALUE-CREATING TRANSACTIONS AND OTHER 
VALUE CHANGES OF PROPERTIES

Fortinova’s property portfolio is concentrated in 
growth municipalities in Western Sweden and the 
value of the properties is affected by several factors 
that are both beyond and within Fortinova’s control. 

Most of these factors are beyond the Group’s con-
trol, such as national and regional economic develop-
ments, changes in interest rates and inflation, market 
participants’ interest in real estate investments, ca-
pital supply and alternative returns from other as-
set classes - all of which affect the required return on 
real estate investments and thus Fortinova’s proper-
ty portfolio. In addition to this, activity in the Swedish 
real estate market affects the supply of potential ac-
quisitions and the current price level, which has an im-
pact on the Group’s opportunities for value creation. 

Factors that are within Fortinova’s control and 
that have an impact on value are, for example, additio-
nal rental income from acquisitions (such as uncharged 
parking spaces, contractual rent increases that have 
not been enforced and similar) efficient management 

that results in increased net operating profit and/
or reduction of risk in current management (primari-
ly through the “Pluslägenheter” concept), extensions 
and conversions, whereby the increase in investment 
property value after refinement exceeds the amount 
of the investment and identifying and carrying out 
value-creating property acquisitions and divestment. 
Fortinova focuses primarily on property acquisitions 
that mimic the existing portfolio, and where manage-
ment’s ability to identify and carry out property ac-
quisitions is essential to the Group’s future earnings 
development.

VALUE-CREATING INVESTMENTS
An important part of Fortinova’s operations is value 
creation in the existing property portfolio in the form 
of renovations, conversions and extensions, as well as 
upgrades through the “Pluslägenheter” concept. These 
investments aim to result in increased revenues and 
have an impact on the Group’s financial performan-
ce and, in the long run, the Group’s ability to meet the 
set financial targets. In some cases, these investments 
entail a loss of income, for example when apartments 
lack a tenant while a renovation is in progress. Should 
such measures be delayed, or if Fortinova fails to agree 
on a rent increase as a result of these investments, the 
Group’s financial results will be negatively affected. 

ABILITY TO ATTRACT, RETAIN AND DEVELOP 
EMPLOYEES

Fortinova believes that talented employees have been 
and will continue to be crucial for the Group’s growth 
and success. The ability to attract, develop and re-
tain expertise is thus expected to continually be very 
important for the Group to present a strong financi-
al performance, which is dependent on key people in 
the management as well as in the organization. The 
future ability to attract new employees will depend on 

the continuation of an effective recruitment process, 
a recruitment pool with relevant qualifications, and 
Fortinova’s ability to offer attractive terms of employ-
ment and maintain a view of the Group as an attracti-
ve workplace.

FINANCING, THE DEVELOPMENT OF NET  
FINANCIAL ITEMS AND CHANGES IN THE  
VALUE OF INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Fortinova believes that property is a long-term asset 
that requires long-term financing with a well-balan-
ced distribution between equity and interest-bearing 
liabilities. Interest expenses for interest-bearing liabili-
ties are a significant cost for the Group and is affected 
by changes in market interest rates. The size and pace 
of these changes depend primarily on the chosen ca-
pital- and fixed interest- period, as well as the amount 
of interest-bearing debt. The Group uses interest rate 
derivatives in the form of nominal interest rate swaps 
as part of the management of Fortinova’s interest rate 
risk. Interest rate derivatives are reported on an ong-
oing basis at fair value in the balance sheet with chang-
es in value in the income statement. As market interest 
rates change, a theoretical surplus or deficit value ari-
ses that does not affect cash flow, provided that the 
derivative is not redeemed prematurely. 

GOVERNMENT DECISIONS AND TAXES 
Fortinova’s operations are to a large extent depen-
dent on government decisions regarding, for example, 
property tax, building regulations and rent controls 
for housing, as well as local plans and building permits. 
Changes in property taxes or municipal fees also have 
an impact on Fortinova’s development. Rent controls 
for housing, the so-called utility value system, limits 
the Group’s earning capacity. In simplified terms, the 
system means that landlords are limited by not being 
able to charge higher rents than those that have been 
determined in collective bargaining for homes with a 
corresponding location and standard. Changes to tax 
rules also affect Fortinova. On 1 January 2019, new 
corporate tax rules came into force, which broadly 
mean that deductions are allowed with a negative net 
financial item of a maximum of 30 per cent of taxable 
EBITDA. In connection with the rules coming into force, 
corporation tax was reduced from 22.0 to 21.4 per cent 
and from 2021 the tax rate will be further reduced to 
20.6 per cent. Since Fortinova’s 2018/19 financial year 
began before the change took effect, the previous 
tax rate has been taken into account in the calcula-
tion of current income tax, however, deferred tax has 
been calculated based on the future tax rate. As of the 
2019/20 financial year, the Group will be affected by 
the lower tax rate and this will affect the Group’s de-
ferred tax liabilities and assets. Fortinova will be cove-
red by the new interest deduction restrictions, which 
may have a negative impact on Fortinova’s operations, 
depending on, among other things, the future develop-
ment of capital structure and net operating profit.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
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RESTRUCTURING
 
On 1 January 2020, a restructuring of the Group was 
carried out in order to simplify the company structu-
re prior to a listing. The Group’s CEO and Deputy CEO, 
previously owned all the shares in Fortinova AB. 
Fortinova AB in turn owned shares corresponding to 
approximately 14.7 per cent of the capital and 57.5 per 
cent of the votes in Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ). 
A management agreement was previously in place 
between Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) and Fortino-
va AB, according to which Fortinova AB was entitled 
to (i) a transaction fee of 2 per cent of the assessed 
property value of the properties that Fortinova Fast-
igheter AB (publ), directly or indirectly, acquired; (ii) an 
annual fee for central administration of 0.4 per cent 
based on the historical acquisition value of the existing 
property portfolio; and (iii) ongoing compensation for 
the net cost related to, for example, company adminis-
tration, property management, technical management 
and property management. Fortinova Fastigheter AB 
(publ) thus had no employees before the restructuring. 
For further information on the management agre-
ement, see section “Legal considerations and supple-
mentary information – Management”.

90 Information retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system.
91 Information retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system.
92 Information retrieved from the Group’s internal accounting system.

As result of the restructuring, Fortinova AB was 
acquired by Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) and the 
total number of shares in the Group increased by 
21,433 shares, while equity decreased by MSEK 3.0.

The restructuring had the following impact on the 
Group’s profit before tax: 

 ■ The transaction fee that was previously reported in 
the acquisition value of the investment properties 
and which has had a negative impact on unreali-
zed changes in the value of investment properties 
in the income statement has been abolished. The 
transaction fee amounted to MSEK 8.5 in 2017/18, 
MSEK 2.2 in 2018/19 and MSEK 0.1 in 2019/2090.  

 ■ The fee for central administration that was pre-
viously reported as an expense in administrative 
expenses has been abolished. The cost for central 
administration amounted to MSEK 5.7 in 2017/18, 
MSEK 7.0 in 2018/19 and MSEK 2.5 in 2019/2091.  

 ■ Personnel expenses are now reported by the 
Group. During the period January to August 2020, 
Personnel expenses of 2.1 MSEK were added as a 
result of the reorganization92. 

The net effect is positive for the Group’s profit.
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Property-related key performance measures

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020 2019 

Property value, MSEK i 2,261.2 1,724.6 536.6 31% 

Rental value, MSEK ii 164.5 130.8 33.8 26% 

Number of properties at the end of the period ii 123 115 8 7% 

Number of apartments at the end of the period ii 1,759 1,385 374 27% 

Lettable area at the end of the period, 
square meters ii 146,887 122,165 24,722.0  20% 

Fair value of investment properties, SEK per  
square meter of lettable area ii 15,394 14,117 1,277.5 9% 

Income statement, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020 i 2019 i

Rental income 135.4 125.3 10.1 8% 

Property costs (58.6) (54.3) (4.3) 8% 

Net operating profit 76.8 71.0 5.8 8% 

Central administrative expenses (13.0) (12.2) (0.9) 7% 

Net financial costs (19.8) (19.1) (0.7) 4% 

Profit from property management 44.0 39.8 4.2 10% 

Value changes 

Investment properties, unrealized 41.8 77.4 (35.6) (46%)

Investment properties, realized 5.9 - 5.9 N/A  

Derivatives, unrealized 11.5 (18.0) 29.5 (164%)

Value changes 59.3 59.4 (0.1) (0%)

Tax expense  (16.8) (22.8) 5.9 (26%)

Net profit for the period 86.4 76.5 10.0 13% 

Balance sheet, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020 i 2019 i

Equity 1,193.3 706.0 487.2 69% 

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,090.8 938.5 152.3 16% 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2020, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial year ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

ii) Retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system. 

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

COMPARISON BETWEEN THE 2019/20 AND 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEARS
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Property costs, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020i 2019 i

Operating expenses (21.9) (21.5) (0.4) 2% 

Maintenance costs (20.6) (17.7) (2.9) 16% 

Property tax (3.4) (3.0) (0.4) 15% 

Property management (6.2) (5.8) (0.3) 6% 

Other property costs (1.6) (2.2) 0.6 (27%)

Rental and property management (4.9) (4.0) (0.9) 21% 

Property costs (58.6) (54.3) (4.3) 8% 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2020, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

The total value of the investment property portfo-
lio increased by MSEK 536.6, corresponding to 31 per 
cent, from MSEK 1,724.6 during the financial year en-
ded 31 August 2019 to MSEK 2,261.2 during the finan-
cial year ended 31 August 2020. The increase in value 
was mainly attributable to acquisitions of 10 proper-
ties with a value of MSEK 509.3 and changes in value 
of MSEK 41.8. Two properties, with a value of MSEK 
28.0, were divested during the financial year.

The number of apartments increased by 374, cor-
responding to 27 per cent, from 1,385 during the fi-
nancial year ended 31 August 2019 to 1,759 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2020. The lettable area 

increased by 24,722 square meters, corresponding to 
20 per cent, from 122,165 square meters to 146,887 
square meters during the same period. The economic 
occupancy rate remained unchanged at 99 per cent.

RENTAL INCOME
Rental income increased by MSEK 10.1, corresponding 
to 8 per cent, from MSEK 125.3 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 135.4 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2020. The change was 
primarily driven by property acquisitions and annual 
rent negotiations in the existing portfolio. 

PROPERTY COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  

Property costs increased by MSEK 4.3, corresponding 
to 8 per cent, from MSEK 54.3 during the financial year 
ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 58.6 during the financi-
al year ended 31 August 2020. The change was prima-
rily driven by property acquisitions, as well as a higher 
proportion of residential properties which are charac-
terized by a higher cost base and maintenance needs 
than community properties and commercial proper-
ties, which is reflected primarily in operating expen-
ses. The increase in maintenance costs is attributable 
to acquisitions of properties with external property 
management that are usually less cost-effective than 
those that Fortinova operates internally, which also 
applies to the cost of property management (cost item 
attributable to shared areas such as laundry areas and 
shared outdoor areas). The Group’s ambition is to ter-
minate property management contracts with external 

parties over time and operate the properties internal-
ly, which the Company’s management believes should 
result in higher cost efficiency.

Rental and property management costs consist 
of, among other things, administrative personnel costs, 
IT costs and similar items previously reported as ad-
ministration costs. The development in rental and pro-
perty management costs are primarily driven by pro-
perty acquisitions.

Net operating profit increased by MSEK 5.8, cor-
responding to 8 per cent, from MSEK 71.0 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 76.8 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2020, driven 
by the above-mentioned factors.

Central administrative expenses increased by 
MSEK 0.9, corresponding to 7 per cent, from MSEK 
12.2 during the financial year ended 31 August 2019 to 
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Tax, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020i 2019 i

Current tax (4.0) (4.9) 0.9 (18%) 

Deferred tax related to: 

  Temporary differences in investment properties (10.4) (21.6) 11.2 (52%) 

  Untaxed reserves - - (0.0) N/A

  Temporary differences in derivative instruments (2.4) 3.7 (6.1) (165%) 

Tax (16.8) (22.8) (6.0) (26%) 

Applicable tax rate 21.4% 22.0%  - - 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2020, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

MSEK 13.0 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2020. The increase was primarily driven by property 
acquisitions.

NET FINANCIAL COSTS, MANAGEMENT PROFIT AND 
VALUE CHANGES

Net financial costs increased by MSEK 0.7, correspon-
ding to 4 per cent, from MSEK 19.1 during the financi-
al year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 19.8 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2020. The change was 
primarily attributable to increased interest expenses 
related to bank loans.

Profit from property management increased by 
MSEK 4.2, corresponding to 10 per cent, from MSEK 
39.8 during the financial year ended 31 August 2019 to 
MSEK 44.0 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2020, driven by the above-mentioned factors.

Value changes decreased by MSEK 0.1, correspon-
ding to zero per cent, from MSEK 59.4 during the finan-
cial year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 59.3 during 
the financial year ended 31 August 2020. The decrease 

was attributable to unrealized value changes in invest-
ment properties which decreased by MSEK 35.6, corre-
sponding to 46 per cent, from MSEK 77.4 to MSEK 41.8 
during the financial year and was partially offset by 
realized value changes in investment properties that 
increased by MSEK 5.9 and unrealized value changes in 
interest rate derivatives during the financial year that 
increased by MSEK 29.5 from a negative value change 
of MSEK 18.0 to a positive value change of MSEK 11.5 
during the financial year.

The positive unrealized value changes in invest-
ment properties is attributable to a larger property 
portfolio driven by acquisitions, as well as revaluations 
of the existing portfolio driven by an improved net 
operating profit for the existing portfolio and a positi-
ve market climate.

The value changes of the interest rate derivatives 
do not affect cash flow and will be resolved during the 
term of the derivatives, provided that these are not 
sold before maturity.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

TAX

Tax expenses decreased by MSEK 6.0, corresponding 
to 26 per cent, from MSEK 22.8 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 16.8 during the fi-
nancial year ended 31 August 2020. The decrease was 
mainly attributable to temporary differences in invest-
ment properties as a result of the changes in value and 
property acquisitions made during the financial year. 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

Profit for the period increased by MSEK 10.0, corre-
sponding to 13 per cent, from MSEK 76.5 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 86.4 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2020, driven 
by the above-mentioned factors.
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MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years 

% Change 
between the 
2019/20 and 

2018/19  
financial years2020 i 2019 i

Cash flow from operating activities 30.0 33.5 (3.5) (10%)

Cash flow from investment activities (357.5) (78.9) (278.6) 353%

Cash flow from financing activities 439.4 47.7 391.7 821%

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash  
and cash equivalents 111.8 2.3 109.5 4,812% 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the period 49.5 47.3 2.3 5%

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 161.4 49.5 111.9 226%

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2020, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

CASH FLOW

Cash and cash equivalents increased by MSEK 111.9, 
corresponding to 226 per cent, from MSEK 49.5 during 
the financial year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 161.4 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2020.

Cash flow from operating activities decreased by 
MSEK 3.5, corresponding to 10 per cent, from MSEK 
33.5 during the financial year ended 31 August 2019 to 
MSEK 30.0 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2020. The change was primarily driven by changes in 
operating liabilities (decrease by MSEK 7.6, from MSEK 
(5.3) during the financial year ended 31 August 2019 to 
MSEK (12.9) during the financial year ended 31 August 
2020).

Cash flow used in investment activities amounted 
to MSEK 357.5, corresponding to an increase of 353 per 
cent, from MSEK 78.9 during the financial year ended 

31 August 2019 to MSEK 357.5 during the financial year 
ended 31 August 2020. The increase was mainly driven 
by increased acquisitions of subsidiaries that increased 
by MSEK 330.9, from MSEK 38.4 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2019 to MSEK 369.3 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2020.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
MSEK 439.4, corresponding to an increase of 821 per 
cent, from MSEK 47.7 during the financial year ended 
31 August 2019. The increase of MSEK 391.7 was main-
ly driven by capital raisings of MSEK 427.9 and an in-
crease of raised bank loans of MSEK 24.6, during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2020. Dividends paid 
amounted to MSEK 13.4 during the financial year en-
ded 31 August 2020.
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Property-related key performance measures

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 2018 

Property value, MSEK i 1,724.6 1,535.2 189.4 12% 

Rental value, MSEK ii 130.8 119.1 11.6 10% 

Number of properties at the end of the period  ii 115 84 31.0 37% 

Number of apartments at the end of the period ii 1,385 1,260 125.0 10% 

Lettable area at the end of the period, square  
meters ii 122,165 114,416 7,749.0 7% 

Fair value of investment properties, SEK per  
square meter of lettable area ii 14,117 13,418 699.2 5% 

Income statement, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 i 2018 i

Rental income 125.3 103.2 22.2 21% 

Property costs (54.3) (35.2) (19.1) 54% 

Net operating profit 71.0 68.0 3.0 4% 

Administrative expenses (12.2) (14.9) 2.8 (18%)

Net financial costs (19.1) (17.9) (1.1) 6% 

Profit from property management 39.8 35.2 4.5 13%

Value changes 59.4 26.7 32.7 123% 

Tax expense  (22.8) (12.7) (10.0) 79% 

Net profit for the period 76.5 49.1 27.4 56% 

Balance sheet, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 2018

Equity 706.0 551.8 154.2 28% 

Interest-bearing liabilities 938.5 944.5 (6.0) (1%)

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2018, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial year ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

ii) Retrieved from the Group’s internal operating system. 

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

COMPARISON BETWEEN THE 2018/19 AND 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEARS
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Property costs 

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years  

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 i 2018 i

Operating expenses (21.5) (14.7) (6.9) 47% 

Maintenance costs (17.7) (13.0) (4.7) 36% 

Property tax (3.0) (2.5) (0.5) 18% 

Property management (5.8) (3.7) (2.1) 56% 

Other property costs (2.2) (1.3) (1.0) 78% 

Rental and property management (4.0) - N/A N/A 

Property costs (54.3) (35.2) (19.1) 54% 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2018, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

The total fair value of the property portfolio increa-
sed by MSEK 189.4, corresponding to 12 per cent, from 
MSEK 1,535.2 during the financial year ended 31 Au-
gust 2018 to MSEK 1,724.6 during the financial year 
ended 31 August 2019. The increase in fair value was 
mainly attributable to the acquisition of 27 properties 
with a value of MSEK 102.6 and changes in value of 
MSEK 77.4. No properties were sold during the finan-
cial year.

The number of apartments increased by 125, cor-
responding to 10 per cent, from 1,260 during the fi-
nancial year ended 31 August 2018 to 1,385 during the 

financial year ended 31 August 2019. The lettable area 
increased by 7,749 square meters, corresponding to 7 
per cent, from 114,416 square meters to 122,165 square 
meters during the same period. The economic occu-
pancy rate remained unchanged at 99 per cent.

RENTAL INCOME  
Rental income increased by MSEK 22.2, corresponding 
to 21 per cent, from MSEK 103.2 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 125.3 during the fi-
nancial year ended 31 August 2019. The change was pri-
marily driven by property acquisitions and annual rent 
negotiations in the existing portfolio.

PROPERTY COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  

Property costs increased by MSEK 19.1, corresponding 
to 54 per cent, from MSEK 35.2 during the financial year 
ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 54.3 during the financi-
al year ended 31 August 2019. The change was prima-
rily driven by property acquisitions, as well as a higher 
proportion of residential properties that are characteri-
zed by a higher cost base and maintenance requirements 
than community service properties and commercial 
properties, which are mainly reflected in operating ex-
penses. The increase in maintenance expenses was att-
ributable to the acquisition of properties with external 
property management, which are usually less cost-effec-
tive than the ones that Fortinova operates under its own 
auspices, which also applies to the cost of property ma-
nagement (cost item attributable to shared areas such 
as laundry areas and shared outdoor areas). The Group’s 
ambition is to terminate property management con-
tracts with external parties over time and run the ma-
nagement internally, which the Company’s management 

believes should result in higher cost efficiency. 
The increase in rental and property administrati-

ve expenses was driven by reclassifications. These ex-
penses were comprised of, among other things, admi-
nistrative personnel expenses, IT expenses and similar 
items were previously reported as administrative ex-
penses. Developments in rental and property manage-
ment were primarily driven by property acquisitions.

Net operating profit increased by MSEK 3.0, cor-
responding to 4 per cent, from MSEK 68.0 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 71.0 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2019, driven 
by the above-mentioned factors.

Central administrative expenses decreased by 
MSEK 2.8, corresponding to 18 per cent, from MSEK 14.9 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 
12.2 during the financial year ended 31 August 2019. The 
decrease was primarily driven by reclassifications of ex-
penses that are now reported as property costs.
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Tax, MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years   

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 i 2018 i

Current tax (4.9) (4.0) (0.8) 21% 

Deferred tax related to: 

  Temporary differences in investment properties (21.6) (8.4) (13.2) 156% 

  Untaxed reserves 0.0 0.1 (0.1) (76%)

  Temporary differences in derivative instruments 3.7 (0.4) 4.1 N/A 

Tax (22.8) (12.7) (10.0) 79% 

Applicable tax rate 22.0% 22.0%  - - 

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2018, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS, PROFIT FROM PROPERTY 
MANAGEMENT AND CHANGES IN VALUE

Net financial costs increased by MSEK 1.1, correspon-
ding to 6 per cent, from MSEK 17.9 during the financi-
al year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 19.1 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2019. The change was 
primarily attributable to increased interest expenses 
related to bank loans.

Profit from property management increased by 
MSEK 4.6, corresponding to 13 per cent, from MSEK 
35.2 during the financial year ended 31 August 2018 to 
MSEK 39.8 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2019, driven by the above-mentioned factors.

Changes in value increased by MSEK 32.7, corre-
sponding to 123 per cent, from MSEK 26.7 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 59.4 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2019. The in-
crease was attributable to unrealized changes in value 
in properties which increased by MSEK 52.7, corres-
ponding to 213 per cent, from MSEK 24.8 to MSEK 77.4 
during the financial year and were partly offset by the 

unrealized change in value in interest rate derivatives 
during the financial year which decreased by MSEK 
20.0 from a positive change in value of MSEK 2.0 to a 
negative change in value of MSEK 18.0 during the fi-
nancial year. 

The positive unrealized change in value in pro-
perties was attributable to a larger property portfo-
lio driven by acquisitions, as well as revaluations of the 
existing portfolio driven by an improved net operating 
profit for the existing portfolio and a positive market 
climate.

The negative unrealized change in value in inte-
rest rate derivatives was because the interest rate le-
vel has been relatively stable in relation to the interest 
rate derivatives’ contracted level, longer maturity and 
an increased underlying nominal amount. The changes 
in value of the interest rate derivatives do not affect 
cash flow and will be resolved during the term of the 
derivatives, provided that these are not sold before 
maturity.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

TAX

Tax expenses increased by MSEK 10.0, corresponding 
to 79 per cent, from MSEK 12.7 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 22.8 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2019. The increase was 
mainly attributable to temporary differences in pro-
perties as a result of the changes in value and proper-
ty acquisitions made during the financial year, which 
were partly offset by temporary differences in deri-
vative instruments due to their decrease in value. The 

increase in current tax was driven by the increase in 
profit from property management.

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
Profit for the period increased by MSEK 27.4, corre-
sponding to 56 per cent, from MSEK 49.1 during the 
financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 76.5 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2019, driven 
by the above-mentioned factors.
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MSEK

Financial year  
ended 31 August

Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years 

% Change 
between the 
2018/19 and 

2017/18  
financial years2019 i 2018 i

Cash flow from operating activities 33.5 24.9 8.6 34% 

Cash flow from investment activities (78.9) (213.7) 134.9 (63%)

Cash flow from financing activities 47.7 176.5 (128.8) (73%)

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash  
and cash equivalents 2.3 (12.3) 14.6 (119%)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the period 

47,3 59,6 (12,3) (21%)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 49,5 47,3 2,3 5%

i) Information retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial 
years ended 31 August 2018, 2019. Information relating to the financial year ended 2018 is included in the annual report for that year 
and information relating to the financial years ended 2019 can be found in “Historical financial information”.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

CASH FLOW

Cash and cash equivalents increased by MSEK 2.3, 
corresponding to 5 per cent, from MSEK 47.3 during 
the financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 49.5 
during the financial year ended 31 August.

Cash flow from operating activities increased by 
MSEK 8.6, corresponding to 34 per cent, from MSEK 
24.9 during the financial year ended 31 August 2018 to 
MSEK 33.5 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2019. The change was primarily driven by an increased 
operating profit (an increase of MSEK 3.0, correspon-
ding to 4 per cent, from MSEK 68.0 during the previo-
us financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 71.0 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2019) as a 
result of an increased property portfolio, but also af-
fected by lower central administrative expenses (an in-
crease of MSEK 2.8, corresponding to 18 per cent, from 
MSEK 14.9 during the financial year ended 31 August 
2018 to MSEK 12.2 during the financial year ended 31 
August 2019). 

Cash flow used in investment activities amounted 

to MSEK 78.9, corresponding to a decrease of 63 per 
cent, from MSEK 213.7 during the financial year ended 
31 August 2018. The decrease of MSEK 134.9, corres-
ponding to 63 per cent, was mainly driven by redu-
ced acquisitions of properties and subsidiaries, which 
decreased by MSEK 145.9, from MSEK 221.1 during 
the financial year ended 31 August 2018 to MSEK 75.3 
during the financial year ended 31 August 2019.

Cash flow used in financing activities amounted to 
MSEK 47.7, corresponding to a decrease of 73 per cent, 
from MSEK 176.5 during the financial year ended 31 
August 2018. The decrease of MSEK 128.8 was main-
ly driven by reduced new borrowing of bank loans, 
which decreased by MSEK 124.7, corresponding to 82 
per cent, from MSEK 152.5 during the financial year en-
ded 31 August 2018 to MSEK 27.8 during the financial 
year ended 31 August 2019. In addition, a new issue of 
shares of MSEK 88.9 was conducted, and a dividend of 
MSEK 11.2 was paid.
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Fortinova’s profit is affected by a number of factors. 
The table below shows a theoretical effect on profit 
from property management based on Fortinova’s cur-
rent earning capacity as of 31 August 2020, given a 
change based on four parameters. Each variable in the

93 The Group’s income mainly consists of income from residential rental properties. As a result, analysis of estimated market rent is based solely on commercial revenues.

table has been treated separately and is dependent on 
the other variables remaining unchanged. The sensiti-
vity analysis should be read together with information 
about current earnings capacity in section “Current 
earnings capacity”.

.93
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Change +/-
Change in value of 

investment properties 
(MSEK)

Estimated market rent93 +/- 1 per cent +5.71/-5.70

Estimated vacancy level +/- 1 percentage points -21.85/+19.64

Estimated operations and maintenance +/- 1 per cent -11.73/+12.09

Yield requirement +/- 0.1 percentage points -32.99/+34.64

Fortinova reports its investment properties at fair value as changes in value in the income statement. This 
means that primarily profit, but also financial performance, can be positively and negatively affected over time. 
The table below shows the theoretical change in value in the event of an increase or decrease in the investment 
property value based on the investment property value as of 31 August 2020 and its effects on the loan-to-
value ratio at the same time.

Investment properties -20% -10% 0% 10% 20%

Value changes, MSEK 1,808,992 2,035,116 2,261,240 2,487,364 2,713,488

Loan-to-value ratio, % 60% 54% 48% 44% 40%
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EQUITY AND INDEBTEDNESS
 
The tables in this section describe the Group’s capitalization and indebtedness as of 31 August 2020. The in-
formation presented in this section should be read in conjunction with the section “Operational and Financial 
Overview” and the Group’s financial reports for 2018/19 and 2019/20 with accompanying notes, which are 
found in this Prospectus, and the annual report for the financial year 2017/18 as incorporated into the Prospec-
tus. As of 31 August 2020, Fortinova had a total of MSEK 1,217 in property and corporate mortgages. During 
October 2020, loans of MSEK 208 were refinanced, with the majority of the loans maturing in December 2020. 
After the refinancing, these loans have a weighted average term of approximately 3 years. 

MSEK 31 August 2020 Adjustments vii

Adjusted for new 
issue of shares in 
connection with 

the Offering

Current liabilities (including current part of non-current interest-bearing liabilities) i

Guaranteed - - -

Secured 681.3 - 681.3

Unguaranteed/unsecured - - -

Total current interest-bearing liabilities 681.3 - 681.3 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities ii

Guaranteed - - -

Secured 409.5 - 409.5

Unguaranteed/unsecured - - -

Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities  409.5 -  409.5 

Equity iii

Share capital iv 31.0 16.6 47.6

Other contributed capital v 856.9 673.8 1530.7

Retained earnings, including profit for the period vi 305.3 - 305.3

Total equity 1,193.3 690.4 1,883.7

i) Corresponds to “Current interest-bearing liabilities”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB’s (publ)’s audited consolidated financial state-
ments as of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2020.

ii) Corresponds to “Non-current interest-bearing liabilities”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB’s (publ)’s audited consolidated financial 
statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2020.

iii) Corresponds to “Total equity”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB’s (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
financial years ended 31 August 2020.

iv) Corresponds to “Share capital”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
financial years ended 31 August 2020.

v) Corresponds to “Other contributed capital”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB’s (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2020. The item “Other contributed capital” includes as of 31 August 2020 MSEK 2,1 from the 
performed directed issue. The amount was transferred to the item “Share capital” when the shares were registered on 1 September 2020. 

vi) Corresponds to “Retained earnings including profit for the year”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB’s (publ)’s audited consolidated fi-
nancial statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2020.

vii) Based on full acceptance of the Offering and a final Offering Price corresponding to the highest point of the Price Range SEK 44 and a net 
payment of approximately MSEK 690.

CAPITALIZATION

CAPITALIZATION, 
INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER  

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CAPITALIZATION, INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MSEK 31 August 2020 Adjustments ii

Adjusted for the 
share issue in  

connection with 
the Offering

A Cash 161.4 690.4 851.8

B Other cash equivalents - - -

C Trading securities - - -

D Liquidity (A + B + C)  161.4 690.4 851.8

E Current financial receivables i - - -

F Current bank debt 681.3 - 681.3

G Current portion of non-current debt - - -

H Other current financial liabilities - - -

I Total current financial liabilities (F + G + H)  681.3 -  681.3 

J Net current financial indebtedness (I - E - D) 519.9 (690.4) (170.5)

K Non-current bank debt 409.5 - 409.5

L Bonds issued  - -  - 

M Other non-current financial liabilities - - -

N Non-current financial indebtedness (K + L + M)  409.5 -  409.5 

O Net financial indebtedness (J + N) 929.4 (690.4) 239.0

i) Corresponds to current loans that form part of “Other receivables”, as shown in Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolida-
ted financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 August 2020.

ii) Based on full acceptance of the Offering and a final Offering Price corresponding to the highest point of the Price Range SEK 44 and a 
net payment of approximately MSEK 690.

NET INDEBTEDNESS

INDIRECT INDEBTEDNESS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of August 31, 2020, Fortinova had no contingent liabilities and there is no indirect indebtedness in the Group.
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CAPITALIZATION, INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FINANCING
The Group is primarily financed with equity and bank 
loans. The bank loans are raised in conjunction with 
property acquisitions and refinancing of the existing 
portfolio. As of August 31, 2020, the Group had credit 
agreements of MSEK 1,090.8 and the sum of mortgage 
deeds secured against Fortinova’s property portfolio 
amounted to MSEK 1,216.8. The net loan-to-value ra-
tio, interest-bearing liabilities after deductions for cash 
assets, amounted to 41 per cent as of 31 August 2020. 
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 August 2020  

94 Retrieved from the Company’s internal accounting system.

 
amounted to MSEK 161.4.

During October 2020, loans of MSEK 208 were re-
financed, with the majority of the loans maturing in De-
cember 2020. After the refinancing, these loans have a 
weighted average term of approximately 3 years. The 
average fixed rate-period as of 31 August 2020, including 
the effects of concluded derivative contracts, amounted 
to 2.5 years. The average loan maturity amounted to 1.2 
years.94 The maturity structure of the loan agreements 
is shown in the table below.

FIXED ASSETS

Fortinova’s tangible fixed assets as of 31 August 2020 
amounted to MSEK 2,266.5, of which MSEK 2,261.2 
were attributable to investment properties. Tangible 
fixed assets had secured collaterals amounting to 
MSEK 1,216.8 as of 31 August 2020.

Interest and loan maturity structure 
as of 31 August 2020:

Capital 
maturity

Interest maturity 
incl. interest 
rate hedging

Closing 
average 

interest rate

Time to maturity
Years, maturity

Volume 
(MSEK)

Share  
(%)

Volume 
(MSEK)

Share  
(%) %

<1 year 681.2 62 575.8 53 2.2

2–3 years 333.0 31 126.0 12 1.6

4–5 years 43.5 4 158.0 14 1.3

6–7 years - - 150.5 14 1.2

8–9 years 33.1 3 80.5 7 1.2

>10 years - - - - -

Total  1,090.8 100  1,090.8 100 1.8

Cashflow Financial year ended 31 August

MSEK 2020i 2019i 2018ii

Acquisition of investment properties - (36.9) (60.2)

Investments in investment properties (6.5) (6.0) (5.1)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries (369.3) (38.4) (160.9)

Total (375.8) (81.3) (226.2)

i) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2019 and 2020. See section ”Historical financial information”. 

ii) Retrieved from Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ)’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 
31 August 2018 included in the annual accounts for that year.
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ONGOING AND PLANNED INVESTMENTS

Fortinova has no significant commitments to perform 
repairs and maintenance other than what follows from 
good property management. The company has ente-
red into an agreement for the acquisition of residen-
tial properties with an underlying property value of 
approximately MSEK 330. Most of the acquired pro-
perties will be accessed at the end of the financial 
year 2020/21. The acquisitions will add approximately 
MSEK 15 in rental value divided into 170 apartments in 
2021. Per the date of this Prospectus, there are no plans 
or decisions on additional acquisitions of properties.

STATEMENT REGARDING WORKING CAPITAL

The Board of Directors considers that the existing 
working capital, prior to the Offer, is not sufficient for 
Fortinova’s current needs during the coming twel-
ve-month period. The Company estimates that the 
working capital requirement (i.e. the net working capi-
tal deficit) for the next twelve months amounts to app-
roximately MSEK 630. Working capital requirements in 
this sense refer to cash and cash equivalents required 
for the Company to be able to fulfill its payment obli-
gations at the rate at which they fall due for payment. 
Regardless of proceeds from the Offer, working capital 
is estimated to be sufficient until March 2021.

If the Offer is fully subscribed, the Company will 
receive approximately MSEK 690 after deductions for 
issue costs, which are estimated to amount to a maxi-
mum of approximately MSEK 38. 

The above-mentioned working capital require-
ment of MSEK 630 consists of MSEK 330 related to 
existing commitments for property acquisitions. The 
working capital requirement, which take in to account 
existing cash and the Company’s cash flow forecast 
for the next twelve months, also consists of current 
liabilities regarding bank loans due to payment within 
the next twelve months. Consequently, such liabilities 
need to be refinanced. It is the Board’s opinion that 
this situation is as expected, that the maturity structu-
re for the Group’s bank loans is normal for a company 
with the operations like those conducted by Fortino-
va and that it is normal for refinancing to take place on 
an ongoing basis. The assessment of the Board of Di-
rectors is that the current liabilities will be refinanced, 
and hence that the Offering will be used fully to finan-
ce existing and future acquisitions in Western Sweden.

In the event that the Offer is not realized or would 
not be fully subscribed, the Company would need to 
seek alternative financing options in the form of, for 
example, new bank financing, rights issue, directed 
new issue or long-term loan financing from existing or 
new shareholders.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial policy is presented annually 
and sets out guidelines and rules for how Fortinova’s 

financial operations are to be conducted, how the va-
rious risks are to be limited and what risks the Group 
can take. Fortinova strives to achieve a stable and 
sustainable capital structure that enables continued 
profitable growth. The chosen capital structure is im-
portant for the owners’ expected return and risk expo-
sure. A higher loan-to-value ratio increases financing 
costs and affects the general right to deduct interest 
costs with increased tax burden as a result. Fortino-
va’s ambition is to run the business with low opera-
tional and financial risk. Fortinova’s overall goal with 
its financial operations is to ensure a long-term stable 
capital structure that ensures long- and short-term fi-
nancing and liquidity needs, and to achieve the best 
possible return through a net financial cost within gi-
ven risk limits. Therefore, it is important to define fi-
nancial risks, put them in relation to other business 
risks, assess the risks and ensure appropriate manage-
ment that supports the overall operational goals. 

Fortinova’s overall financial risk limitation is that 
the net loan-to-value ratio does not permanently fall 
below or exceed the range of 55-65 per cent. Fortino-
va believes that it is important to have a positive cash 
flow in the business in order to achieve the Group’s 
long-term targets, which is why the Company’s objec-
tive is for the interest coverage ratio to be no less than 
250 per cent on a lasting basis. As of 31 August 2020, 
the Group’s net loan-to-value ratio amounted to 41 (52) 
per cent and the interest coverage ratio amounted to 
321 (308) per cent.

Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the 
change driven by the development of current market 
interest rate levels impact the Group’s financing cost. 
In order to limit interest rate risk, derivative agre-
ements are regularly entered into in the form of inte-
rest rate swaps. To limit fluctuations in net financial 
items, the Group shall have a mix of fixed rate-peri-
od in loans and derivatives, and ensure that the av-
erage fixed rate-period is in the interval of one to ten 
years and that a maximum of 40 per cent may be in 
the interval zero to one year, where the Company’s 
management has an ambition that the fixed rate-peri-
od will amount to at least three years. As of 31 August 
2020, the volume-weighted average fixed rate-period 
amounted to 2.5 years (3.5 years) and the interest-hed-
ged part of the liabilities amounted to 51 per cent (59).

The Group’s financing risk is comprised primari-
ly of equity and interest-bearing liabilities from banks. 
In order to limit the refinancing risk, defined as the 
risk that the refinancing of existing liabilities cannot 
take place on reasonable terms, Fortinova strives for 
a long average remaining maturity of interest-bearing 
liabilities. To ensure the required credit commitment 
period for the maturity structure, the Group also stri-
ves for an evenly distributed maturity structure for 
loan portfolio and that it shall have an average matu-
rity period (volume-weighted average remaining term) 
that exceeds three years in the long run. As of 31 Au-
gust 2020, the average maturity amounted to 1.2 (1.9 
years).

CAPITALIZATION, INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Fortinova has a positive cash flow and, apart from 
the refinancing needs customary in the real estate se-
ctor, the Company has a limited financing need for the 
existing operations and property portfolio. However, 
there is a need for financing for the planned growth, 
which includes property acquisitions.

TRENDS

According to Fortinova there is significant interest 
in real estate investments, and residential proper-
ties in particular, which is illustrated by a continued 
liquid transaction market with high transaction volu-
mes during the latest years. Fortinova sees continued 
strong demand in Western Sweden with a stable low 
vacancy rate. Fortinova considers the global macroe-
conomic picture to be more uncertain, especially consi-
dering the outbreak of Covid-19, and the Group can-
not ignore the risk of adverse external effects beyond 
Fortinova’s control. The outbreak of Covid-19 has af-
fected Fortinova’s daily operations, but since Fortino-
va mainly focuses on residential properties with relati-
vely low rental levels, the impact on the Company has 
so far been relatively limited. Market interest rates are 

at low levels and there is a risk that they will gradual-
ly begin to rise, which could lead to increased financing 
costs for real estate companies and other real estate 
investors and thus lead to higher yield requirements 
and decreasing property values. Property prices are 
at historically high valuation levels, which creates a 
risk for a potential correction resulting in decreasing 
property valuations. However, Fortinova’s manage-
ment believes that the Company is well positioned in 
the event of unfavorable external factors, as (i) there 
is sufficient and stable demand for housing in Wes-
tern Sweden, and (ii) the relatively low rental levels for 
Fortinova’s housing will be sought after by tenants in 
the event of an economic downturn. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 31 AUGUST 2020

During October 2020, loans of MSEK 208 were refi-
nanced, with the majority of the loans maturing in De-
cember 2020. After the refinancing, these loans have 
a weighted average term of approximately 3 years. In 
addition to the above, there have been no significant 
changes in the Group’s financial position, earnings or 
position in the market after 31 August 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 

AND AUDITOR   
BOARD
 
The Company’s Board of Directors consists of five ordinary members, including the chairman of the Board of 
Directors, with no deputy board members, all of whom are elected for the period up until the end of the next 
Annual General Meeting. The table below shows the members of the Board of Directors, when they were first 
elected to the Board and whether they are considered to be independent of the Company, the company mana-
gement and/or the major shareholders.

INDEPENDENT IN RELATION TO

NAME POSITION
MEMBER 
SINCE

THE COMPANY 
AND EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT

MAJOR  
SHARE-
HOLDERS

Ole Salsten Chairman of the Board 2016 Yes Yes

Fredrik Bergmann Board Member 2011 Yes Yes

Anders Valdemarsson Board Member 2011 No No

Helena Örnstedt* Board Member 2019 Yes Yes

Carl-Johan Carlsson* Board Member 2019 Yes Yes

*  Helena Örnstedt and Carl-Johan Carlsson, respectively, were deputy board members of the Company between the Annual General 
Meeting for the financial year 2017/18 and until they took office as Board members.
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Ole Salsten
Born 1962. Chairman of the Board since 2016.

Education: Chartered Accountant, SSV Norrköping.  

Other current assignments: Board member of Pamica AB, Salstenen AB (Chair-
man until April 2018), Salstenen 1 AB (Chairman until 
March 2017), Nordstenen AB, Nordstenen Major-
na 344: 3 AB (Chairman until April 2018), Absortech 
Group AB, Absortech International AB , Magine Hol-
ding AB, Norra Orust Vatten & Avlopp AB, Älvsåker 
Bredband AB, Fastigheten Kungsbacka 2:24 AB, In 
Unda AB, Sappa Holding AB, Utbildia AB and Fjord-
kongen AS.

Deputy board member of Orust Marina AB, AB Orust 
Marina Yacht Club O.M.Y.C., Orust Marina Exploate-
ring AB, Magine AB and Magine Sweden AB.

Auditor for Älvsåkers VA Ekonomisk förening.

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

Board member of Boro Väst Stretered 1:106 AB 
(Chairman until April 2018) board member of Aktie-
bolaget Sappa och Kålleredgården 1:22 AB.

Deputy board member of Slutplattan VAJLO 105704 
M AB, Slutplattan VAJLO 105706 AB and Lerjan Fastig- 
hets AB.

Shareholding in the Company: 1,159,272 Class B shares, via company95.

Fredrik Bergmann
Born 1970. Board member since 2011.

Education: IHM Business School, Market Economy. Various  
market courses.

Other current assignments: Board member of FB Holding AB, Gunred Holding AB, 
Kidda AB, Hede Padelcenter AB and DoPadel Sverige AB.

Deputy board member of G.F Bergmann Förvaltning 
Aktiebolag and Green Effort Aktiebolag. 

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

Chairman of Slutplattan VAJLO 105704 M AB, 
Slutplattan VAJLO 105706 AB, Lerjan Fastighets AB, 
RS3T Development AB, Termino C 4509 AB and  
Almeberg 13 Fastighetsförvaltning AB. 

Board member of G.F Bergmann Invest AB and 
Termino C 4511 AB.

Shareholding in the Company: 818,000 Class B shares, via company96.

95 Concerns Nordstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 50 per cent and Salstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 
90 per cent. 

96 Concerns G.F. Bergmann Förvaltning Aktiebolag in which Fredrik Bergmann’s holding amounts to 100 per cent.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR

Anders Valdemarsson
Born 1977. Board member since 2011. Deputy CEO since 2016. 

Education: Master of Business Administration and Engineer. 
Master’s degree in with a focus on industrial econo-
mics from Jönköping International Business School. 

Bachelor of Technology with a major in Computer 
Science from Jönköping University, School of Engine-
ering and Napier University, Edinburgh. 

Other current assignments: Chairman of A2F Fastigheter AB, Centrumhuset i 
Åsa AB and Stråvalla Exploatering AB.

Board member of Bostadsrättsföreningen Vasagatan 
60, AFV Fastigheter AB and Åsa Stationsväg 2 Explo-
aterings AB.

Deputy board member of Kasematten Fastighets 
Aktiebolag, Allhem AB, Kurtinen Fastighets AB.

Authorized signatory (but not a member of the 
board of directors) for KB Fortinova Fastigheter i 
Uddevalla and Kommanditbolaget VARBERGSVALEN. 

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

Chairman of the Board of Fortinova AB. 

Board member and deputy board member of Slutplattan 
VAJLO 105704 MAB and Slutplattan VAJLO 105706 AB.

Board member of Lerjan Fastighets AB, Skogsallén 
Fastighetsprojektering AB and Almeberg 13 Fastig-
hetsförvaltning AB. 

Deputy board member of Slutplattan VAJLO 105704 
M AB, Tulvit Fastigheter AB, Tulvit Fastigheter 1 AB, 
Pabloq Fastighets AB, Varbergsekorren AB, Sunnan-
vind Varberg AB, Barbetten Fastighets AB, Ronaldos 
Fastighets AB, Anbloq Fastighets AB, Slutplattan 
SOPTI 107049 AB, Hyresfastigheter i Veddige AB, 
Slutplattan VALJO 105704 D AB, Slutplattan PENZO 
102322 AB, Slutplattan PLASI 102325 AB and Onsala 
Lunden Fastigheter AB.

Shareholding in the Company: 2,750,000 Class A shares and 1,786,650 Class B shares, 
via company97.

97 Concerns A2F Fastigheter AB (the Principal Owner) in which Anders Valdemarsson’s holding amounts to 50 per cent.

Helena Örnstedt
Born 1970. Board member since 2019.

Education: Business administration courses at Halmstad School of 
Business. Courses in accounting and tax at FAR utbild-
ningar. Leadership courses via, among others, Paul J 
Meyer, LMI. 

Other current assignments: CFO at AMM Holding AB.

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

-

Shareholding in the Company: 6,016 Class B shares.

Carl-Johan Carlsson
Born 1974. Board member since 2019.

Education: Law degree from Lund University and Heidelberg Uni-
versity. Studies at the Master of Business Administra-
tion programme at the Stockholm School of Economics.

Other current assignments: Chairman at Sönerna Carlsson Family Office AB.

Board member and CEO of Skogsallén Holding AB.

Board member of Carlsson Rådgivning i Göteborg AB 
and Carapax Marine Group AB. 

Previous assignments   
(last five years):

Chairman of Skogsallén Fastighetsprojektering AB.

Shareholding in the Company: 35,832 Class B shares, via company98.

98 Concerns Sönerna Carlsson Family Office AB, in which Carl-Johan Carlsson’s holding amounts to 50 per cent.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES

 

Anders Johansson
Born 1979. CEO since 2016.

Education: Bachelor of Finance and Bachelor of Accountancy 
from University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign. 

Other current assignments: Chairman of Kasematten Fastighets Aktiebolag, 
Allhem AB, Kurtinen Fastighets AB.

Board member of A2F Fastigheter AB, KAEJ Fastig-
heter AB, KAEJ Fastigheter 2 AB, Fortinova Kommer-
siella 4 AB, Allhem AB, Centrumhuset i Åsa AB and 
Åsa Stationsväg 2 Exploaterings AB. 

Deputy board member of Kjell Johansson  
Management AB and Stråvalla Exploatering AB.

Authorized signatory (but not a member of the 
board of directors) for Kommanditbolaget 
VARBERGSVALEN. 

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

Chairman of Barbetten Fastighets AB and Slut- 
plattan SOPTI 107049 AB. 

Board member of Slutplattan VALJO 105704 M AB, 
Slutplattan VALJO 105706 AB, Slutplattan VAJLO 
105704 D AB, Slutplattan PENZO 102322 AB, Slut-
plattan PLASI 102325 AB, Tulvit Fastigheter AB, 
Tulvit Fastigheter 1 AB, Pabloq Fastighets AB, Var-
bergsekorren AB, Lerjan Fastighets AB, Sunnanvind 
Varberg AB, Rolandos Fastighets AB, Skogsallén 
Fastighetsprojektering AB, Anbloq Fastighets AB, Al-
meberg 13 Fastighetsförvaltning AB, Hyresfastighe-
ter i Veddige AB and Onsala Lunden Fastigheter AB.

Deputy board member of Praktik Ewa Måre Aktie-
bolag, SjukgymnastHuset i Varberg Aktiebolag, Mili 
Service Aktiebolag, Varbergs Byggkonsult Aktiebo-
lag, Charlotte Hallberg AB, Creacon MW Byggteknik 
AB, NUCLAB Leif Johansson AB, Kjell Johansson För-
valtning AB, Stenkusten AB, Personaltjänst i Väst AB, 
Bertil Gunnesson Management AB, Gotship Logistics 
AB and River & Castle Enterprise AB.

Shareholding in the Company: 2,750,000 Class A shares and 1,786,650 Class B shares, 
via company99. 

Anders Valdemarsson
Board member. Anders Valdemarsson has also been deputy CEO of the Company since 
2016. For information, see above in the section ”Board”.

99 Concerns A2F Fastigheter AB (the Principal Owner) where Anders Johansson’s holding amounts to 50 per cent.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR

John Wennevid
Born 1984. CFO since 2016.

Education: Bachelor’s degree in accounting and Master’s 
program in economics and taxation from Karlstad  
University.

Other current assignments: Board member of WhyJohn AB.

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

Principal auditor for Rang Industri Aktiebolag, Shop-
ping4net Beautystore AB, Tresviri AB, Adwisely Ak-
tiebolag, Milleteknik Aktiebolag, Brödverket AB, J E 
Sångberg & Partners AB, Milleteknik Holding AB, Ak-
tiebolaget Fastighetsportföljen, Baked in Europe AB, 
Milleteknik Utveckling AB, Solid Beans AB, Milletek-
nik Mobil AB and Bygglet AB.

Deputy auditor for Trävaruaktiebolaget G A Persson, 
Kilas Fastighets Aktiebolag, Förvaltnings Aktiebola-
get G A Persson and Aktiebolaget Sedes.

Shareholding in the Company: 19,822 Class B shares, via company100.

Ann Marie Derengowski
Born 1971. Head of Administration since 2019.

Education: Retail and Office Administration at Peder Skrivare’s 
school in Varberg. Courses in Business Administra-
tion through municipal adult education. Introductory 
Law from University West Supplementary course on 
year-end reporting from Visma AB. 

Other current assignments: -

Previous assignments 
(last five years):

-

Shareholding in the Company: -

100  Concerns WhyJohn AB, in which John Wennevid’s holding amounts to 100 per cent.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR
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OTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES
 
There are no family ties between any of the members 
of the Board of Directors or executive management. 
There are no conflicts of interest or potential conflicts 
of interest between, on the one hand, the obligations 
of the members of the Board of Directors or executive 
management towards the Company or its subsidiaries 
and, on the other hand, their private interests and/or 
other undertakings.

Over the past five years, none of the members of 
the Board of Directors or the members of the executi-
ve management have been sentenced for fraud-rela-
ted offences.

Over the past five years, none of the members of 
the Board of Directors or the members of the executi-
ve management have, as a board member or executive 
manager, represented a company which has been sub-
ject of corporate restructuring, been subject to admi-
nistration under bankruptcy or filed for liquidation.

Over the past five years, none of the members of 
the Board of Directors or the members of the executive 
management have been the subject to accusations and/
or sanctions by any agency authorized by law or regula-
tion, including approved professional associations.

Over the past five years, none of the members of 
the Board of Directors or the members of the executi-
ve management have been prohibited by a court of law 
from being a member of any company’s administrati-
ve, management or supervisory body or from holding 
a senior or overarching position of any issuer.

There are no special agreements on remunera-
tion for members of the Board of Directors or executi-
ve management after the assignment or employment 
has ended. The Company has no allocated or accrued 
amounts for pensions or similar benefits after a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors or executive manage-
ment resigns from a position or assignment.

All members of the Board of Directors and the 
members of executive management can be reached via 
the Company’s address, Norrgatan 10, 432 41 Varberg, 
Sweden.

AUDITOR
 
KPMG AB, Norra Hamngatan 22, 404 39 Gothenburg, 
has been the Company’s auditor since the Annual Ge-
neral Meeting of 10 December 2014 and was re-elec-
ted at the Annual General Meeting of 3 December 2019 
for the period until the end of the next Annual Gene-
ral Meeting. Henrik Blom is the principal auditor. Hen-
rik Blom, born 1985, is a chartered accountant and a 
member of FAR, the institute for the accountancy pro-
fession in Sweden. 

Up until and including the Annual General Meeting 
of 10 December 2014, Ulf Halvarsson (Celinder Revison 
AB, Storgatan 33, 331 31 Värnamo) was the Company’s 
auditor. During the assignment, Ulf Halvarsson was a 
chartered accountant and a member of FAR, the insti-
tute for the accountancy profession in Sweden. The 
change of auditor from Ulf Halvarsson to KPMG AB 
was prompted by the Company’s increased need for 
qualified auditing services.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITOR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 
Fortinova is a Swedish public limited liability compa-
ny. Prior to the listing on Nasdaq First North Premier 
Growth Market, corporate governance in Fortinova 
was based on Swedish law and internal rules and re-
gulations.

Once the Company’s Class B shares has been li-
sted on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market, 
the Company will also comply with Nasdaq First North 
Premier Growth Market’s regulations101 and apply the 
Swedish Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”). 

The Code aims to issue guidelines for good cor-
porate governance and acts as a complement to legi-
slation by specifying a set of norms at a higher level 
of ambition than the statutory regulation. However, 
according to the “comply or explain” principle compa-
nies may deviate from the code and choose a solution 
assessed to respond better to the circumstances in the 
individual case, provided they report each deviation, 
describe their own solution and explain why. 

The Company will apply the Code from the time of 
the listing of the Company’s B shares on Nasdaq First 
North Premier Growth Market. Any deviations from 
the Code will be reported in the Company’s corpora-
te governance report, which will be prepared for the 
first time for the 2020/21 financial year. However, in 
the first corporate governance report, the Company 
is not required to explain non-compliance with such 
rules that has not been relevant during the period co-
vered by the corporate governance report. Currently, 
the Company does not expect to report any deviations 
from the Code in the corporate governance report.  

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
 

According to the Swedish Companies Act (2005:551), 
the Annual General Meeting is the Company’s highest 
decision-making body. At the Annual General Me-
eting, the shareholders exercise their voting rights in 
key issues, such as approval of income statements and 
balance sheets, disposition of the Company’s results, 
discharge from liability for the members of the Board 
of Directors and CEO, election of Board Members and 
auditors and remuneration to the Board of Directors 
and auditors. 

The Annual General Meeting must be held within 
six months from the end of the financial year. In ad-
dition to the Annual General Meeting, an Extraordi-
nary General Meeting may be convened. According to 
Fortinova’s articles of association, notice of the Annual 
General Meetings are convened by publication of the 

101   Nasdaq First North Growth Market – Rulebook 1 September 2019.

convening notice in the Swedish National Gazette (Sw. 
Post- och Inrikes tidningar). Information regarding the 
notice shall be published in Dagens Industri. 

RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders who wish to participate in the negotia-
tions at the Annual General Meeting must be included 
in the shareholders’ register maintained by Eurocle-
ar Sweden on the day falling six business days prior to 
the meeting and notify the Company of their participa-
tion in the Annual General Meeting no later than on the 
date stipulated in the notice convening the meeting. 
Shareholders may attend the Annual General Meeting 
in person or by proxy and may be represented by a 
maximum of two people. If a shareholder wishes to 
bring representatives to the Annual General Meeting, 
the number of representatives (maximum two) must 
be stated in the registration. Typically, it is possible for 
shareholders to register for the Annual General Me-
eting in several different ways, as specified in the noti-
ce convening the meeting. Shareholders are entitled to 
vote for all shares held by the shareholder.

SHAREHOLDER INITIATIVES
Shareholders who wish to have a matter brought befo-
re the Annual General Meeting must submit a written 
request to the Board of Directors. The request must 
normally be received by the Board of Directors no later 
than seven weeks before the Annual General Meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
 

Companies that comply with the Code must have a 
nomination committee. Under the Code, the Annual 
General Meeting shall appoint the members of the no-
mination committee or specify how the members are 
to be appointed. Under the Code, the nomination com-
mittee shall consist of at least three members, one of 
whom shall be appointed Chairman. The majority of 
the nomination committee’s members shall be inde-
pendent in relation to the Company and the company 
management. In addition, at least one member of the 
nomination committee must be independent in rela-
tion to the largest shareholder in terms of votes or the 
group of shareholders who collaborate on the Compa-
ny’s administration.

The main task of the nomination committee is to 
prepare and draft proposals for the election of mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, including the Chairman, 
the Chairman of the General Meeting and auditors. 
The nomination committee shall also propose fees to 



102 103

IN
V

IT
AT

IO
N

 T
O

 A
CQ

U
IR

E 
SH

A
RE

S 
IN

 F
O

RT
IN

O
VA

 F
A

ST
IG

H
ET

ER
 A

B 
(P

U
BL

) IN
V

ITATIO
N

 TO
 ACQ

U
IRE SH

A
RES IN

 FO
RTIN

O
VA FA

STIGH
ETER A

B (PU
BL)

Board Members and auditors.
The Company has established a nomination com-

mittee as well as principles for the nomination com-
mittee, which are generally described below. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 3 Decem-
ber 2019, it was decided that the nomination commit-
tee shall consist of four members, one of whom shall 
be the Chairman of the Board. Other members shall 
be appointed by the three largest shareholders in the 
Company as of the last banking day in May. 

In the event that any of the three largest share-
holders should refrain from appointing a member of 
the nomination committee, the right shall pass to the 
shareholder who, after these three shareholders, has 
the largest shareholding in the Company. 

The nomination committee shall elect a chairman 
from among its members. The Chairman of the Board 
or another member of the Board of Directors shall not 
be the Chairman of the nomination committee.

If a change of ownership takes place among the 
largest shareholders and a shareholder who has not 
previously had the right to appoint a member of the 
nomination committee thereby becomes a larger 
shareholder than one or more of those who have ap-
pointed a member of the nomination committee, the 
nomination committee shall, if the new major owner 
requests appointing a member of the nomination com-
mittee, decide that the member of the nomination 
committee who represents the smallest shareholder 
after the change shall be dismissed and replaced by 
the member appointed by the new major shareholder. 

A shareholder who has appointed a member of 
the nomination committee has the right to dismiss the 
member and appoint a new member. If such a change 
takes place, the shareholder shall without delay notify 
the Chairman of the nomination committee (or, if it is 
the Chairman of the nomination committee who is to 
be replaced, the Chairman of the Board of Directors). 

If a member representing a shareholder in the no-
mination committee resigns prematurely, the nomina-
tion committee shall without delay request the share-
holder who has appointed the member to appoint a new 
member. In the event that a new member is not appoin-
ted by the shareholder, the right to appoint a member 
of the nomination committee shall be transferred to the 
shareholder who, after the three largest shareholders, 
has the largest shareholding in the Company. 

The nomination committee’s term of office runs 
until a new nomination committee has been appoin-
ted. The nomination committee shall perform what is 
incumbent on the nomination committee in accordance 
with the Code. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
The Board of Directors is the Company’s highest de-
cision-making body after the Annual General Me-
eting. Pursuant to the Swedish Companies Act, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s 

management and organization, which means that the 
Board of Directors is responsible for, among other 
things, setting goals and strategies, ensuring routines 
and systems for evaluating established goals, conti-
nuously evaluating the Company’s results and financial 
position and evaluating operational management. The 
Board of Directors is also responsible for ensuring that 
the annual report and interim reports are prepared in 
a timely manner. In addition, the Board of Directors 
appoints the Company’s CEO.

The members of the Board of Directors are nor-
mally elected by the Annual General Meeting for the 
period until the end of the next Annual General Me-
eting. According to the Company’s Articles of Associ-
ation, the Board of Directors, insofar as it is elected 
by the Annual General Meeting, shall consist of a mini-
mum of five members and a maximum of seven mem-
bers without deputies.

According to the Code, the chairman of the Board 
of Directors must be elected by the Annual General 
Meeting and has a particular responsibility for the ma-
nagement of the work of the Board of Directors and 
for the work being well organized and carried out in an 
efficient manner. 

The Board of Directors follows a written procedu-
re that is revised annually and adopted at the statuto-
ry Board meeting every year. The rules of procedure 
regulate, among other things, board practice, functions 
and the distribution of work between the Board Mem-
bers and the CEO. In connection with the statutory Bo-
ard meeting, the Board of Directors also approves the 
instructions for the CEO, including financial reporting.

The Board of Directors meets according to an an-
nually established schedule. In addition to these Board 
meetings, additional Board meetings may be convened 
to address issues that for various reasons are deemed 
not possible to consider or which should be referred 
to an ordinary Board meeting. In addition to the Board 
meetings, the Chairman of the Board and the CEO have 
an ongoing dialogue regarding the management of the 
Company.

The Company’s Board of Directors currently 
consists of five ordinary members elected by the An-
nual General Meeting, which are presented in section 
“Board of Directors, executive management and auditor”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has an Audit Committee, of the Compa-
ny named “Risk-, rule- and audit committee” consisting 
of Helena Örnstedt, Carl-Johan Carlsson and Ole Sal-
sten. The tasks of the Audit Committee are set out in 
its rules of procedure, which are adopted annually. The 
Audit Committee shall, without limiting the Board’s re-
sponsibilities and tasks in general, monitor the Compa-
ny’s financial reporting, monitor the efficiency of the 
Company’s internal control, internal audit and risk ma-
nagement, stay informed of the audit of the annual ac-
counts and consolidated accounts, monitor the hand-
ling of related party transactions, review and monitor 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

the auditor’s impartiality and independence, paying 
particular attention to whether the auditor provides 
the Company with services other than auditing servi-
ces and assisting in the preparation of procurement of 
auditing services and in connection with the Annual 
General Meeting’s decision on auditor election.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company’s Remuneration Committee consists of 
the Board of Directors of the Company. The Remu-
neration Committee shall prepare proposals regar-
ding remuneration principles, remuneration and other 
terms of employment for the Company’s senior execu-
tives. The Remuneration Committee is also tasked with 
monitoring and evaluating the Company’s ongoing and 
completed programme for variable remuneration for 
the executive management during the year and the 
application of the guidelines for remuneration that the 
Annual General Meeting must decide on by law as well 
as current remuneration structures and remuneration 
levels in the Company.

CEO AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES
 
The CEO is subordinate to the Board of Directors and 
is responsible for the everyday management and ope-
rations of the Company. The division of work between 
the Board of Directors and the CEO is set out in the ru-
les of procedure for the Board of Directors and in the 
instructions for the CEO. The CEO is also responsible 
for preparing reports and compiling information from 
executive management prior to Board meetings and 

reports the materials at Board meetings.
According to the instructions for the financial 

reporting, the CEO is responsible for the financial re-
porting in the Company and consequently must ensure 
that the Board of Directors receives adequate informa-
tion for the Board of Directors to be able to evaluate 
the Company’s financial position continuously.

The CEO must continuously keep the Board of Di-
rectors informed of the development of the Company’s 
operations, the development of sales, the Company’s 
result and financial position, liquidity and credit situa-
tion, important business events and any other event, 
situation or circumstances that may be material to the 
Company’s shareholders.

The CEO and other senior executives are presen-
ted in section “Board of Directors, executive manage-
ment and auditor”.

REMUNERATION TO BOARD MEMBERS, 
CEO AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

REMUNERATION TO BOARD MEMBERS
Fees and other remuneration to Board Members, in-
cluding the Chairman, are decided by the Annual Ge-
neral Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting on 3 De-
cember 2019, it was decided that the Chairman of the 
Board shall be paid remuneration in the amount of SEK 
100,000 and other members who are not employees 
of the Company in the amount of SEK 50,000 each. 
Board Members are not entitled to any benefits once 
their assignment as Board Members has ended.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD 
REMUNE-

RATION

SALARY/
CONSUL-

TANT FEE

VARIABLE 
COMPEN- 

SATION
PENSION 

COSTS
OTHER  

BENEFITS TOTAL

Ole Salsten,  
Chairman of the Board

100,000 - - - - 100,000

Fredrik Bergmann 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Anders Valdemarsson - - - - - -

Carl-Johan Carlsson 50,000 78,300 - - - 128,300

Helena Örnstedt 50,000 - - - - 50,000

TOTAL 250,000 78,300 - - - 328,300

REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2019/20
The table below presents an overview of remuneration to the Board of Directors for the financial year 2019/20.

GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION TO THE CEO 
AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES
In accordance with the Code, a listed company shall an-
nually at the Annual General Meeting establish guideli-
nes for remuneration to the CEO and senior executives. 
The Company’s next Annual General Meeting will occur 
after the planned first day of trading of the Company’s 
B shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market 
and, consequently, the Company must adopt such gui-
delines at the next Annual General Meeting.

CURRENT EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE 
CEO AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVESE
The CEO Anders Johansson, the CFO John Wennevid 
and Head of Administration Ann Marie Derengowski 
are since 1 November 2020 employed by Fortino-
va Fastigheter AB (publ). Other senior executives and 
other personnel are employed by Fortinova AB, Com-
pany Reg. No. 556773-8132, a wholly owned subsidia-
ry of Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) since 1 January 
2020, see section “Operational and financial overview 
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levels and other terms of employment for the CEO and 
other senior executives have been made by the Board. 

Prior to the restructuring, the Group had no 
employees. Management services have been included 
in the fee paid by Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) to 
Fortinova AB, see section “Operational and financial 

overview – Restructuring”. For further information on 
the management agreement, see section ”Legal issues 
and supplementary information – Management”.

The table below presents the remuneration paid 
to the Group’s senior executives for the financial year 
that ended 31 August 2020. There is no variable com-
pensation paid.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

NAME
BASIC  

SALARY
PENSION 

COSTS
OTHER  

BENEFITS TOTAL

Anders Johansson, CEO 882,972 173,385 103,016 1,159,373

Other senior executives (three people) 2,114,370 305,697 35,848 2,455,915

TOTAL 2,997,342 479,081 138,864 3,615,287

The CEO, Anders Johansson, is entitled to pensi-
on provisions corresponding to 25 per cent of his fixed 
monthly salary. The same applies to the Deputy CEO, 
Anders Valdemarsson. Anders Johansson and Anders 
Valdemarsson are also entitled to occupational group 
life insurance, labor market no-fault liability insuran-
ce, travel insurance, health insurance, home cleaning, 

company car and other benefits in accordance with the 
Company’s current policy.

Other senior executives are entitled to pension 
benefits in accordance with the Company’s current 
policy which means that they are entitled to pension 
provisions corresponding to 4.5 per cent on salary por-
tions up to 7.5 income base amounts and 30 per cent 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

on salary portions above 7.5 income base amounts. 
They are also entitled to insurances and other benefits 
in accordance with the Company’s current policy.

For the CEO and the Deputy CEO, there is a no-
tice period of six (6) months regardless of whether 
the employment is terminated by the Company or the 
employee. For other senior executives, there is a no-
tice period of three (3) months regardless of whether 
the employment is terminated by the Company or 
the employee. However, the Company must, where 
applicable, observe any longer notice period that fol-
lows from the Employment Protection Act (1982:80). 
Neither the CEO nor any other senior executive is en-
titled to severance pay. 

INCENTIVES PROGRAMME
 
The Company currently has no incentives programme. 

INTERNAL CONTROL
 
The framework for internal control is governed by the 
Swedish Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act and 
the Code – which stipulates that information about the 
most important elements in the Company’s system for 
internal control and risk management in connection 
with financial reporting each year must be included in 
the corporate governance report. 

Internal control is a process affected by the Board 
of Directors, the audit Committee, the CEO, the execu-
tive management and other employees and the objec-
tive of the internal control is to, provide a reasonable 
assurance, that the Company’s objectives are achieved 
with respect to effective and efficient operations, re-
liable reporting and compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations. Internal control in financial reporting 
is an integral part of the overall internal control. Ex-
amples include control activities such as the distribu-
tion of functions, reconciliations, approvals, safegu-
arding of asset and control over information systems. 
Internal control of the financial reporting is intended to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of external financial reporting as well as to ensure that 
external financial reporting is prepared in accordance 
with law, applicable accounting standards and other 
requirements for listed companies.

The Board of Directors has the overall respon-
sibility for internal control and must ensure that the 
Company has formalized routines to ensure that esta-
blished principles for financial reporting and internal 
control are complied with. This is implemented formal-
ly through a number of written policies and governing 
documents that regulate financial reporting as well as 
written rules of procedure that define the Board of Di-
rector’s responsibilities and how these responsibilities 
are divided between Board members, the committees 
of the Board and the CEO. The Board has also produ-
ced a special certification scheme and a financial hand-
book that contains principles, guidelines and process 
descriptions for accounting and financial reporting. The 
Board continuously monitors the Company’s financial 

position, the efficiency of the Company’s internal con-
trol and risk management. The Board of Directors also 
has routines for remaining informed of the audit of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts, as well as 
reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s impartiality 
and independence. Responsibility for the ongoing work 
with internal control regarding financial reporting has 
been delegated to the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee regularly reports to the Board of Directors 
in accordance with the established instructions and 
the instructions for financial reporting. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for the quality, 
monitoring and control of Fortinova’s internal control 
and risk management, in particular regarding complian-
ce issues and financial reporting. For more information 
regarding the Audit Committee’s tasks, please see sec-
tion “Corporate Governance – Audit Committee”.

The company has information and communication 
channels that aim to promote the accuracy of financi-
al reporting and enable reporting and feedback from 
the business to the Board of Directors and manage-
ment, for example through governing documents and 
instructions, all of which have been made available and 
are known to the employees concerned. The Board of 
Directors has also adopted an information policy that 
regulates the Company’s disclosure of information. The 
uniform strategy for external communication reduces 
the risk of misinformation, rumors and misunderstan-
dings.

Compliance and the effectiveness of internal con-
trols are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Audit 
Committee ensures that the Board of Directors recei-
ves regular reports on the development of the Compa-
ny’s operations, including the development of the Com-
pany’s results and position, as well as information on 
important events. The Audit Committee also reports 
on these issues at each Board meeting. The Company’s 
compliance with applicable policies and governing do-
cuments is subject to annual evaluation. The results of 
these evaluations are compiled by the Audit Commit-
tee and reported to the Board.

AUDIT
 
The auditor shall review the Company’s annual reports 
and accounting, as well as the management of the Bo-
ard of Directors and the CEO. Following each financial 
year, the auditor shall submit an auditor’s report and 
a consolidated auditor’s report to the Annual Gene-
ral Meeting. Pursuant to the Company’s articles of as-
sociation, the Company shall have not less than one 
and not more than two chartered accountants with 
or without deputy auditors. The Company’s auditor is 
KPMG AB, with Henrik Blom as the principal auditor. 
The Company’s auditor is presented in more detail in 
the section “Board of Directors, executive management 
and auditor”.

During the financial year 2018/19, the total remu-
neration to the Company’s auditor amounted to app-
roximately KSEK 471.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND
OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

GENERAL INFORMATION
 

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, 
the Company’s share capital shall be not less than 
SEK 23,500,000 and not more than SEK 94,000,000, 
and the number of shares shall be not less than 
23,500,000 and not more than 94,000,000. As of 
31 August 2020, the share capital in the Compa-
ny amounts to SEK 33,135,140 divided into a total of 
33,135,140 shares, of which 2,750,000 Series A shares 
and 30,385,140 Series B shares. Each share has a quo-
ta value of SEK 1 102. 

The shares in the Company are issued in two se-
ries, series A and series B. The shares are issued pur-
suant to Swedish law and are denominated in Swedish 
kronor. The shares are paid for in full and freely trans-
ferable.

CERTAIN RIGHTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SHARES
 

The shares in Fortinova have been issued in accordan-
ce with the Swedish Companies Act (2005:551) and the 
rights associated with shares issued by the Company, 
including the rights arising from the Articles of Associ-
ation, can only be changed in accordance with the pro-
cedures specified in this Act.

VOTING RIGHTS
Each share of serie A entitles to ten (10) votes per sha-
re and one share of series B entitles to one (1) vote per 
share. At the Annual General Meeting, each sharehol-
der is entitled to vote for the full number of shares ow-
ned and represented by them.

PREFERENTIAL RIGHTS FOR NEW SHARES, ETC.
Shareholders normally have a preferential right to sub-
scribe for new shares, warrants and convertibles in ac-
cordance with the Swedish Companies Act, unless the 
Annual General Meeting or the Board of Directors deci-
des, with authorization by the Annual General Meeting, 
to deviate from the shareholder’s preferential rights.

RIGHT TO DIVIDEND AND BALANCE IN THE EVENT 
OF LIQUIDATION

All shares in the Company give equal rights to divi-
dends and to the Company’s assets and possible sur-
pluses in the event of liquidation or insolvency without 
preferential rights. 

102  The quota value of the share is calculated by dividing the Company’s share capital of SEK 33,135,140 by the number of outstanding shares (33,135,140 shares).

Resolutions on dividends are decided by the An-
nual General Meeting and payment is arranged by Eu-
roclear Sweden. Dividends may only be paid in such an 
amount that, after payment of the dividend, there is 
full coverage for the Company’s restricted equity and 
only if the dividend appears justifiable with regard to 
(i) the requirements that the nature, scope and risks of 
the business impose on the size of equity and (ii) the 
Company’s and the Group’s consolidation needs, liqui-
dity and position in general (the so-called prudential 
rule). As a general rule, the shareholders may not deci-
de on a dividend of an amount larger than that propo-
sed or approved by the Board of Directors.

The right to dividend accrues to the person who 
on the record date for the dividend determined by the 
Annual General Meeting is registered as a holder of 
shares in the share register kept by Euroclear Sweden. 
If a shareholder cannot be reached for receipt of a divi-
dend, the shareholder’s claim on the Company remains 
and is limited only by general rules for prescription. In 
the event of prescription, the entire amount goes to 
the Company. 

There are no restrictions regarding the right to 
dividends for shareholders resident outside Sweden 
and the Company does not apply any restrictions or 
special procedures regarding cash dividends to these 
shareholders. With the exception of any restrictions 
that follow from banking and clearing systems, pay-
ment is made in the same way as for shareholders re-
sident in Sweden. Shareholders who are not domici-
led in Sweden for tax purposes are normally subject to 
Swedish coupon tax, see also the section “Tax issues in 
Sweden”.

INFORMATION REGARDING TAKEOVER OFFERS 
AND REDEMPTION OF MINORITY SHARES

 
Provided that the Company’s shares are admitted to 
trading on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Mar-
ket, the Company’s shares will be covered by the rules 
on public takeover bids issued by the Swedish Corpo-
rate Governance Board (Takeover rules for certain tra-
ding platforms, 1 April 2018). 

A public takeover bid can apply to all or a portion 
of the shares in a company, and can be either volun-
tary or mandatory (so-called bid obligation). An obli-
gation to bid arises when a shareholder, alone or to-
gether with related parties, achieves a holding that 

represents at least three tenths of the voting rights for 
all shares in a company. 

A company may only, after a decision by the ge-
neral meeting, take measures that are likely to impair 
the conditions for the submission or implementation 
of an offer, if the Board of Directors or the managing 
director of the company has good reason to assume 
that such an offer is imminent, or if such an offer has 
been made. 

In the case of a public takeover bid, a shareholder 
must take a position on the bid within the acceptance 
deadline. A shareholder has the right to either accept 
or reject the offer. A shareholder who has accepted a 
public takeover bid is in essence bound by its accep-
tance. However, a shareholder may, under certain con-
ditions, revoke its acceptance, for example if the ac-
ceptance given has been conditional on the fulfilment 
of certain conditions. If a shareholder chooses to re-
ject, or does not respond to, a public takeover bid, the 
shareholder’s shares may be subject to compulsory 
redemption in the event that the bidder obtains a hol-
ding that represents more than nine tenths of the sha-
res in the limited company through the bid. 

Compulsory redemption means that a majority 
shareholder who holds more than nine tenths of the 
shares in a company, regardless of the voting value of 
the shares, has a statutory right to redeem the remai-
ning shares that are not already held by the majority 
shareholder. Correspondingly, the person whose sha-
res can be redeemed has the right to have their sha-
res redeemed by the majority shareholder. The price 
of shares redeemed through compulsory redemption 
can be determined in two ways. If the majority sha-
reholder has submitted a public takeover bid to other 
shareholders which has been accepted by the owner 
of at least nine tenths of the shares, the redemption 
amount shall correspond to the consideration offered 

for the shares, unless special reasons justify otherwi-
se. In other cases, the redemption amount for the sha-
res shall correspond to the price that can be expected 
from a sale of the shares under normal circumstan-
ces. This process for determining reasonable compen-
sation for shares as redemption through compulsory 
redemption forms part of the minority company law 
protection, which aims to create a fair treatment of all 
shareholders. Any disputes about redemption shall be 
assessed by arbitrators.

The shares in the Company are not subject to an 
offer made as a result of a bid obligation, redemption 
right or redemption obligation. The Company’s sha-
res have not been the subject of a public takeover bid 
during the current or previous financial year.

DIVIDEND POLICY
 

Fortinova is a cash flow-oriented real estate company 
and the company’s dividend policy aims to continuous-
ly transfer profits from property management to the 
Company’s shareholders. When assessing the size of 
the dividend, the Company’s investment alternatives, 
financial position and capital structure must be ta-
ken into account. The dividend shall in the long-term 
amount to at least 40 per cent of the profit from pro-
perty management after tax paid.

CENTRAL SECURITIES DEPOSITORY
 

The shares in the Company are registered in a record 
register in accordance with the Swedish Central Secu-
rities Depositories and Financial Instruments Accounts 
Act (1998:1479). This register is maintained by Euroc-
lear Sweden AB, Box 191, 101 23 Stockholm. No share 
certificates have been issued for the Company’s shares.

SHARE CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP
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SHARE CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT
 

The below table presents the historical development of the Company’s share capital during the period of the 
historical financial information in the Prospectus. 

SHARE CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP

CONVERTIBLES, WARRANTS, ETC.103

 
When listing the Company’s Class B shares on Nasdaq 
First North Premier Growth Market, there will be no 
outstanding warrants, convertibles or other share-re-
lated financial instruments in the Company.

ISSUE AUTHORIZATION
 
At the Annual General Meeting of 3 December 2019, the 
Annual General Meeting resolved to authorize the Board 
of Directors to, until the end of the next Annual General 
Meeting, on one or several occasions and with or without 
deviation from the shareholders’ preferential rights, de-
cide on a new issue of shares and/or convertibles and/
or warrants. The authorization may be utilized for a new 

103  Reduction of share capital by MSEK 3 through the share reduction of 60,000 Class A shares. The reduction took place as part of the restructuring in the Company and which is     
        described in the section ”Operational and financial overview – Restructuring”.

issue in cash, in kind, through set-off or with other con-
ditions. New issues that deviate from the shareholders’ 
preferential rights may only take place on market terms. 
The Board of Directors has the right to determine other 
terms for new issues. The purpose of the authorization 
and the reason for deviation from the shareholders’ pre-
ferential rights is to enable the Company to fully or par-
tially finance real estate investments and/or acquisitions 
of property operations by issuing shares as payment in 
connection with agreements on acquisitions or raising ca-
pital for such investments and/or acquisitions. 

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
 
The table below describes the Company’s ownership 
structure as of 31 August 2020. As of the day of the 

NUMBER OF SHARES SHARE CAPITAL

Time Event Price Change 
in num-
ber of 
Class A 
shares

Change in 
number 
of Class B 
shares

Change 
in num-
ber of 
Class C 
shares

Number 
of Class 
A shares 
after the 
trans- 
action

Number 
of Class 
B shares 
after the 
trans- 
action

Num-
ber of C 
shares 
after the 
trans- 
action

Change Total Quota 
value
(SEK)

06/12/2017 Share issue Class A share: 
50 SEK/share
Class B share: 
1,500 SEK/
share

3,438 8,300 - 40,000 255,397 15,660 586,900 15,552,850 50

18/04/2018 Share issue Class A share: 
50 SEK/share
Class B share: 
1,505 SEK/
share

7,500 21,965 - 47,500 277,362 15,660 1,473,250 17,026,100 50

14/11/2018 Share issue Class A share: 
50 SEK/share
Class B share: 
1,535 SEK/
share

12,500 26,400 - 60,000 303,762 15,660 1,945,000 18,971,100 50

23/04/2019 Share issue 1,620 SEK/
share

- 29,490 - 60,000 333,252 15,660 1,474,500 20,445,600 50

12/11/2019 Share issue 1,827 SEK/
share

- 7,677 - 60,000 340,929 15,660 383,850 20,829,450 50

04/12/2019 Conversion of
Class C shares to 
Class B shares

- - 15,660 -15,660 60,000 356,589 - - - -

01/03/2020 Reduction 
in share  
capital103

- -60,000 - - 0 356,589 - -3,000,000 17,829,450 -

01/07/2020 Share issue 1,827 SEK/
share

49,650 31,783 - 49,650 388,372 - 4,071,650 21,901,100 50

28/04/2020 Share issue 1,850 SEK/
share

- 34,338 - 49,650 422,710 - 1,716,900 23,618,000 50

22/06/2020 Split 50:1 N/A 2,432,850 20,712,790 - 2,482,500 21,135,500 - - 23,618,000 1

03/07/2020 Share issue 37.34 SEK/
share

- 5,500,000 - 2,482,500 26,635,500 - 5,500,000 29,118,000 1

14/07/2020 Share issue 37.34 SEK/
share

- 1,874,665 - 2,482,500 28,510,165 - 1,874,665 30,992,665 1

24/08/2020 Share issue 37.34 SEK/
share

267,500 400,000 - 2,750,000 28,910,165 - 667,500 31,660,165 1

26/08/2020 Share issue 37.34 SEK/
share

- 1,474,975 - 2,750,000 30,385,140 - 1,474,975 33,135,140 1

SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER 
OF CLASS 
A SHARES

NUMBER 
OF CLASS 
B SHARES

TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 

SHARES
CAPITAL, 

%
VOTES, 

%

Ica-Handlarnas Förbund 0 5,500,000 5,500,000 16.6 9.5

A2F Fastigheter AB 2,750,000 1,786,650 4,536,650 13.7 50.6

Efort Invest AB 0 1,732,395 1,732,395 5.2 3.0

Kastellporten AB 
(Bygg-Göta) 0 1,504,008 1,504,008 4.8 2.7

Per-Ola Berggren 0 1,250,000 1,250,000 3.8 2.2

Ole Salsten through companies104 0 1,159,272 1,159,272 3.5 2.0

Family Bergmann 
through company105 0 818,000 818,000 2.5 1.4

EPA Business AB 0 775,341 775,341 2.3 1.3

Forsler Holding AB 0 649,999 649,999 2.0 1.1

Göran Nergården 
through company106 0 583,298 583,298 1,8 1,0

Other 0 14,541,177 14,541,177 43,8 25,2

TOTAL 2,750,000 30,385,140 33,135,140 100 100

104  Concerns Nordstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 50 per cent and Salstenen AB in which Ole Salsten’s holding amounts to 90 per cent.
105  Concerns G.F. Bergmann Förvaltning Aktiebolag in which Fredrik Bergmann’s holding amounts to 100 per cent. 
106  Concerns VästkustStugan AB. 

Prospectus Fortinova is controlled direct by the Princi-
pal Owner (A2F Fastigheter), a company owned by the 
deputy CEO of the Company and Board member Anders 
Valdemarsson as well as the CEO of the Company Anders 
Johansson. As of 31 August 2020 the holding of the Prin- 
 

cipal Owner amounted to 13.7 per cent of the capital of 
the Company and 50.6 per cent of the votes of the Com-
pany. For information on Board Members’ and senior ex-
ecutives’ shareholdings in the Company, see the section 
”Board of Directors, executive management and auditor”.

COMMITMENT TO REFRAIN FROM SELLING SHARES

The Principal Owner, the Board of Directors and the ma-
nagement have entered into commitments not to sell, 
pledge or otherwise dispose of their shares in the Com-
pany for a certain period, so-called “lock-up”. The com-
mitment covers a period of 360 days after first day of 
trading. ICA-handlarnas Förbund Finans AB has entered 
into a corresponding lock-up commitment that covers a 
period of 180 days after first day of trading. The lock-up 
commitments are not applicable in the event of, for ex-
ample, withdrawal of shares in the Company, transfer 
of the shares to related parties (if such related parties 
undertake to be bound by corresponding lock-up com-
mitments) or in connection with a public offer made re-
garding the shares in the Company. Exception from the 
lock-up commitments may be admitted by SEB discre-
tionary on a case-by-case basis. The reasons for such 
requests for exceptions from the lock-up commitment 
may be of both personal and business nature. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT
 
As far as the Company’s Board of Directors is aware, 
there is one agreement between the Principal Owner 
and one of the Company’s major shareholders. Under 
the agreement the Principal Owner has undertaken 
to, until whichever date comes first (i) the listing of the 
Company’s share for trading on a market place or (ii) 
12 months from the date of the agreement, not to sell, 
offer to sell, agree upon selling, issue an option or any 
arrangement similar hereto with the purpose of selling 
the shares of the Principal Owner. In accordance with its 

terms, this agreement will be terminated immediately in 
connection with the Company’s B shares being listed on 
Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market. Apart from 
this, the Company’s Board of Directors is not aware of 
any shareholder agreements between the Company’s 
shareholders that aim at joint influence over the Compa-
ny. Moreover, the Company’s Board of Directors is not 
aware of any agreements or corresponding agreements 
that could lead to a change in control of the Company.

DILUTION AT OFFERING AND 
THE OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION
 
The final price per share in the Offering is determined 
within the price range SEK 40 – 44, compared to the 
Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) per share of SEK 
39.48 as per 31 August 2020. Please refer to section 
“Selected historical financial information – Definitions 
of key performance measures not defined in accordan-
ce with IFRS” for definition of Long-term net asset value 
(EPRA NAV) per share. 

In the event that the Offer is fully subscribed, the 
dilution will amount to approximately a maximum of 35 
per cent of the shares and 24 per cent of the votes. If 
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the dilution in 
the Company will amount to a maximum of approxima-
tely 38 per cent of the shares and 26 per cent of the vo-
tes. As per the day of this Prospectus, the share capital 
in the Company amounts to SEK 33,135,140. In the event 
that the Offer is fully subscribed and that the Over-Al-
lotment Option is exercised, the share capital in the 
Company will amount to SEK 53,155,141.

SHARE CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP
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 ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
Articles of Association of Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) (reg. no. 556826-6943). Adopted at 
the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 June 2020.

§1 NAME OF COMPANY

The name of the company is Fortinova Fastigheter AB 
(publ). The company is a public limited liability company.

§2 REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY
The registered office of the company is situated in 
Varberg municipality. 

§3 OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS
The company shall own and manage movable and im-
movable property and activities compatible therewith.

§4 SHARE CAPITAL
The share capital shall be not less than SEK 
23,500,000 and not more than SEK 94,000,000. 

§5 NUMBER OF SHARES
The number of shares shall be not less than 
23,500,000 and not more than 94,000,000.

§6 CLASSES OF SHARES
The shares shall be issued in two classes, shares of 
Class A and shares of Class B.

Shares of either class may be issued up to an 
amount corresponding to the entire share capital of 
the company.

Class A shares shall entitle the shareholder to ten 
(10) votes per share. Class B shares shall entitle the 
shareholder to one (1) vote per share. 

Where the company resolves to issue new sha-
res of Class A and shares of Class B by way of a cash 
issue or a set-off issue, one old share shall entitle the 
holder to pre-emption rights to one new share of the 
same class pro rata to the number of shares previous-
ly owned by the holder (primary pre-emption rights). 
Shares that are not subscribed for pursuant to prima-
ry pre-emption rights shall be offered to all sharehol-
ders for subscription (subsidiary pre-emption rights). 
Unless shares offered in such manner are sufficient for 
the subscription which takes place pursuant to subsi-
diary pre-emption rights, the shares shall be allotted 
among the subscriber’s pro rata to the total number 
of shares previously owned. Where this is not possible 
with respect to a particular share, shares shall be allot-
ted through drawing of lots.

Where the company resolves to issue only Class 

A or Class B shares, by way of cash issue or set-off, 
all the shareholders, irrespective of the series of sha-
re, shall hold pre-emption rights to subscribe for new 
shares pro rata to the number of shares previously 
owned.

Where the company resolves to issue warrants or 
convertibles by way cash issue or set-off, the sharehol-
ders hold pre-emption rights to subscribe for warrants 
as if the issue concerned the shares available for new 
subscription based on the right of option or pre-emp-
tion right to subscribe for convertibles as if the issue 
concerned the shares with which the convertibles may 
be swapped.

The provisions above shall not entail any restric-
tions on the possibility for the company to adopt a re-
solution regarding a cash issue or set-off issue without 
regard to shareholders’ pre-emption rights.

Upon an increase in the share capital by way of 
a bonus issue, new shares of each class shall be issu-
ed pro rata to the number of shares of the same class 
which are already in existence. In relation thereto, old 
shares of a particular class shall entitle the holder to 
pre-emption rights to new shares of the same class. 
The aforementioned shall not entail any restrictions 
on the possibility for the company to issue shares of a 
new class through a bonus issue, following any neces-
sary amendments to the articles of association.

§7 BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Board of Directors shall comprise of not less than 
five (5) and not more than seven (7) board members. 
The Board of Directors is elected annually at the same 
Annual General Meeting for the period until the end of 
the next Annual General Meeting.

One (1) or two (2) auditors with or without deputy 
auditors are appointed to review the company’s annu-
al report and accounts as well as the board’s and the 
CEO’s administration. The company’s auditor must be a 
chartered auditor.

§8 NOTICE TO ATTEND GENERAL MEETINGS
Notice of a general meeting shall be given through an 
announcement in Swedish National Gazette (Sw. Post- 
och Inrikes tidningar). The notice must be announced in 
Dagens Industri. 

Notice to an Annual General Meeting or 

Extraordinary General Meeting where amendments to 
the Articles of Association are to be considered shall 
be given no earlier than six (6) and no later than four 
(4) weeks before the meeting. 

Notice to another Extraordinary General Meeting 
shall take place no earlier than six (6) and no later than 
two (2) weeks before the meeting.

To be entitled to participate in a General Meeting, 
shareholders shall, notify the company no later than 
the day that has been announced in the notice of the 
General Meeting. The latter mentioned day must not 
be a Sunday, any other public holiday, Saturday, Mid-
summer’s Eve, Christmas Eve or New Year’s Eve and 
must not be more than five working days before the 
General Meeting.

Shareholders may be accompanied at the General 
Meeting by a maximum of two assistants, on the con-
dition that the shareholder notifies the company of the 
number of assistants in the manner stated in the pre-
ceding paragraph.

§9 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting shall be held annually 
within six months after the end of the financial year.
The following matters shall be addressed at the Annual 
General Meeting:

1. Election of a chairman of the meeting.
2. Preparation and approval of the voting register.
3. Approval of the agenda.
4. Election of one or two persons to attest the minutes.
5. Determination of whether the meeting was duly 

convened.
6. Presentation of annual report and auditor’s re-

port and, where applicable, the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and the consolidated auditor’s 
report.

7. Resolution:
 a) Regarding adoption of the income statement

  and balance sheet and, where applicable, the  
 consolidated income statement and consolida- 
 ted balance sheet.

 b) Regarding allocation of the company’s profit or  
 loss according to the adopted balance sheet.

 c) Regarding discharge from liability for the
  board members and the CEO. 
8. Determination of fees for the board of directors 

and the auditor.
9. Election of the board of directors, and auditors 

when this is to take place.
10. Any other business incumbent on the meeting ac-

cording to the Swedish Companies Act or the ar-
ticles of association.

§10 FINANCIAL YEAR
The Company’s financial year is 1 September to 31 August.

§11 SHARE CONVERSION CLAUSE 
Class A shares may be converted to Class B shares. Re-
quests for conversion must be made in writing to the 
Company’s board. The request shall state how many 
shares which are to be converted and, if the conver-
sion does not refer to the owner’s entire holding of 
Class A, which of these shares the conversion refers 
to. The conversion must be reported for registration 
without delay and is executed when registration has 
taken place and is recorded in the share register. In the 
event that share certificates have been issued, they 
must be exchanged as soon as possible thereafter.

§12 RECONCILIATION RESERVATIONS
The Company’s shares shall be registered in a central 
securities depository register in accordance with the 
Swedish Central Securities Depositories and Financial 
Instruments Accounts Act (1998:1479).

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
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LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
AND SUPPLEMENTARY

INFORMATION
LEGAL GROUP STRUCTURE
 
The registered name of the Company is Fortinova 
Fastigheter AB (publ) and the Company’s LEI code is 
549300H8ZDTNCZ8PPJ25. The Company’s registration 
number is 556826-6943 and the registered office of 
the Company is in Varberg municipality. The Company 
is a Swedish public limited liability company, affiliated 

 
 
with Euroclear Sweden, and its form of association is 
regulated by the Swedish Companies Act. The Compa-
ny’s address is c/o Fortinova AB, Norrgatan 10, 432 41 
Varberg. The Company was established on 18 Novem-
ber 2010 and registered by the Swedish Companies 
Registration Office on 19 November 2010.

COMPANY COMPANY REG. NO.

Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) 556826-6943

100% Fortinova AB 556773-8132

100% Fortinova Bostäder 1 AB 556664-7565

100% Fortinova Bostäder 2 AB 556648-2344

100% Fortinova Bostäder 3 AB 556888-2541

100% Fortinova Bostäder 4 AB 556508-4828

100% Fortinova Bostäder 6 AB 556688-3087

100 % KB Fortinova Fastigheter i Tvååker 916552-5149

100% Fortinova Bostäder 7 AB 556546-9870

100 % KB Buster 969651-5528

100% Fortinova Kommersiella 1 AB 556899-0948

100 % Kommanditbolaget Varbergsvalen 916852-3117

100% Fortinova Kommersiella 2 AB 556916-5987

100% Fortinova Kommersiella 4 AB 556945-9703

100% Fortinova Bostäder 8 AB 556951-8268

100% Fortinova Bostäder 9 AB 556835-5688

100% Fortinova Bostäder 13 AB 559023-7581

100% Fortinova Bostäder 14 AB 556749-0817

100% Fortinova Bostäder 15 AB 556885-7477

100% Fortinova Bostäder 17 AB 559036-1431

100% Fortinova Bostäder 20 AB 556969-8524

100% Fortinova Bostäder 22 AB 559084-6209

100% Fortinova Bostäder 101 AB 559100-1770

100% Fortinova Bostäder 110 AB 559099-4611

100% Fortinova Bostäder 111 AB 559065-0247

100% Fortinova Bostäder 112 AB 559080-6112

The Company’s group structure is shown below. 

THE COMPANY’S OBJECTIVES
 
According to Fortinova’s Articles of Association, the 
Company shall own and manage movable and immova-
ble property and activities compatible therewith.

ESSENTIAL AGREEMENTS
 
In addition to what is stated below, the Company has 
not entered into any agreement of major importan-
ce during the past two years. No separate agreement 
in the below described categories is considered to in 
itself be essential, however the rental agreements, 
the acquisition agreements and the financing agre-
ements is considered, in each category to be essential 
as a whole.  Furthermore, in addition to what is sta-
ted below, there is no established agreement in place 
within the Company containing any right or obligation 
that is of material importance to the Company per the 
date of this Prospectus.

RENTAL AGREEMENTS 
The Company’s operations consist of owning, mana-
ging and developing premises and residential proper-
ties in Western Sweden. The Company manages just 
over 1,800 residential tenancies. The Company is not 
dependent on any individual residential lease agre-
ements – however, the Company is dependent of the 
residential lease agreements as a whole. A standard 
rental agreement is used as a template containing the 
usual terms for tenancies. The Company continuous-
ly monitors and negotiates all rental agreements in 
accordance with the requirements of the Land Code 
(1970:994).

The Company manages just over 100 commercial 
tenancies. Rental income from the ten largest commer-
cial rental agreements constitutes approximately half 
of the total rental income from the Group’s commercial 

tenancies. The Company does not use a standard con-
tract template for commercial tenancies, however, the 
contracts are usually based on the Property Owners’ 
template regarding commercial tenancies. The tenan-
cies are normally entered into for a period of at least 
three years.

For a more detailed review of the risks associated 
with the tenancies, see section “Risk Factors”.

ACQUISITION AGREEMENTS
During the period covered by the historical financial 
information in the Prospectus, the Group acquired a 
number of properties. The acquisitions have taken pla-
ce in part directly through the acquisition of proper-
ties but mainly indirectly through the acquisition of 
shares in property-owning companies. The following 
companies are some of those acquired; Tulvit Fastighe-
ter AB, Nimo Fastigheter AB, Rolandos Fastighets AB, 
Banmästaren 12 AB, Söndagen i Uddevalla AB, Friberg 
Fastigheter i Uddevalla AB, Kynningsrud Karlstad 2 
AB, Alserio Holding AB, Allhem AB, Kepler AB, KB Ban-
dyspelaren nr 151 and Marmor 4 i Varberg AB. In the 
financial year 2019/20, the direct and indirect acquisi-
tions comprise about ten properties.

The Company is not dependent on any individu-
al acquisition agreement – however, the Company is 
dependent of the acquisition agreements as a whole. 
In the acquisition agreements, customary guarantees 
and limitations of liability have been provided. Histo-
rically, no significant warranty claims have been made 
against the Group and the Group is not aware of any 
ongoing or forthcoming warranty claims or other sig-
nificant obligations directed at the Group. For a more 
detailed review of the risks associated with the above 
acquisitions, see section “Risk Factors”.

100% Fortinova Bostäder 113 AB 556672-2079

100% KB Fortinova Fastigheter i Uddevalla 916843-8803

100% Fortinova Bostäder 31 AB 556286-2408

100% Fortinova Bostäder 30 AB 556350-3977

100% Fortinova Bostäder 34 AB 559251-7444

100% Kepler AB 556539-7659

100% KB Fortinova Fastigheter i Göteborg 916446-7798

100% Fortinova Bostäder 35 AB 559267-0367

100% Fortinova Bostäder 36 AB 559267-0409

100% Fortinova Bostäder 104 AB 559149-2706

100% Fortinova Bostäder 32 AB 556915-3181

100% Badhuset Holding i Lilla Edet AB 559147-3607

 100% KB Badhuset Fastighetsbolag 916894-9569 

100% Strömmen Holding i Lilla Edet AB 559147-3573

 100% Kommanditbolaget Fortinova Fastigheter i Lilla Edet 916568-0175 

100% Fortinova Bostäder 105 AB 559149-4132

100% Fortinova Bostäder 106 AB 559149-2714

LEGAL ISSUES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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FINANCING AGREEMENTS
Through the Group’s various subsidiaries, Fortinova 
has entered into loan and credit agreements and other 
agreements to finance, above all, the Group’s proper-
ty acquisitions. Loan and credit agreements have been 
entered into exclusively with Swedish banks and len-
ders and have been entered into on terms customary 
for the industry. Collateral has normally been provided 
in the form of a mortgage on a property. The Compa-
ny is not dependent on any individual financing agre-
ement – however, the Company is dependent of the fi-
nancing agreements as a whole.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS
 
The Company has no significant intellectual proper-
ty rights. The Company’s registered company name is 
Fortinova Fastigheter AB and the Company markets 
itself under the Fortinova brand with the associated 
logo. The Company has a website and owns the do-
main fortinova.se.

DISPUTES
 
The Company is not, and has not in the last twelve 
months been involved in any government proceedings, 
legal proceedings or arbitration proceedings (including 
pending cases or cases which the Company is aware 
may arise), which have recently had or could have a 
significant impact on the Company’s financial posi-
tion or profitability. The Company and its Board of Di-
rectors are unaware that any such official procedure, 
legal procedure or arbitration procedure could arise. 

INSURANCE
 
According to the Company’s Board of Directors, 
Fortinova holds customary insurances for the industry, 
which according to the management’s assessment pro-
vides an adequate insurance coverage for the activities 
that the Company conducts on the day of this Prospec-
tus. Per the date of the Prospectus, according to the 
Company, there is no insurance requirement of materi-
al importance to Fortinova.

PLACING AGREEMENT
 

The Company, the Principal Owner and SEB will enter 
into a Placing Agreement regarding the Offering. Ac-
cording to the Placing Agreement, which is intended to 
be entered into on or around 18 November 2020, the 
Company undertakes to issue the Class B shares in-
cluded in the Offering which shall be allocated to the 
general public and investors mediated by SEB. The 
Company further undertakes to, at the request of SEB, 
issue additional B shares through a directed issue, the 

Over-Allotment Option. The price for the B shares in 
the Over-Allotment Option shall correspond to the Of-
fering Price. The Over-Allotment Option can be used to 
cover any over-allotment in connection with the Offe-
ring. The Class B shares which may be issued in accor-
dance with the Over-Allotment Option may also, at the 
request of SEB, be used for stabilization measures. The 
Principal Owner commits to lend to SEB Class B-shares 
within the Over-Allotment Option until the Company 
has decided to issue the corresponding amount of sha-
res, where after SEB has committed to return the lo-
aned shares to the Principal Owner. 

The Company makes customary guarantees and 
commitments to SEB through the Placing Agreement, 
mainly regarding the accuracy of the Prospectus and 
the Offering and the lack of legal or other restrictions 
that prevent the Company from entering into the Pla-
cing Agreement or implementing the Offering. If the 
guarantees and commitments are not correct or fulfil-
led at the time of the Offering, delivery and payment 
of shares according to the Offering cannot be carried 
out. Termination of the Placing Agreement, which 
would entail that the Offering could not be performed, 
may occur if essentially negative events occur in the 
market. According to the Placing Agreement, the Com-
pany also undertakes to hold SEB indemnified against 
claims under certain conditions. According to the Pla-
cing Agreement, the Company further undertakes aga-
inst SEB not to, during a period of 180 days from first 
day of trading, without permission from SEB, (i) issue, 
offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell or otherwise trans-
fer or sell, directly or indirectly, any shares in the Com-
pany or any other securities that are convertible into 
or can be used or exchangeable for such shares, or (ii) 
purchase or sell any option or other security or enter 
into any swap or other agreement that would entirely 
or partly transfer to another person the economic risk 
associated with the ownership of shares in the Com-
pany. The commitment is subject to exemptions. The 
Company may, for instance, decide upon implemen-
tation of any employee incentive plan, issue of shares 
within the Offering and the Over-Allotment Option and 
new issue related to the acquisition of share or assets 
in or from another company. 

STABILIZATION
 
SEB may carry out transactions in connection with 
the listing of the Company’s B shares on Nasdaq First 
North Premier Growth Market, which may result in 
the share price being maintained at a higher level than 
would otherwise be the case. Such stabilization measu-
res are intended to support the share price and may be 
taken from the first day of trading in the Class B shares 
on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market and 30 
calendar days thereafter. The stabilization measures 

LEGAL ISSUES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

NAME
CURRENT 
HOLDING

SUBSCRIPTION 
COMMITMENT 

MSEK

SUBSCRIPTION
COMMITMENT,

NUMBER OF 
CLASS B

SHARES107 

PERCENTAGE
OF THE
TOTAL

OFFERING108 

PERCENTAGE
OF SHARES  
AFTER THE  

OFFERING109  

PERCENTAGE
OF VOTES  

AFTER THE  
OFFERING110 

Fastighets AB 
Balder 0  200–220 5,000,000 24.98–27.47 9.41–9.74 6.42–6.57

SEB Fonder 0 91–100 2,280,000 11.39–12.53 4.29–4.44 2.93–3.00

ICA-handlarnas 
Förbund Finans AB

5,500,000
Class B
shares 80–88 2,000,000 9.99–10.99 14.11–14.61 9.63–9.86

Kastellporten AB 
(Bygg-Göta)

1,589,008
Class B
shares 40–44 1,000,000 5.00–5.49 4.87–5.04 3.32–3.40

Andra
AP-Fonden 0 24–26 600,000 3.00–3.30 1.13–1.17 0.77–0.79

TOTAL

7,089,008 
Class B 
shares 435–479 10,880,000 54.35–59.78 33.80–35.00 23.07–23.62

107   The percentage is calculated based on the Offering being fully subscribed, the Over-Allotment Option being exercised and that the price per share in the Offering will be SEK 44.
108  The percentage is calculated based on the Offering being fully subscribed and the Over-Allotment Option being exercised.
109  The percentage is calculated based on the Offering being fully subscribed and the Over-Allotment Option being exercised. 
110   The percentage is calculated based on the Offering being fully subscribed and the Over-Allotment Option being exercised.

may lead to the market price of the shares reaching a 
level that is not sustainable in the long-term and that 
exceeds the price that would otherwise prevail in the 
market. The possibility of implementing stabilization 
measures does not guarantee that such measures will 
actually be taken and if such measures are taken, they 
may be suspended at any time during the process. The 
market will be informed about implemented stabiliza-
tion measures and the outcome of such.

ANCHOR INVESTORS
 
The Anchor Investors have made commitments to the 
Company to subscribe for Class B shares in the Offering 
corresponding to a maximum of approximately MSEK 
479, i.e. approximately a maximum of 60 per cent of 
the total Offering. The commitments are conditional on 

the Offering being fully subscribed, that each Anchor 
Investor receives full allotment corresponding to each 
Anchor Investors commitment, that the Offering Price 
will not exceed SEK 44, that the first day of trading of 
the Company’s shares is on 19 November 2020 and that 
Nasdaq’s requirements for the listing of the Company’s 
Class B shares on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth 
Market will be fulfilled. The Anchor Investors receive no 
compensation for their commitments.

The Anchor Investors’ commitments are not secu-
red by bank guarantee, blocking funds, pledge or similar 
arrangements, which is why there is a risk that the An-
chor Investors’ commitments, in whole or in part, will 
not be able to be fulfilled. For additional risks associated 
with Anchor Investors, see section ”Risk Factors”. 

The table below shows the Anchor Investors’ sub-
scription commitments. 

LEGAL ISSUES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
 
The Company has identified the company’s manage-
ment in the Company, the Board of Directors of the 
Company and the Company’s subsidiaries as related 
parties to the Company.  According to the Company, all 
transactions with related parties have taken place on 
market terms.

RENT
As a tenant, the Company has a commercial rent 

agreement with Kasematten Fastighets AB regarding 
a commercial tenancy for the Company’s head office. 
Kasematten Fastighets AB is a company outside of the 
Group under the proprietorship of the Principal Owner, 
which in turn is owned by Fortinova’s Board Member 
Anders Valdemarsson and CEO Anders Johansson. The 
total remuneration that the Company has paid to Ka-
sematten Fastighets AB has amounted to SEK 331,672 
for the financial year 2017/18, SEK 376,073 for the fi-
nancial year 2018/19 and SEK 393,285 for the financial 
year 2019/20.

http://fortinova.se
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MANAGEMENT
The management of all properties in Fortinova’s pro-
perty portfolio is administrated primarily by Fortinova 
AB, a wholly owned subsidiary of Fortinova Fastighe-
ter AB (publ) since year-end 2019. For further informa-
tion, see section ”Operational and Financial Overview - 
Restructuring”. The total remuneration that the Group 
has paid to Fortinova AB has amounted to KSEK 21,671 
for the financial year 2017/18, KSEK 18,190 for the fi-
nancial year 2018/19 and KSEK 19,321 for the financial 
year 2019/20.

Fortinova AB manages properties owned by Ka-
sematten Fastighets AB, which, as mentioned above, is 
a company that is outside of the Group and is owned 
by parties close to the Company. The total revenue 
that Fortinova AB has received from Kasematten 
Fastighets AB and its subsidiaries has amounted 
to SEK 198,073 for the financial year 2017/18, SEK 
208,475 for the financial year 2018/19 and SEK 
182,250 for the financial year 2019/20.

Fortinova AB also carries out management servi-
ces for A2F Fastigheter AB, a company owned by the 
Company’s related parties. The agreement was ente-
red into on 1 January 2020. A2F Fastigheter pays com-
pensation for the services of SEK 450 excluding VAT 
per hour worked. Fortinova AB has not been conduc-
ting any services under the agreement during the fi-
nancial year 2019/20.  

CONSULTANCY AGREEMENT
On 1 May 2020, the Company signed an agreement 
with a company related to Board Member Carl-Johan 
Carlsson, regarding work in addition to Carl-Johan 
Carlsson’s work as a Board Member of the Company, 
primarily regarding strategy work prior to the Com-
pany’s listing on Nasdaq First North Premier Growth 
Market. The consulting agreement runs until further 
notice and Fortinova pays a remuneration for the as-
signment of SEK 1,800 excluding VAT per hour worked. 
The total remuneration that the Company has paid to 
the company of Carl-Johan Carlsson, as for the above- 
mentioned services, is amounting to SEK 78,300 for 
the financial year 2019/20.  

ADVISER’S INTERESTS
 
SEB provides financial advice and other services to 
the Company in its capacity as Global Coordinator and 
Bookrunner. The total remuneration to SEB is partly 
dependent on the outcome of the Offering. SEB has 
provided, and may in the future continue to provide, 
various banking, financial, investment, commercial and 
other services for which SEB has received, or may re-
ceive, remuneration.

The law firm Vinge KB has acted as legal advisor 
in connection with the Offering and may provide addi-
tional legal advice to the Company.

CERTIFIED ADVISER
 
All companies applying to be listed on Nasdaq First 
North Premier Growth Market must consult a Certified 
Adviser, who will supervise the company and monitor 
the company’s disclosure of information and complian-
ce with applicable regulations. FNCA Sweden AB is the 
Company’s certified adviser. FNCA Sweden AB does 
not own any shares in the Company.

COSTS FOR THE OFFERING
 
Fortinova’s costs attributable to the Offering are es-
timated to amount to maximum approximately MSEK 
38. Such costs are primarily attributable to costs for 
remuneration to the Global Coordinator and Bookrun-
ner, auditors, legal advisers, printing of the Prospectus, 
costs related to presentations by the company mana-
gement, etc. The Company will also reimburse SEB, in 
its capacity as Global Coordinator and Bookrunner, for 
the external costs incurred by SEB for work in connec-
tion with the Offering. 

APPROVAL OF THE PROSPECTUS  
 
The Offering and the Prospectus are governed by 
Swedish law. The courts of Sweden have exclusive ju-
risdiction to settle any conflict or dispute arising out 
of or in connection with the Offering or the Prospec-
tus. A separate prospectus in Swedish (the “Swedish 
Prospectus”) has been approved and registered by the 
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority as the com-
petent authority in accordance with the Prospectus 
Regulation. This English language Prospectus consti-
tutes a translation of the Swedish Prospectus. In the 
event of any discrepancies between the Prospectus 
and the Swedish Prospectus, the Swedish Prospectus 
shall prevail.

DOCUMENTS KEPT AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
 
Copies of the following documents may be inspected 
during the Prospectus’ period of validity at the Compa-
ny’s office (Norrgatan 10, 432 41 Varberg) during regu-
lar office hours: 

 ■ The Company’s articles of association and certifica-
te of registration;

 ■ The Company’s annual reports for the financial 
years 2017/18 and 2018/19 (including audit 
reports);

 ■ The Company’s year-end report for the period 
1 September 2019–31 August 2020;

 ■ The Prospectus. 
The above documents are also available in electronic 
form on the Company’s website fortinova.se. Other 
than the documents incorporated in the Prospectus 
by reference, see section “Documents incorporated by 
reference”, no information on the Company’s website 
forms part of the Prospectus.

LEGAL ISSUES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

TAX CONSIDERATIONS 
IN SWEDEN

B E L OW I S A S U M M A RY  of certain Swedish tax consequences that may arise as a result of the 
purchase of shares in Fortinova, primarily for natural persons or limited companies that are 
subject to unlimited tax liability in Sweden. This description does not constitute an exhaus-
tive account of all the tax consequences that may arise in this respect. For example, the 
summary does not include shares held by trading partnerships or held as inventory assets in 
commercial activities. Furthermore, the summary does not include the special rules for tax-
free capital gains and tax-free dividends (including the prohibition on deductions for capital 
losses) in the corporate sector that may apply if shares are considered to be business-related 
units. Nor are the special rules that may be applicable to holdings in companies that are or 
have previously been so-called small companies covered. The summary also does not include 
shares that are stored in a so-called investment savings account and that are covered by 
special rules and are taxed at a flat rate. It should also be noted that special tax rules apply to 
certain types of taxpayers, such as investment companies and insurance companies.

Taxation of each individual shareholder depends on 
their specific circumstances. Each shareholder should 
therefore consult a tax adviser for information on the 
consequences that may arise in its individual situation, 
including the applicability and effect of foreign rules 
and tax treaties.

TAXATION OF NATURAL PERSONS ON DIVIDENDS
 
For natural persons who are subject to unlimited tax 
liability in Sweden, dividends on listed shares in the in-
come category capital are taxed at a tax rate of 30 per 
cent. For those who live in Sweden, a preliminary with-
holding tax on dividends is normally applied at 30 per 
cent. The preliminary tax is withheld by Euroclear or, in 
the case of nominee-registered shares, by the Swedish 
nominee.

CAPITAL GAINS TAXATION 
FOR NATURAL PERSONS
 
When listed shares, which the shares in Fortinova are 
intended to become, are sold or otherwise disposed of, 
a taxable capital gain or a deductible capital loss may 
arise. Capital gains are taxed in the income catego-
ry capital at a tax rate of 30 per cent. The capital gain 
or loss is calculated as the difference between the sa-
les compensation, after deduction of sales expenses, 
and the overhead amount. The overhead amount for 
all shares of the same type and variety is calculated 
jointly using the average method. For listed shares, the 

overhead amount may alternatively be determined ac-
cording to the standard method to 20 per cent of the 
sales compensation after deduction of sales expenses.

Capital losses on listed shares are fully deducti-
ble against taxable capital gains on listed and unlisted 
shares and against other listed shareholders’ rights 
realized during the same tax year. However, this does 
not apply to units in mutual funds or special funds 
that only contain Swedish receivables (”fixed income 
funds”). Any capital loss that cannot be set off as abo-
ve may be deducted by up to 70 per cent against other 
income in the income category capital. If a deficit ari-
ses in the income category capital, a tax reduction is 
allowed against municipal and state income tax as well 
as property tax and municipal property tax. Tax reduc-
tion is allowed with 30 per cent of the part of the de-
ficit that does not exceed KSEK 100 and 21 per cent of 
the remaining part. Such a deficit cannot be saved for 
later tax years.

TAXATION OF LIMITED COMPANIES  
ON DIVIDENDS AND CAPITAL GAINS
 
For a limited company, all income, including taxable ca-
pital gains and dividends, in the income category bu-
siness operations is currently taxed at 21.4 per cent. 
Capital gains and capital losses are calculated in the 
same way as described above for natural persons. De-
ductible capital losses on shares may only be deducted 
against taxable capital gains on other securities that 
are taxed in the same way as shares. Such a capital 

http://fortinova.se
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loss can also, if certain conditions are met, be set off 
against capital gains in companies within the same 
group, provided that there is a group contribution right 
between the companies. A capital loss that cannot be 
utilized in a certain year may be saved and set off aga-
inst taxable capital gains on shares and other co-ow-
nership rights during subsequent tax years without a 
time limit.

CHARACTER CHANGE

SHARES OWNED BY A LEGAL ENTITY
In the corporate sector, special rules apply when busi-
ness-related shares cease to be business-related due 
to market listing, so-called character change. The listed 
shares are then considered to have been acquired for 
the market value when the listing has taken place. The 
entire increase in value up to the listing is thus covered 
by tax exemption. There are no more detailed provi-
sions on how the market value is to be determined in 
the event of a change of character, but it should as a 
rule be most appropriate that the valuation takes place 
on the basis of the issue price at the time of listing. 

SHARES OWNED BY A NATURAL PERSON
For natural persons, unlisted shares (which do not con-
stitute qualified shares in small companies) are taxed 
at 25 per cent. Listed shares are taxed at 30 per cent. 

For natural persons, there is no corresponding 
special regulation as for companies. This means that 
when a unit holding changes from being unlisted to 
market-listed, capital gains and dividends will thereaf-
ter be taxed at 30 per cent. The listing itself, however, 
does not entail any immediate tax consequences. Spe-
cial rules apply if the shares in the company that are 
listed on the market constitute qualified shares in a li-
mited liability company for the owner.

SHAREHOLDERS NOT 
LIABLE FOR TAX IN SWEDEN

TAX ON DIVIDENDS
When paying dividends to shareholders who are not li-
able for tax in Sweden, Swedish coupon tax is normally 
levied at a tax rate of 30 per cent. The tax rate is gene-
rally reduced for shareholders residing in jurisdictions 
with which Sweden has entered into tax agreements. 
Most of Sweden’s tax agreements allow for a tax re-
duction of the Swedish coupon tax to the tax rate de-
termined in the current tax agreement, provided that 
Euroclear or the trustee of the person entitled to such 
a dividend has access to the necessary information. In 
Sweden, the deduction for coupon tax is normally en-
forced by Euroclear or, in the case of nominee-registe-
red shares, by the nominee. In cases where 30 per cent 
coupon tax has been withheld when paying to a sha-
reholder who is entitled to be taxed at a lower tax rate 
or too much coupon tax has otherwise been withheld, 
a refund can be requested from the Swedish Tax Agen-
cy before the end of the fifth calendar year after the 
payment of the dividend.

CAPITAL GAINS TAX
Shareholders who are subject to limited tax liability 
in Sweden and whose shareholding is not attributa-
ble to a permanent establishment in Sweden, capital 
gains are not normally taxed in Sweden on the sale of 
shares. Shareholders may, however, be subject to tax-
ation in their state of domicile. According to a special 
rule, however, natural persons who are subject to limi-
ted tax liability in Sweden may be subject to Swedish 
taxation on the sale of shares if at any time during the 
divestment year or any of the ten previous calendar 
years they have been resident or permanently resident 
in Sweden. However, the applicability of this rule may 
be limited by tax agreements between Sweden and 
other countries.

TAX ISSUES IN SWEDEN

DOCUMENTS  
INCORPORATED  
BY REFERENCE

Fortinova’s annual report for 2017/18 is incorporated by reference and forms part of the Prospectus. 
The following parts of the annual report is incorporated by reference:

 ■ Group statement of changes in equity (p. 10);
 ■ Group income statement (p. 8);
 ■ Group balance sheet (p. 9);
 ■ Group statement of cash flows (p. 11);
 ■ The notes (p. 16–42); and
 ■ The auditor’s report (p. 43–44, appendix 1).

The annual report has been audited by KPMG AB with the chartered accountant Henrik Blom as the principal 
auditor. The auditor’s report does not contain any remarks. The annual report is available during the Prospectus’ 
period of validity on Fortinova’s website, fortinova.se. 
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LIST OF DEFINITIONS
Anchor Investors Fastighets AB Balder, SEB Fonder, ICA-handlarnas Förbund Fi-

nans AB, Kastellporten AB (Bygg-Göta) and Andra AP-fonden.

Code Swedish code for corporate governance.

Euroclear Sweden Euroclear Sweden AB.

Fortinova, the Company or the Group Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), the Group within which 
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) is the parent company or a 
subsidiary of the Group, depending on the context.

GFA Refers to Gross Floor Area. 

Global Coordinator and Bookrunner SEB.

KSEK Thousand Swedish krona.

MSEK Million Swedish krona.

Nasdaq First North Premier Growth Market An alternative marketplace run by the various exchanges 
included in Nasdaq.

Offering The Offering of Class B shares in Fortinova in accordance 
with this Prospectus.

Offering Price The final offering price that is expected is determined within 
the price range SEK 40–44. 

Over-Allotment option Refers to the option issued from the Company to SEB corres-
ponding to an extension of the Offering amounting to an addi-
tional 1,820,000 Class B shares, or for the use for stabilization 
measures.   

Placing Agreement The agreement regarding placing of shares described in the 
section “Legal issues and supplementary information – Placing 
Agreement”.

Price range Refers to the final price per share in the Offering, which will 
be determined within the range SEK 40–44. 

Principal Owner A2F Fastigheter AB.

Prospectus Refers to this Prospectus.

SEB Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ).

SEK Swedish kronor.

Sqm Square meters.

USD US dollars.

Western Sweden Refers to the area in which Fortinova operates as of the day 
of this Prospectus and includes the regions Västra Götaland 
and Halland.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS 2018/19 AND 2019/2000
 

MSEK Note

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 –

31 August 2019

Rental income 8, 9, 10 135.4 125.3

Property costs 11, 12 -58.6 -54.3

Net operating profit 76.8 71.0

Central administrative expenses 12, 13 -13,0 -12.2

Net financial costs

Financial income 14 0.1 0.1

Financial expenses 15 -19.9 -19.1

Net financial items -19.8 -19.0

Profit from property management 44.0 39.8

Value changes

Unrealized changes in value, investment properties 17 41.8 77.4

Realized changes in value, investment properties 5.9 -

Unrealized changes in value, derivatives 24 11.5 -18.0

Value changes 59.2 59.4

Profit before tax 103.2 99.2

Tax 16 -16.8 -22.7

Net profit for the year 86.4 76.5

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 86.4 76.5

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT 
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MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 –

31 August 2019

Net profit according to the income statement 86.4 76.5

Comprehensive income for the period 86.4 76.5

Data per share* 
(no dilution effect occurs)

Average number of shares, KSEK 23,986 19,172

Profit from property management before tax, SEK 1.8 2.1

Net profit, SEK 3.6 4.0

*comparative year recalculated due to 50:1 split completed in June 2020, more information in Note 24. 

GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Group has no other comprehensive income to report. Comprehensive income thus coincides with the profit 
for the year according to the income statement.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GROUP BALANCE SHEET
MSEK Not 31 August 2020 31 August 2019

Assets

Investment properties 17 2,261.2 1,724.6

Leasing agreements, right of use 4.6 -

Other non-current receivables 0.7 0.3

Total non-current assets 2,266.5 1,724.9

Accounts receivable 19 2.2 1.5

Other receivables 20 12.4 0.9

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0.2 1.6

Cash and cash equivalents 21 161.4 49.5

Total current assets 176.2 53.5

Total assets 2,442.7 1,778.4

Shareholder’s equity 22

Share capital 31.0 20.4

Other contributed capital 856.9 453.3

Retained earnings including profit for the year 305.3 232.3

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company 1,193.3 706.0

Total shareholders’ equity 1,193.3 706.0

Liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 23, 30 409.5 733.2

Interest rate derivatives 24, 30 20.3 31.8

Deferred tax liability 18 94.4 75.8

Leasing agreements 4.6 -

Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities 0.5 0.5

Total non-current liabilities 529.3 841.3

Current interest-bearing liabilities 23, 30 681.3 205.3

Accounts payable 18.8 8.9

Tax liabilities 16 1.4 2.3

Other liabilities 2.2 1.2

Accrued expenses and deferred income 26 16.3 13.4                    

Total current liabilities 720.0 221.1

Total liabilities 1,249.3 1,072.4

Total equity and liabilities 2,442.7 1,778.4

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION



125

IN
V

ITATIO
N

 TO
 ACQ

U
IRE SH

A
RES IN

 FO
RTIN

O
VA FA

STIGH
ETER A

B (PU
BL)

124

IN
V

IT
AT

IO
N

 T
O

 A
CQ

U
IR

E 
SH

A
RE

S 
IN

 F
O

RT
IN

O
VA

 F
A

ST
IG

H
ET

ER
 A

B 
(P

U
BL

)

GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

1 September 2018 – 31 August 2019
(MSEK)

Share
capital

Other
paid in
capital

Retained 
earnings
including 
profit for 
the year

Total equity
attributable to 

owners of
the parent

company 
Total

equity

Opening balance at 1 September 2018 17.0 367.8 167.0 551.8 551.8

Equity issues 3.4 85.5 - 88.9 88.9

Dividend - - -11.2 -11.2 -11.2

Net profit /
Comprehensive income for the year - - 76.5 76.5 76.5

Closing balance at 31 August 2019 20.4 453.3 232.3 706.0 706.0

1 September 2019 – 31 August 2020
(MSEK)

Share
capital

Other
paid in
capital

Retained 
earnings
including 
profit for 
the year

Total equity
attributable to 

owners of
the parent

company 
Total

equity

Opening balance at 1 September 2019 20.4 453.3 232.3 706.0 706.0

Equity issues 10.6 339.3 - 349.9 349.9

Unregistered issue of new shares - 80.0 - 80.0 80.0

Expenditure in connection 
with raising capital - -15.7 - -15.7 -15.7

Dividends paid - - -13.4 -13.4 -13.4

Net profit / 
Comprehensive income for the year

- - 86.4 86.4 86.4

Closing balance at 31 August 2020 31.0 856.9 305.3 1 193.3 1 193.3

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

MSEK Note

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 –

31 August 2019

Operating activities

Net operating profit 76.8 71.0

Central administrative expenses -13.0 -12.2

Net financial items -19.2 -18.3

Income taxes paid -2.8 -3.8

Cash flow from operating activities before
changes in working capital

41.8 36.7

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Change in operating receivables 1.0 2.1

Change in operating liabilities -12.9 -5.3

Cash flow from operating activities 30.0                     33.5

Investing activities

Acquisition of investment properties - -36.9

Divestment of investment properties 1.6 -

Investments in investment properties -6.5 -6.0

Acquisition of subsidiaries 28 -369.3 -38.4

Divestment of subsidiaries 16.7 -0,4

Settlement of receivables from subsidiaries sold - 2.8

Cash flow from investing activities -357.5 -78.9

Financing activities

Equity issues 427.9 88.9

Dividend paid -13.4 -11.2

Proceeds from borrowings 52.4 27.8

Repayment of borrowings -27,5 -57,8

Cash flow from financing activities 25 439.4 47.7

Cash flow for the year 111.8 2.3

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 49.5 47,2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21 161.4 49.5

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) reg.no. 556826-6943, 
is a public liability company registered under the laws 
of Sweden, having its registered office in Varberg. The 
company is the parent company of the Fortinova Fastig- 
heter group. 

The board of directors of the company has, on 
5 November 2020, approved these consolidated 
financial statements for publication. 

Note 1 Compliance with standards and laws
The consolidated accounts were prepared in accordan-
ce with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) published by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board (IASB) approved for application within the 
EU. The Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recom-
mendation RFR 1 Complementary Accounting rules for 
groups was also applied.

New IFRS that have not yet been applied
The new standards and interpretations that apply 
from 1 January 2020 have not yet been applied. These 
are not expected to have any significant effect on the 
Group’s financial statements.

Changed accounting principles caused by new or 
amended IFRS 
Below is a description of the changed accounting prin-
ciples that the Group has applied from 1 September 
2018. Other amendments to IFRS with application 
from 1 September 2018 have not had any significant 
effect on the Group’s accounts. 

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leasing replaces the existing IFRS related to 
the recognition of leases, such as IAS 17 Leases and 
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains 
a lease. 

IFRS 16 mainly affects lessees and the central ef-
fect is that all leases that are currently recognized as 
operational leases must be recognized in a manner si-
milar to the current recognition of financial leases. This 
means that even for operational leases, assets and lia-
bilities must be recognized, with associated recogni-
tion of expenses for depreciation and interest - unlike 
today where no recognition of leased assets and rela-
ted liabilities takes place, and where lease fees are ac-
crued on a straight-line basis as lease expenses. Right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low 
value assets and contracts with a maximum term of 12 
months are exempted from recognition requirements.

The standard entered into force on 1 January 
2019. IFRS 16 has affected the Group through the re-
cognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities re-
lating to a site leasehold of MSEK 4.6. The site lease-
hold is recognized as a financial expense of MSEK 0.1 in 
the income statement. As the Group was not a lessee 
of any significant operational leasing agreements in 
the previous year, the comparison year has not been 
recalculated.

Note 2 Valuation methods used in preparing 
the financial statements
Assets and liabilities are recognized at historical cost, 
apart from investment properties and derivative in-
struments; these are recognized at fair value. 

Note 3 Functional currency and reporting currency
The parent company’s functional currency is Swedish 
kronor (SEK), which is also the reporting currency for 
the parent company and the Group. The financial sta-
tements are therefore presented in Swedish kronor. 
All amounts are rounded off to the nearest million 
(MSEK), unless otherwise specified.

Note 4 Judgements and estimates in the financial 
statements
Preparation of the financial statements using IFRS re-
quires that company management make judgements, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect application of 
the accounting policies and the recognized amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The actual 
outcome may differ from these estimates and judge-
ments.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a re-
gular basis. Changes to estimates are recognized in the 
period when the change is made if the change only af-
fected that period. If the change affects current and 
future periods, it is recognized in the period when the 
change is made and in future periods. 

Judgements made by company management in the 
application of IFRS that have a significant impact on the 
financial statements and estimates made that may lead 
to significant adjustments in the following year’s financi-
al reports are described in more detail in Note 7.

Note 5 Significant accounting policies
The accounting principles set out below have, with the 
exceptions described in more detail, been applied in 
the Group’s financial reports. The Group’s accounting 
principles have also been consistently applied by the 
Group’s companies.

Basis of consolidation and business combinations
Subsidiaries are companies over which Fortinova Fast-
igheter AB (publ) has a controlling influence. Control-
ling influence exists when Fortinova Fastigheter AB 
(publ) has influence over the investment object, is ex-
posed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement and can affect those returns through its 
control over the investment. When judging whether 
the Group has controlling influence, potential shares 
with voting rights are accounted for, i.e., shares that 
can be used immediately or converted without delay.

Acquisitions of properties are often carried out in 
the form of company acquisitions. When such an ac-
quisition is made, consideration is given to whether the 
acquisition is considered a business acquisition. A com-
pany acquisition is a business acquisition if the acqui-
sition, in addition to the property, also relates to other 
resources and processes. When the Company acqui-
sition is not considered to be a business combination, 
it is reported as an acquisition of assets and liabilities 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

and the acquisition value is allocated to the assets and 
liabilities based on their fair values. The deferred tax 
initially deducted does not affect the valuation for sub-
sequent reporting dates.

Subsidiaries are recognized using the acquisition 
method. The method implies that acquisition of a sub-
sidiary is considered a transaction by which the Group 
indirectly acquires the subsidiary’s assets and assumes 
its liabilities. An acquisition analysis determines the 
fair value of identifiable net assets acquired, liabilities 
assumed and any non-controlling interest. Transaction 
costs incurred are recognized and included in the ac-
quisition value upon asset acquisitions.

Intra-group receivables and liabilities, income or 
expenses and unrealized gains or losses arising from 
intra-group transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated in their entirety when preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

Income
Rental income (operational leases)
Rental income from investment properties is reported 
on a straight-line basis in the profit for the year based 
on the terms of the leases. The total cost of benefits 
provided is reported as a reduction in rental income on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the rental agre-
ements.

Income from property sales
Income from property sales is reported when signifi-
cant risks and benefits have been transferred to the 
buyer, normally on the contract or access date. When 
assessing the time of revenue recognition, that which 
has been agreed between the parties regarding risks 
and benefits as well as involvement in day-to-day ma-
nagement is considered. In addition, circumstances 
that may affect the outcome of the transaction which 
are beyond the control of the seller and/or the buyer 
are considered. 

Financial income
Financial income comprises interest income on inve-
sted funds as well as foreign exchange gains and gains 
on changes in the value of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Interest income on financial instruments is recog-
nized using the effective interest rate method.

 
Leasing 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or con-
tains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to con-
trol the use of an identified asset for a period in ex-
change for consideration.

At the beginning of the lease or when reconside-
ring a leasing agreement that contains several com-
ponents - leasing and non-leasing components - the 
Group distributes the consideration according to the 
agreement to each component based on the indepen-
dent price. For leasing of buildings and land where the 
Group is a lessee, however, the Group has chosen not 

to differentiate between non-leasing components and 
reports leasing and non-leasing components that are 
paid in fixed amounts as a single leasing component.

Leases where the Group is a lessee
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially valued at acqui-
sition value, which consists of the initial value of the 
lease liability with the addition of lease fees paid at 
or before the commencement date plus any initial di-
rect expenses. The right-of-use asset is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis from the commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the asset’s useful life and 
the end of the lease term, which in the normal case for 
the Group is the end of the leasing period. In the rarer 
cases where the acquisition value of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Group will exercise an option to 
purchase the underlying asset, the asset is depreciated 
until the end of its useful life.

The lease liability – which is divided into a long-
term and short-term part – is initially valued at the 
present value of the remaining lease fees during the 
assessed lease term. The lease term consists of the 
non-cancellable period with the addition of supple-
mentary periods in the agreement if, at the commen-
cement date, it is deemed reasonably certain that the-
se will be used.

Lease fees are normally discounted at the Group’s 
marginal borrowing rate, which, in addition to the 
Group’s/Company’s credit risk reflects the respecti-
ve agreement’s lease term, currency and quality of the 
underlying asset as intended security. However, in ca-
ses where the implicit interest rate of the lease can be 
easily determined the interest in parts of the Group’s 
leases of vehicles is applied. The lease liability compri-
ses the present value of fixed fees during the assessed 
lease term. The value of the liability is increased by the 
interest expense for the respective period and reduced 
by the lease payments. The interest expense is calcu-
lated as the value of the liability multiplied by the dis-
count rate.

The lease liability for the Group’s premises with 
rent that is index-linked is calculated on the rent that 
applies at end of each reporting period. At this point, 
the liability is adjusted by the corresponding adjust-
ment of the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset. 
Correspondingly, the value of the liability and the value 
of the asset is adjusted in in connection with a reas-
sessment of the lease term. This happens in connec-
tion with the last cancellation date within the previo-
usly assessed lease term for leases for premises being 
passed or alternatively when significant events occur 
or a significant change in circumstances that is within 
the Group’s control and affects the current assessment 
of the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets which do 
not meet the definition of investment properties, and 
lease liabilities as individual items in the statement of 
financial position.

For leases that have a lease term of 12 months 
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or less or with a low-value underlying asset, less than 
KSEK 50 no right-of use asset and lease liability are re-
ported. Lease fees for these leases are recognized as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits in the Group consist 
of salary, social security contributions, paid holidays, 
paid absence due to illness, medical care and bonuses. 
Short-term benefits are recognized as an expense and 
a liability when there is a legal or informal obligation to 
pay a benefit.

For defined contribution pension plans, the Group 
pays contributions to publicly or privately administe-
red pension insurance on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Group has no additional payment 
obligations once the fees have been paid. The fees are 
reported as personnel expenses when they fall due 
for payment. Prepaid fees are reported as an asset to 
the extent that cash repayment or reduction of future 
payments can benefit the Group. 

 
Borrowing expenses
Financial expenses consist of interest expenses on lo-
ans and losses in the event of a change in the value of 
financial assets valued at fair value through profit or 
loss. Interest expenses are reported according to the 
effective interest method. 

Borrowing expenses that are attributable to the 
construction of so-called qualified assets are capita-
lized as part of the acquisition value of the qualifying 
asset. A qualified asset is an asset that necessarily ta-
kes a significant amount of time to complete. Firstly, 
borrowing expenses incurred on loans that are specific 
to the qualified asset are capitalized. Secondly, bor-
rowing expenses incurred on general loans, which are 
not specific to any other qualified asset, are capitali-
zed. Capitalization of borrowing expenses is mainly 
relevant for the Group in the case of major new, exten-
sions or conversions of investment properties.

Financial assets/liabilities valued at fair value through 
profit or loss
Derivatives with positive/negative values are recogni-
zed in this category. Changes in fair value are reported 
in profit for the year.

Leases related to comparison year
Costs relating to operational leases are reported in 
profit for the year on a straight-line basis over the lea-
se term. Benefits received in connection with the sig-
ning of an agreement are reported in the profit for the 
year as a reduction of the lease fees on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Variable fees are ex-
pensed in the periods in which they arise.

Taxes
Income taxes comprise current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is payable or receivable for the cur-
rent year, according to the tax rates enacted or sub-
stantially enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is calculated using the balance she-
et method, based on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and lia-
bilities. Temporary differences are not considered in 
consolidated goodwill, nor for differences that arose in 
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not 
business combinations and which, at the time of the 
transaction, affect neither accounting nor taxable pro-
fit or loss. In addition, temporary differences are not 
considered that are attributable to interests in Group 
companies that are not expected to be reversed within 
the foreseeable future. Valuation of deferred tax is ba-
sed on how underlying assets or liabilities are expec-
ted to be realized or settled. Deferred tax is calculated 
using the tax rates and rules enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets regarding deductible tempo-
rary differences and loss carry-forwards are only re-
cognized where it is deemed probable that they can be 
used. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced when 
their use is no longer deemed probable.

Financial instruments 
Financial instruments recognized on the balance sheet 
include among assets cash and cash equivalents, loan 
receivables as well as accounts receivable. Among liabi-
lities are accounts payable, borrowings and derivatives. 

Recognition on and derecognition 
from the balance sheet
A financial asset or financial liability is recognized on 
the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. A recei-
vable is recognized when the Group has performed a 
service or supplied a product and the counterparty is 
contractually obliged to pay, even if an invoice has not 
yet been sent. Accounts receivable are entered on the 
balance sheet when an invoice is sent. A liability is en-
tered when the counterparty has rendered a service or 
supplied a product and there is a contractual obliga-
tion to pay, even if an invoice has not yet been recei-
ved. Accounts payable are recognized when an invoice 
is received.

A financial asset is removed from the balance she-
et when the rights in the agreement are realized, expi-
red or when the Group loses control of them. The same 
applies to part of a financial asset. A financial liability is 
removed from the balance sheet when the obligation 
in the agreement is fulfilled or otherwise expires. The 
same applies to a part of a financial liability. 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset 
and reported at the net amount on the balance sheet 
only when there is a legal offset right for the amount 
and the intention is to settle the items at a net amount 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simulta-
neously.

Classification and valuation
Financial instruments are initially recognized at cost 
corresponding to the fair value of the instrument, plus 
transaction costs for all financial instruments apart 
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from those in the category of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss; these are recognized at fair 
value excluding transaction costs. A financial instru-
ment is classified on initial recognition based on, among 
other things, the purpose for which it was acquired. The 
classification determines how the financial instrument is 
valued after initial recognition as described below.

The category to which the Group’s financial assets 
and liabilities are attributed is shown in Note 29.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises deposits held at 
banks.

Loan receivables and accounts receivable
Loan receivables and accounts receivable are non-de-
rivative financial assets that have fixed or determina-
ble payments and are not quoted on an active market. 
These assets are valued at amortized cost. Amortized 
cost is determined using the effective interest rate cal-
culated on the acquisition date. Accounts receivable 
are recognized at the amounts expected to be recei-
ved, that is, less bad debts.

Financial liabilities
Loans and other financial liabilities, such as accounts 
payable, are included in this category. The liabilities 
are valued at amortized cost. Non-current liabilities es-
sentially consist of amounts that at the end of the re-
porting period have an unconditional right to choose to 
pay further in time than twelve months after the end 
of the reporting period. If such a right does not exist 
at the end of the reporting period – or a liability is held 
for sale or a liability is expected to be settled within 
the normal business cycle – the liability amount is re-
ported as a current liability.

Derivative instruments 
The Group’s uses interest rate derivatives to hedge 
against interest rate risk. Derivatives are initially re-
cognized at acquisition value and then measured at fair 
value. Hedge accounting is not applied.

Fair values for derivative instruments are based 
on valuations from an external party that issued the 
instrument. Changes in the value of derivatives are 
reported in the item Interest rate derivatives under 
Changes in value in the income statement and the inte-
rest coupon is reported in the item Financial expenses 
under Net interest income in the income statement.

Operating segment reporting 
An operating segment is a part of the Group that con-
ducts operations from which it can generate revenue 
and incur expenses and for which independent finan-
cial information is available. Profit from an operating 
segment is further monitored by the Company’s hig-
hest executive decision-makers to evaluate the profit 
and to be able to allocate resources to the operating 
segment. See Note 8 for a further description of the 
division and presentation of operating segments.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties that are held for 
the purpose of obtaining rental income or an increa-
se in value or a combination of these two purposes. 
Properties under construction that are intended to be 
used as investment properties when the work is com-
pleted are also classified as investment properties. 

Initially, investment properties are reported at ac-
quisition value, which includes expenses directly attri-
butable to the acquisition. 

Investment properties are reported in the balance 
sheet at fair value. Fair value is based on market value, 
which is the estimated amount that would be obtai-
ned in a transaction at the time of valuation between 
knowledgeable parties who are independent of each 
other and who have the opportunity and interest in 
the transaction being carried out according to custo-
mary marketing and where both parties are presumed 
to have acted insightfully, wisely and without coercion.

Both unrealized and realized value changes are 
reported in the profit for the year. Rental income is re-
ported in accordance with the principles described in 
the income statement section.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is included at acquisition 
value only if it is probable that future economic bene-
fits associated with the asset will flow to the Company 
and the acquisition value can be measured reliably. All 
other subsequent expenditure is reported as an expen-
se in the period in which it arises.

A subsequent expense is added to the acquisition 
value if the expense relates to replacements of identi-
fied components or parts thereof. Even in cases where 
a new component has been created, the expense is ad-
ded to the acquisition value. Repairs are expensed on 
an ongoing basis. 

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Group review its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication if impair-
ment. IAS 36 Impairment of assets is applied for im-
pairment of assets other than financial assets which 
are reported in accordance with IAS 39, investment 
properties reported at fair value in accordance with 
IAS 40 and deferred tax assets reported in accordance 
with IAS 12. For exempted assets as described above, 
the carrying amount is assessed according to the res-
pective standard.

Impairment of financial assets
On each reporting date, the Company tests whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset is im-
paired. The Company classifies accounts receivable as 
doubtful after an individual assessment. The impair-
ment requirement for receivables is determined based 
on historical experience of customer losses on similar 
receivables. Accounts receivable subject to impairment 
are recognized at the present value of expected future 
cash flows. However, receivables with short maturities 
are not discounted.
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Reversal of impairment losses
Impairment losses on assets included in the application 
area for IAS 36 are reversed if there are any indications 
that the need for impairment is no longer present and 
there has been a change in assumptions underlying the 
estimation of the recoverable amount. A reversal only 
occurs to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized.

Impairment of loan receivables and accounts re-
ceivable that are recognized at amortized cost are 
reversed if the previous reasons for write-downs no 
longer exist and full payment from the customer is ex-
pected to be received. 

Dividends 
Dividends are recognized as a liability when the Annual 
General Meeting has approved the dividend.

Provisions
A provision differs from other liabilities due to uncer-
tainties about the date of settlement or the amount 
required to settle the provision. A provision is recogni-
zed in the balance sheet when there is an existing legal 
or informal obligation due to a past event, it is proba-
ble that economic resources outflow will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably 
estimated.

The amount allocated to a provision is the best 
estimate of what is required to settle the existing 
obligation on the reporting date. When the payment 
date has a material impact, provisions are calculated 
through discounting the expected future cash flow at 
an interest rate before tax that reflects current market 
estimates of the time value of money and, where app-
licable, the risks associated with the liability.

Contingent liabilities 
A contingent liability is recognized when a possible 
obligation due to past events exists and only one or 
more uncertain future events confirm occurrence of 
the obligation or when there is an obligation that is not 
recognized as a liability or provision because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required.

Classification and more
Fixed assets and non-current liabilities essentially 
consist of amounts that are expected to be recovered 
or paid after more than twelve months from the ba-
lance sheet date. Current assets and current liabilities 
essentially consist of amounts that are expected to be 
recovered or paid within twelve months from the ba-
lance sheet date.

Note 6 Information about the parent company
Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) is a Swedish-registe-
red private public limited company with its registered 

office in Varberg, Sweden. The address of the head of-
fice is Norrgatan 10, 432 41 Varberg, Sweden. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year 
2019/20 consist of the parent company and its subsidi-
aries, collectively referred to as the Group. 

Note 7 Important estimates and judgements
Management has discussed the development, selec-
tion and disclosures regarding the Group’s important 
accounting principles and estimates, as well as the 
application of these principles and estimates.

Important sources of uncertainty in estimates
The sources of uncertainty in estimates stated below 
refer to those that entail a significant risk that the 
value of assets or liabilities may need to be adjusted 
significantly during the coming financial year.

Valuation of assets or liabilities at fair value
When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, 
the Group uses observable data to the greatest extent 
possible. Fair values are categorized into different le-
vels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input data 
used in the valuation technique as follows: 
Level 1:  According to prices quoted on an active mar-

ket for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2:  Based on directly or indirectly observable 

market data not included in level 1.
Level 3:  Based on input data that is not observable on 

the market.
Further information on assumptions made in the fair 
value measurement can be found in the following notes: 

 ■ Note 17 Investment properties (ends up in level 3) 
 ■ Note 24 Derivative instruments (ends up in level 2)

Valuation of investment properties at fair value
The valuation is based, as stated in Note 17, on an esti-
mate of future inflows and outflows and a discounting 
of these with regard to a risk-free interest rate and a 
risk premium. All these factors thus constitute judge-
ments about the future and as such are uncertain.

Valuation of derivative instruments at fair value
The Group does not apply hedge accounting for deri-
vative instruments, they thus fall into the category of 
held for sale.  Derivative instruments are valued on 
an ongoing basis at fair value and changes in value are 
recognized in the income statement. The fair values 
of these interest rate derivatives on 31 August 2020 
were estimated by the respective institutions that 
value derivatives.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax on loss carryforwards is only recognized 
as an asset in the Group when it is estimated that the 
deficit can be used against future surpluses.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Segment reporting Halland Västra Götaland Central Total

MSEK 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19

Rental income 78.1 71.6 57.3 53.0 0.0 0.7 135.4 125.3

Property costs -29.5 -26.1 -29.1 -28.2 0.0 0.0 -58.6 -54.3

Net operating profit 48.6 45.5 28.2 24.8 0.0 0.7 76.8 71.0

Net operating margin, % 62% 63% 49% 47%   57%  

Central administrative
expenses

   
-13.0 -12.2 -13.0 -12.2

Net financial costs     -19.8 -19.0 -19.8 -19.0

Profit from property
management 48.6 45.5 28.2 24.8 -32.8 -30.5 44.0 39.8

Profit margin from property 
management, %

      33% 32%

         

Changes in value,
investment properties 34.3 48.6 13.4 28.8

  
47.7 77.4

Changes in value, derivatives     11.5 -18.0 11.5 -18.0

Tax     -16.8 -22.7 -16.8 -22.7

Profit for the year 82.9 94.1 41.6 53.6 -38.1 -71.2 86.4 76.5

Investment property value 1,084.5 1,052.9 1,176.7 671.7 2,261.2 1,724.6

Note 8 Operating segment reporting 
IFRS 8 has a management perspective, which means 
that the information provided in financial reports is de-
cided by what is followed up by the highest executive 
decision-maker regarding the segments based on stra-
tegy, objectives and business plan. The Group’s ope-
rations are organized, managed and reported by geo-
graphical area. Operating segments are consolidated 

according to the same principles as the Group as a 
whole. Income and property expenses that are repor-
ted for each operating segment are actual costs. The 
same applies to the assets reported in the note for 
segments. Costs such as central administration, net 
financial income/expense and changes in the value of 
derivatives as well as tax are allocated to the central 
company function.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 9 Rental income

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Rental income 132.9 123.9

    of which attributable to housing 101.6 93.6

Service income 1.2 0.7

Other income 1.3 0.7

Total 135.4 125.3

Risk diversification, credit risk:
Fortinova has a substantial risk diversification in the 
contract portfolio. In all real estate operations, there 
is a risk of eviction and relocation, which can result in 
expenses for vacancies and affect income. Housing is 
located in growth locations in Western Sweden with 
high demand for housing, which is positive in terms  

of risk. Both the single largest contract and the sing-
le largest tenant account for approximately 2 per cent 
(2) of the Group’s total rental value, which means that 
Fortinova’s exposure to individual tenants’ credit risk 
is very low. 
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Note 10 Leases
Leases attributable to the Group’s investment proper-
ties are to be regarded as operating leases. Income 
includes the fair value of that which will be received 
in the Group’s ongoing operations. Rental income in-
cludes supplements such as invoiced property tax, 
cable TV and heating costs. Rental income is reported 
net with deductions for discounts. Rental income and 
discounts are accrued in accordance with rental ag-
reements and are reported in the period to which the 
lease relates. Prepaid rents are reported as prepaid 
rental income.

The Group as lessor:
Leases where essentially all risks and benefits 

associated with ownership fall on the lessor are classi-
fied as operating leases. All current leases attributable 
to the Group’s investment properties are, from an ac-
counting perspective, to be regarded as operating lea-
ses. Most of the Group’s properties consist of housing, 
approximately 81 per cent of the total area consists of 
housing. The housing contracts have a notice period of 
3 months, which means that the rental income for the 
most part consists of short agreements. Among local 
contracts, the majority have a contract term of up to 3 
years, only a small proportion of local contracts have a 
longer contract term. 

Below is a maturity analysis of leasing fees, which 
shows the undiscounted leasing fees that will be recei-
ved after the balance sheet date: 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 11 Property expenses 

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Operating expenses -21.9 -21.6

Maintenance costs -20.6 -17.7

Property tax -3.4 -3.0

Property management -6.2 -5.8

Other property costs -1.6 -2.2

Rental and property management -4.9 -4.0

Property costs -58.6 -54.3

Direct expenses for investment properties which have not generated rental income for the period do not exist.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Maturity analysis of lease fees Group

MSEK 31 August 2020 31 August 2019

Within one year 63.1 54.8

Between one and two years 23.3 23.3

Between two and three years 15.6 13.3

Between three and four years 9.5 7.1

Between four and five years 2.2 3.6

Later than five years 1.7 2.7

Total undiscounted lease fees 115.4 104.8

Note 12 Employees and personnel expenses

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Salaries, fees and benefits

  Board and senior executives -3.4 -0.3

  Other employees -5.3 -

-8.7 -0.3

Social security expenses -2.6 -0.1

Pension expenses -0.8 -

Group

1 September 2019 – 31 August  2020 1 September 2018 – 31 August  2019 

MSEK
Salaries, fees 
and benefits

Pension
expenses

Salaries, fees 
and benefits

Pension
expenses

Chairman of the Board

  Ole Salsten -0.1 - -0.1               -     

Other Board Members   

   Fredrik Bergmann -0.1 - -0.1                -     

   Helena Örnstedt -0.1 - -                -     

   Carl-Johan Carlsson -0.1 - -                -     

   Lars Johansson 0 - -0.1                 -     

   Christian Riddarbo 0 - -0.1                 -     

   Anders Valdemarsson 0 - -                -     

CEO   

   Anders Johansson -0.9 -0.2 -               -     

Deputy CEO   

   Anders Valdemarsson -0.8 -0.2 - -     

Other senior executives -1.3 -0.1 - -     

Other employees -5.3 -0.3 - -     

Total -8.7 -0.8 -0.4 -     
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Group

Average number of employees (Sweden)

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Men 13 -

Women 6 -

Total 19 -

Gender distribution in company management

The Board of Directors

Men 4 5

Women 1 -

Total 5 5

Other senior executives

Men 3 1

Women 1 -

Total 4 1

The Group incurs personnel costs as of 1 January 2020 after the reorganization; for more information see Note 31 
Related parties. A Board Member also holds the position of Deputy CEO of the Group. As of the reporting date, all 
senior executives are employees of Fortinova AB.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 13 Auditing 

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

KPMG AB

Audit services -0.5 -0.4

Audit operations beyond 
the audit services -0.3 -0.1

Audit expenses -0.8 -0.5

Audit services refer to the legally required examination of the annual report and the book-keeping, the Board of 
Director’s and the CEO’s management and any other audit examinations or agreed-upon procedures determined 
by contract. 

Audit services include other work assignments which rest upon the Company’s auditor to conduct, and advi-
sing or other support justified by observations in the course of examination or execution of such other work as-
signments.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 14 Financial income

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Interest income, other 0.1 0.1

Financial income/Other interest income 
and similar the income statement items 0.1 0.1

of which interest received 0.1 0.1

Of which:

Interest income for financial receivables 
that have not been valued at fair value 
through the income statement 0.1 0.1

Note 15 Financial expenses

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Interest expenses, bank loans -14.2 -12.4

Interest expenses, derivatives -5.6 -6.7

Leasing/site leasehold -0.1 -

Financial expenses -19.9 -19.1

of which interest paid -19.3 -18.4

Of which:

Interest expenses for financial receivables 
that have not been valued at fair value 
through the income statement -19.9 -19.1

Derivative instruments are valued at fair value and changes in value are recognized under the heading Changes in 
value - Interest rate derivatives in the income statement.
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Note 16 Tax

Group

MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Current tax -4.0 -4.9

Deferred tax related to:

Temporary differences 
in investment properties

-10.4 -21.5

Untaxed reserves - -

Temporary differences in 
derivative instruments

-2.4 3.7

Tax -16.8 -22.7

Tax rate

Applicable tax rate 21.4% 22.0%

Group

Reconciliation of effective tax
MSEK

1 September 
2019 –

31 August 2020

1 September 
2018 – 

31 August 2019

Profit before tax 103.3 99.2

Tax according to the current tax rate -22.1 -21.8

Tax effect of:

Non-deductible expenses -1.4 -

Non-taxable income 2.8 -

Deductible expenses, not reported
in the income statement

3.4 -

Deficit 0.4 -0.4

Attributable to the previous year 0.1 -0.5

Tax -16.8 -22.7

Note 17 Investment properties

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

Fair value at the beginning of the year 1,724.6 1,535.2

Acquisition value of investment 
properties, asset acquisitions

509.3 66.6

Property acquisitions - 36.9

Property sales -28.0 -

Investments in real estate 
(subsequent expenditure) 13.5 8.5

Value changes reported in 
the income statement

41.8 77.4

Fair value at the end of the year 2,261.2 1,724.6

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Changes in value attributable to properties held at the 
end of the year amount to MSEK 268.6 (226.7).

Information on investment properties per seg-
ment is reported in Note 8 Operating segment re-
porting.

The fair value of the investment properties has 
been assessed by external, independent property 
agents, with relevant, professional qualifications and 
with experience in the area and the categories of pro-
perties that have been valued. The independent agents 
assess the fair value of the Group’s portfolio of invest-
ment properties once a year, normally in connection 
with the submission of the annual report. 

The cash flow analysis is based on a present value 
calculation of the net operating income during a cer-
tain calculation period and a present value calculation 
of a residual value at the end of the calculation period. 
The residual value is calculated by dividing a normali-
zed net operating income the year after the end of the 
calculation period by an estimated required rate of re-
turn. The discount rate for discounting net operating 
income and residual value corresponds to the market’s 
required rate of total return and can be said to consist 
of a risk-free real interest rate, compensation for infla-
tion expectations and compensation for property-re-
lated risk that varies with, for example, location, pro-
perty type, etc. The cash flow calculation is based on 
specific conditions and assumptions. Determination of 
fair values is supported by actual transactions in the 
market. The assumptions used in the valuations are 
presented below: 

Rental income 
Rental development is judged to follow inflation, consi-
dering current indexing clauses in the contract during 
its term. When the contract expires, an assessment is 
made as to whether the contract is considered to be 
offered at the prevailing market level and that the risk 
whether the object may become vacant is assessed. 
Vacancies are assessed based on the current vacan-
cy situation with a gradual adaptation to the assessed 

market vacancy with regard to the object’s individual 
conditions. Regarding rental income, the following ass-
umptions have been used: 

 ■ Housing: Inflation of 2.0 per cent during the current 
year, then 2.0 per cent annually

 ■ Housing: Annual rental development for housing 
100 per cent of the CPI

 ■ Premises: Annual rental development for premises 
during the contract period according to the terms in 
the respective lease agreement, thereafter adjust-
ment to market levels. 

Operation and maintenance payments 
Outcome and forecast material as well as estimated 
normalized costs have been used in assessing the pro-
perty’s future property expenses. The item includes 
operating and tariff-related costs, ongoing and peri-
odic maintenance as well as property tax. Regarding 
operation and maintenance payments, the following 
assumptions have been used: 

 ■ Income is presented excluding VAT, expenses are 
stated excluding VAT for the premises where VAT-li-
able activities are conducted and including VAT for 
other premises and housing

 ■ Annual increase in operation/maintenance 100 per 
cent of the CPI

 ■ Accrued maintenance based on the respective pro-
perty’s conditions and state of repair

Yield 
Yield requirements and interest rates used in the cal-
culation have been derived from comparable transac-
tions in the property market. Important factors when 
choosing the yield requirement are location, rent le-
vel, vacancy rate and the condition of the property. 
It should be noted that forecasts regarding payment 
flows and the valuation object’s long-term changes in 
value are only included as part of the value assess-
ment and cannot to any extent be taken as a commit-
ment on future outcomes. The table shows the yield 
requirements and discount rates used:

Discount rate 
requirement for 

discounting future 
cash flows, %

Weighted yield 
requirement for 

assessment of 
residual value, %

Average value of 
yield requirement 
for assessment of 

residual value, %

Halland 4.8–9.1 2.8–7.0 4.5

  Residential properties 4.8–7.6 2.8–5.5 4.1

  Commercial property 6.3–9.1 4.2–7.0 6.1

Västra Götaland 5.7–10.1 3.8–8.0 4.7

  Residential properties 5.7–7.7 3.8–5.6 4.5

  Commercial property 7.8–10.1 5.8–8.0 7.0

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Uncertainty ranges and sensitivity analysis 
The market value of a property can only be determi-
ned when it is sold. Property valuations are calcula-
tions made according to accepted principles based on 
certain assumptions. The value range stated in proper-
ty valuations and which in a functioning market is usu-
ally within +/- 5-10 per cent should be seen as a measu-
re of the uncertainty that exists in the assumptions 

 and calculations made. In a less liquid market, the 
range may be larger. For Fortinova, an uncertainty 
range of +/- 5 per cent means a value range of MSEK 
2,148.2 – 2,374.3, corresponding to +/- MSEK 113.

In the event of changed assumptions for the fol-
lowing parameters, the assessed fair value, reported 
at an aggregate level, would change as follows (MSEK):

Estimated market rent* +/- 1 per cent +5.71/-5.70

Long-term vacancy level +/- 1 percentage points -21.85/+19.64

Estimated operations and maintenance +/- 1 per cent -11.73/+12.09

Yield requirement +/- 0.1 percentage points -32.99/+34.64

* The Group’s income mainly consists of income from rental apartments. As a result, analysis of estimated market rent is based on com-
mercial income only. 

The investment properties consist of 123 rental pro-
perties that are rented out to external tenants. Leases 
for housing are normally drawn up with a three-month 
notice period. Leases for commercial space are initial-
ly drawn up for a lease term that normally covers 3–5 

years. Before the end of the contract term, renegotia-
tion takes place with the tenant regarding the rent le-
vel and other terms in the agreement, if the agreement 
is not terminated. All investment properties generated 
rental income during the financial year. 

Note 18 Deferred tax asset/Deferred tax liability 

Group

MSEK
31 August 

2020
31 August

2019

Deferred tax regarding 
temporary differences in

   investment properties 0.1 0.2

   derivative instruments 4.4 6.8

   tax deficits 0.6 0.4

Deferred tax asset 5.1 7.4

Deferred tax regarding 
temporary differences in

   investment properties -99.5 -82.6

   untaxed reserves 0 -0.6

Deferred tax liability -99.5 -83.2

At the end of the year in the balance sheet -94.4 -75.8 

Note 19 Accounts receivable 
Group
Accounts receivable are stated at acquisition value less feared customer losses of MSEK 0.7 (0.7).

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 20 Other receivables  

Group

MSEK 31 August
2020

31 August
2019

Received balance tax account 1.2 0.5

Payment of down payment,
property acquisition

10.3 -

Other receivables 0.9 0.4

Other receivables 12.4 0.9

Note 21 Cash and cash equivalents/Cash and bank balances
Cash and bank balances in the Group refer to bank balances.

Note 22 Equity

Distribution of shares

Share Class Number Proportion Votes/share Total votes
Proportion

of votes

A 2,750,000 8.3 10 27,500,000 47.5

B 30,385,140 91.7 1 30,385,140 52.5

Total 33,135,140 100.00 57,885,140 100.00

Share capital

Event Time

Change
Number

of shares

Total
Number

of shares

Quota value 
per share, 

SEK

Total share 
capital,

SEK

New formation 19 November 2010 500 500 50 50,000

New equity issue 8 April 2011 4,500 5,000 50 250,000

New equity issue 15 September 2011 8,650 13,650 50 682,500

New equity issue 2 March 2012 18,350 32,000 50 1,600,000

New equity issue 2 June 2012 600 32,600 50 1,630,000

New equity issue 21 March 2013 17,870 50,470 50 2,523,500

New equity issue 13 September 2013 2,700 53,170 50 2,658,500

New equity issue 21 February 2014 14,590 67,760 50 3,388,000

New equity issue 15 August 2014 347 68,107 50 3,909,400

Non-cash issue 15 August 2014 10,428 78,535 50 3,926,750

New equity issue 24 September 2014 400 78,935 50 3,946,750

New equity issue 14 January 2015 17,760 96,695 50 4,834,750

New equity issue 11 March 2015 2,700 99,395 50 4,969,750

New equity issue 19 March 2015 2,000 101,395 50 5,069,750

Non-cash issue 31 March 2015 18,245 119,640 50 5,982,000

New equity issue 23 April 2015 1,900 121,540 50 6,077,000

New equity issue 28 November 2015 50,229 171,769 50 8,588,450

New equity issue 1 December 2015 2,000 173,769 50 8,688,450

New equity issue 23 August 2016 4,350 178,119 50 8,905,950

New equity issue 24 November 2016 81,700 259,819 50 12,990,950

New equity issue 5 July 2017 39,500 299,319 50 14,965,950

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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New equity issue 6 December 2017 11,738 311,057 50 15,552,850

New equity issue 18 April 2018 29,465 340,522 50 17,026,100

New equity issue 14 November 2018 38,900 379,422 50 18,971,100

New equity issue 23 April 2019 29,490 408,912 50 20,445,600

New equity issue 12 November 2019 7,677 416,589 50 20,829,450

Redemption 1 January 2020 -60,000 356,589 50 17,829,450

New equity issue 7 January 2020 81,433 438,022 50 21,901,100

New equity issue 28 April 2020 34,338 472,360 50 23,618,000

Split 50:1 22 June 2020 23,145,640 23,618,000 1 23,618,000

New equity issue 3 July 2020 5,500,000 29,118,000 1 29,118,000

New equity issue 14 July 2020 1,874,665 30,992,665 1 30,992,665

New equity issue* 17 August 2020 667,500 31,660,165 1 31,660,165

New equity issue* 17 August 2020 1,474,975 33,135,140 1 33,135,140

* The new equity issue is being registered as of the reporting date. The new share issue is registered by the Swedish Companies Registration 
Office on 1 September 2020.

Other paid in capital 
Other paid in capital refers to equity contributed by 
the owners. 

Dividend
Dividends of MSEK 13.4 (11.2) were paid during the fi-
nancial year. 

Net asset value
Net asset value can be calculated in the long and short 
term. Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) is based 
on the balance sheet with adjustment for items that 
do not involve any payment in the near future, such as 
in Fortinova’s case recognized derivative liability and 

deferred tax liability. This means that an additional 
MSEK 20.3 and MSEK 94.4, respectively, will be added 
to equity according to the balance sheet. Current ac-
counting rules state that deferred tax liabilities must 
be reported at the nominal tax rate, while the actual 
tax is significantly lower due to the possibility of sel-
ling properties in a tax-efficient manner and the time 
factor. 

In property valuation, an uncertainty range of +/- 
5–10 per cent is most often used to reflect the uncer-
tainty that exists in the assumptions and calculations 
made. In Fortinova’s case, +/- 5 per cent in changed 
property value means an uncertainty range in long-
term net asset value of +/- MSEK 113.1. 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Net asset value
31 August 

2020
31 August

2019

Equity according to the balance sheet 1,193.3 706.0

Reversal of deferred tax 94.4 75.8

Reversal of derivatives 20.3 31.8

Long-term net asset value (EPRA NAV) 1,308.0 813.6

Uncertainty range for property valuations +/- 5 % +/- 113.1 +/- 86.2 

Average number of shares, thousands* 33,135 20,445

Long-term net asset value per share* 39.5 39.8

Equity per share* 36.0 34.5

* Comparative year recalculated due to 50:1 split completed in June 2020, more information under Note 22.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 23 Interest-bearing liabilities
The following information concerns the Group’s contractual terms regarding interest-bearing liabilities. For more in-
formation on the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, see Note 24.

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

Bank loans 409.5 733.2

Financing expenses - -

Net bank loans 409.5 733.2

Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 409.5 733.2

Bank loans 681.3 205.3

Total current interest-bearing liabilities 681.3 205.3

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,090.8 938.5

Terms and repayment periods
Terms regarding the Group’s bank loans and other loans are shown in the table below. Collateral for bank loans is 
provided in the amount of MSEK 1,216.8 (1,024.5) through mortgage deeds in the Group’s investment properties. 
Current interest-bearing liabilities refer to maturities or changed terms within 12 months after the end of the fi-
nancial year.

Carrying amount (MSEK) Closing average interest rate

Maturity structure

Year, maturity
Capital

maturity

 

%

Interest
maturity
including

interest rate 
hedging %

 

%

< 1 year 681.2 62 575.8 53 2.2

2–3 years 333.0 31 126.0 12 1.6

4–5 years 43.5 4 158.0 14 1.3

6–7 years - - 150.5 14 1.2

8–9 years 33.1 3 80.5 7 1.2

> 10 years - - - - -

Total 1,090.8 100 1,090.8 100 1.8
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Note 24 Derivative instruments
The Group uses interest rate derivatives to achieve the desired fixed interest rate structure, which means that 
changes in value occur in the interest rate derivative portfolio over time. The changes in value arise mainly as a 
result of changes in market interest rates. In the balance sheet, fair value is recognized as non-current liabilities 
as the amount will not be settled in cash. 

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

At beginning of year -31.8 -13.8

Maturing - 0.7

Purchases - -11.4

Changes in value 11.5 -7.3

Derivative instruments -20.3 -31.8 

The following table shows the net nominal amount of the interest rate derivative portfolio net, market value as 
of the balance sheet date and average effective interest rate. Interest rate derivative instruments with option 
elements have been distributed by maturity in the segment the derivative can be asserted the longest and in the 
same segment as before the assumed interest rate change. 

Interest rate derivative (MSEK)
Type

End date
Nominal 
amount

Recognized
amount

Future
cash flow,

net

Average
interest

rate, net

Swap (variable -> fixed)

31 August 2021 41.3 -0.6 -5.4 2.2

31 August 2022 76.5 -1.6 -4.5 1.2

31 August 2023 49.5 -2.1 -3.7 1.7

31 August 2024 90.0 -1.3 -2.9 0.6

31 August  2025 299.0 -14.7 -5.7 1.0

Total/average 556.3 -20.3 -22.2 1.1

Swap (variable -> fixed)

- - - - -

Total assets - - - -

Total 556.3 -20.3 -22.2 1.1

The Group does not apply hedge accounting. Derivative instruments are valued on an ongoing basis at fair value 
according to level 2. Changes in value are recognized under the heading in the income statement under Changes 
in value. 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 25 Liabilities attributable to financing activities

Group
31 August 2020 (MSEK)

Interest-
bearing

liabilities Equity
Total

financing

At beginning of year 938.5 706.0 1,644.5

Cash flow 11 414.5 425.5

Not impacting cash flow

Other comprehensive income - 86.4 86.5

Expenses, raising capital - -13.6 -13.6

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 141.3 - 141.3

At year-end 1,090.8 1,193.3 2,284.1

Group
31 August 2019 (MSEK)

Interest-
bearing

liabilities Equity
Total

financing

At beginning of year 944.4 551.8 1,496.2

Cash flow -30.0 77.7 47.7

Not impacting cash flow

Other comprehensive income - 76.5 76.5

Acquisition of subsidiaries 24.1 - 24.1

At year-end 938.5 706.0 1,644.5

Note 26 Accrued expenses and deferred income

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

Prepaid rents 11.9 10.8

Accrued interest expenses,
derivatives and loans

1.1 1.8

Other accrued expenses 3.3 0.8

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16.3 13.4

Note 27 Secured assets, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

In the form of assets Secured for own liabilities

Property income 1,216,8 1,024,5

Pledges assets 1,216,8 1,024,5

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

Guarantees - -

Contingent liabilities - -

Within the Group, all guarantee commitments were completed during the financial year. 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Note 28 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

Group

MSEK
31 August

2020
31 August

2019

Acquired assets and liabilities

Investment properties 148.9 28.8

Operating receivables 3.2 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents 22.5 1.0

Total assets 174.5 30.0

Acquired equity 19.7 1.6

Long-term provisions - -

Interest-bearing liabilities 141.3 24.1

Current operating liabilities 10.3 4.3

Total provisions and liabilities 174.5 30.0

Purchase consideration 378.3 39.4

   Of which paid 378.3 39.4

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 
in the acquired enterprise

-22.5 -1

Plus: settlement of internal liabilities 3.2 -

Impact on cash and cash equivalents 359.1 38.4

Impact on cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow analysis is recognized at MSEK 369.3. The difference of 
MSEK 10.2 refers to the down payment paid regarding access to property-owning companies during 2021.

Note 29 Valuation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value and division into categories

Group
31 August 2020 (MSEK)

Loan recei-
vables and 

accounts 
receivable

Other
liabilities 

Total
carrying 
amount Fair value Level

Financial assets

Other long-term receivables 0.7 - 0.7 0.7

Accounts receivable 2.2 - 2.2 2.2

Other receivables 12.4 - 12.4 12.4

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0.2 - 0.2 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents 161.4 - 161.4 161.4

Total 176.9 - 176.9 176.9

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities - 409.5

Derivative instruments - 20.3 2

Lease liabilities - 4.6

Current interest-bearing liabilities - 681.3

Accounts payable - 18.8

Tax liabilities - 1.2

Other liabilities - 2.3

Accrued expenses and deferred income - 16.3

Total - 1,154.3

Group
31 August 2019 (MSEK)

Loan recei-
vables and 

accounts 
receivable

Other
liabilities 

Total
carrying 
amount Fair value Level

Financial assets

Other long-term receivables 0.3 - 0.3 0.3

Accounts receivable 1.5 - 1.5 1.5

Other receivables 0.9 - 0.9 0.9

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1.6 - 1.6 1.6

Cash and cash equivalents 49.5 - 49.5 49.5

Total 53.8 - 53.8 53.8

Financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities - 733.2 733.2 733.2

Derivative instruments - 31.8 31.8 31.8 2

Current interest-bearing liabilities - 205.3 205.3 205.3

Accounts payable - 8.9 8.9 8.9

Tax liabilities - 2.3 2.3 2.3

Other liabilities - 1.2 1.2 1.2

Accrued expenses and deferred income - 13.4 13.4 13.4

Total - 996.1 996.1 996.1

The following section summarizes the methods and 
assumptions that have mainly been used to determine 
the fair value of the financial instruments reported in 
the table above.

Long-term receivables
The fair value of long-term receivables is considered to 
correspond to the carrying amount. 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
The fair value of interest-bearing liabilities with a va-
riable interest rate is estimated to correspond to the 
carrying amount. All of the Group’s interest-bearing 
liabilities have variable interest rates.  

Current receivables and liabilities
For accounts receivable and accounts payable with 
a residual life of less than six months, the carrying 
amount is considered to reflect fair value. Accounts re-
ceivable and accounts payable with a life exceeding six 
months are discounted in connection with the determi-
nation of fair value. The fair value of other current lia-
bilities and receivables is considered to correspond to 
the carrying amount. 

Derivative instruments
Fair values are based on future discounted cash flows. 
The valuations are performed by an external party. 
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 30 Capital management and financial risks
Capital management
The Group is financed mainly through equity and bank lo-
ans. The management of capital affects bank financing. 

The Group has a goal of generating growth with 
requirements for profitability and positive cash flows. 
The financial targets that must be met over time are 
that the interest coverage ratio must amount to at le-
ast 250 per cent, the net loan-to-value ratio must over 
time amount to 55-65 per cent and the return on equi-
ty must over time amount to at least 10 per cent. Indi-
vidual investments can be financed by loans of up to a 
maximum of 75 per cent of the property value.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the 
Group’s capital management. The Group’s opera-
tions involve investments in individual properties or 
in portfolios of properties. Prior to each acquisition, 
a business plan is prepared for the investment, which 
includes financing and forecasts for the financial key 
performance measures regarding how they meet in-
ternal and external requirements. Prior to each invest-
ment or divestment, an analysis is also carried out to 
determine how this affects the Group’s total capital 
structure and financial key performance measures. 
Capital management is governed and monitored on an 
ongoing basis through annual updates of plans, bud-
gets and quarterly outcome reports. 

As of 31 August 2020, the Group has an interest 
coverage ratio of 320 per cent (310), a net loan-to-
value ratio of 41 (52) per cent and a return on equity of 
9 per cent (12). Return on equity is negatively affected 
by 2 percentage points through completed new share 
issues during the last quarter of the financial year. The 
Board of Directors considers that the Group will meet 
the financial objectives over time. 

Financial risks
The Group is exposed to several financial risks, inclu-
ding credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, market 
risk and concentration risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be 
able to fulfil its contractual obligations and thereby 
cause a loss for the Group. 

The credit risk regarding the Group’s bank balan-
ces is limited by using only regulated national banks. 

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are in bank ac-
counts with Varbergs Sparbank, Falkenbergs Spar-
bank, Tjörns Sparbank, Swedbank, Skandinaviska En-
skilda Banken AB (publ), Danske Bank A/S Sweden 
branch and Handelsbanken. The credit risk regarding 
other counterparties with which the Group has recei-
vables is managed through credit assessments before 
investments are made and lease and other agreements 
are signed. At the end of the financial year, there were 
overdue receivables within commercial agreements 
worth MSEK 0.7 (-). When deemed appropriate and 
possible, the counterparties’ financial position is moni-
tored on an ongoing basis. 

Interest rate risk 
Changes in market interest rates and credit margins 
affect net financial items. How quickly and to what 
extent changes in these two components make an im-
pact depends on the chosen fixed term. To limit the 
immediate impact of changes in market interest rates, 
Fortinova has chosen to use both short and long-term 
fixed interest rates. For the same reason, Fortinova 
has chosen to sign credit agreements with different 
maturities. However, changes in both market interest 
rates and credit margins will always have an impact 
on net financial items over time. The interest coverage 
ratio is the financial measure that describes a compa-
ny’s risk level and resilience to changes in net interest 
income. Fortinova has a target of an interest coverage 
ratio of at least 250 per cent. For 2019/20, the interest 
coverage ratio was 320 per cent (310). The average 
fixed interest rate period on 31 August 2020 was 2.5 
years (3.5) and the average interest rate for the year 
was 2 per cent (2.0). Margins and fees on credit agre-
ements are determined to have an average maturity of 
1.2 years (1.9). The impact on cash flow for the next 12 
months in the event of a change in interest rates of +/– 
1% is described below. For further reading about the 
Group’s interest rate hedges, see Note 24.  

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis below is based on the Group’s 
exposure to changes in market interest rate levels. The 
impact on interest expenses in the event of an interest 
rate rise/fall of 100 basis points given the interest-be-
aring liabilities and derivative instruments available on 
the balance sheet date:  

Group
31 August 2020 (MSEK)

Change in market 
interest rate

Change in net financial 
items 2020/2021

Interest-bearing liabilities and derivatives +/- 1% +5.6 / - 4.3

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The low market interest rate level in combination with 
the Group’s signed swap agreements means that the 
change in lowered market interest rates affects the in-
terest expense to a lesser extent than if the interest 
rate rises correspondingly. The sensitivity analysis is ba-
sed on an interest rate scenario that the Company ma-
nagement considers reasonably possible over the next 
12 months and that all other factors remain unchanged.

Refinancing risk 
Financing risk related to the fact that there may be diffi-
culties in obtaining financing for the business at a given 
time. Fortinova works actively to achieve a low finan-
cing risk in relation to market pricing. In other words, 
the best possible net financial item within given risk 
limits. The Board of Directors determines the level of 
capital tied up in the loan portfolio on an ongoing basis. 

Group
31 August 2020 (MSEK)

Recognized 
amount 

Nominal 
amount < 1 month 1–3 months

3 months
 – 1 year 1–5 years

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,090.8 1,090.8 37.2 - 644.1 409.5

Lease liabilities 4.6 4.6 0.1 0.1 0.4 2.6

Tax liabilities 1.2 1.2 - - - 1.2

Accounts payable 18.8 18.8 18.8 - - -

Other liabilities 2.3 2.3 - 2.3 - -

Interim liabilities 16.3 16.3 15.2 1.1 - -

Total 1,134.0 1,134.0 71.3 3.5 644.5 413.3

Group
31 August 2019 (MSEK)

Recognized 
amount

Nominal 
amount < 1 month 1–3 months

3 months
 – 1 year 1–5 years

Interest-bearing liabilities 938.5 938.5 37.7 - 167.6 699.5

Tax liabilities 2.3 2.3 - - - 2.3

Accounts payable 8.9 8.9 8.9 - - -

Other liabilities 1.2 1.2 - 1.2 - -

Interim liabilities 13.4 13.4 13.3 0.1 - -

Total 964.3 964.3 59.9 4.6 167.6 701.8

Market risk
Risk related to real estate investments
Investments in real estate are exposed to different ty-
pes of risk. The main factors that affect the value of a 
property are as follows:

i) changes in general economic developments,
ii) local market conditions such as oversupply or 

reduced demand,
iii) changes in the creditworthiness of tenants,
iv) competition from other properties/property 

owners and 
v) changes in laws and regulations, for example re-

garding local plans, environment and taxes.

Changes in the above factors may affect the value of 
the Group’s assets and thus also the Group’s earnings.

Concentration risk
All properties are located in Western Sweden and the 
Group is thereby exposed to changes in the Swedish 
economy. The Group’s rental value is divided into 80 
per cent housing, 10 per cent socially financed opera-
tions and provisions, 9 per cent commercial space (offi-
ces, shops, logistics, etc.) and 1 per cent restaurants. At 
the turn of the year, the Group’s largest tenant accoun-
ted for 2 (2) per cent of rental income. 

The Group has a long-term collaboration with the major 
Swedish commercial banks. The goal is to have financing 
from most of the large commercial banks and a loan port-
folio with a spread of maturities and a relevant maturity 
in relation to pricing. The refinancing risk shall be limited 
by the Group always having good foresight in refinancing 
renegotiations. For the Group’s relationships and maturity 
structure, see Note 23 and Note 24 respectively. 

Liquidity risk
The Group manages its liquidity and capital raising risk 
by making liquidity forecasts on an ongoing basis and 
ensuring that there is sufficient liquidity in the Group for 
future payments. Liquidity management includes holding 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, having access to 
credit facilities and customers’ ability to pay their debts 
within the agreed time. 

The main liquidity risk refers to the Group’s external 

loan agreements and the ability to fulfil the commit-
ments in these. To reduce liquidity risk, the Group uses 
financial instruments that convert variable interest rates 
to fixed interest rates and thereby provide greater pre-
dictability in future cash flows. As of the balance sheet 
date, zero per cent (0) of the external loans constitute 
fixed-rate loans and 51 per cent (59) are secured via inte-
rest rate swaps, see Note 24.

The property market is an illiquid market, which 
means that the Group’s opportunities to sell properties 
quickly are limited. Should a need arise to sell properties 
quickly, this can result in a lower price than the market 
value being attained. 

The following table shows the Group’s liquidity ana-
lysis for its financial liabilities. The table has been pre-
pared based on non-discounted cash flows, the current 
repayment schedule and that all loans are refinanced at 
maturity. 
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Group 31 August 2020 
Related party relationship (MSEK)

Fee income (+) /
expenses (-)

Interest
income (+)/

expenses (-)

Receivable 
from related 
parties as of

31 August

Liabilities
to related

parties as of
31 August

Companies with a joint controlling 
influence or significant influence 
over the Company -7.2 - - -

Group 31 August 2019 
Related party relationship (MSEK)

Fee income (+) /
expenses (-)

Interest
income (+)/

expenses (-)

Receivable 
from related 
parties as of

31 August

Liabilities
to related

parties as of
31 August

Companies with a joint controlling 
influence or significant influence 
over the Company -21.6 - - -2.6

Note 32 Significant events after the end
of the financial year
During October 2020, loans of MSEK 208 were refi-
nanced, with the majority of the loans maturing in 
December 2020. After the refinancing, these loans 
have a weighted average term of approximately 

3 years. In addition to the above, there have been no 
significant changes in the Group’s financial position, 
earnings or position in the market after 31 August 
2020.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

THE AUDITOR’S REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS111

Independent auditor’s report
To the board of directors of Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), reg.no. 556826-6943

Report on the consolidated accounts
Opinions
We have audited the consolidated accounts of Fortino-
va Fastigheter AB (publ) for the period of two financi-
al years ending 31 August 2020. The consolidated ac-
counts of the company are included on pages 121–148 
in this document.

In our opinion, the consolidated accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act and present fairly, in all material respects, the fi-
nancial position of the group as of 31 August 2020 and 
31 August 2019 and its financial performance and cash 
flow for each of the two financial years ending 31 Au-
gust 2020 in accordance with the lnternational Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, 
and the Annual Accounts Act.

Basis for opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternatio-
nal Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities un-
der those standards are further described in the Audi-
tor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of 
the group in accordance with professional ethics for 
accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled 
our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these re-
quirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtai-
ned is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the CEO
The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for 

the preparation of the consolidated accounts and that 
they give a fair presentation in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act and according to IFRS as adopted 
by the EU.The Board of Directors and the CEO are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
accounts that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated accounts, The Bo-
ard of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the 
assessment of the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is 
however not applied if the Board of Directors and the 
CEO intend to liquidate the company, to cease opera-
tions, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated accounts as a who-
le are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor ’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and general-
ly accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Miss-
tatements can arise from fraud or error and are consi-
dered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the econo-
mic decisions of users taken on the basis of the conso-
lidated accounts.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

111  The auditor’s report on financial reports over historical financial statements is established in accordance with RevR 5.

Note 31 Related parties
In January 2020, a reorganization of the Group was 
carried out to simplify the Company structure prior to 
a listing. The Group’s CEO and Deputy CEO previous-
ly owned all the shares in Fortinova AB. Fortinova AB 
in turn owned shares corresponding to approximate-
ly 14.7 per cent of the capital and 57.5 per cent of the 
votes in Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ). There was a 
management agreement between Fortinova Fastig-
heter AB (publ) and Fortinova AB according to which 
Fortinova AB was entitled to (i) a transaction fee of 
2 per cent of the assessed property value of the pro-
perties that Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ), directly 
or indirectly, acquired, (ii) an annual fee for central ad-
ministration of 0.4 per cent based on the historical ac-
quisition value of the existing property portfolio, and 
(iii) ongoing compensation for the net cost related to, 
for example, company administration, property mana-
gement, technical management and property mana-
gement. Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ) thus had no 
employees before the restructuring. 

Through the restructuring, Fortinova AB was ac-
quired by Fortinova Fastigheter AB (publ). The res-
tructuring meant that the total number of shares in 
the Group increased by 21,433 shares (before the split 
carried out in June 2020) and that equity decreased 
by MSEK 3.0. The restructuring has had the following 
impact on the Group’s profit before tax: 

 ■ The transaction fee that was previously reported in 
the acquisition value of the investment properties 
and which has had a negative impact on unreali-
sed changes in the value of investment properties 
in the income statement has been abolished. The 
transaction fee amounted to MSEK 8.5 in 2017/18, 
MSEK 2.2 in 2018/19 and MSEK 0.1 in 2019/20.  

 ■ The fee for central administration that was previo-
usly reported as an expense in management ex-
penses has been abolished. The cost for central ad-
ministration was MSEK 5.7 in 2017/18, MSEK 7.0 in 
2018/19 and MSEK 2.5 in 2019/20.  

 ■ During the period January to August 2020, the re-
organization resulted in the Company reporting 
personnel expenses in accordance with Note 12 
Employees and personnel expenses.

The Company’s Board receives a fee in accordance 
with the decision of the Annual General Meeting. No 
salaries or other remuneration is paid. Board Member 
Anders Valdemarsson and CEO Anders Johansson are 
employees of Fortinova AB at the end of the reporting 
period. Anders Valdemarsson and Anders Johansson 
each own 50% of A2F Fastigheter AB, whose holdings 
in the Company amount to 2,750,000 A shares and 
1,786,650 B shares. 

Summary of related party transactions:

 Translation from the Swedish original
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exer-
cise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 ■ ldentify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated accounts, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedu-
res responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is hig-
her than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal con-
trol. 

 ■ Obtain an understanding of the group’s inter-
naI control relevant to our audit in order to de-
sign audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expres-
sing an opinion on the effectiveness of the compa-
ny’s internal control. 

 ■ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estima-
tes and related disclosures made by the Board of 
Directors and the CEO. 

 ■ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 
Directors’ and the CEO’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated 
accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, as to whether any materi-
al uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the group’s abi-
lity to continue as a going concern. lf we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

ta draw attention in our auditor’s report to the re-
lated disclosures in the consolidated accounts or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opi-
nion about the consolidated accounts. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 ■ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 ■ Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business  activities within the group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are re-
sponsible for the direction, supervision and perfor-
mance of the group audit. We remain solely respon-
sible for our opinions. 

We must inform the Board af Directors of, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit. We must also inform of significant audit findings 
during our audit, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identified.

Gothenburg 6 November 2020
KPMG AB
 

Henrik Blom
Authorized Public Accountant
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